Agreement Between

Envoy Air, Inc.

and the

Flight Attendants

in its service
as represented by
The Association of Flight Attendants-CWA,

AFL-CIO

2012 - 2020



Table of Contents

Section		Recognition and Scope	
Section		Definitions	
Section		Management Rights	
Section		Compensation	
Section		Expenses	
Section		Moving Expenses	
Section		Hours of Service	
		Scheduling	
		Reserve	
		Vacation	
		Sick Leave	
		Uniforms	
		Probation	
		Seniority	
		Filling of Vacancies	
		Time Off Without Pay	
		Furlough, Displacement and Recall	
		Leaves of Absence	
		Training	
		Retirement, Insurance and Benefits Qualification	
Section	21.	Grievance Procedure	21-1
		System Board of Adjustment	
		Union Security and Dues Check-Off	
		Conduct of Union Business	
		No Strikes or Lockouts	
		Safety and Health	
		General	
		Physical Examinations	
		Co-Domiciles	
		International Flying	
		Report to Work and Commuter Policy (new)	
		EAP Section (new)	
		Geographic Emergency-Aircraft Repositioning (new)	
		Hotels (new)	
		Injury On Duty Leave (new)	
Section	36.	Duration	36-1
<u>Letters</u>	of A	Agreement Directory	A - 1
Append	l xib	<u>Documents</u>	A - 1
Index .		Inde	ex - 1



SECTION 1 RECOGNITION and SCOPE

- A. In accordance with Certification Number R-6387 made by the National Mediation Board, the Company recognizes the Association of Flight Attendants-Communications Workers of America, AFL-CIO, as the bargaining representative of the Flight Attendants employed by the Company for the purposes of the Railway Labor Act, as amended.
- **B.** The provisions of the Agreement shall be binding on any successors or assigns of the Company, unless and until changed in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended.

C. Labor Protective Provisions

- In the event of a merger of the Company with another airline, which affects the seniority rights of Flight Attendants on the Company's Flight Attendant System Seniority List, provisions will be made for the integration of seniority lists in a fair and equitable manner. The integration of the seniority lists of the respective Flight Attendant groups shall be governed by the Association merger policy if both pretransaction Flight Attendant groups are represented by the Association. If the other pre-transaction Flight Attendant group is not represented by the Association, then Sections 3 and 13 of the Allegheny-Mohawk LPPs shall apply. The Surviving Entity shall accept the integrated seniority list established through the Association merger policy or LPP proceedings.
- In the event of a merger or acquisition involving the Company, the Company will meet and confer with the Association concerning any matters that affect the Flight Attendants covered by this Agreement.
- 3. The Company agrees that it will not accept or implement an integrated Flight Attendant System Seniority List unless it has been established pursuant to this Section.

D. Scope

 No Flight Attendant will be furloughed or subject to involuntary domicile transfer as a direct and immediate result of any flying performed by management personnel.

- Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all revenue flying on the Company's aircraft (whether leased to or owned by the Company) or under the Company's operational control, including wet leases (aircraft and crew), and contracting for other carriers or entities (government, military or commercial to other carriers or entities), shall be performed by Flight Attendants on the Company's Seniority List.
- 3. The Company shall not create or acquire an "alter ego" to avoid the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

E. New Equipment Type

- Whenever a new equipment type which will be operated by the Company is placed into revenue service, the Company will notify the Union of the new equipment type and will meet and discuss the implementation and training for the new equipment, and whether any changes to the Agreement are necessary.
- 2. If all Flight Attendants in the system are not required to be trained, the Company will proffer training positions to current Flight Attendants sufficient to staff the new equipment at the affected base(s). Such positions will be awarded in seniority order. Any Flight Attendant transferring into the base(s) will be trained on the new equipment within three (3) months of her/his transfer provided that her/his seniority would be sufficient to hold the position. [old SL B]

F. Mergers and Acquisitions

- Upon announcement of any transaction which is intended to result in the consolidation of the Company with another airline, that affects the seniority rights of Flight Attendants on the Seniority List, the parties will meet in a timely manner to discuss the appropriate steps to be taken consistent with this Agreement.
- Upon announcement of a sale of the Company in a bona fide "arms length" transaction to an unrelated third party, the Company will use its best efforts to arrange for the Union to meet and confer with any such unrelated third party to discuss the appropriate steps to be taken consistent with this Agreement.

G. Remedies

Any and all disputes concerning alleged violation(s) of this Section shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration. The Company specifically agrees to arbitrate any grievance filed by the Association alleging violation of this Section on an expedited basis directly before the System Board of Adjustment sitting with a neutral member, as the arbitration forum. The dispute shall be heard expeditiously no later than sixty (60) days following the submission to the System Board, and the Company agrees to request that a decision be issued within sixty (60) days after the close of the hearing.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 2 DEFINITIONS

- **A.** "ACTUAL FLIGHT TIME" means the block-to-block time actually required to complete a specific leg.
- **B.** "AIRPORT RESERVE" means a Flight Attendant who is assigned to reserve duty at the airport including pre-boarding of aircraft.
- **C.** "AT HOME RESERVE" means a Flight Attendant who is assigned to reserve at home.
- D. "ASSIGNED NEW FLYING" means a <u>pairing</u> that has been changed due to the deletion of, modification of or the addition of flights to the original <u>pairing</u>, or replacement flying. This does not include extensions or junior manning assignments.
- <u>E.</u> "AUTOMATED <u>PAIRING</u> TRADING/OPTIONAL EXCHANGE" <u>Pairing</u> Trades and Optional Exchanges are processed in the Flight Attendant's personal mode in DECS or its replacement. <u>Pairing</u> Trade and Optional Exchange entries are listed in the Inflight Procedures Manual.
- **F.** "AVAILABLE" means any time period during which a Flight Attendant may be assigned.
- **G.** "AVRS" or "AVARS" means Automated Voice Response System. <u>It is the</u> automated telephone system from which a Flight Attendant can access and input information.
- <u>H.</u> "BASE" means a geographical location designated by the Company where Flight Attendants are stationed. A Flight Attendant may not be stationed at more than one domicile.
- <u>I.</u> "BENEFITS ELIGIBILITY" the amount of paid credit hours a Flight Attendant must receive on an annual basis in order to be eligible for the following benefits: Health and Welfare Benefits, Vacation Accrual, Sick Leave Accrual and Uniform Points.
- **J.** "BIDLINE" means a line of time on the monthly schedule consisting of flying made available to Flight Attendants for bid, which conforms to the parameters set forth in Sections 7 and 8.
- <u>K.</u> "BLOCK TO BLOCK"/"BLOCK HOURS" is the time period between the "OUT" and "IN" times of the aircraft as reported by ACARS or Dispatch and recorded in FOS

or its equivalent.

- <u>L.</u> <u>"BRIDGE PAIRING" means a pairing built that does not transit the domicile at least once each calendar day that the pairing operates.</u>
- **M.** "CALENDAR DAY" means a twenty-four (24) consecutive hour period commencing at 0001 and ending at 2400 hours local time.
- N. "CALL-OUT" means the minimum amount of time a Flight Attendant must be allowed in order to report for a duty period.
- <u>O.</u> "CARRY-IN / CARRY-OUT" means the portion of a pairing that crosses contractual months.
- **P.** "CHECK-IN TIME" or "REPORT TIME" means the time that a Flight Attendant is required to report for a duty <u>period</u> as set forth in <u>this</u> Agreement.
- Q. "CHECK-OUT TIME" or "RELEASE TIME" means the time that a Flight Attendant is released from duty as set forth in this Agreement, which normally will be fifteen minutes (:15) after block-in of a flight or thirty minutes (:30) after block-in of a flight where customs clearance is required.
- **R.** "CO-DOMICILE" means two (2) or more airports serving the same metropolitan area.
- **S.** "COMPANY" means Envoy Air, Inc.
- T. "CONTINUOUS DUTY OVERNIGHT" or "STAND-UP" means a scheduled duty period which begins in one calendar day and ends in the next calendar day as set forth in Section 7 of the Agreement.
- U. "CONTRACTUAL MONTH" or "BID MONTH" or "BID PERIOD" means the period from the first day of, to and including the last day of each calendar month of the year. For Flight Attendant scheduling and pay purposes January, February and March will each be a thirty (30) day month by adding January 31st and March 1st to the month of February. Leap year will make February a thirty-one (31) day month.

The Company may, at its option for a given year, declare that up to any other four (4) months containing thirty-one (31) calendar days be deemed thirty (30) day contractual months by taking the first or last day of each such month and adding it to each or all the thirty (30) calendar day months.

.

- **V.** "CRITICAL COVERAGE DAYS" means those days that have been declared by the Company as having known staffing shortages.
- W. "CRITICAL INCIDENT" means any accident resulting in serious injury, any hijacking incident, any actual evacuation of an aircraft, physical assault of a Flight Attendant, aircraft decompression during flight or any catastrophic event in which a Flight Attendant is involved during the course of her/his duty with the Company.
- X. "DAY OFF" means a period of time between the hours of 0001 and 2400 based on local time at a Flight Attendant's domicile, when a Flight Attendant shall be free of all duty with the Company. However, for purposes of Section 7 of this Agreement, when a pairing ends before 0200, it shall be considered to have ended before 0001.
- Y. "DEADHEADING" means Company authorized travel on a flight or surface transportation to or from any station for the purpose of covering or returning from an assignment. A Flight Attendant engaged in deadheading at company direction shall be deemed to be on duty. A Flight Attendant may deadhead in or out of uniform. The circumstances under which a Flight Attendant shall receive pay for deadheading are set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement.
- Z. "DOMESTIC PARTNER" A Domestic Partner (DP) is a same gender partner of an employee or retiree residing in the same permanent residence living in a spouse-like relationship for at least six (6) consecutive months. The employee and his or her same gender partner are at least 18 years of age, and are not legally married or the common-law spouse or DP of any other person.
- <u>AA.</u>
 "DOMICILE" means a geographical location designated by the Company where Flight Attendants are stationed. A Flight Attendant may not be stationed at more than one domicile.
- **BB.** "DUTY TIME"/"DUTY PERIOD" means the period of time from check-in to check-out, including ferry flights, deadhead flights, airport reserve, and training as set forth in this Agreement.
- **CC.** "EL FONDO" (Fondo Del Seguro Del Estado) means the current agency, or its successor, that administers workers compensation benefits for Puerto Rico domiciled Flight Attendants.
- <u>DD.</u> <u>"EXTENSION" means an involuntary additional flight assignment, including a deadhead which is added to the end of a Flight Attendant's original pairing.</u>
- **EE.** "FERRY FLIGHT" means a non-revenue flight to position an aircraft.

- FF. "FLIGHT ATTENDANT" means an employee holding a regular, relief or reserve line whose primary responsibility includes performing, or assisting in the performance of all cabin services, attending to passenger safety and comfort, and for preparation and completion of reports as required by the Company and the law, who has completed training as prescribed by the Company and the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), and who is qualified and/or certified as a Flight Attendant.
- <u>GG.</u> "FLIGHT OPERATING SYSTEM (FOS) LOCKOUT" means a period of time during the bidding window in which the last six (6) days of the current bid month may not be impacted by scheduling transactions such as pairing trades, optional exchanges, etc.
- HH. "FURLOUGH" means the removal of a Flight Attendant from active duty as a Flight Attendant due to a reduction in force or the period of time during which such Flight Attendant is not in the active employ of the Company as a Flight Attendant due to such reduction in force.
- <u>II.</u> <u>"GEOGRAPHIC EMERGENCY" means a period in which the Company has declared the need to relocate aircraft due to potential damage.</u>
- <u>JJ.</u>

 "GOLDEN DAYS" means a set of three days off in domicile for Reserve Flight Attendants that cannot be removed or changed by the Company or on which a Flight Attendant cannot be otherwise made available for duty by the Company. <u>A Flight Attendant may choose to "undesignate" a Golden Day and such day shall lose its "Golden Day" designation.</u>
- **KK.** "HIBOARD" is a computerized trade and optional exchange bulletin board designed to simplify the process of posting pairings for trading purposes. "HIBOARD" does not verify legalities and does not process the actual trade entries.
- <u>LL.</u> "HIPOST" An automated system that allows a Flight Attendant wishing to drop a pairing to post it and make it available for other Flight Attendants to pick up.
- **MM.** "INTERNATIONAL OVERNIGHT" means an overnight in an International city, excluding cities in Mexico, Canada, the Bahamas, and the United States Virgin Islands.
- <u>MN.</u> "JET-BRIDGE TRANSACTION" means a trade between Flight Attendants that is requested prior to departure with adequate time to process.
- **OO.** "JUNIOR MANNING" is the means by which the Company may fill uncovered flying, either voluntarily or involuntarily, in accordance with the schedule set forth

in Section 8.O.

- <u>PP.</u>

 "JPBSC" means the Joint Preferential Bidding System Committee which shall be a joint Company/Association Committee composed of a minimum of two (2) members from the Company and a minimum of two (2) members from the Association. The Committee shall maintain oversight of all significant matters regarding implementation and continuing operation of PBS as well as any future enhancements or changes.
- <u>QQ.</u> "LINE VALUE" means the scheduled flight hours awarded on a Flight Attendant's monthly bid award (including CDO lines) or the monthly guarantee of seventy five "75" (75:00) for full time line Flight Attendants (whichever greater) or thirty seven and one-half hours (37:30) for Flight Attendants holding a reduced guarantee line.
- <u>RR.</u> <u>"LINEHOLDER" means a Flight Attendant who bids and is awarded a bid line</u> containing scheduled pairings s during a contractual month.
- **SS.** "MAKEUP" means time flown in order to make up for time lost for unpaid removals.
- <u>"MONTHLY PRE-BIDDING SYSTEM"</u> Website that allows Flight Attendants to pre-bidding and be awarded ing of specific options not available in regular PBS.
 This pre-bidding process takes place prior to regular PBS bidding.
- <u>UU.</u> "MOVE DAY(S)"/"MOVING DAY(S)" means a duty free period(s) awarded to a Flight Attendant in order to relocate to another domicile.
- **VV.** "OPEN TIME" means flying not awarded or assigned to a specific Flight Attendant.
- **WW.** "OPTIONAL EXCHANGE" ("OE") means a one way trade by which a Flight Attendant accepts flying of another Flight Attendant.
- **XX.** "OVERNIGHT" means a period of time during which a Flight Attendant is relieved from duty during a <u>pairing</u> either in or away from her/his domicile.
- YY. "PAIRING" means a series of legs (flying, ferrying and/or deadheading) involving one or more on-duty periods which depart from and return to the Flight Attendant's domicile.
- "PAPER BID" means a bid award for a contractual bid month for pay purposes only (i.e. not actually given a line) but the Flight Attendant is not obligated to fly, except in extreme circumstances. In the PBS system, this is referred to as "Shadow Bidding."

- <u>AAA..</u> "PERMANENT VACANCY" means a vacancy for a position in a domicile that is expected to exist for more than thirty (30) days.
- <u>POSITIVE CONTACT</u>" means an interactive communication made either in person or via phone conversation (not phone message left) by a crew scheduler or a member of management. Positive contact may also be achieved via a Flight Attendant's Company e-mail through a message sent. However, a flight attendant will not be accountable for notifications of scheduling changes to her/his current pairing or for future extensions/junior manning assignments which are sent after the appropriate check out time as defined in paragraph 2.P.,or after she/he has completed the daily e-mail check requirement.
- <u>CCC.</u> <u>"PRE-BOARDING" means a qualified Flight Attendant boarding the passengers for another Flight Attendant who will work the flight.</u>
- <u>PREFERENTIAL BIDDING SYSTEM" (PBS) means an automated system used to build and award Flight Attendant's monthly schedules.</u>
- <u>"PROTEST WINDOW"</u> means either the period after the pre-bid window closes during which a Flight Attendant may protest her/his pre-bid award and/or the period after bid closing during which a Flight Attendant may protest her/his bid award.
- **FFF.** "REDUCED GUARANTEE LINE" means a regular line that is credited with no more than 45.5 hours (45:30) of flying and plotted to operate a portion of the month.
- **GGG.** "RESERVE" means a Flight Attendant who is awarded a Reserve line or assigned reserve duty in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
- **HHH.** "RESERVE AVAILABILITY PERIOD" (RAP) means a reserve on-call period as set forth in Section 9 of this Agreement.
- "RESERVE BLOCK LINES" (RBL) are constructed in groups of three (3) which will contain a block of days off commencing at either the beginning, middle or end of a bid month. Each line will contain consecutive blocks of reserve availability followed by a single day off and will be built and awarded in accordance with Sections 8.A. and 8.E.3.
- **JJJ.** "RESERVE LINE" means a line on the monthly schedule consisting of days of reserve availability and days off.

- **KKK.** "SCHEDULE" means a Flight Attendant's assignments throughout the bid period.
- **LLL.** "SCHEDULED" means any time assigned to a Flight Attendant, e.g. bid award, reserve assignment, trades/optional exchange, open time pick up, junior manning, extension, or assignment of new flying.
- MMM. "SENIORITY" The three (3) categories of Flight Attendant seniority are CLASSIFICATION (for pay purposes), COMPANY (for Company benefits), and OCCUPATIONAL (for bidding purposes). All references in this Agreement to seniority shall mean Occupational Seniority except where specific reference is made to Company and/or Classification Seniority.
- **NNN.** "SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT" means a temporary assignment within the In-Flight Service Department or duties related to In-Flight Services and/or duties of a Flight Attendant.
- ooo. "TAFB" means time away from base. It commences at the time a Flight Attendant is scheduled to check in and continues until block-in of the last flight of a Flight Attendant's <u>pairing</u> plus debriefing time, which normally is fifteen minutes (00:15), or thirty minutes (00:30) if clearing customs.
- **PPP.** "TEMPORARY DUTY ASSIGNMENT" (TDY) means assigning a Flight Attendant to another base for a full month's temporary duty. The temporary duty line may be a regular line, reserve line or relief line.
- **QQQ.** "TRANSITION PERIOD" means the four (4) day period normally in the beginning of the contractual month but which may be expanded at Flight Attendant's option up to three days into the preceding contractual month for schedule adjustments required to solve conflicts between bid awards as referenced in Section 8. Q of this Agreement.
- <u>RRR.</u> "TRANSPORTATION EMERGENCY" For purposes of the Commuter Policy (Section 31), a Transportation Emergency must be declared by the Company. For purposes of Personal Emergency Days (10.O.), a Transportation Emergency shall be considered declared if it is declared by the Company or any state/city/county entity.
- **SSS.** "UNAVAILABLE FOR FLIGHT DUTY" means the period of time a Flight Attendant is not available for flight duty with the Company. Examples of when a Flight Attendant is unavailable for flight duty include the time when a Flight Attendant is on furlough, withheld from service, sick leave, leave of absence, vacation, bereavement leave, family leave, jury duty leave, time off without pay, military leave, maternity leave and Union business leave.

- **TTT.** "UNION" or "ASSOCIATION" means the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO.
- **UUU.** "VALUE OF THE DAY" (VOD) means the value of a day for pay purposes when a Flight Attendant is removed from duty, and there is no flying assignment or has a Reserve obligation on that day. Value of the day is 3:45.

SECTION 3 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Company has and retains and the Union recognizes the sole and exclusive right of the Company to exercise all rights and functions of management except to the extent that such rights of management are limited by this Agreement and so long as the exercise of such rights does not conflict with the terms of this Agreement.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 4 COMPENSATION

A. Pay Rates

 A Flight Attendant will be credited for all flights which are actually flown applying the following hourly applicable rates of pay for scheduled or actual hours flown whichever is greater, on a leg by leg basis (block-toblock).

% increase				1.5%	1.5%	1.5%			
	Current Book	DOS*	DOS+						
0-1 Year	\$18.39	\$18.39	\$18.39	\$18.67	\$18.95	\$19.23	\$19.23	\$19.23	\$19.23
1-2 Years	\$20.41	\$20.41	\$20.41	\$20.72	\$21.03	\$21.35	\$21.35	\$21.35	\$21.35
2-3 Years	\$21.05	\$21.05	\$21.05	\$21.37	\$21.69	\$22.02	\$22.02	\$22.02	\$22.02
3-4 Years	\$21.88	\$21.88	\$21.88	\$22.21	\$22.54	\$22.88	\$22.88	\$22.88	\$22.88
4-5 Years	\$23.67	\$23.67	\$23.67	\$24.03	\$24.39	\$24.76	\$24.76	\$24.76	\$24.76
5-6 Years	\$24.77	\$24.77	\$24.77	\$25.14	\$25.52	\$25.90	\$25.90	\$25.90	\$25.90
	\$25.83	\$25.83	\$25.83	\$26.22	\$26.61	\$27.01	\$27.01	\$27.01	\$27.01
6-7 Years	\$28.52	\$28.52	\$28.52	\$28.95	\$29.38	\$29.82	\$29.82	\$29.82	\$29.82
7-8 Years	\$29.55	\$29.55	\$29.55	\$29.99	\$30.44	\$30.90	\$30.90	\$30.90	\$30.90
8-9 Years			·	·	·				·
9-10 Years	\$30.60	\$30.60	\$30.60	\$31.06	\$31.53	\$32.00	\$32.00	\$32.00	\$32.00
10-11 Years	\$31.62	\$31.62	\$31.62	\$32.09	\$32.57	\$33.06	\$33.06	\$33.06	\$33.06
11-12 Years	\$32.00	\$32.00	\$32.00	\$32.48	\$32.97	\$33.46	\$33.46	\$33.46	\$33.46
12-13 Years	\$32.25	\$32.25	\$32.25	\$32.73	\$33.22	\$33.72	\$33.72	\$33.72	\$33.72
*For purposes of the chart above, DOS shall be January 01, 2013.									

- 2. a. Flight Attendants with thirteen (13) or more years of service will receive an additional \$0.50 per hour for each year over twelve (12), up to a maximum of \$2.00 per hour.
 - b. Beginning DOS+4 years Flight Attendants eligible for the above longevity increase will receive an additional \$0.25 per hour for each year over twelve (12) up to a maximum of \$3.00.
- 3. All Flight Attendants will be placed on the pay scale ("Pay Scale") set forth in paragraph A.1. above, based on each Flight Attendant's actual

date of hire (or adjusted date of hire because of unpaid leaves of absences, etc.).

B. Minimum Monthly Pay Guarantee

A Flight Attendant who is available for duty for a full month will be paid flight pay at the applicable hourly rate for seventy-five hours (75:00). In the event a Flight Attendant is unavailable for a portion of the month, her/his guarantee for that month will be prorated.

C. Cancellation Credit/Adjusted Guarantee

- 1. A Flight Attendant who is available for a full month and is awarded a regular or relief line of flying will be guaranteed ninety-six percent (96%) of the scheduled flight credit hours awarded on her/his final bid award. plotted during the PBS build for that bid month. Such scheduled credit hours will include time carried in from the previous bid month.
 - a. Plus:
 - i. Any time added due to assignment of new flying
 - <u>ii.</u> Any junior manning (JM)/Extension (EX) assignment
 - b. Deducting:
 - i. A trade of less flight time value than the Flight Attendant's original pairing
 - ii. Any pairing drops or portions thereof
 - iii. Any pairing(s) missed due to illness or non-occupational injury where the Flight Attendant has no accrued paid sick time available
 - iv. Any missed assignments
- 2. Application of Cancellation Credit

Flight Attendants who have flights cancelled will be paid the greater of:

- a. The minimum monthly guarantee, or
- b. The adjusted guarantee as defined in paragraph 1 above, or
- c. The flight hours flown during the month.

D. Domicile Report

 A Flight Attendant who reports for duty which begins at such Flight Attendant's domicile and who performs no flying or does no

- deadheading shall be credited one hour (1:00) of applicable flight pay.
- A Flight Attendant who is assigned new flying under the provisions of Section 8 will be paid for the rescheduled flying performed.
- A Flight Attendant who is required to remain available at the domicile airport for additional flying assignment within two hours (2:00) and who does no flying will be credited with the time elapsed prior to release.

E. Deadheading Pay

- A Flight Attendant who deadheads to or from any station at Company direction for the purpose of covering an assignment will be credited for such deadheading at thirty minutes (0:30) for each one hour (1:00) of such deadhead time on the basis of the scheduled flight leg(s) at the Flight Attendant's applicable Pay Rate.
- A Flight Attendant who travels by ground transportation to or from any station at Company direction for the purpose of covering an assignment will be credited for such deadheading at <a href="https://discrete-thirty.com/hittps://discrete-thirty.
- A Flight Attendant will not be required to deadhead/position on a "maintenance ferry" flight.

F. Pay for Open Time

- A Flight Attendant, who bids for and is awarded a pairing not scheduled on her/his final bid award, excluding schedule changes and junior manning/extension assignments, will receive pay and credit above guarantee for such time awarded.
- A Flight Attendant scheduled for vacation may bid for and fly open time.
 In addition to vacation pay, such Flight Attendant will receive pay and credit above guarantee for all hours flown during the vacation period.
- A Flight Attendant who is awarded a regular or relief line will be guaranteed one hundred percent (100%) of the scheduled flight hours awarded as open time.

4. A Reserve Flight Attendant may bid for and fly open time. Such Reserve Flight Attendant will receive pay and credit above guarantee as outlined in Section F.3. above.

G. Ferry Pay

When a Flight Attendant is required, by the Company, to ferry as essential crew to or from any station, she/he will receive her/his applicable Pay Rates for the actual flight time.

H. Initial Operating Experience (IOE)

I.O.E. Instructor compensation shall be paid in addition to all other compensation at the rate of seven dollars and fifty cents (\$7.50) per hour for the actual or scheduled flight time, whichever is greater.

I. Special Assignment Pay

A Flight Attendant removed from a pairing(s) for a special assignment shall receive pay and credit toward her/his guarantee for the scheduled (s) plus per diem for the period of assignment. If the special assignment is worked on a scheduled day off, the Flight Attendant will receive pay and credit above her/his guarantee for three hours forty-five minutes (3:45), plus per diem, for the period of the assignment. Acceptance of Special Assignments are voluntary.

J. Drug and Alcohol Testing

A Flight Attendant shall be paid ten dollars (\$10.00) for each random drug or alcohol test to which she/he is directed to submit.

K. Flexible Hiring Rates

1. In the event the Company, in its sole discretion, determines that the starting Pay Step (Step 0-1) as specified in this Agreement is not sufficiently competitive to attract and retain qualified Flight Attendant candidates, the Company may hire applicants at a Pay Step (Steps 1-2 through 12-13) higher than the starting rate specified in this Agreement. As market conditions change, the Company may, in its sole discretion, change its designated starting rate. Such designated starting rate may be higher or lower than the previously designated starting rate, however, such starting rate may not be lower than Step 0-1 nor higher than Step 12-13.

- Should the Company raise the starting Pay Step as specified in subparagraph 1. above, Flight Attendants who are receiving less than the new designated starting Pay Step will have their Pay Step concurrently increased to the new designated starting Pay Step.
- 3. A Flight Attendant whose Pay Step is increased in accordance with subparagraphs 1. or 2. above, will progress to the next higher Pay Step of the pay scale on the date such Flight Attendant's length of service catches up with her/his adjusted Pay Step. This is the same date the Flight Attendant would have progressed to that higher Pay Step had the Flight Attendant's pay not been adjusted. For example, a Flight Attendant who is hired at Step 2, will remain at Step 2 from the date of hire until the completion of one (1) year of service, at which time her/his Pay Rate will progress to Step 3.
- The Company will notify the MEC President whenever it uses flexible hiring rates.

L. Pay Day

- 1. Pay Dates will be the 15th and the last day of every calendar month. If such day is a holiday or weekend, Flight Attendants will be paid the last business day (non-holiday Monday through Friday) prior to the payday.
- Discrepancies will be corrected within thirty (30) days after the discrepancy has been brought to the attention of the Company and verified.
- 3. Direct deposit will be available to every Flight Attendant to the financial institution of the Flight Attendant's choice.
- 4. Pay Stub Information will include at a minimum:
 - a. Base Pay
 - b. Additional hours paid
 - c. TAFB hours (per diem)
 - d. Pre tax deductions Medical/Dental (pay period and year to date)
 - e. Tax Deductions (pay period and year to date)
 - After tax deductions and explanation (pay period and year to date)
 - g. Other information (sick leave and vacation earned) may be added if and when automation is available and programming

M. Repaying an Overpayment [old SL PP]:

- The Repayment Plan (hereinafter also the "Plan") worked out on an individual basis between the Flight Attendant and the payroll department will be negotiated between the individual Flight Attendant and her/his Flight Service Manager.
- Once notified by the Flight Service Manager that the Flight Attendant has been overpaid and repayment of monies is due, the Flight Attendant must contact and negotiate a Repayment Plan with a Flight Service Manager within two pay periods following the receipt of notification. If the Flight Attendant and the Flight Service Manager are not able to successfully negotiate a Repayment Plan within the stated time period, details of the Plan will default to those contained in this Agreement (\$25.00 minimum amount per pay period; Plan not to exceed two years in duration).
- The Repayment Plan will contain a minimum payment of the <u>lesser</u> of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) per pay period <u>or</u> the remaining balance due.
- 4. The duration of the Repayment Plan may not exceed two (2) years. It is understood that as closely as feasible, each payment pursuant to such a plan will be of an amount equal to all other payments under the Plan. For example, a two year Repayment Plan of an overpayment of \$2,000.00 would be repaid in forty-seven (47) equal \$41.67 installments plus a final installment of \$41.51.
- 5. Payments made pursuant to such a Plan will be <u>by</u> payroll deduction. The Flight Attendant will execute such forms as are necessary to execute the Plan. If a Flight Attendant goes into an "unpaid" status for any reason, the repayment obligation will cease until such time as the Flight Attendant returns to a "paid" status and her/his first paycheck is cut.
- Once negotiated, the Flight Service Manager will be responsible for forwarding the individual Flight Attendant's Repayment Plan to the Company's payroll department.
- 7. If a Flight Attendant is on an unpaid status anticipated to last an entire bid period, she/he will be removed from payroll until three days prior to

the issuance of the mid-month (15th) paycheck. It is understood that this will be done for the sole purpose of reducing the possibility of an overpayment to that Flight Attendant.

- 8. It is understood that the <u>Company</u> agrees to continue giving consideration to the amount of overpayment and the Flight Attendant's ability to repay.
- 9. It is understood that time voluntarily dropped or deducted from a Flight Attendant's schedule shall not constitute an overpayment nor shall such Flight Attendant be eligible for the repayment provisions in paragraphs M.1. - M.8. above.

N. Holidays

A Flight Attendant who is on duty on Christmas Day (December 25) and/or Thanksgiving will receive one and one half times her/his hourly pay rate as described above for all credit hours worked on such days.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 5 EXPENSES

A. Per Diem

 Per diem expenses will apply to all <u>pairings</u>. A Flight Attendant will be paid at the following rate for each <u>pairing</u> hour while away from domicile (prorated to nearest minute) for meal expenses:

Effective January 01,2013 (DOS)	Hourly Per Diem:
DOS	<u>\$1.55</u>
DOS+1	\$1.60
DOS+2	\$1.65
DOS+3	\$1.70

- 2. Per diem expenses will be paid for each <u>pairing</u> hour (prorated to nearest minute) from the time the Flight Attendant checks in one hour (1:00) before scheduled domicile departure until fifteen minutes (:15) after block-in at her/his domicile (thirty minutes (:30) if required to clear customs). If a Flight Attendant is on temporary assignment at a different domicile other than her/his own, then per diem expenses will start at flight departure to the different domicile and end at flight arrival back at her/his domicile.
- Flight Attendants assigned to an International Overnight as defined in Section 2, Definitions, or an International Continuous Duty Overnight (ICDO) will receive <u>additional</u> per diem as specified in Section 30 – International Flying.
- 4. Per Diem for Special Assignment [old SL LL]

Per diem shall be calculated as the greater of 1) the amount she/he would have earned in conjunction with any <u>pairing(s)</u> from which removed in order to perform the Special assignment; or 2) one hour of per diem for each hour, prorated, spent at work for the duration of the Special Assignment.

B. Parking

At domiciles where free parking is not available the Company will pay the cost of parking for Flight Attendants. For Flight Attendants who elect to park at airports other than their domicile airport, the Company will reimburse parking fees equal to the fees charged for domicile parking, subject to local airport authority and governmental limitations. The Company will not be responsible for any administrative cost or procedures other than at the domicile.

In case of a Co-Domicile as specified in Section 29 – Co-Domiciles, the highest maximum daily rate of the airports included will be the maximum amount reimbursable to the Flight Attendant. All reimbursements of parking expenses will require receipts. In lieu of parking provided, the Company will reimburse the Flight Attendant for using public transportation to and from work upon submission of receipts up to an amount equal to the highest amount the Company pays for parking at the Flight Attendant's domicile. Receipts must be submitted for reimbursement no later than six (6) months after the date the expense was incurred.

2. Those Flight Attendants who have the option of utilizing public transportation or what is commonly referred to as "park-and-ride" system in which they are able to park their vehicles at a location(s) away from the airport and to utilize public transportation to get to the airport shall be entitled to utilize such a system and to be reimbursed for the amount of fare and/or parking by the Company up to the limit of the normal Company provided parking. All reimbursements of parking/transportation will require receipts.

SECTION 6 MOVING EXPENSES

- **A.** A Flight Attendant will be eligible for Company paid moving expenses <u>in the following situations:</u>
 - If she/he is involuntarily <u>or voluntarily</u> displaced to another base from her/his present base.
 - <u>If she/he is</u> recalled to a base other than the one from which involuntarily or voluntarily furloughed and has exhausted her/his option to bypass recall.
- **B.** The Flight Attendant will pay moving expenses when:
 - 1. A Flight Attendant moves to a domicile incident to initial employment.
 - 2. A Flight Attendant is awarded a bid to a domicile (i.e., voluntary move).
 - 3. A Flight Attendant is recalled from furlough and has not exhausted her/his option to bypass recall.
- **C.** When the Company is required to pay moving expenses, receipts from the moving expenses must be submitted within forty-five (45) days after incurring the expenses.
- D. A Flight Attendant eligible for Company paid moving expenses will be reimbursed reasonable expenses incurred in moving, for packing and moving, up to a maximum of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1500.00) for any move within a radius of five hundred (500) statute miles or a maximum of two thousand dollars (\$2000.00) for any move outside a radius of the specified five hundred (500) miles. The Company will designate or approve the moving company, provided such is a common carrier that is licensed and insured to move household goods.
- **E.** A Flight Attendant eligible for moving expenses in accordance with Section 6.A. above will be eligible for one of the following:
 - Reimbursement for expenses for driving two (2) personally owned automobiles from her/his old domicile to her/his new domicile at the maximum IRS allowable rate per mile based on the most direct AAA mileage; or

- A Flight Attendant who is displaced to a domicile that requires a move over water (i.e. to or from SJU) will be entitled to have one (1) vehicle shipped to her/his new domicile at Company expenses, excluding taxes and licenses.
- 3. A Flight Attendant who is eligible for Company-paid moving expenses will remain eligible for such expenses for one (1) year from the triggering event as described in A. above.
 - a. The move for which expense reimbursement is claimed need not be the first move undertaken subsequent to the triggering event so long as it occurs within the one (1) year period.

EXAMPLE 1:

Flight Attendant Ramos is displaced from MIA to DFW effective 15 January, 2012 and commutes to work. On 18 October 2012, Ramos voluntarily transfers to JFK and decides to relocate to JFK. He is eligible for Company-paid moving expenses to JFK.

b. If, subsequent to the event triggering expense reimbursement eligibility, another triggering event transpires, the Flight Attendant will be eligible for reimbursement for an additional move. She/he will be eligible for one additional move for each triggering event.

EXAMPLE 2:

Flight Attendant Potter takes voluntary displacement from MIA to JFK on 20 July, 2012 and elects to move. The Company will pay for that move. On 10 August, 2012, Potter is displaced out of JFK to DFW. Potter elects to move to DFW and receives Company-paid moving expenses.

F. A Flight Attendant who is eligible for Company-paid moving expenses in accordance with Section 6.A. above will be eligible to receive two (2) nights lodging at a Company provided hotel and three (3) days of per diem at the applicable rate for either the purpose of moving, seeking permanent lodging at a new domicile or effecting the actual move or automobile relocation.

G. Moving Days

- A Flight Attendant who is eligible for moving expenses in accordance with Section 6.A. above may request, at the time of the monthly bid, up to five (5) consecutive days off for the purpose of driving to the new domicile and/or actually moving to the new domicile. Requests made prior to the bid closing for the affected month will be awarded in the final bid. Requests made after the bid closing for the affected month shall be mutually agreed upon by the Flight Attendant and the Company. Any pairings that are required to be dropped for this purpose shall be unpaid. The days in this Paragraph are in addition to the days provided for qualifying moves in accordance with Section 15.A.4. of this Agreement.
- A Flight Attendant who is not eligible for moving expenses in accordance with this Section may be entitled to scheduled days off in accordance with Section 15.A.4.of this Agreement.
- <u>H</u>. The Company will be responsible for reimbursement of eligible expenses under this Section that are incurred up to and including twelve (12) months after the Flight Attendant reports to a new domicile.
- I. A Flight Attendant who is eligible for Company paid moving expenses may elect to have the move paid from a location other than the domicile from which she/he is being transferred to any location within eighty (80) miles of the new domicile; provided that at the time of the move, the Flight Attendant resides more than eighty (80) miles from the new domicile airport. However, the Company's responsibility will not exceed the cost of moving the Flight Attendant from the domicile from which she/he is transferred to her/his new domicile.
- J. When the Company is required to pay moving expenses, nothing in this Section is intended to prevent the Company and Flight Attendant from agreeing to an amount to be paid to the Flight Attendant in lieu of the moving expenses provided for herein, provided that the agreement is subject to prior written approval by the Union.
- **K.** Flight Attendants making a Company paid move will be permitted, upon application, to draw an interest-free advance not to exceed \$750.00 to be repaid at a rate of \$50.00 per pay period, beginning with the next pay period. Such advance shall be requested and will be made prior to the move.
- L. For qualifying moves in accordance with Section 6.A. above, the Company will provide, upon request, documentation to assist the Flight Attendant in terminating a lease. In the event that the efforts of the Flight Attendant are not successful, the

Company will pay a broken lease penalty, if incurred, not to exceed the lesser of one month's rent or \$500.00. In order to be eligible for this provision, the affected Flight Attendant must provide the Company with accurate contact information for the leasing agent or landlord.

SECTION 7 HOURS OF SERVICE

A. Monthly Maximum

- A Flight Attendant will not be required to exceed one hundred block hours (100:00) per month, not including deadhead assignments. A Flight Attendant may elect to exceed the one hundred block hour (100:00) limitation through <u>pairing</u> trades, optional exchanges and pickups from open time.
- If a Flight Attendant is projected to exceed or actually exceeds the one hundred block hour (100:00) limitation, the Company will determine which leg(s) to remove from her/his schedule in order to reduce her/his projected block hours to one hundred (100:00) or less, unless she/he elects to exceed the limitation.
- 3. If a Flight Attendant is projected to exceed or actually exceeds the one hundred (100:00) block hour limitation, she/he will not be junior manned or extended for the remainder of the bid period.
- 4. A Flight Attendant will not be paid or credited for any leg(s) removed from her/his schedule as a result of the one hundred block hour (100:00) limitation.
- 5. A Flight Attendant who is not projected to exceed the one hundred (100:00) limitation when her/his duty period begins will complete the duty period even if operational reasons cause her/him to exceed one hundred (100:00) during the duty period. If the duty period does not terminate in domicile, the Flight Attendant may elect to deadhead to domicile or to work the remainder of the pairing.
- 6. Paragraphs A.1. through A.6., above, will apply to reduced guarantee lines, except that the one hundred (100:00) limitation will be a fifty (50:00) limitation for such lines.

B. Duty Periods

A Flight Attendant's duty period, at her/his domicile, shall begin one hour (1:00) prior to scheduled block-out time (check-in) and end fifteen minutes (:15) after actual block-in of her/his last segment or when the Flight Attendant is actually released, whichever is later (check-out).

- A Flight Attendant's duty period, other than at her/his domicile, shall begin forty-five minutes (:45) prior to scheduled block-out time and shall end fifteen minutes (:15) after actual block-in time of her/his last segment, or when the Flight Attendant is actually released, whichever is later.
- 3. If a Flight Attendant's first leg of her/his duty period is a deadhead, other than at her/his domicile, report time shall be thirty minutes (:30) prior to scheduled block-out time.
- 4. At a layover station, a report time may not be reduced to less than twenty minutes (:20) prior to scheduled departure.
- 5. In the event that a Flight Attendant is required to clear customs after the last leg of a <u>pairing</u>, release time shall be thirty minutes (:30) after actual block-in time or when the Flight Attendant is actually released, whichever is later (check-out).

C. Scheduled on Duty

- A Flight Attendant shall not be scheduled to be on-duty more than fourteen hours (14:00) per duty period. A Flight Attendant may not be assigned new flying or required to remain on duty in excess of sixteen hours (16:00), including continuous duty overnights.
- A Flight Attendant will receive one (1) calendar day free from duty in her/his domicile in any seven-day period. However, a Flight Attendant at her/his discretion, may elect a 24-hour break from duty in any seven-day period to accommodate her/his request(s) for pairing trades, optional exchanges and/or pick-ups of open time. However, if a Flight Attendant adjusts her/his schedule (OT pick up, pairing trade, etc.) for the end of the current month before the final bid awards are made for the following month and such schedule adjustment puts her/him into a one in seven conflict after bids are awarded, the Flight Attendant shall not be considered to have waived the calendar day off. One day of flying shall be removed in order to accommodate the Flight Attendant's right to one day free from duty in any seven-day period.
- A flight originating in one calendar day and extending into the next calendar day will be considered to have terminated in the first calendar day, if it terminates no later than 0200 hours local time on the second day.

4. In the event that a Flight Attendant's <u>pairing</u> is split at her/his domicile after the final bid award causing the Flight Attendant to overnight in the Flight Attendant's domicile, the time away from base (TAFB) will be continued for the duration of the overnight and the Flight Attendant will continue to receive per diem for the duration of the overnight. If the Company implements appropriate technology, Flight Attendants will be required to check-in for the remainder of her/his <u>pairing</u> after an indomicile overnight.

D. Days Off

- A Regular relief or Reserve Flight Attendant who is available for duty for a full month will be guaranteed a minimum of eleven (11) days off at her/his domicile each month.
- 2. The Company PBS will construct lines of time with duty days grouped together, and days off grouped together in which there are at least two periods of two (2) days free from duty. In addition, the "default" construction for the lines of Reserve Flight Attendants will be constructed with at least one (1) period of four (4) consecutive days off, and at least one (1) period of three (3) Golden Days. Such default parameters may be waived by the Flight Attendant. Reserve lines will include one The set of three (3) Golden Days off will be placed consecutively on a Reserve's line in any block of three or more days off. Golden Day placement will always start with the first day of a block of days off. When more than one block of three or more days off exist in the bid month, such Golden Days will be placed on the set of days off which were given the highest priority within the Flight Attendant's submitted bid. Such Golden Days off cannot be changed or removed by the Company for any reason without the approval of the Flight Attendant. Golden Days will be built into the bid line and will be bid upon as part of the line by those Flight Attendants bidding reserve lines. A Flight Attendant may swap her/his complete set of Golden Days off for another Flight Attendant's complete set of Golden Days off so long as the trading of such sets of Golden Days does not create a conflict with the Flight Attendant's Reserve schedule.
 - <u>A Flight Attendant, at her/his option, may submit a request to trade or swap an individual Golden Day and once approved, it shall lose its Golden Day status. In such case, the day may be traded and the other two Golden Days shall retain their Golden status.</u>

- <u>b.</u> The Flight Attendant may submit a request to trade or swap two Golden Days. Once approved, the remaining Golden Day shall also lose its "Golden Day" designation.
- 3. If a Flight Attendant is unavailable for duty for part of a month, the guaranteed days off as provided in D.1. above will be prorated.
- In the event of a temporary assignment, the days off at the temporary domicile will be considered as days off at the Flight Attendant's domicile.
- 5. No Flight Attendant shall be required to work more than two (2) guaranteed days off in a given bid period. When a Flight Attendant is involuntarily required to fly on one of her/his scheduled minimum days off in a bid period, the Flight Attendant will:
 - a. Reschedule the day off during the same bid period when possible, but in no case later than the following bid period. Such day(s) off shall be rescheduled by mutual concurrence between the Flight Attendant and the Company. No Flight Attendant shall be required to work more than two (2) guaranteed days off in a given bid period.
 - b. A Flight Attendant will not be subject to junior assignment or extension on such rescheduled day(s).
 - c. At the Flight Attendant's option, in lieu of rescheduling the day(s) off, the Flight Attendant will be paid three hours and forty-five minutes (3:45) above her/his guarantee for each such day.

E. Rest

General

Except as provided in E.2. below, Flight Attendants will be provided the following rest provisions in the chart below.
 Flight Attendants shall be given prior knowledge of the start and end point of rest period(s) per the FARs.

Scheduled Flight Time	Normal Rest	Reduced Rest	Compensatory Rest
Less Than 8 hours of flying	9	8	10*
More Than 8 But less than 9 hours of flying	10	8	11*
More than 9 hours of flying	11	9	12*

^{*}Compensatory rest must begin within 24 hours after the beginning of reduced rest.

e.g.: If reduced rest begins at 2000 Central Time on day one, compensatory rest must begin by 2000 Central Time on day two.

- Lines of time for a month <u>Pairings</u> will be constructed with a minimum of ten hours (10:00) of rest in domicile and a minimum of eight and one-half hours (8:30) of rest in out stations.
- Lines of time for a month will be constructed with a minimum of ten hours (10:00) of rest in domicile. Such rest limitation may be waived by the Flight Attendant to FAR + 45 minutes.

2. Rest in Domicile

- a. Whenever a Flight Attendant holding a line of time is placed into rest in her/his domicile she/he will receive a minimum of ten hours (10:00) of rest prior to duty on the next calendar day.
- b. Whenever a Flight Attendant holding a line of time that contains continuous duty overnights (CDOs) is placed into rest in her/his domicile, she/he will receive a minimum of ten hours (10:00) rest within the same calendar day between CDO pairings.
- c. Whenever a Reserve Flight Attendant is placed into rest in her/his domicile that will end on the next calendar day, she/he will receive a minimum of ten hours (10:00) of rest between: pairings; an Airport Reserve assignment and a pairing; a

- <u>pairing</u> and an Airport Reserve assignment; or within a <u>pairing</u> prior to duty on the next calendar day.
- d. In order to receive the rest specified in paragraphs 2.a., b. and c., above, a Flight Attendant will be required to notify Crew Scheduling within one hour (1:00) of being released should her/his schedule not provide the ten hours (10:00) of rest stated above.
- e. For the purpose of defining "calendar day," and solely for the purposes of paragraphs 2.a., b., c. and d., above, the time limit set forth in Section 7.C.3, shall be extended to 0600 hours local time of the second day.
- f. Paragraphs 2.a., c. and d., above, are not intended to require that a Flight Attendant be given ten hours (10:00) of rest in domicile between <u>pairings</u> on the same calendar day.

3. Rest Away from Domicile

- <u>a.</u> Pairings and lines will be built with no less than eight and one-half hours (8:30) of rest out of domicile.
- b. On any <u>pairings</u> built by Crew Scheduling (i.e., not built in accordance with paragraph E.1.b., above), the Company will make its best efforts to build such <u>pairings</u> providing for eight and one-half hours (8:30) minimum rest out of domicile. Should a Flight Attendant notify Crew Scheduling before departing on the flight into the outstation where less than eight and one-half hours (8:30) of rest has been scheduled that the <u>pairing</u> has not been constructed for eight and one-half hours (8:30) of minimum rest, Crew Scheduling will provide such rest.
- c. If a Flight Attendant is provided less than nine hours (9:00) of actual rest, she/he shall be given no less than ten hours (10:00) of compensatory rest prior to commencing a subsequent duty period as illustrated in E.1. above.

4. Contact During Rest

a. The Company may initiate telephone contact with a Flight Attendant during her/his layover duty-free period only within

the one hour and fifteen minute (1:15) period of time commencing at block in of the aircraft of the Flight Attendant's last flight prior to the layover, and again during the time period commencing one hour (1:00) prior to the scheduled ground transport ("van pick up") time prior to the Flight Attendant's first scheduled flight following a layover. It is understood that the Company will restrict communications during this period to the following communications:

- Notification of cancellation of the Flight Attendant's first flight following a layover, thus resulting in a later departure from the layover hotel;
- Delayed departure of the Flight Attendant's first flight following a layover, thus resulting in a later departure from the layover hotel.

It is understood for purposes of this paragraph that positive contact with the individual Flight Attendant is required in order for the notification to be valid.

- <u>b.</u> The Company may also initiate telephone contact with a Flight Attendant to prevent an outbound cancellation from the layover city and/or to position a Flight Attendant to complete the original <u>pairing</u>. This contact may be made during the time period specified in paragraph E.4.a., above or for one hour (1:00) prior to the scheduled ground transport ("van pick up") time prior to the affected flight. It is understood for purposes of this paragraph that positive contact with the individual Flight Attendant is required in order for the notification to be valid. <u>For the purposes of this paragraph</u>, "van-time" shall be considered one hour prior to the scheduled or actual departure of the flight, whichever is earlier.
- The Company may contact a Flight Attendant at any time in the event of a Flight Attendant's personal non-employment related emergency.
- In the event a Flight Attendant is contacted by the Company at any time outside the above-described periods of time or for a reason not listed above (e.g. soliciting open time), the Flight Attendant whose layover duty-free period has been so

interrupted will be automatically granted a day free from all duty with the Company, with no loss of pay, to be provided no later than the last day of the bid month following the month in which the Flight Attendant's rest was interrupted. The day selected shall be of the Flight Attendant's choosing.

e. Alternatively, the Flight Attendant may forego the day free from all duty and may elect instead to be paid three hours and forty-five minutes (3:45) above her/his guarantee.

F. Continuous Duty Overnights ("CDOs")

- 1. "Continuous Duty Overnight" is a scheduled duty period which begins in one calendar day and ends in the next calendar day without interruption by a scheduled rest period of at least eight hours (8:00) between flight assignments, and is so identified by a scheduled on duty rest of less than eight hours (8:00) in accordance with the provisions of sub-paragraphs a., b., and c. below:
 - Should a Flight Attendant be scheduled for a CDO which is scheduled to provide a break of six hours (6:00) or less (block in to block out), such Flight Attendant will not be scheduled for more than two (2) take offs during such CDO.
 - Should a Flight Attendant be scheduled for a CDO which is scheduled to provide a break of more than six hours (6:00) (block-in to block-out), such Flight Attendant will not be scheduled for more than four (4) take-offs during such CDO.
 - c. Should a Flight Attendant scheduled as provided in subparagraphs a. or b. above be assigned new flying, the number of times she/he may depart from her/his domicile shall be determined on the basis of the break received calculated on actual block-in and block-out times for such break.
- Flight Attendant schedules will be constructed with no more than three
 (3) consecutive CDOs. Such CDO groupings shall be followed by not less than two (2) calendar days off. Flight Attendants may bid for and be awarded a "CDO" line in the Monthly Pre-bidding System.
- Wherever possible, the Company will construct lines of flying that contain only CDOs. CDO lines will be constructed with no more than

- three (3) consecutive CDOs. Such CDO groupings shall be followed by not less than two (2) calendar days off.
- 4. No more than four (4) consecutive CDOs will be scheduled for a Flight Attendant during the transition period.
- 5. A Flight Attendant may request removal of the fourth CDO that falls in the beginning of the new contractual month. Staffing permitted; the transition team will remove the fourth CDO with no reduction in guarantee. For purposes of such removal, staffing will be evaluated before the final bid awards are posted. If staffing does not allow for removal at that time, the request will be reevaluated after the close of initial open time bid.
- Requests for the removal of a fourth CDO during the transition period will take precedence over all other requests. Such requests will be processed in seniority order.
- 7. A Flight Attendant holding a CDO line which is projected to contain seven (7) or more CDO <u>pairings</u>, who picks up open time on a day off, will be credited for such time in addition to the normal monthly guarantee.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 8 SCHEDULING

A. 1. The Company will utilize and maintain a Preferential Bidding System (PBS), meeting the requirements in this section and the Collective Bargaining Agreement for the construction and awarding of flight schedules and Reserve Lines of Time (New). [SL-N 12.a]

2. Bid Information

Pairing information will be made electronically available via a home access computer system and the Company computer terminals located in each domicile on or before the date of pairing information package distribution. One hard copy of the pairing information package will be available at each domicile or co-terminal. Pairing information packages, and online access, shall contain all of the pairing information, for all of the scheduled pairings in a given domicile and its co-domiciles. Each domicile's bid package The pairing information package shall state the anticipated number of bid lines and reserve lines that will be awarded in each that domicile, the line average for the month in the domicile, the minimum and maximum hours a line can be built to in the domicile, and the training dates and locations for the domicile. [SL-N 12.e.]

B. Monthly Bidding Process

- 1. A Flight Attendant will bid in her/his specific domicile (When "domicile" is used herein, it will include any co-domicile). A Flight Attendant may enter a default-standing bid and it shall remain in force until one of the following occurs: 1) Base Transfer 2) TDY award 3) Flight Attendant changes bid. [SL-N 12.b.]
 - a. i. Carry-ins/absences/pre-awards that are known at the time of bidding, will be pre-planned in the bid process, and credited in the new month. [SL-N 12.b. iii.]
 - ii. Flight Attendants on a paper-bid status, whose bid will be for pay purposes only, will be able to bid and be awarded a schedule without impacting other active Flight Attendants' awards. [SL-N 12.b.i.]
 - iii. A Flight Attendant who obtains medical clearance prior to the close of bids will be allowed to bid

30 Day	30 Day Month		Month
Available	Prorated	Available	Prorated
Days	Days Off	Days	Days Off
29- 30	11	30 - 31	11
26 - 28	10	27 - 29	10
24 - 25	9	24 - 26	9
21 - 23	8	22 - 23	8
18 - 20	7	19 - 21	7
15 - 17	6	16 - 18	6
13 - 14	5	13 - 15	5
10- 12	4	10- 12	4
7 - 9	3	8 - 9	3
5 - 6	2	5 - 7	2
2 - 4	1	2 - 4	1
1	0	1	0

during the bidding process, and will be awarded a schedule for the entire bid period or that portion of the month for which she/he will be available. If available for less than the full bid period, the number of minimum days off will be prorated based upon the numbers of days available per the chart below and the Flight Attendant will receive a "soft" credit in accordance with the chart below for each day of unpaid leave for purposes of bidding only; e.g., a Flight Attendant returning from maternity leave mid-month. [SL-N 12.b.ii.]

Type of Credit	Prorated Minimum Days off	Pay Credit	PBS Credit
Bereavement Leave	NO	3.75	3.75
Vacation Ex Days (part of guaranteed days off)	NO	0.00	3.75
FMLA (intermittent) / KIN Care	NO	3.75	3.75
FMLA (non-intermittent)	YES	2.50	2.50
Furlough	YES	0.00	2.50
Jury Duty/Witness (1- 4 Days)	NO	3.75	3.75
Jury Duty/Witness (More Than 4 Days)	YES	2.50	2.50
Long Term Training	YES	2.50	2.50
LT LOA	YES	0.00	2.50
Maternity Leave	YES	2.50	2.50
Medical Leave	YES	0.00	2.50
Military Leave	YES	0.00	2.50
Move Days (MV)	NO	3.75	3.75
Move Days (UM)	NO	0.00	3.75
Other Company Paid Days (1- 4 days)	NO	3.75	3.75
Other Company Paid Days (More than 4 days)	YES	2.50	2.50
PLOA	YES	0.00	2.50

	A. Control of the Con	
YES	2.50	2.50
YES	0.00	2.50
NO	3.75	3.75
YES	2.50	2.50
NO	2.67	2.67
YES	2.67	2.67
YES	3.00	3.00
YES	2.50	2.50
YES	0.00	2.50
NO	3.75	3.75
YES	2.50	2.50
	YES NO NO NO NO NO YES NO YES YES YES YES NO	YES 0.00 NO 3.75 NO 3.75 NO 3.75 NO 3.75 NO 3.75 NO 3.75 YES 2.50 NO 2.67 YES 2.67 YES 3.00 YES 2.50 YES 0.00 NO 3.75

*Special Assignment Full Month Will Shadow Bid

iv. If a Flight Attendant is withheld from service with pay by the Company at the time of bid closing she/he will be allowed to bid for a schedule for the following bid period in accordance with this Section.[SL M 12.b.v.]

2. <u>Minimum/Maximum Bid Options</u> [SL-N 15]

A bidder may choose the minimum or maximum range of credit hours to be awarded for a bid period during PBS line construction. The minimum credit range will be 75 to 91 credit hours. The minimum credit range will never be less than 75 hours and will never exceed 91hours. The maximum credit range will be 91 to 110 credit hours and will never exceed 110 hours.

3. Bidding while vacation in the month

- a. During the bid process Flight Attendants scheduled for vacation shall be afforded the option to expand their vacation by up to four unpaid days. If the "off the shelf" software does not provide for this option, The vacation expansion days will be pre-plotted as an unpaid planned absence by crew scheduling prior to the monthly bid awards. Such days adjacent to vacation will count toward the minimum monthly days off. Only one option (before, after or split) will be accepted and awarded during the bid process. For all days of unavailability, the days off will be prorated in accordance with the chart in 8.B.1. and soft credit will be placed on the vacation extension days in accordance with the chart in 8.B.1. [SL-N 12.b.iv.]
- <u>b.</u> A Reserve with vacation day(s) in a bid period shall receive all her/his days off outside of the vacation period, if applicable, in addition to her/his vacation day(s). However, if the days off as provided for in Global Option #32 plus the scheduled vacation day(s) does not allow for the required days off to be placed outside of the scheduled vacation period, such days will not be restored or moved to the subsequent month. [SL-N 16.c.]

Buddy Bidding

- a The Company shall provide the Buddy Bidding Option which allows for two (2) Flight Attendants to bid preference for and be awarded the same line of flying pairings for a month.
- b. Both Flight Attendants shall submit a current <u>or default</u> bid and indicate a preference for the other employee. The <u>pairing(s)</u> lines shall be awarded on the junior Flight Attendant's seniority provided that the senior Flight Attendant can hold the other position on the same line pairing(s).
- c. If the Buddy Bid link is established and if no pairing is found with two (2) open positions that can be held by both Flight Attendants, or if the Buddy Bid Link is never established, the "Buddy Bid" will be considered "busted." Each Flight Attendant of the busted Buddy Bid will be awarded an individual bidline line award. Such PBS lines will both be awarded at the seniority of the most junior Flight Attendant of the busted bid.

<u>5.</u> Bidding Timeline

PBS FA Bidding/ A	Awarding Window	
5 th of the month	Complete pairings	
1 st of the month	Training Bids close, noon	TDY Bidding (ORIGINAL Dates)
2 nd of the month		
3 rd of the month		
4 th of the month	Training Bids awarded, noon	
	Training Swaps open, noon	
5 th of the month		
6 th of the month		
7 th of the month	TDY Bids open/ Vacation Swaps Deadline	
9 th of the month	Training Swaps close, 10:00	
10 th of the month	Training Dates final, no later than 10:00 TDY closes, 10:00 TDY awarded, noon	TDY offered
	Pre-Bid opens, noon	
12 th of the month	гте-ый орень, поон	
13 th of the month	Pre-Bid Closes noon	
14 th of the month	Pre-Bid closes floori Pre-Bid protest window opens- noon	
15 th of the month	Pre-Bid protest window closes- noon	TDY Bids close, 10:00 TDY Bids awarded, noon
20 th of the month*	Bid Closes/ Awarding starts, noon FOS Lockout in effect	
21st of the month*	FOS Lockout in effect	
22 nd of the month*	Awarding Complete/ Protest – Transition	
	window opens	
	FOS Lockout in effect	
23 rd of the month	Protest-Transition window closes	
24 th of the month	TTOT turned on	
25 th of the month	Date affected by FOS Lockout	
26 th of the month	Date affected by FOS Lockout	
27 th of the month	Date affected by FOS Lockout	
28 th of the month	Date affected by FOS Lockout	
29 th of the month	Date affected by FOS Lockout	
30 th / 31 st of the	Date affected by FOS Lockout	
month		

*FOS Lockout in effect

- a. The pre-bid will open on the 10th of the month at noon, CT during which a Flight Attendant may bid for and be awarded designations which will determine eligibility for different line options, including Reduced Guarantee Bid Line, Airport Standby, Vacation Fly Through with expansion, RBL and CDO line awards. Pre-bid options may be modified as needed by mutual agreement.
- <u>b.</u> The pre-bid will open on the 13th at noon, CT, and preliminary bid awards will be posted no later than the 14th at noon, CT. The Bid Protest period will begin at noon on the 14th, CT and end on the 15th at noon, CT. Pre-bid awards will be final on the 15th of the month at noon, CT.
- c. A Flight Attendant may enter or edit a default bid(s) at any time. However, the bidding for the current bid month will open on the -15th of the month prior at noon CT.
- d. Bidding will close on the 20th at noon CT.
- e. Schedule adjustments (e.g. pairing trades, drops, swaps, etc.) will not be permitted during the FOS lock out window which commences at noon CT on the 20th and ends once the preliminary awards are published no later than the 22nd.
- <u>The bid protest period opens when preliminary awards are published, no later than the 22nd at noon, CT and closes on the 23rd at noon CT.</u>
- g. Line awards will be considered final at noon CT on the 24th.
- h. TTOT will be turned on at noon CT on the 24th.
- In the event of a major, previously unknown airline schedule change, after pairings are constructed, the Company and the Association may agree to modify the Bid Timeline as appropriate. [SL-N 12.f.ii]

6. <u>Bid Protests</u> [SL-N.13]

a. The JPBSC will create an appropriate protest timeline based on the new bid and award deadlines created for PBS for Flight Attendants to protest a bid award.-move back to side-

letter. [SL N.13.a.] Flight Attendants will have a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours following both pre-bid awards and line awards to file a bid protest electronical ally via the PBS website. [SL-N.13.a.]

- b. Crew Planning shall promptly review any inquiry submitted.
 If a programming or system error occurred, the affected Flight
 Attendant will be made whole. No remedy will be available if
 the subject of the inquiry was due to the Flight Attendant's
 choice of bid preferences. [SL-N.13.b.]
- c. Where there is a programming error that affects a substantial numbers of Flight Attendants in a domicile(s), there may be a re-award upon agreement between the Company and the Association. Any re-award will be done within twenty-four (24) hours. [SL-N.13.c.]
- d. If, after the final bids have been awarded, any errors are subsequently discovered that makes any bid illegal in any manner, the Company will pull the Flight Attendant from sufficient flights with pay to be made legal. [SL-N.13.d.]

C. Pairing Line Construction

1. Lines shall be constructed preferentially, in order of seniority, one Flight Attendant at a time with the Flight Attendant holding as many pairings available at her/his seniority that meet her/his specific preferences, such preferences being stated in priority order provided that those pairings do not conflict with any known absences, carry-in pairings or reserve periods, or legalities following carry-in activities. [SL-N 9.]

<u>2.</u> Criteria for Pairing Line Construction:

- a. The JPBSC will meet with the vendor to thoroughly vet the new scheduling provisions which must be considered in the context of a PBS environment. The Company, with input from the JPBSC, will determine the range for the line average and the window above and below it to which a Flight Attendant's schedule may be built. Any subsequent change(s) will be made after consultation with the JPBSC. [SL-N 10.a.]
- <u>A bid</u> pairing line award will contain no reserve days. and a reserve line will contain only reserve days and days off. [SL-

<u>A bid pairing line will not contain any out of domicile pairings.</u>
 [SL-N 10.d.]

3. Parameters for Pairing/Line Construction:

The following procedures will precede line construction:

- a. All known flying, including charters, shall be constructed into pairings and placed in the PBS for bid. (Parties recognize that the flying must be known at the time pairings are constructed). A variety of pairings will be constructed (e.g. single day pairings, multi-day pairings, CDOs if applicable). [SL-N 11.a]
- b. The Company will apply any known absence to a Flight Attendant's schedule. The credit value of the known absence(s) will be reflected in the total value of the line for purposes of the line construction parameters according to the schedule below. To the extent that the "off the shelf" software accommodates credit value waivers, or if mutually agreed by the parties, at the Flight Attendant's option, she/he may elect to have the credit value not counted toward her/his maximum bid award. However, in no event may the Flight Attendant's bid award exceed one-hundred ten (110) hours. [SL-N 11.b]
- c. For the purposes of Line construction, the planned absences or events that are known prior to the close of the bids will have the below daily credit value applied towards a Flight Attendant's line credit except as provided for in b. above. [SL-N 11.c]

Training	3:45
Sick Leave	3:45
Bereavement	3:45
Paid Move Days	3:45
Special Assignment	3:45
Union Leave	3:45
Jury Duty Leave	3:45
Family Leave if SK or VC used	3:45
Pay Withheld	3:45
Paid Witness	3:45
	Sick Leave Bereavement Paid Move Days Special Assignment Union Leave Jury Duty Leave Family Leave if SK or VC used Pay Withheld

xi.	Travel Day	3:45
xii.	Single VC Day prior to January 1, 2016	2:41
xiii.	Single VC Day commencing January 1,	2016 3:00
xiv.	California Paid Family Leave and Paid S	chool 3:45
XV.	Miscellaneous Other	TBD

Preference Options [SL-N 12]

Prefer	ence Options [SL-N 12]
1.	Pairing Equipment [Prefer/Avoid, Aircraft type]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid pairings with specific aircraft type.
2.	Pairing Length [Prefer/Avoid, #Calendar days, Date]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid pairings with specified number of
	calendar days.
3.	Layover City [Prefer/Avoid, Layover Station, Date]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid a layover station or region, e.g.
	West Coast, North East, FL, Caribbean, Mexico, Southwest.
4.	Pairing Type [Prefer/Avoid, Type of pairing, Date]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or avoid a type of pairing. Pairing types – 4-day, 3-
	day, 2-day or 1-day <u>pairings</u>
5.	Crew Position [Prefer/Avoid, Crew position, Date]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid a specific position on pairings.
	Flight Attendant positions are specified on each pairing.
6.	Report / Release [Before/After, Time, Date]
	Flight Attendant may bid for pairings that report / release before or after a
	specific time. The <u>pairings</u> may optionally originate / terminate on a specific
	date.
7.	No Deadheads [Date] Flight Attendant may bid for pairings with no deadheads
	in the pairing.
8.	Layover Duration [Minimum/Maximum, Duration, Station]
	Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum layover
0	between duty periods. This limit shall apply to all layovers within the pairing.
9.	Landings per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Number]
	Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum landings per
10.	duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the pairing. Block Hours per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Value]
10.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum block time per duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the pairing.
11.	Average Credit Hours per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Value]
11.	Flight Attendant may bid for pairings with a minimum or maximum credit time
	per duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the pairing.
12.	Prefer Calendar Days Off [Days of week]
14.	Flight Attendant may bid off days on specific days of the week (e.g., prefer to
	work every Monday-Thursday)
	work overy menday-indicady

13. Credit Ratio [Prefer, Credit Ratio Value] Flight Attendant may bid for pairings that do not exceed the Credit Ratio Value (pairing time away from base / pairing credit). Pairing [Pairing number, Date] 14. Flight Attendant may bid for a specific pairing number and optionally depart on a specific date. 15. Range of days off [First date, Second date] Flight Attendant may bid for a range of days off. Block of days off [Date from, Date to] 16. Flight Attendant may bid for a period of days off and would be awarded all days off or none. 17. Co-Domicile Preference [Prefer, Co-Domicile] Flight Attendant may bid for pairings that originate from a specific co-domicile. 18. Min / Max Connection Time [Minimum/Maximum, Duration] Flight Attendants able to bid for pairings that have minimum or maximum connection (sit) times. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the pairing. **Global Options** 19. Maximum number of work periods - Flight Attendant may elect to specify a maximum number of work periods in the bid month (subject to their minimum and maximum permissible credit hours). Allow Back to Backs 20. Flight Attendants may elect to allow legal back-to-backs to be included in their line-of-time. 21. Allow Training and a Pairing as a Back to Back Flight Attendants may elect to attend training and operating a pairing as a legal back-to-backs to be included in their line of time. 22. Allow Multiple Pairings Flight Attendants may elect to allow two (2) pairings in the same calendar day separated by legal domicile rest. 23. Waive Domicile Rest to FAR Minimum + :45 Min Days Off between Work Periods 24. Flight Attendant may set the number of days off between work periods. The system default is two days. 25. Pairing Mix in a Work Period Flight Attendant may create work periods that contain pairings of specific lengths. The system will use the pairing lengths only in the order that the Flight Attendant specifies.

26. Commutable Work Period Flight Attendant may bid that their work period begins after a specific time and ends prior to a specific time. 27. Cadence Preference- Flight Attendant may elect that their work period begins on the same day of the week throughout the bid month. 28. Buddy Bid - Flight Attendant may bid with other Flight Attendants up to the number of Flight Attendants on the equipment, utilizing the seniority of the least senior Flight Attendant. Flight Attendants may also buddy bid with pilots should that group implement a PBS. 29. Avoid/ Prefer Bid – Flight Attendant may avoid or prefer more senior Flight Attendants or more junior Flight Attendants who have been awarded a pairing providing the senior Flight Attendant waives her/his seniority to immediately below the junior Flight Attendant's seniority. Flight Attendants may also prefer or avoid buddy bid pairings with pilots should that group implement a PBS. Reasons Report – System shall generate a report for each Flight Attendant 30. which explains why a preferred pairing or day off was not awarded. 31. Standing Bids – System shall maintain persistent or "standing" bids which shall act as default bids should the Flight Attendant fail to enter a monthly bid. If a Flight Attendant fails to input her/his bid and does not have a standing bid inputted, her/his bid will be inputted using a default bid created by the Joint PBS Committee. 32. Vacation Expansion – A Flight Attendant who is scheduled for a block of consecutive vacation days may elect to place up to a total of four (4) days off (at sole discretion of the Flight Attendant) before, after, or split on either side of such vacation period. The days off will act as a pre-planned absence and will carry neither a value for pay nor credit. Such days off will may be counted toward the Reserve's scheduled Golden Days. Such block of four days, or portion thereof, may be extended into the next bid period. 33. Paper Bid/Pay Purpose Only Bid - Once the final awards are published, Crew Scheduling will run PBS for a Pay Purpose Only (PPO) award. Crew Scheduling shall run PBS with the same bids and settings as the regular bid with the addition of the bids (standing or actual) of any Flight Attendant who is off the entire bid period to determine what she/he could have held for pay purposes only. Such PPO awards shall only be used for this pay determination and shall not change in any way pairing awards as published in the final line awards.

- 34. High/Low Time Option. Flight Attendants desiring a low time option may elect whether to work the first or last half of the bid month. If PBS is unable to grant a low time option in either half of the month, then FA may elect to revert to a regular bid line option. A Flight Attendant desiring minimum or maximum credit may elect Minimum Credit or Maximum Credit, which maywill waive some contractual restrictions. The minimum credit awarded will never be lower than 75 hours in conformity with line guarantee. The maximum credit awarded will never be higher than 110 hours. 35. Other Bid Options as agreed by the Joint PBS Committee. 36. Block of Reserve Golden Days off [Date from, Date to] Flight Attendant may bid for a period of Reserve Golden Days off and would be awarded all Reserve Golden Days off or the same period of Moveable Days off or none. 37. Range of Reserve Golden Days off [First date, Second date] Flight Attendant may bid for a range of reserve Golden Days off. The First dated is the most important day off and the Second date is the less important. RBL Line Option 36. 37. Days on and off 38. Length of block of available days 39. Month end carry-over 40. Standby Line Preferences 43. Placement of Golden Davs
 - d. Other preferences may be mutually agreed upon and requests for said preferences will not be unreasonably denied. [SL-N 12.c.]
 - e. A Flight Attendant will use the PBS to bid. If PBS is inoperative, the Company will provide an alternative method for bidding. [SL-N 12.d.]
 - <u>f.</u> <u>Flight Attendants who fail to bid and/or have no default standing bid.</u>
 - <u>A Flight Attendant failing to make a bid or failing to meet the deadline will be assigned a line of pairings or reserve line, in accordance with
 </u>

seniority, in the awards as per her/his default standing bid. A default standing bid may be submitted at any time by a Flight Attendant, and will remain in effect until it is changed by the Flight Attendant. [SL-N 12.g.]

- ii. If no default standing bid exists, the Flight
 Attendant's bid will be inputted using a default bid
 created by the Joint PBS Committee. [SL-N 12.g.]
- g. The PBS will generate, track, and provide each Flight Attendant a bid confirmation for each bid supplied by the Flight Attendant. [SL-N 12.h.]
- h. Following the awarding of bid lines, no more than 10% of the remaining known and proposed flying may be designated as open flying in each domicile pursuant to Section 8.G.1 of the collective bargaining agreement. (Example: If the DFW domicile has 1,000 block hours, there will be a maximum of 100 hours of open flying remaining in the domicile after the awarding of the bid lines). [SL-N 12.i.]
- i. All monthly lines shall be awarded in accordance with seniority and bid preferences. In cases where a Flight Attendant is denied a bid preference in order to ensure adequate daily work coverage, such assignment shall be in accordance with the bid preferences of the Flight Attendant and forced in inverse order of seniority. [SL-N 12.j.]
- j. An individual report will be made available to each Flight Attendant each month, which reconciles the Flight Attendant's bid to her/his awarded schedule on a preference-bypreference basis (Reasons Report). [SL-N 12.k.]

D. <u>Pairing Line Schedule Construction</u>

- 1. A variety of bid lines will be constructed, with priority given to constructing lines with similar pairings (e.g. single day pairings or multiday pairings or CDOs). [addressed in 8.C.3.a.]
- Regular Pairing and relief lines will be constructed with a minimum of two (2) periods of at least two (2) consecutive days off.

- A Flight Attendant holding a regular line of time will not be scheduled for reserve.
- 4. Lines will not be constructed with more than ninety-one (91:00) credit hours (including fifty percent (50%) of scheduled deadhead hours).
- 3. Lines will be constructed with at least ten hours (10:00) rest between pairings in domicile.
- 4. Lines of time for a month will reflect any known reduced/changed holiday scheduling for that month. Should holiday schedules be modified after the final bid award, the affected Flight Attendants will be notified as soon as possible.
- 5. If an overnight is scheduled for less than nine hours (9:00), the following day shall not be scheduled for more than twelve hours (12:00) on duty.
- 6. A bidline pairing will normally not consist of more than four (4) days. However, in unusual circumstances such as, but not limited to, charters, retirement of equipment type or shifting of equipment type to a different domicile; pairings may be scheduled to a maximum of five (5) days.
- 7. The Company shall offer reduced guarantee lines when feasible. Eligibility for these lines will be awarded in the pre-bid. The pay guarantee for reduced guarantee lines will be fifty percent (50%) of the regular monthly guarantee as defined in Section 4 (Compensation).
 - a. Reduced guarantee lines shall contain <u>pairings</u> up to a maximum of forty-five hours and thirty minutes (45:30).
 - Such lines will be issued as part of the bid packet and awarded in seniority order.
 - b. No Flight Attendant will be involuntarily assigned to a reduced guarantee bid line.
 - c. Flight Attendants holding reduced guarantee lines may bid for and be awarded open time in the same manner as any other Flight Attendant covered by this Agreement, including on their regularly scheduled day(s) off.
 - Benefits and health insurance premiums will be provided in accordance with Section 20 Benefits, Retirement and

Eligibility. Accruals of seniority, vacation and sick leave will be as provided in those sections. Pass privileges will be the same as those extended to regular line holders.

E. Reserve Line Construction

- Reserve lines shall be allocated as part of the monthly PBS process.
 A Flight Attendant who may be awarded a line of flying may conditionally bid for a reserve line. [SL-N 16.a.]
- Reserves will have a minimum of eleven (11) scheduled days free of duty ("days off") at her/his domicile each bid month. Three (3) of such days shall be Golden Days. Patterns must conform to the following unless the Flight Attendant selects the waivers provided in PBS: [SL-N 16.b.]
 - a. Reserve Flight Attendants will receive at least two periods of two (2) days free from duty.
 - b. <u>In addition, Reserves will receive another at least one (1)</u> period of four (4) consecutive days off. [SL-N 16.b.i.]
 - c. In addition, Reserve Flight Attendants will receive one set of three (3) Golden Days off. Golden Days will always begin a block of days off and may not be preceded by a non-Golden Day off. [SL-N 16.b.ii.]
 - d. The minimum provisions in 2.a., b., and c. above may be waived by the Flight Attendant in her/his PBS bid.
 - e. Day off periods may not be separated by less than three (3) days of availability or by more than six (6) days of availability.

 Groups of days of availability which transition from month to month shall be subject to this limitation. [SL-N 16.b.iii.]
 - f. A Reserve with vacation day(s) in a bid period shall receive all her/his days off outside of the vacation period, if applicable, in addition to her/his vacation days. This will guarantee the Reserve her/his full number of minimum days off in addition to her/his vacation day(s). However, if the days off as provided for in Global Option #32 plus the scheduled vacation days does not allow for the required days off to be placed outside of the scheduled vacation period, such days

will not be restored or moved to the subsequent month. [SL-N 16.c.]

- e. The chart below shall be used to determine the number of days free from duty for a Reserve who is bidding for or returning to schedule as a Reserve with less than a full bid period. This chart shall be used to determine the number of days free from duty during the Reserve's days of availability in a partial bid period. [SL-N 16.d.]
- <u>f.</u> The company will make available at least one (1) reserve line in each domicile with all weekend days off in the bid month.

30 Day l	30 Day Month		y Month
Available	Prorated	Available	Prorated
Days	Days Off	Days	Days Off
29- 30	11	30 - 31	11
26 - 28	10	27 - 29	10
24 - 25	9	24 - 26	9
21 - 23	8	22 - 23	8
18 - 20	7	19 - 21	7
15 - 17	6	16 - 18	6
13 - 14	5	13 - 15	5
10- 12	4	10- 12	4
7 - 9	3	8 - 9	3
5 - 6	2	5 - 7	2
2 - 4	1	2 - 4	1
1	0	1	0

3. Reserve Block Lines (RBLs)

- a. A Flight Attendant's eligibility to hold a Reserve Block lines (RBLs) will be determined in the pre-bid.
- b. Reserve Block Lines (RBLs) will be constructed with a minimum of thirteen (13) days off. All of the days of reserve availability shall be allocated on the line as outlined in the table below. In bid months containing thirty-one (31) days, one (1) additional day off will be- attached to a block of contiguous days off.

 The RBLs will be available for bid at each domicile and must be published in the bid packet according to the examples (A, B and C) below:

The three types of Reserve Block Lines possible:

Examples:

RBL A [SEP 2013]

S	<u>M</u>	<u>T</u>	<u>W</u>	<u>TH</u>	<u>F</u>	<u>S</u>
R	R	R	R	R	R	X
R	R	R	R	R	R	X
R	R	R	R	R	X	X
X	X	X	X	X	X	
Χ	Х					

RBL B [SEP 2013]

<u>s</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>T</u>	W	<u>TH</u>	<u>F</u>	<u>s</u>
Χ	Χ	Χ	X	Χ	Χ	Χ
Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	R	R	R
R	R	R	Χ	R	R	R
R	R	R	Χ	R	R	R
R	R					

RBL C [SEP 2013]

<u>S</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>T</u>	<u>W</u>	TH R	<u>F</u>	<u>s</u>
R	R	R	R	ĸ	Χ	R
R	R	R	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ
Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ
R	R	R	R	Χ	R	R
R	R					

c. Award of RBLs

The number of RBL lines posted and multi-awarded shall be determined by the below provisions:

- i. Each domicile shall have a minimum of three (3) RBLs (one each of A,B and C) awarded, if bid.
- ii. A minimum of ten percent (10%), rounded up, of awarded reserve lines will be RBLs (if bid) in each domicile. RBLs will be multi-awarded if all three (3) RBLs are bid.
- iii. The number of RBL lines awarded may not exceed twenty percent (20%) of a base's total awarded reserve lines.
- iv. If insufficient Flight Attendants bid the RBLs, the un-awarded lines shall be dropped and may not be involuntarily assigned to a Flight Attendant.
- v. The percentage limitations in c.ii and iii. above may be amended by mutual agreement.
- vi. The minimum monthly guarantee of 75 hours in accordance with section 4.B. shall apply to RBL-lines.

F. Schedule Changes

Prior to the Final Bid Award

Changes made to the published pairing package resulting in the final bid award may consist of those necessary for correcting of errors, and schedule conflict resolution during the transition period.

After the Final Bid Award

In the event a Flight Attendant holding a line of time loses all or portion of a pairing:

Section 8 - 18

- a. she/he may be given a new <u>pairing(s)</u> or portion thereof for the same day(s) originally scheduled, provided the check-in time for the new <u>pairing(s)</u> is no earlier than the check-in for the originally scheduled <u>pairing</u>, and the check-out time is no more than two hours (2:00) later than the check-out time of the Flight Attendant's originally scheduled <u>pairing</u>. (Please refer to examples in Side Letter K)
- However, such Flight Attendant may be offered and elect to accept an assignment which is earlier than the check-in time for the originally scheduled <u>pairing</u>. Refusal of such offer will not result in the reduction of her/his guarantee.
- c. In the event the Company is unable to notify the Flight Attendant of a schedule change prior to her/his check-in, such Flight Attendant may be assigned new flying in accordance with F.2.g. below.
- d. On <u>pairings</u> with multiple duty days, only the duty day of the schedule change may be increased by such two hours (2:00) specified in a. above.
- In no case, however, will such increase schedule the Flight
 Attendant beyond the maximum scheduled duty day as
 specified in Section 7-Hours of Service.
- f. Crew Scheduling will return the Flight Attendant to her/his originally scheduled pairing as soon as possible.
- g. A Flight Attendant will be required to remain available at the airport for no more than two hours (2:00) for additional flight assignment.
- 3. In the event the Flight Attendant is assigned new flying, she/he will be credited with the greater of the flight time of her/his original pairing, or the actual paring(s) flown.
 - b. If the Company substitutes aircraft on any leg of a <u>pairing</u>, the affected Flight Attendant(s) will be paid the greater of:
 - i. The originally scheduled flight time

- ii. The scheduled flight time of the new/substitute aircraft
- iii. The flight time actually flown
- c. Such calculations shall be made on a leg-by-leg basis.
- Schedule changes may involve flight legs at the beginning of, end of or mid-pairing. A Flight Attendant given alternate flight legs within her/his pairing, will be responsible for completing the remaining flight legs of her/his originally scheduled pairing, as assigned by Crew Scheduling.
- Assignment to New Flying When a Two Flight Attendant Crew Loses All or a Portion of a <u>Pairing</u> In Instances Other than a Downgrade: [old SL AA]
 - a. When a Flight Attendant working as part of a two Flight Attendant crew loses all or a portion of a <u>pairing</u> due to something other than a downgrade and a new flying assignment is available for only one of the Flight Attendants in the crew, the most senior legal and available Flight Attendant will get to choose whether or not to work the new flying assignment.
 - b. When flying is lost due to something other than a downgrade and new flying assignments are available for both of the Flight Attendants on the affected crew, choice of the available assignments will be provided in seniority order.
 - c. If it is anticipated that all or a portion of a <u>pairing</u> will be lost multiple times throughout the month and new flying assignments for less than the entire Flight Attendant crew are available, the new flying assignment(s) will be offered to the Flight Attendant(s) as early as possible. When offered, the most senior legal and available Flight Attendant must indicate which assignment(s) she/he will work.
- 6. Assignment to New Flying When Notified of Loss of Flying More than Twenty-Four (24:00) Hours Prior to the Loss [old SL HH]
 - In the event a Flight Attendant is notified more than twentyfour hours (24:00) prior to the departure time of the first flight of a <u>pairing</u> in which either the first turn or the entire <u>pairing</u> has been cancelled, she/he is obligated to check her/his flight

schedule twenty-four hours (24:00) before the departure time of the original <u>pairing</u> and fly any new flying to which she/he is assigned.

- b. The new flying to which a Flight Attendant may be assigned may not be scheduled to depart earlier than the departure time of the original <u>pairing</u> nor arrive more than two hours later than the scheduled arrival time of the last flight of the pairing in which the lost flying occurs.
- c. The Flight Attendant who has not been given an assignment to new flying in place of a lost first round <u>turn</u> or entire <u>pairing</u> by twenty-four hours (24:00) before the departure time of her/his original <u>pairing</u> will be relieved of any obligation to make up the time lost and will be pay protected in conformity with this Agreement.
- d. Assignments pursuant to this provision are permitted prior to the Company assigning a Reserve Flight Attendant.
- e. Notification of flight cancellations other than the first turn or entire pairing will be handled in conformity with 8.F.2.
- 7. A Flight Attendant whose schedule is disrupted at an outstation must contact Crew Scheduling for instruction on her/his continued assignment or release.
- <u>8.</u> To reclaim flying lost due to an anticipated misconnect, reference <u>SL.E.</u>

G. Open Time

- The Company may designate no more than ten percent (10%) of known and proposed flying as open flying in each domicile at the beginning of each month.
- Quentime will also include charters and all other time (including, but not limited to, promotional, hurricane relief, non-revenue passenger flights, etc., unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement) which becomes available during the bid period after the bid packages have been published. Any charter flights and all other flying known prior to the completion of a given month's PBS bid packet construction will be included in the bid package.

3. Open Time Requests

All requests of open time will be awarded consistent with the "turn time" parameters established for each domicile and bid period, as stated in the bid package, applicable to the particular domicile in which the pairing originates. Such turn times will be no greater, but may be less, than the bidline construction parameters used for the same domicile for the same bid period.

- 4. Flight Attendants wishing to pick up partial <u>pairings</u> from open time will be limited to picking up flight <u>pairings</u> that commence and end at the same domicile. Any partial <u>pairing</u> must include either the beginning or the end of the original <u>pairing</u>. If, following such a split, the <u>pairing</u> remaining in Open Time still contains a pass through domicile, that <u>pairing</u> may be split again but must include either the beginning or the end of the pairing.
- 5. The Company may use known open time after the preliminary bids close for transition conflict resolution. The Company may use remaining open time after the Automated Pairing Trade Twenty-Four Hour (24:00) Window closes to construct relief lines. The below chart outlines the display/listing of available pairings:

Entries for viewing available pairings

N4D/Base//Date	Displays all pairings that are open ("above
(e.g., N4D/DFW//10JAN)	the line") or posted for drop ("below the
	line"), making them available for pick up.
	Will display only those open and posted
N4DL/Base//Date	pairings that a Flight Attendant is qualified
(e.g.,N4DL/DFW//18JAN)	and legal to pick up. If a "D" follows the
	pairing, a Duty Free period (DFP) conflict
	exists, requiring the elimination of a DFP.
	Will display a list of "redder" open pairings
N4T/Seq/Date	with which a Flight Attendants is qualified
(e.g., N4T/22132/24JAN)	and legal to trade her/his red pairing. If a
	"D" follows the pairing number, a Duty
	Free Period (DFP) conflict exists,
	requiring the elimination of a DFP
	Displays only those "redder" open pairings
N4TL/Seq/Date	for which a Flight Attendant is qualified
(e.g.,	and legal to trade her/his red sequence. If
N4TL/22123/24SEP)	a "D" follows the sequence number, a
	Duty Free Period (DFP) conflict exists,
	requiring the elimination of a DFP.

[Chart above new to section, brought in from TTOT user guide]

6. Red for Red Trading Rules

Red for Red Trading Rules Chart

Drop Status	Pick-Up Status	Allowed	Pairing Date pick up vs Pairing Date Drop
Green	Green	Yes	n/a
Green	Red	Yes	n/a
Red	Green	No	n/a
Red	Red	Yes (exceptions)	n/a
Red	Red	Yes (if different duration, the picked up pairing must be redder)	Same Date Start
Red	Red	Yes (if different duration, the picked up pairing must be redder)	Overlapping Dates
Red	Redder	Yes (Restrictions)	Different Dates

[Above chart new to section, brought in from TTOT user guide]

a. Red for Red Trading Rules

i. Same Date Trades

If same start date and same end date, then no restrictions

If same start date but different end date, then allow trade if pick up <u>pairing</u> is redder than dropped pairing.

ii. Overlapping Trades

If overlapping (where both <u>pairings</u> operate on at least one common date), then allow trade if pick up pairing up is redder than dropped pairing.

iii. Different Date Trades

For different dates (<u>pairings</u> operate on mutually exclusive dates), allow trade if pick up <u>pairing</u> is redder than dropped pairing.

iv. Posting a pairing is always allowed.

Doing so allows the <u>pairing</u> to be picked up by another Flight Attendant without regard to "RED" restrictions. [from TTOT user guide, TA 8.A.1.g.]

- 7. All open time will be posted for viewing by Flight Attendants. The Company may designate and withhold specific open <u>pairing(s)</u> for Reserve Flight Attendants. The Company will not deny any request for a <u>pairing</u> drop <u>or PVD</u> for any day(s) on which it has withheld an Open Time <u>pairing(s)</u> as determined at the time the drop request is processed. Flight Attendants may bid and will be awarded open time in accordance with paragraph <u>H and I</u> of this Section. A Flight Attendant who is awarded such open time will be responsible to fly the <u>pairing(s)</u>.
 - a. When Open Time has been blocked, the date on which a pairing begins, will determine whether such pairing is available for pick up. Requests to pick up Open Time pairings will be approved when the day the pairing commences is not blocked or becomes unblocked at the time of processing.
- 8. Flight Attendants on management-level status may pick up an existing OT pairing after 12:00 CT the day prior to the departure date of that pairing. Such pairing must have been in OT for at least thirty-six (36) hours prior to the management-level Flight Attendant picking up the pairing.

H. Automated 24-Hour Pairing Trade With Open Time Window

Known open pairings available and remaining after the preliminary bidline awards and monthly transition have been completed will be posted in the domicile for twenty-four hours (24:00). Flight Attendants will be notified by e-mail message, when the bid opens and closes, prior to the beginning of the twenty four hour (24:00) automated Pairing Trade with Open Time window.

 During the twenty-four hour (24:00) Automated <u>Pairing</u> Trade with Open Time window, only automated <u>pairing</u> trading with open time will be accepted. No Open Time Pick Up or Drops will be accepted during this period.

I. Open Time Pick Up

- 1. The open time remaining when bids are final and any new open time will be posted as it becomes available.
- 2. Requests for Automated transactions will be submitted in DECS via Sabre or its replacement. Bids for manually processed Daily Open Time may be submitted via e-mail, the computer system (RF) or, on the day of the operations, by telephone if followed up in writing. Bids will close each day at 1200 CT for all known daily open time for the following day and for each subsequent day throughout the remainder of the month. Manual transactions will be processed as received and awarded on a first-come. first-served basis.
- Automated bids will be processed and awarded as they are received on a twenty-four hour (24:00) basis. Manual submissions will be processed as they are received during normal Swaps and Drops hours. Any requests that can be processed through the automated system should not be submitted manually.
- 4. Between the time a request for manual processing of a <u>pairing</u> is received and the time it is processed, another Flight Attendant may submit an automated request for the same <u>pairing</u>. This would result in the pairing being properly awarded to the automated request.
- 5. Following the final bid award the Company may utilize open time for the purposes of conducting Initial Operating Experience (IOE).

<u>J. Pairing Trades/Optional Exchanges Between Flight Attendants</u>

- A Flight Attendant, other than a Reserve, may trade a <u>pairing</u> with another Flight Attendant, or pick up a <u>pairing</u> from another Flight Attendant on her/his day off so long as it does not create a scheduling conflict.
- All full <u>pairing</u> trades will be arranged by the Flight Attendant and submitted through the automated <u>Pairing</u> Trade/Optional Exchange system for electronic processing, or, on the day of operation, by

telephone if followed up in writing.

- <u>Pairing</u> trade/optional exchange requests for partial <u>pairing</u> may be submitted via e-mail or computer system (RF) but must be submitted by both the affected Flight Attendants. On the day of operation such request may be made by telephone and then followed up in writing. Partial <u>pairings</u> may be traded; however, such flight segments must originate and terminate in the Flight Attendant's domicile. A Flight Attendant will be granted unlimited partial <u>pairing</u> trades/optional exchanges. <u>Manual submissions will be processed as they are received during normal Swaps and Drops hours</u>. Any requests that can be processed through the automated system should not be submitted manually.
- 4. A Flight Attendant who <u>pairing</u> trades may have her/his monthly guarantee adjusted if the trade causes her/him to be below the minimum monthly guarantee for the month. When both parties to a trade are holding bidlines originally projected under the guarantee, the guarantee will not be adjusted downward.
- 5. Pairing trades do not have to be of equal credited value.
- 6. A Reserve may trade reserve days or days off with other Reserves.
- 7. A Reserve may pick up a <u>pairing</u> from another Flight Attendant <u>or from Open Time</u> on her/his day(s) off, so long as it does not create a scheduling conflict with her/his scheduled reserve duty. <u>The pairing must be scheduled to depart late enough for the Flight Attendant to receive required rest after her/his last day of reserve availability and be scheduled to terminate in time to allow required rest prior to the Flight Attendant's next reserve availability period.</u>
- A Reserve Flight Attendant may request that a day off be moved to another day within the same bid period and such request will be granted if the Company determines that staffing permits the movement of the day off.
- 9. It is the responsibility of the Flight Attendant holding the <u>pairing</u> to determine that the exchange has been awarded.
- 10. It is understood that a Flight Attendant may trade a pairing or engage in an optional exchange with a Flight Attendant from another base and she/he shall be responsible for transportation to and from the pairing.

11. Jet-Bridge Transactions: Last Minute Swaps Requested by Both Flight Attendants

- a. Requests to swap all or a portion of a pairing with another Flight Attendant will be considered by Crew Scheduling.

 These requests will be approved unless the crew scheduler does not have the time necessary to process the request prior to departure or the requested swap conflicts with contractual or FAR limitations.
- b. The Flight Attendant dropping all or part of a pairing will be released from her/his duty period upon arrival of the replacement Flight Attendant at the aircraft.
- c. All swaps will be handled on a first-come, first-served basis.
- d. <u>A Flight Attendant's guarantee will be adjusted in accordance</u> with section 4-Compensation.

K. Pairing Trades with Open Time

- <u>Pairing</u> trades with open time for full <u>pairings</u> meeting the following criteria will be handled through automation with the exception of Flight Attendants holding reserve status who must submit their requests manually. <u>Pairing trades</u>, <u>whether automated or processed manually will be approved provided:</u>
 - a. The new <u>pairing</u> originates and terminates in the same domicile as the original pairing(s); and
 - b. The request for the trade has been submitted no <u>later</u> than <u>12:00) CT the</u> day prior to the start of the original <u>pairing(s)</u> or the new <u>pairing(s)</u> whichever is earlier.
- Manual <u>Pairing</u> trades with open time will be awarded on a first come, first served basis on the actual time of the request and will be executed as soon as possible after the receipt of the request.
 - a. Pairing Trades with Open time that involve trading more than a single pairing for a different single pairing or a single pairing for more than a single pairing must be processed manually. It will be approved based on a staffing provided that all pairing(s) to be traded are full pairing(s). For Multiple trades,

pairings do not have to be of equal duration.

- b. Such trades must be submitted via the RF 200 TTOT mask in the DECS or successor system.
- c. Any trades currently processed manually will be automated once a new automation system capable of completing this transaction is in place.
- d. When a manual trade is denied, Crew Scheduling will explain the reason for the denial and provide the Flight Attendant with a written documentation supporting the denial.
- 3. An Inflight Supervisor will submit a request through the automated system on behalf of a Flight Attendant for whom the automated system is not available because of extenuating circumstances.
- 4. If a Flight Attendant holding a bidline projected under the guarantee pairing trades with open time for a pairing of greater value, the additional amount of scheduled time picked up will be paid above the minimum monthly guarantee and treated as Open Time for pay purposes in accordance with 4.F.
- 5. Next-day transactions will close each day at 1200 CT.

L. <u>Pairing</u> Drops

- Automated dropping of <u>pairings</u> will be processed on a continual basis and evaluated for approval or denial based on the staffing available at the moment the request is received. Manual requests for <u>pairing</u> drops as well as all manual requests for drop(s) or portion(s) of a <u>pairing(s)</u> will be evaluated for approval or denial based on the staffing available when processed. Requests submitted for manual processing will be performed on a first-come, first-served basis.
 - A request submitted by a Flight Attendant to drop a <u>pairing(s)</u>
 will be considered on a first-come, first-served basis. A
 Lineholder may request to drop a <u>pairing(s)</u> from her/his
 bidline to open time by submitting a request via automation or
 on the day of operation, by telephone if followed up in writing.
 - b. A request submitted by a Flight Attendant to drop a portion(s) of a pairing(s) will be considered on a first-come, first-served

basis. A Lineholder may request to drop a portion of a <u>pairing(s)</u> from her/his bidline to open time by submitting a request form to Crew Scheduling via the computer system (RF), e-mail, or on the day of operation, by telephone if followed up in writing.

- A Flight Attendant holding a reserve line may submit a request to drop a reserve duty day(s) to Crew Scheduling via the computer system (RF) or e-mail. Such request will be processed no more than forty-eight hours (48:00) prior to the start of the reserve duty day for which the drop is requested.
- 3. Partial <u>pairings from either the beginning or the end of the pairing,</u> may be dropped, however such flight segments must originate and terminate in the Flight Attendant's domicile.
- 4. Once a drop is approved, the <u>pairing</u> is no longer the responsibility of the Flight Attendant to whom it was originally assigned.
- 5. Any <u>pairing(s)</u> dropped will reduce the final bid award guarantee by the same number of hours as contained in the pairing(s).
- 6. A Flight Attendant holding a bidline projected under the guarantee need only make up credited hours dropped before being eligible for guarantee. If a Flight Attendant holding a bidline projected under the guarantee voluntarily drops time, and picks up Open Time, for pay purposes the time subsequently picked up will be treated as outlined below: [old SL O]
 - a. If the time is picked up from Open Time, the amount of scheduled time picked up will be treated as "Make Up" time until it equals the amount of time voluntarily dropped. Time in excess of makeup will be paid in accordance with Section 4.F.

b. Example:

70:00	(Original Bid Line Projection – pays 75:00)
5:00	(Time Voluntarily Dropped by Flight Attendant)
65:00	(Adjusted Bid Line Projection)
70:00	(Projected Pay per Adjusted Guarantee)

+ 8:00 (Open Time Picked up by Flight Attendant)

New Projection:

65:00 (Adjusted Bid Line Projection)

+ 8:00 (Pairing Picked Up from Open Time - first five hours credited toward Make Up)

73:00 (New Bid Line Projection)

Pays 78:00 (75:00 Guarantee + 3:00 Open Time)

- T. If sufficient Reserves, as determined by Crew Scheduling, are available, the drop shall be approved. If not, <u>pairings</u> that lineholder(s) wish to drop may be <u>made available for pick up through "HIPOST" or</u> placed in "HIBOARD" by the Flight Attendant for information purposes.
- 8. Next-day transactions will close each day at 1200 CT.

M. Out of Base Transactions

- 1. All manual transactions for out of base pick-ups will be processed on a first-come, first-served basis along with in-base manual transactions.
 - a. Any Flight Attendant awarded out of base flying shall be provided with the following four (4) options:
 - i. Positive space travel the day before, hotel/duty time do not apply.
 - ii. <u>Positive space travel to pairing on day of the</u> assignment.
 - iii. <u>Standby Travel the day of the assignment if</u> positive space is not available.
 - iv. Pairing awarded without positive space travel.
 - b. Once a Flight Attendant is awarded out-of-domicile flying, she/he shall be considered based in that domicile for the duration of that pairing and all provisions of the contract shall apply.
 - c. If the Flight Attendant is given positive space on a flight that is ultimately delayed or cancels and causes the Flight Attendant to report late or misconnect for any portion(s) of the out-of base pairing, she/he shall not be pay protected for any portion of the pairing not worked due to the travel disruption.

The Company shall remove the attendance occurrence provided the commuting flight was scheduled to arrive prior to the check-in time of the out-of-base pairing.

d. It is understood that a Flight Attendant may trade a pairing or engage in an optional exchange with a Flight Attendant from another base and she/he shall be responsible for transportation to and from the pairing.

N. Order of Assignment of Flying that Becomes Available

- 1. Time which becomes open subsequent to 14:00 CT for the next day's operation:
 - a. At the beginning of each shift, Crew Scheduling will print a list of available reserves in time balancing order (least accrued time to most accrued time), except the first day of the bid period when Flight Attendants will be placed on the list in seniority order. This list is currently known as the "N6DF" list. It is Crew Scheduling's equivalent to the Flight Attendant HI33 list. The Crew Scheduler filling the open time will follow the order of the list (least accrued time to most accrued time) as nearly as possible to assign the open positions in time balancing order.
- 2. Time which becomes open on the day of operation:
 - a. At the beginning of each shift, Crew Scheduling will print "N6DF" list of all available reserve Flight Attendants in time balancing order (least accrued to most accrued time) except the first day of the bid period when Flight Attendants will be placed on the list in seniority order.
 - b. The entire group of Flight Attendants who may be available for the assignment is then broken into three groups:
 - Lineholder and Reserve Flight Attendants who have "lost" flying in some manner (e.g. downgrade, cancellation, misconnect)
 - Late arriving Flight Attendants using the Commuter Policy who have lost one or more turns.

- b) Flight Attendants who have lost time due to a Downgrade;
- c) Flight Attendants who have lost time due to a cancellation or misconnect.

<u>ii.</u> Volunteer/Make-up List

a) This list consists of Flight Attendants who have called Crew Scheduling to inform that they would like to pick up additional time and are available for assignment on that particular day.

iii. Reserve Flight Attendants

- At home Reserve Flight Attendants for whom there is at least two hours call out time available;
- Reserves already on a <u>pairing</u> whose legalities may permit the assignment of additional time;
- c) Airport Standby Reserves.
- c. Each of these groups is treated as a separate "bucket". This means that when a Crew Scheduler desires to fill an unassigned position, she/he will begin by evaluating all the Flight Attendants in Bucket #1. If no Flight Attendant is available for assignment, she/he will proceed to Bucket #2. If still no Flight Attendant is available for the assignment, the Scheduler proceeds to Bucket #3.
- d. Assignments made in Bucket #3 will be given in the order listed above to legal and available Reserves in accordance with Section 9.
- e. Based on the needs of the Company's operation, the Crew Scheduler retains discretion to adjust the order of assignments to more neatly fit within the legalities of the group of Flight Attendants legal and available for assignment(s).
- f. If following procedures, and if time still remains open, Crew Scheduling will employ the Junior Manning/Extension

O. Extensions and Junior Manning

1. Extensions

- a. Prior to extending a Flight Attendant, the Company will first attempt to fill the uncovered time with Flight Attendants on the volunteer list in O.3. below.
- No lineholding Flight Attendant or reserve flying OT will be extended if there are any reserves, including standby reserves, who are legal and available to fly the assignment and Crew Scheduling has attempted to contact Flight Attendants on the Volunteer List in O.3. below.
- c. A <u>lineholding</u> Flight Attendant or Reserve flying OT may be extended at the end of her/his <u>pairing</u> but such extension shall be limited to one turn (i.e. one leg out of and one leg back to domicile). Such extended flying assignment must <u>be scheduled to</u> depart within two hours (2:00) of the Flight Attendant's last scheduled arrival in domicile.
- d. Extensions which require an overnight will return the Flight Attendant to domicile as soon as possible but not later than eighteen hours (18:00) after the scheduled arrival time of her/his original pairing (prior to extension).
- When it is necessary to extend a Flight Attendant, the most junior, legal and available Flight Attendant shall be the Flight Attendant extended.
- f. A Flight Attendant who is extended will be released into rest upon her/his next arrival at base and will be pay-protected for any <u>pairing(s)</u> missed due to her/his extension. A Flight Attendant may, at her/his option, request additional extensions at the end of an extension.
- g. However, with the mutual concurrence of Crew Scheduling, a Flight Attendant may elect to waive the required rest referenced in paragraph O.1.f. above and fly the flights from which she/he would have been removed due to the extension rest requirement. Should the parties concur in the waiver,

any flight(s) from which the Flight Attendant would have been removed due to the rest requirement, but which she/he will now fly, will be paid at the Extension rate of pay. [old SL NN]

- i. Crew Scheduling will contact the Flight Attendant the night prior in accordance with the rest provisions in Section 7 and give her/him the option to fly or be put into rest upon arrival at domicile. If they are unable to make positive contact, the default will be to put the Flight Attendant into rest as specified in paragraph O.1.f.
- ii. If no positive contact has been made and if the flights have not been assigned out, the Flight Attendant may still request to fly them. If the flights have been assigned out, then there is no obligation on the part of the Company to give the flying back.

2. Return to Domicile Extensions [old SL II]

- a. A flight attendant whose return to domicile flight has cancelled, is worked by another flight attendant or is worked by no flight attendant (e.g. a maintenance ferry flight) such that she/he cannot be returned to domicile prior to the originally scheduled arrival time of the last flight of the pairing may be "Return to Domicile Extended."
- b. Such "Return To Domicile Extension" shall be limited to one flight or, if not possible, the most direct routing to domicile from the station at which the Flight Attendant's "Return To Domicile Extension" commences. Additionally, the Flight Attendant must be returned to domicile no later than eighteen hours (18:00) after the scheduled arrival time of her/his original pairing, prior to the "Return to Domicile Extension". However, if this is not possible, the Flight attendant shall be returned to domicile on the earliest company or network carrier flight.
- Flight(s) flown pursuant to the "Return to Domicile Extension" will be paid and credited at one hundred-fifty percent (150%) of the Flight Attendant's applicable hourly rate, as set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement.

- d. A Flight Attendant will be pay protected for any <u>pairing(s)</u> missed due to her/his "Return to Domicile Extension".
- <u>e.</u> A Flight Attendant may, at her/his option, request additional extension at the end of a "Return to Domicile Extension".
- f. In the alternative, a flight attendant may ask to be released from duty prior to the "Return to Domicile Extension". Approval for such release will be within the discretion of Crew Scheduling. It is understood that a release from duty within the context of this paragraph cannot be involuntary on the part of the Flight Attendant, but must be by mutual agreement between the Flight Attendant and Crew Scheduling.
- g. At her/his option, a Flight Attendant may waive her/his right to rest following a "Return To Domicile Extension" and all provisions as provided for in O.1.f. above, shall apply.

3. Junior Manning

- a. Junior Manning is the assignment of flying to a Flight Attendant on her/his day off. A Flight Attendant may not be junior manned more than thirty-six (36) hours in advance. Additionally, junior man assignment(s) shall be limited to a single day (which may or may not include an overnight) and the Flight Attendant will be released, provided there are more junior, legal and available Flight Attendants, at the first instance where the pairing transits her/his domicile the day following the junior man assignment. When a Flight Attendant is junior manned into a bridge pairing, she/he will be released, provided there are more junior, legal and available Flight Attendants, at the first instance where the pairing transits her/his domicile.
- b. If, after awarding time that is open in N. above, uncovered flying remains, it will be assigned in the order below. If a Flight Attendant is Junior Manned, notification must be made by positive contact by a crew scheduler or by a member of management with the individual Flight Attendant.
 - i. Volunteer Junior Manning List.

- ii. Most junior, legal and available reserve going into a day off with the least number of credited time balancing hours in domicile per 9.C.4.e.
- iii. Most junior available Flight Attendant in domicile on a day off.
- iv. Most junior available Flight Attendant from another domicile on a day off.
- 4. The Company will maintain a junior man/extension log for no less than ninety (90) days which will include the following information:
 - The name and contact number of the person contacted or which management attempted to contact, noting the status of the individual pursuant to O.1. of this Section.
 - b. The date and time the call was made.
 - c. The result of the call.

This log will be made available to the Association for review, upon request and will be maintained through the grievance and system board procedure, if applicable.

5. Volunteer Extension and Junior Manning List

The Company shall maintain a list of Flight Attendants volunteering to be extended or junior manned. Such list will be accessible to the Association. A Flight Attendant may add her/his name to the volunteer list at any time and may remove her/his name from the volunteer list at any time prior to being contacted for pairing assignment. A Flight Attendant who has not removed her/his name from the Volunteer List prior to being contacted for assignment is obligated to accept such assignment. Junior manning /extension assignments will be made available to Flight Attendants on the volunteer list in seniority order.

6. Premium

Flight Attendants who are junior manned or extended, whether from the volunteer list or involuntarily, will receive pay and credit at one hundred-fifty percent (150%) of her/his applicable hourly rate for all hours, or a minimum of four (4) hours paid at the Flight Attendants hourly rate

whichever is greater, and paid above the guarantee as set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement. Should the pilots receive an increase in Junior Manning pay, the same increase shall apply to Flight Attendants and shall be paid above guarantee. [old SL H]

- a. Flight Attendants who experience an extended delay such that they are put into rest and work or deadhead on the same flight back to domicile on the next day (which is their day off) shall be considered to have been Junior Manned and will receive pay and credit for all work performed on their original day off in accordance with this Section.
- b. If a Flight Attendant has to be removed from flying in her/his line due to a conflict with the junior manning assignment or extension to be put into rest, she/he shall be pay protected and credited for all time lost in addition to the junior manning/extension pay. In accordance with 8.O.1.g. above, the Flight Attendant may waive her/his right to rest and fly the flights from which she/he would have been removed due to the extension rest requirement. Any flight from which the Flight Attendant would have been removed due to the rest requirement, but which she/he elects to fly, will be paid in accordance with this Section.
- Additionally, if the junior manning assignment or extension causes the Flight Attendant to lose time from her/his line due to a conflict, she/he shall be pay protected and credited for all time lost in addition to the junior manning/extension pay.
- d. In no event shall a Flight Attendant receive less pay than if she/he had actually flown the flying lost. For example, in the event that the flying lost in b. and c. above, is OT flying, such flying shall be pay protected and credited in accordance with Section 4.F. Additionally, if the flying lost was a pairing voluntarily picked up from the junior manning list, then such pairing will be pay protected and credited in accordance with this Section.

7. Limits

a. A Flight Attendant will not be junior manned and/or extended more than three (3) times in any bid period, unless she/he agrees otherwise.

- Furthermore, a Flight Attendant will not be junior manned and/or extended more than twelve (12) times in any calendar year without her/his consent.
- c. For the purposes of the limits set forth above, a junior manning or extension that extends from one bid month into a new bid month will be counted in the new bid month.
- d. A Flight Attendant who elects to invoke the monthly and annual limit described above may notify Crew Scheduling at the time of, during, or any time after the 3rd monthly or the 12th annual junior manning/extension. The Flight Attendant will remain subject to junior manning/extension until such time as she/he so notifies Crew Scheduling. If a Flight Attendant does not invoke the limit until being contacted for the 4th monthly/13th annually or greater junior manning/extension, she/he must fly that assignment but will not be subject to any further junior manning/extension.
- Additionally, a Flight Attendant will not be junior manned or extended to sit reserve and will not be junior manned or extended into an assignment which causes a conflict with any other provision of this Agreement.
- f. If there are any reserves available (on RAP, ending a <u>pairing</u>, not yet started a <u>pairing</u>, on airport reserve, etc.) to the Company in a domicile, the Company shall not junior man/extend any Flight Attendant in that domicile.

8. "Critical Coverage" [old SL RR]

The Director of Crew Scheduling/Planning, or her/his designee, may declare days of known staffing shortages as Critical Coverage Days. Such declaration will be made on a domicile by domicile basis, as far in advance as possible and once made such declaration may not be revoked. Any Flight Attendant who picks up open time scheduled to operate on such day(s), or who has previously picked up Open Time scheduled to operate on such day(s), will be entitled to the Critical Coverage premium of 150%, paid above the guarantee, in addition to all other premiums set forth in this Agreement. This provision is intended to allow the Company to cover known short-term staffing irregularities.

Flight Attendants will be credited with this premium pay for all leg(s) scheduled to operate on the date(s) declared as critical coverage, whether actually flown or cancelled, when the leg(s) was/were awarded as Open Time (OT).

P. Displacements and Downgrades

- When a Flight Attendant is displaced from scheduled flights by the Company, such displaced Flight Attendant will be released from duty and paid and credited as if she/he had flown the pairing.
- 2. If a flight is downgraded resulting in the assignment of a lower number of Flight Attendants, the more senior Flight Attendant(s), will get to choose whether or not to work the <u>pairing</u>. A Flight Attendant who is released from such an assignment may be assigned to new flying so long as the new assignment is made within two hours (2:00) after her/his release from the downgraded aircraft and so long as that <u>pairing</u> is scheduled to return to base within two hours (2:00) of her/his original return time. If assigned to new flying, the Flight Attendant will be paid and credited in accordance with the provisions of Section 4 (Compensation) Sub-Section 4.A.1.
- 3. If the downgrade occurs at a station other than the Flight Attendant's domicile, the Flight Attendant who opts not to work the downgrade will either be positioned to pick up her/his <u>pairing</u> at the point the original equipment is restored or returned to her/his domicile.
- 4. If the downgrade occurs on the last turn of the pairing, and the Flight Attendant removed from the <u>pairing</u> is not assigned new flying, the Flight Attendant, upon mutual consent from the Company, may be released from duty. If released the Flight Attendant will be pay protected for the value of such round pairing.
- 5. The provisions of <u>P</u>.1., 2., 3., and 4. above shall also apply in cases of double coverage of a position/<u>pairing</u>.

Q. Bid Period Transition Assignments

1. The bid period transition occurs when a Flight Attendant's <u>pairing</u> from the current bid period continues into the new bid period. The bid period transition shall consist of no more than the first four (4) days of the bid period, unless shifted in accordance with Paragraph 2. below.

- 2. A Flight Attendant will fly her/his last pairing of the prior bid period into the new bid period, unless she/he has elected to have transition resolution by adjusting the current bid award, thus potentially moving her/his transition period into the last three (3) days of the current bid month. Such election may be made on the monthly bid form. Alternatively, the election may be made via the Company computer system within twenty-four hours (24:00) after the posting of the preliminary bid awards.*not applicable in PBS
- 3. Should a Flight Attendant be awarded a line of flying that contains a pairing that continues into the following bid period and not elect to have the transition resolution in the current bid award, the Flight Attendant will complete the last pairing of the bid period and her/his schedule for the following bid period will be adjusted if necessary.
- 4. A Flight Attendant who flies a portion of a <u>pairing</u> into the new bid period and is thus not available to fly her/his first scheduled <u>pairing</u> of the new bid period may be required to be available for new flying on the same days she/he was removed from her/his first <u>pairing</u> of the new bid period due to the transition conflict.
- 5. A <u>pairing</u> assigned to a Flight Attendant in accordance with this provision cannot interfere with the next scheduled day off or the next scheduled <u>pairing</u> unless the Flight Attendant agrees to be assigned into her/his days off. A Flight Attendant who is not assigned to a <u>pairing(s)</u> during transition will be off duty on any day(s) such Flight Attendant is not assigned to a pairing(s).

R. Crew Scheduling Recording

- 1. A phone recording shall be used to tape all telephone conversations between Crew Scheduling, all other departments performing crew scheduling activities, and Flight Attendants. The phone recording system shall provide a method of indication of the time, date of calls and numbers called.
 - a. Such recording shall be kept for a minimum of sixty (60) days and shall be made accessible to each Local President/designee upon request. If for any reason, a recorded conversation, or part of it, is missing, erased or is otherwise inaudible, a prompt review of the incident in question will be conducted by the Director of Crew Scheduling upon request from the respective Local

Association President/designee. The Company may not use a damaged or incomplete tape as evidence against a Flight Attendant. Furthermore, in the case of a disagreement between a Flight Attendant and the Company, if a requested tape is missing, damaged or otherwise incomplete, the Flight Attendant's position will be judged to be vindicated.

- The Company will make the recording(s) available to the Union within seven (7) days of request.
- Recordings will be reviewed by the Company only for cause and not randomly reviewed for the purpose of discovering Flight Attendant misconduct.

S. Deadheading

For the purposes of this Agreement, all time spent deadheading/positioning under the direction of the Company will be considered duty-time and will be compensated in accordance with Section 4 (Compensation) of this Agreement.

- 1. A Flight Attendant will not be required to utilize a jumpseat for the purpose of deadheading/positioning.
- 2. Alternate to Scheduled Deadhead/Position
 - a. When the first scheduled leg(s) of a <u>pairing</u> is a deadhead/position leg(s), a Flight Attendant holding a line of time, at her/his option, may elect not to take the scheduled deadhead/position flight, and instead report for duty at the appropriate base or outstation, so long as she/he advises Crew Scheduling prior to check-in time for the scheduled originating leg(s) in domicile.
 - <u>b.</u> When the last scheduled leg(s) of a <u>pairing</u> is a deadhead/position leg(s), a Flight Attendant holding a line of time <u>or a Reserve on OT</u>, at her/his option, shall be released from duty prior to such scheduled deadhead/position leg, provided that she/he advises Crew Scheduling of such before leaving the airport in the outstation.
 - c. A Flight Attendant who chooses to exercise this alternative to the scheduled deadhead/position will receive one hundred percent (100%) of the pay and credit she/he would otherwise

have received if she/he had taken the deadhead/position flight(s), in accordance with Section 4 (Compensation) of this Agreement.

d. Flight Attendants shall deadhead in passenger seats.

T. Association Committees

- 1. Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction Committee:
 - a. The Association will establish a Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction Committee consisting of at least one representative from each Domicile that will meet with the Company for the purpose of developing cooperative and efficient flight operations, including input and suggestions with respect to pairings and line construction as applicable to each base's unique operations.
 - b. The Association Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction
 Committee shall meet or coordinate with the Company each
 bid period, or more frequently by mutual agreement, to
 discuss the subsequent month's pairings and bidline line
 construction.
 - c. The Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction Chairperson and/or the Domicile representatives will be afforded the opportunity to provide input during the pairing construction process. After completion of the "daily solution" the Chairperson and/or Domicile representatives shall be provided no less than 24 hours to review and provide recommendations. Recognizing that some pairing(s) which are otherwise legal, may present problems such as delivery of service difficulties, the Committee Chairperson and /or Domicile reps will be given reasonable consideration in the final construction of pairings.
 - d. Once per quarter, the Company will meet with representatives from each domicile and the Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction MEC Committee Chair to discuss planning issues, projections, staffing, or any issues impacting quality of the schedule/operation.

2. PBS Implementation Committee:

The Joint PBS Committee (JPBSC) shall be composed of a minimum of two (2) members from the Company and minimum of two (2) members from the Association. The Association members shall have continuing PBS involvement as part of the Pairing Construction Committee. The Company will consult with the JPBSC on all significant matters regarding implementation of PBS as well as any future enhancements or changes before making decisions regarding such matters. [SL-N 3.]

U. General

- The Company will maintain a standard method of notifying Flight Attendants if scheduled departure time is appreciably delayed or if the flight is canceled. Flight Attendants will be notified as far in advance as possible, consistent with circumstances and the provisions of this Agreement.
- A Flight Attendant who is unable to report for duty will notify Crew Scheduling as far in advance as possible. The Flight Attendant is required to follow up with her/his Flight Service Manager.
- 3. The Company will agree to meet with the <u>Union</u> quarterly to address <u>Crew</u> Scheduling concerns.
- The Company will not select new scheduling software without the input of AFA.
- 5. A Flight Attendant shall not be required to keep the Company informed of her/his whereabouts while on days off or vacation.

SECTION 9 RESERVE

A. A Reserve Flight Attendant is one who does not hold a regular flying assignment and whose function is to be available to perform any open flying not flown by Flight Attendants holding a line of time. A Reserve shall either be "At Home Reserve" or "Airport Reserve."

B. Reserve Periods

- Flight Attendants who are on reserve duty will be notified of a Reserve Availability Period (RAP) for each day of reserve duty, except when assigned a multi-day <u>pairing</u>. Such <u>RAPs</u> will include an on-call period of no more than fifteen hours (15:00). A <u>RAP</u> is not considered to be duty time. Standard RAPs will be published in the monthly bid package. RAPs may be adjusted by the Company due to operational necessity.
- 2. A Flight Attendant may bid for monthly airport reserve on her/his prebid option, for example S-1, S-2, S-3, etc. which is an airport-on-duty period of no more than eight (8) hours.
- 3. A Flight Attendant on reserve duty may request a release from a reserve day. When Crew Scheduling determines there is adequate reserve coverage such release may be granted.
- 4. A Reserve not assigned for duty will be released after all departures from that domicile on that last day of her/his scheduled reserve <u>pairing</u>. A Flight Attendant may be released earlier with the concurrence of Crew Scheduling.

C. Reserve Assignments

- Processing for the first day of each bid period, Reserve Flight Attendants in each domicile will be placed on one list in seniority order.
- For the remaining days in each bid period, Reserve Flight Attendants in each domicile will be placed on one list in the inverse order of accumulated credited hours for the month, i.e. least time flown is first on the list. For purposes of placement on the list, the following shall be used:

a. In addition to other credited time (such as block time), the following time marked by the below removal codes will be credited after it occurs:

BR – Bereavement Pay	SA – Special Assignment
CI - Critical Incident	SF – FMLA use Sick Pay
CD – Career Decision Day	SK – Paid Sick
DR – Restricted Duty	SR – Sick Reserve Paid
F6 – V6 due to FMLA (next year)	TD – Travel Day
ID – Injury on Duty	TR – Training
IS - Injury Sick	V6 – Paid Vacation Day
JD – Jury Duty	VC – Vacation
PM – Paid Move Day	VF – FMLA use Vacation Pay
PU - Paid Union	WP – Paid Witness
PW - Pay withheld	

- b. If two or more Flight Attendants have the same amount of credited time, then they will be placed on the list in seniority order and assignments shall be made in seniority order.
- Between the hours of 1000 and 1400 CT Reserve Flight Attendants will have the opportunity to preference specific <u>pairings</u>, <u>RAPs</u>, uncovered Airport Reserve Periods, and full and partial releases, if any, for the following day. Such preferences must fall within the Reserve's scheduled days of availability but need not cover all days of availability.
- 4. By 1800 CT, Crew Scheduling will assign all known Airport Reserve
 Periods, RAPs and open time pairings that are scheduled to depart the
 next day. Such assignments will be made as follows:
 - a. For the first day of the bid period, Crew Scheduling will go down the reserve list in seniority order, assigning pairings based on Flight Attendant preferences. After the awarding of preferences in seniority order, assignments remaining shall be assigned in inverse seniority order. Crew Scheduling will use its best efforts to honor Flight Attendant preferences but not to the extent that so doing would force another Flight Attendant to work on a day off.
 - For each of the remaining days in the bid period, Crew Scheduling will process reserve assignments in Least Time Accrued Order assigning pairings first followed by, Airport

Reserve and then RAPS based on Flight Attendant preferences. Crew Scheduling will use its best efforts to honor Flight Attendant preferences but not to the extent that so doing would force another Flight Attendant to work on a day off.

- c. A Reserve Flight Attendant who does not express any preferences, or who cannot be awarded any of her/his preferences, will be assigned flying, Airport Reserve or RAP in accordance with her/his position on the list as provided for in Section 8.N.
- d. Between the hours of 1800 and 2200 CT, a Reserve may determine her/his flying assignment via either AVRS or DECS (or its equivalent). However, only AVRS will confirm receipt of the flying assignment.
- e. If it becomes necessary to assign available reserve(s) (in accordance with Section 8.O.3.) to a multi-day pairing, yet there are no reserve Flight Attendants available for more than one day, the Company will fill the assignment in conformity with the time balancing procedure (it shall be given to the Flight Attendant(s) with the least amount of hours) and the pay shall be in accordance with 9.J. [old Reserve Order of Assignment SL]
- A Reserve will be notified of a duty assignment as far in advance as practical in accordance with the time limits prescribed in paragraph C.4., above.
- 6. At the conclusion of a single-day assignment in her/his base, a Reserve Flight Attendant will be required to call Crew Scheduling for release prior to leaving the airport. If she/he is not given another flight assignment she/he will be released into either a rest period, at-home reserve for the remaining <u>RAP</u> or at home for the remainder of the fourteen (14) hour duty period.
- 7. At the conclusion of a multi-day assignment in her/his base, a Reserve Flight Attendant will be required to call Crew Scheduling for release prior to leaving the airport. If she/he is not given another flight assignment she/he will be released into a rest period.

- D. 1. A Reserve Flight Attendant may utilize a cellular telephone for the purpose of contact while on reserve. It is the responsibility of the Flight Attendant to maintain her/his cellular telephone in working order and to ensure that Crew Scheduling is provided with a working number.
 - Reserve Flight Attendants, <u>excluding Airport Reserves while on Airport Reserve Duty</u>, will have fifteen minutes (:15) to respond to a telephone message and such time will be included in the call out time.
- **E.** The minimum reserve call-out period will be two (2) hours prior to check-in time.
- F. At hub domiciles, Flight Attendants on reserve may be assigned to Airport Reserve at the airport up to eight hours (8:00) on each of the scheduled reserve days. The Airport Reserve may be assigned to a pairing(s) or portions of a pairing(s) scheduled to depart no later than forty-five minutes (:45) after the end of said "Airport Reserve Period" provided, however, that clean, comfortable, quiet, and secure facilities are available at the airport for the exclusive use of crewmembers on "Airport Reserve". The forty-five minute (:45) window of assignment is illustrated in the examples at the end of this Section.
 - 1. Airport Reserve time is duty time. A Flight Attendant assigned to Airport Reserve will receive per diem from report time to release time.
 - A Flight Attendant serving an airport reserve duty period and who actually flies, shall receive credit for the greater of any time flown or the value of the day for time balancing purposes.
 - 3. A Flight Attendant serving an airport reserve duty period who does not receive a flight assignment shall receive the value of the day as credit for time balance purposes. The minimum time balancing credit for each day shall be the value of the day.
 - 4. A Flight attendant who would be on a scheduled day off the day following a PM Airport Reserve assignment could face the possibility of being unable to return to her/his domicile prior to her/his scheduled day off. Therefore, in order to assign a reserve Flight Attendant to PM Airport Reserve, that Flight Attendant must have been originally, scheduled to be on reserve the day following the PM Airport Reserve commitment, unless there are no other reserve Flight Attendants available. [old SL BB]
 - 5. At the completion of the Airport Reserve period, the Flight Attendant shall be released from reserve duty for the remainder of the day.

- Assignments among Airport Reserves will be made in least time accrued order, not including time flown during the airport period. However, if two or more Flight Attendants on the same Airport Reserve period have the same amount of credited time, assignment will be made in inverse order of seniority. If there are Flight Attendants on overlapping Airport Reserve periods, a Flight Attendant on the earlier period shall be given the assignment, in accordance with the above, provided that she/he is legal and available for the assignment.
- 7. The Association shall have the right to confer with designated Company representatives concerning Airport Reserve matters.
- 8. Once an Airport Reserve begins an Airport Reserve assignment, any additional assignments must be made within the parameters of Section 9.F.
- G. Once a Reserve Flight Attendant has been given a <u>pairing</u> assignment she/he will be required to remain available for immediate flight assignment during her/his <u>RAP</u>.
- H. A Reserve Flight Attendant who voluntarily picks up Open Time on a day off will be paid and credited above the minimum monthly guarantee in accordance with Section 4 (Compensation). Such pick-ups from Open Time will be approved unless the scheduling of such pairing will affect the Flight Attendant's availability on her/his regularly scheduled reserve days (i.e. insufficient rest or seven-day conflict). Any Reserve Flight Attendant awarded an OT pairing shall be considered as a line holder and all provisions and protections of this Agreement shall apply.
- If, on a reserve day that is followed by a day(s) off, the last scheduled leg(s) of a reserve flight assignment is a deadhead/position leg(s), a Reserve Flight Attendant may request to be released from duty prior to such scheduled deadhead/position leg. Such request will be granted or denied at Crew Scheduling's discretion. Such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- <u>J.</u> If a Reserve Flight Attendant receives a duty assignment that extends into a scheduled day off, she/he will be considered, for pay purposes, to have been junior assigned on the scheduled day off.
- **K.** A Reserve Flight Attendant may request to "slide" the beginning or end of her/his block of reserve days and such requests will be granted to the extent that it does not compromise reserve coverage.

Examples for F.: Airport Reserve Assignment in the forty-five (:45) window at the end of an Airport Reserve shift

- The commencement of a work assignment does not negate the scheduling parameters of the Airport Reserve Period or the requirement to remain available as an Airport Reserve until the completion of the Airport Reserve Period. For example:
 - A Flight Attendant is scheduled for an Airport Reserve Period from 1200 until 2000. The first leg of any work assignment or assignments must be scheduled to depart no later than 2045.
 - b) At 1230, an Airport Flight Attendant receives a work assignment scheduled to depart at 1300. The pairing involves a one hour leg out from the domicile, one hour on the ground and a one hour leg back to domicile. The Flight Attendant returns at 1600. This Flight Attendant may be assigned to additional flying. In the event the Flight Attendant receives an additional assignment, the assignment or assignments must conform with the Airport Reserve Period scheduling parameters. For purposes of this example, the first leg of any subsequent assignment or assignments made during the Airport Reserve Period must be scheduled to depart no later than 2045.
- 2. This clarification prohibits a situation in which a Flight Attendant completes an assignment within the Airport Reserve Period, returns to Airport reserve and subsequently has new flying added to the original pairing, yet is scheduled to depart following completion of the forty-five minute (:45) period. This would not constitute a "legal" assignment. As an additional example:
 - A Flight Attendant is scheduled for an Airport Reserve Period from 1200 until 2000. The first leg of any work assignment or assignments must be scheduled to depart no later than 2045.
 - b) At 1230, an Airport Flight Attendant receives a work assignment scheduled to depart at 1300. The <u>pairing</u> involves a one hour leg out from the domicile, one hour on the ground and one hour leg back to domicile. The Flight Attendant returns at 1600.

- c) An Airport Reserve Flight Attendant may not subsequently have additional new flying added to the original <u>pairing</u> (which commenced with the 1300 departure) unless that additional new flying is scheduled to depart no later than forty-five minutes (:45) following the completion of the Airport Reserve Period. For purposes of this example, that would be 2045.
- 3. Additional new flying may not be added to an original <u>pairing</u> if the additional new flying is scheduled to depart after forty-five (:45) minutes following the conclusion of an Airport Reserve Period. For example:
 - A Flight Attendant is scheduled for an Airport Reserve Period from 1200 until 2000. The first leg of any work assignment or assignments must be scheduled to depart no later than 2045.
 - b) At 1230, an Airport Reserve Flight Attendant receives a work assignment scheduled to depart at 1300. The <u>pairing</u> involves a one hour leg out from the domicile, one hour on the ground and one hour leg back to domicile. The Flight Attendant returns at 1600.
 - c) Additional new flying was not part of the original <u>pairing</u> assigned may not now be assigned to the Flight Attendant if the first leg of the additional new flying is scheduled to depart later than forty-five minutes (:45) following the conclusion of the Airport Reserve Period. If the additional new flying assignment is scheduled to depart at 2046 or later, it does not become a legal assignment merely by adding it to the <u>pairing</u> number of the original <u>pairing</u> assigned during the Airport Reserve Period. The additional new flying scheduled to depart following the forty-five minute (:45) period can only be legally assigned if assigned as part of the original <u>pairing</u> at the time the original pairing was assigned.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 10 VACATION

A. Vacation Accrual

 A Flight Attendant shall receive vacation in accordance with the <u>table</u> below and the accrual provisions outlined in Section 20.C. Benefits Qualification.

Completed Years of Service (as of Dec. 31 of any calendar year)	Calendar Weeks
1 Year	2 Weeks
5 Years	3 Weeks
15 Years	4 Weeks
20 Years	5 Weeks

2. <u>Individual Flight Attendant accruals will be posted on the Company</u> website prior to the vacation bid.

B. Annual Vacation Bid

1. One Week Vacation Unpaid – limited time bankruptcy provision.

For the vacation bids which occur in October 2012, 2013, and 2014 resulting in vacations actually taken in 2013, 2014, and 2015, the following procedure shall be followed:

- a. Flight Attendants shall be awarded their accrued vacation.
- b. One of the awarded vacation blocks must be taken with no pay and the Flight Attendant's guarantee for that month (or two months if the vacation block spans two bid months) will be adjusted. However, the time off will be given in accordance with this Section.
- c. Conversely, the Flight Attendant may opt to forgo the unpaid vacation block, not receive the time off and fly through her/his vacation week. In this situation, her/his guarantee shall not be adjusted.

- d. If a Flight Attendant wishes to forgo the unpaid block of vacation, she/he shall designate by October 15, through the prescribed Company method her/his desire to forgo the unpaid block entirely. If the Flight Attendant fails to make the designation, the default will be to award the Flight Attendant the unpaid vacation.
- e. By December 15th and following the awarding of vacation blocks, each Flight Attendant taking a week of vacation unpaid must designate to the Company the block of vacation which will be unpaid. If the Flight Attendant fails to make the designation, the vacation block awarded latest in the year shall be designated as the unpaid week. If the Flight Attendant elects to pick up pairings during her/his week of unpaid vacation, such flying shall be paid above the adjusted guarantee and in accordance with Section 4.F.
- f. B.1. shall not apply to the 2015 vacation bids or the vacation blocks taken in 2016 or any subsequent years' vacation bids and vacation blocks.

Only for vacation taken in 2013, 2014, and 2015 the following schedule shall apply which accounts for partial vacation weeks accrued due to the Benefits Cliff provision in Section 20.C.

Vacation accrued	Vacation weeks paid/taken
2 weeks	1 week paid, 1 week unpaid
1 week (due to benefits cliff reduction)	3 days paid, 4 days unpaid *
3 weeks	2 weeks paid, 1 week unpaid
1.5 weeks (due to benefits cliff reduction)	1 week paid, 4 days unpaid*
4 weeks	3 weeks paid, 1 week unpaid
2 weeks (due to benefits cliff reduction)	1 week paid, 1 week unpaid
5 weeks	4 weeks paid, 1 week unpaid
2.5 weeks (due to benefits cliff reduction)	1 week 4 days paid, 1 week unpaid*

^{*}Pre-implementation of PBS. Reference Section 20 for post PBS allocation.

The Company shall allocate sufficient vacation periods at each domicile to cover the amount of vacation to be bid at that location. All weeks of the vacation calendar year will be made available for vacation bid.

- New hire Flight Attendants who are on active status for less than a full year by Dec 31st will be entitled to bid for all vacation projected to be accrued by December 31st. The amount of vacation days eligible for bid will be determined as follows:
 - <u>Vacation for new hire Flight Attendants who go on payroll</u>
 prior to June 30th shall be determined in the following manner:

Using the total number of qualifying hours projected to be credited by December 31st, and the total number of months of active service, the chart in Section 20.C.3. (Qualifying Hours for Full Benefits column) will indicate the number of prorated days of vacation for which the Flight Attendant is eligible to bid. Each month of vacation accrual is worth 1.167 days of vacation and will be rounded up to determine the full amount of eligible vacation days.

For Example: A Flight Attendant hired on May 15th is projected to be credited with 550 hours and will be active for 8 months by December 31st. The Chart in Section 20.C.3. indicates that that she/he has qualified for Full Benefits Accrual for her/his 8 months of active service. To calculate the amount of vacation for which the Flight Attendant may bid on October 1st, the number of qualifying months will be multiplied by the monthly vacation accrual (1.167 days/month).

 $8 \text{ (months)} \times 1.167 \text{ (days of vacation)} = 9 \text{ days of vacation for}$ which the Flight Attendant may bid.

- <u>b.</u> <u>Vacation for new hire Flight Attendants who go on payroll after June 30th shall be determined in the following manner:</u>
 - i. The amount of vacation bid in the Flight Attendant's year of hire will be determined as set forth in B.3.a. above.
 - ii. The amount of vacation bid in the year immediately following the Flight Attendant's year of hire will be determined by the number of months of active service during the "period of accrual" (July 1st June 30th). The chart in Section 20.C.3. will indicate the number of hours the Flight Attendant

must accrue, given the number of active months she/he served, in order to qualify for the full vacation accrual of 2 weeks, in accordance with A.1. above. Such vacation will be bid in the qualifying year and taken in the following year.

iii. For Example:

- a) A Flight Attendant hired in October, 2012 is projected to be credited with 225 hours by December 31st and will be in active service for three months. According to the chart, she/he qualifies for three months'- worth of vacation days accrual to be taken in 2013: 3 (months) x 1.167 (days of vacation) = 4 days of vacation.
- b) The same Flight Attendant's vacation accrual to be bid in 2013 and taken in 2014 will be determined in the following manner: The Flight Attendant need only be credited with 405 hours by June 30th 2013 in order to qualify to bid her/his full 2 week vacation accrual, in accordance with A.1. above. The qualifying period for this Flight Attendant is October 2012 June 2013, which is 9 months. For full benefits accrual, the chart indicates that a minimum of 405 hours must be accrued.

Example need to be changed to move the year's ahead one year since implementation didn't actually occur until January 1st 2013.

- 4. New hire Flight Attendants with additional "Company Seniority" shall have their first year's vacation accrual determined in accordance with Side Letter I.
- 5. Vacation awards will be posted on the Company website.

C. Scheduled Vacation Blocks

Vacation blocks will consist of seven (7) days and run from Saturday to the following Friday. A Flight Attendant must bid for an entire vacation block unless she/he does not have sufficient vacation accrued in order to provide for an entire vacation block, in which case she/he will bid for a block in which vacation will begin on the date such Flight Attendant requests and end until her/his vacation is up or Friday, whichever comes first. In the event that the Flight Attendant does not designate a start date for a vacation block of less than seven (7) days, the vacation start will default to the first day of the vacation block. A Flight Attendant may bid for a vacation period of up to five (5) consecutive vacation blocks.

D. Vacation Pay

	Date of Signing	Effective January 1, 2016
Value of Vacation Week (min)	18 hours, 45 minutes (18:45)	21 hours (21:00)
Value of Vacation Day within a block (min)	2 hours, 41 minutes (2:41)	3 hours (3:00)

- 1. A Flight Attendant holding a line of time who is relieved of flying duties for vacation shall, for pay purposes, be credited for the greater of value of the vacation week (7 days) in accordance with the table above for the scheduled vacation or the amount of scheduled flight time of the pairing(s) or portions thereof, but not the touching leg(s) outside of the vacation period, from which relieved by Crew Scheduling due to conflicts created by the scheduled vacation period. In the event that the Flight Attendant is scheduled for a vacation period of less than one week (7 days) the amount of vacation pay stated above shall be prorated accordingly.
- A Reserve who is relieved from duty for vacation shall be credited with the greater of the value of the vacation week (7 days) for the scheduled vacation in accordance with the table above or for the value of the vacation day, for each duty day within the scheduled vacation period. In the event that the Reserve Flight Attendant is scheduled for a vacation period of less than one week (7 days) the amount of vacation pay stated above shall be prorated accordingly.
- 3. A Flight Attendant who is scheduled for vacation may indicate via the PBS website her/his intention to fly on some or all of her/his vacation block per the bidding time-line as found in section 8.B.2.

E. Vacation Bidding and Awarding

- Vacations shall be granted in order of seniority at each domicile in accordance with the Company Flight Attendant seniority list at each domicile.
- 2. By October 1st of each year, the Company shall post, at each domicile, the projected number of vacation days that each Flight Attendant at that domicile has accrued and available for bid for the following year.
- At the same time, the Company will post on the Company website and in the crew room, all of the vacation block periods available for bid at each domicile for the annual vacation bid. Such posting will also include the number of slots available to be awarded on each block for the annual vacation bid.
- 4. All bids will be accepted up to 12:00 CT on the closing date of November 1st. A Flight Attendant who is on a leave of absence or who is otherwise not reporting at her/his assigned domicile, may submit her/his bid electronically (e.g. e-mail) or by submitting a hard copy via fax, mail, overnight delivery, etc. to her/his In-flight Supervisor for submission in the vacation bidding pool. The vacation schedule will be awarded by 12:00 CT November 15th in accordance with seniority at each domicile, and the results will be posted electronically.
- 5. A Flight Attendant who does not bid by the designated deadline will be assigned after all other vacation block periods have been awarded, in accordance with the Flight Attendant seniority list at each domicile, to the latest available vacation periods as determined by the Company.

F. Changing of Vacation Period

Vacation Trades

A Flight Attendant may trade her/his vacation block with the vacation block of another Flight Attendant at the same domicile as follows:

- Vacation blocks traded must be of the same length and must be by mutual consent of the Flight Attendants involved;
- b. Proposed vacation trades must be submitted to the Company by 12:00 CT on the seventh (7th) day of the month preceding the first vacation period of the proposed trade.

Vacation Moves

A Flight Attendant may request to move her/his vacation block(s) in its entirety to another posted vacation block, in her/his current domicile, within the vacation calendar year. All requests for vacation moves must be submitted to the Company by 12:00 CT on the seventh (7th) day of the month preceding the month in which the move is desired. The granting of such move shall be done in order of seniority.

- 3. The Company will maintain a current list of all open vacation blocks which will be made available to Flight Attendants and updated by the 15th day of each month.
- 4. In the event a Flight Attendant's awarded vacation block becomes open as a result of such Flight Attendant transferring to another domicile, supervisory position, or department, or terminates her/his employment with the Company, such vacation block shall be posted for bid at the domicile and shall be awarded, in seniority order, to a Flight Attendant who bids for such vacation block.
- 5. A Flight Attendant who transfers to a new domicile and fails to rebid her/his vacation block will be assigned an open vacation block at the new domicile.

G. Vacation Slide

- A Flight Attendant may at her/his option indicate her/his desire to move the start date of her/his scheduled vacation block. This option, if exercised, would be made known to the Company's computer bid system for the contractual month so affected.
- Should a <u>lineholder</u> Flight Attendant indicate a desire to effect a change in the start date of her/his vacation, the following will apply:
 - a. The effective starting date of an awarded vacation will be adjusted (slid) by up to three (3) days to coincide with the scheduled departure date of the first pairing which is in conflict with the Flight Attendant's originally scheduled block.
 - b. If the change in sub-paragraph a., above, cannot be accomplished, such vacation date would be moved by up to three (3) days so as to terminate the vacation coincidental with the termination date of the last pairing sequence which

is in conflict with the original vacation termination date.

- c. Should the application of either sub-paragraph a. or b., above result in a Flight Attendant's scheduled vacation still being in conflict with the flying of a complete pairing sequence at either the start or termination of such vacation block(s), no such vacation change will be effected.
- d. Vacation slides will only be permitted to overlap into another contractual month, with the concurrence of Crew Scheduling.
- e. a. Consecutive one-day CDO pairings shall be considered one "block" or "pairing" for the purposes for sliding a Flight Attendants vacation.
- f. b. Consecutive vacation weeks are considered one block for the purposes of sliding a Flight Attendant's vacation.
- 2. If a Reserve Flight Attendant elects to slide the start date of her/his scheduled vacation block, the following options for sliding the start date of her/his vacation are available:
 - a. Slide the effective start date of the vacation up to four (4) days earlier in order to eliminate a block of Reserve availability that is scheduled immediately prior to her/his scheduled vacation block; or
 - b. Slide the effective start date of the vacation up to four (4) days later to eliminate a single block of reserve availability that is scheduled immediately after her/his scheduled vacation block.
 - Vacation slides will only be permitted to overlap into another contractual month, with the concurrence of Crew Scheduling.

H. Vacation Conflicts with CDO's

Whenever a vacation block conflicts with a Flight Attendant's CDO flying, the Flight Attendant at her/his option may choose one of the following options by indicating on the bid ballot or via an electronic message (i.e. 'RF' message or equivalent) within 48-Hours following the closing of the bids:

- a. Fly whatever portion of the <u>pairing</u> that falls outside of her/his vacation block for which she/he is legal and available, or
- b. Drop the complete <u>pairing</u> when any portion of such <u>pairing</u> conflicts with her/his vacation block. The Flight Attendant may choose to drop a <u>pairing(s)</u> conflicting with the beginning, end, or on both the beginning and end of the vacation block. In the event the Flight Attendant chooses one of these options, she/he will not be credited for pay purposes for any flight(s) outside her/his vacation block, except as provided in sub-paragraph D.1. above. Notwithstanding D.1., if a Flight Attendant's leg(s) into or out of an overnight is removed, she/he will not be paid for the leg(s) removed.
- c. For the purposes of this provision, a block of contiguous one-day pairings CDOs shall be considered one "block" or pairing In this situation, the Flight Attendant must send an RF message to Crew Scheduling, no later than forty-eight hours (48:00) following the closing of the bids, indicating that the block of one-day pairings CDO which abut the vacation period should be dropped.

I. Cancellation of Vacations

The Company shall not cancel vacations once such vacations have been awarded except as dictated by operational necessity. At the option of the Flight Attendant, the canceled vacation may be rescheduled in the current year or carried over to the following year, or the Flight Attendant may elect pay in lieu of the canceled vacation. If no Flight Attendant elects to accept cancellation of her/his vacation, cancellation shall be in reverse seniority order for the period of the operational necessity.

J. Vacation while on Leave

A Flight Attendant whose vacation occurs during a leave of absence will have the following options: 1) have the days of vacation paid in accordance with paragraph D. or 2) rebid the vacation to an available week(s) in accordance with F.2.; or 3) trade it with the vacation of another Flight Attendant in accordance with F.1.

K. Resignations

A Flight Attendant with six (6) months or more of service who resigns and has given the Company fourteen (14) days advance written notice of her/his intention

to resign will be entitled to her/his accrued and unused, available vacation pay.

L. Flight Attendant Death

Accrued <u>and unused, available</u> vacation shall be paid to the designated beneficiary or to her/his estate.

M. Personal Vacation Days (PVD)

- A Flight Attendant may request paid personal vacation day(s) of up to six (6) days per year. The Company may grant such days if staffing permits. Days used for personal vacation will be deducted from the vacation day accrual to be awarded in the subsequent year's vacation. Flight Attendant requests for personal vacation may be granted on a first come, first served basis at a domicile. PVD will be paid in the following manner;
 - a. Lineholder-pairings missed minus touching leg.
 - b. Reserve-3:45 hours (VOD) per day.
- A Flight Attendant who has used a PVD(s) or who has converted a PO(s) or a PE(s) to a PVD(s), as provided for in M. and N.6. below, will have the PVD day(s) deducted from the following year's vacation. After the vacation award, the Flight Attendant may designate the individual, specific dates at the end or beginning of the vacation block to which the PVD(s) will be applied.
- 3. If the Flight Attendant does not designate specific date(s) after the vacation award, the Company shall apply the unpaid vacation day(s) starting with the last day of the last vacation block fully contained within the following calendar year.
- 4. For PVD(s) taken or converted after the awarding of the vacation bid, the Flight Attendant must indicate to the Company from which vacation block the PVD(s) will be taken or M.3. above shall apply.
- 5. If a Flight Attendant does not have sufficient paid vacation days accrued for the following year from which the PVD can be deducted, the value of the PVD day(s) will be deducted from the next year's end-of-February pay check at 3:45 hours per day. PVDs may not be applied to unpaid vacation.

N. Personal Time Off (PO)

- At each domicile, the Company will process, on a daily basis, a number of PO's equal to one percent (1%) of the Flight Attendants based at the domicile, but in no event fewer than two (2) POs. The LEC President or her/his designee will, upon written request, be provided with verification that the appropriate number of POs have been processed at the domicile. [old SL GG]
 - a. The base group of Flight Attendants upon which the calculation will be made includes all individuals on the Flight Attendant seniority list for each domicile who could potentially be assigned a <u>pairing</u>, partial <u>pairing</u>, reserve assignment or any flight assignment covered by this Agreement. This group includes, but is not necessarily limited to all active and inactive Flight Attendants who may be activated to take a <u>pairing</u> (e.g. Flight Service Managers, Flight Attendants on Special Assignment, Flight Attendants serving as Field Trainers or any other type of trainers, whether or not physically located at the domicile and those holding a paper bid.

Example: If there are <u>460</u> Flight Attendants based at a Domicile, the Company will process at least <u>five (5)</u> POs per day at that domicile, provided that at least five <u>(5)</u> PO's have been submitted.

Example: If there are 420 Flight Attendants based at a Domicile, the Company will process at least <u>four</u> (4) POs per day at that domicile, provided that at least <u>four</u> (4) POs have been submitted.

- 2. Additional PO's will be granted as operational needs permit.
- For purposes of processing POs as set forth in paragraphs 1. and 2., above, each day of a PO will be deemed a separate PO and count towards each day's cap.
- A PO will not be processed unless it is submitted at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the scheduled report time of a <u>pairing</u> or scheduled start of a <u>RAP</u>.

- Properly submitted POs will be processed on a first come, first served basis.
- 6. A Flight Attendant will not be eligible to take a PO until she/he completes probation.
- 7. A Flight Attendant may, at her/his option, elect to convert a PO to a Personal Vacation Day (PVD). Such conversion will count towards the annual maximum of six (6) PVDs that the Flight Attendant may take. A conversion must be submitted prior to the fifth (5th) day of the following calendar month
- 8. An unconverted PO will be unpaid and considered an attendance occurrence for disciplinary purposes.
- 9. Flight Attendants may utilize travel benefits while on a PO.

O. Personal Emergency Days (PE)

- A Flight Attendant may request a PE by contacting a Flight Service Manager (during office hours) or Crew Scheduling Supervisor (outside of office hours). The PE will be granted for a verifiable personal emergency, as described in paragraphs 2. and 3., below, occurring during a pairing, (RAP), or Airport Reserve Period or less than twenty-four (24) hours before the scheduled report time of a pairing or scheduled start of a RAP or Airport Reserve Period. Such request will be limited to a maximum of one (1) pairing or four consecutive days (inclusive of previously scheduled days off) and at the time of the request, the Flight Attendant must declare the number of days requested.
- 2. The following is the all-inclusive list of events for which a PE will be granted:
 - The Flight Attendant's child is expelled or suspended from school, or there is a school/<u>child care</u> closing emergency (this does not include snow days or similar closings);
 - The Flight Attendant's spouse, <u>domestic partner</u> or child is arrested or detained;
 - c. The Flight Attendant has an "A9" qualifying event;
 - d. The birth of the Flight Attendant's child or grandchild or birth of a child for which the Flight Attendant is the birth coach;

- The Flight Attendant needs to care for her/his ill or injured immediate family member (as defined in Section 18 – Leaves of Absence);
- f. The Flight Attendant is the victim of identity theft;
- g. The Flight Attendant is in a car accident;
- h. The Flight Attendant's vehicle is stolen;
- The Flight Attendant encounters extraordinary transportation problems, for example resulting from ice storms, fire or floods, <u>state/city or county transportation emergencies</u> declared (but not normal traffic);
- i. The Flight Attendant is the victim of violent crime;
- k. The Flight Attendant is the victim of a burglary, including on an overnight;
- There is a plumbing, gas leak, electrical hazardous condition or other structural emergency at the Flight Attendant's residence:
- m. The Flight Attendant needs to make preparations at her/his residence <u>and/or property</u> for an impending hurricane; and
- n. The Flight Attendant is the victim of an Act of God (i.e., fire, flood, earthquake, tornado, mudslide).
- 3. Other events not listed in paragraph 2. above, may be approved as a PE at the Company's discretion.
- 4. A Flight Attendant may be required to provide verification of the personal emergency.
- 5. A PE will not be considered an attendance occurrence and will not be used for disciplinary purposes.
- 6. A Flight Attendant may, at her/his option, elect to convert a PE to a Personal Vacation Day. Such conversion will count towards the annual maximum of six (6) PVDs that the Flight Attendant may take. A conversion must be submitted prior to the fifth (5th) day of the following calendar month.
- 7. An unconverted PE will be unpaid.
- 8. Flight Attendants may utilize travel benefits while on a PE.
- P. In the event a Flight Attendant is granted time off pursuant to paragraphs M. and O. of this section, such time off shall not be considered an absence for disciplinary purposes.

<u>Q.</u> Flight Attendants may donate accrued, unused vacation days, excluding PVD's, to another Flight Attendant by submitting a form specified by the Company (currently RF 200 DON8 form).

SECTION 11 SICK LEAVE

- A. Each month, a Flight Attendant will accrue, and her/his sick leave bank will be credited with sick leave at a rate of two hours and thirty minutes (2:30) in accordance with Section 20.C. of this Agreement to a maximum of three hundred hours (300:00). Should the Company's pilots receive an increase in their sick leave credit accrual; the same increase will apply to the Flight Attendants. A newhire Flight Attendant will accrue monthly sick leave credit during the probationary period; however, she/he may not use such accrued leave until she/he has completed the first six (6) months of service.
- B. 1. If a Flight Attendant is unavailable for duty, on a day she/he is scheduled for duty, because of sickness or injury, she/he will be credited for pay purposes for the flying scheduled to be performed and shall have an equal amount of time withdrawn from her/his sick leave bank for each such day.
 - A Flight Attendant assigned to reserve who is unavailable for duty due to illness or injury will for pay purposes be credited with three hours and forty-five minutes (3:45) at her/his applicable hourly rate of pay as prescribed in Section 4.A.1. of this Agreement for each day of duty and shall have an equal amount of time withdrawn from her/his sick leave bank for each such day. If a Reserve Flight Attendant has already started a pairing and subsequently calls in sick, the Company will deduct 1) Three hours and forty-five minutes (3:45) at their hourly rate of pay minus any flying completed for that day and 2) the value of the day for the remaining day(s) of the pairing from the Flight Attendant's sick bank.
 - 3. A Flight Attendant shall not be required to utilize paid sick time from the accumulated sick leave bank for periods of unavailability due to illness or injury. Such election shall result in the appropriate pay deduction and shall be communicated to Crew Pay Comp by the 5th of the month following the absence.
- C. The Company will include the amount of sick leave accrued and used in each pay period and year-to-date, as well as the remaining balance, on the pay-stubs or available on JetNet or equivalent computer system, if it obtains the automation to do so.
- **D.** In cases where the Company has a reasonable basis to believe that sick leave has been abused, the Company may require a Flight Attendant to present her/his

supervisor with satisfactory medical evidence that she/he is ill or injured. The Flight Attendant may choose between obtaining medical verification from her/his personal physician at the Flight Attendant's expense, or obtaining medical verification from the Company telephone nurse or Company medical facility at no cost, provided such services are made available.

- E. A Flight Attendant who becomes ill/injured must notify Crew Scheduling as soon as possible. The Flight Attendant is not required to discuss the nature of her/his illness with Crew Scheduling. The Flight Attendant must provide the estimated duration of absence. A Flight Attendant who advises Crew Scheduling that the expected duration of her/his illness is more than one (1) day will not be required to contact Crew Scheduling each day of illness. The Flight Attendant will be assumed to be available for duty at the end of the aforementioned period, or adjoining day(s) off, if any, unless she/he contacts Crew Scheduling and notifies them to the contrary. A Flight Attendant who is able to return to work sooner than anticipated must notify Crew Scheduling no later than 1700 hours, Central Time, on the day prior to her/his return to duty. Probationary Flight Attendants are also required to contact the Flight Service Manager during business hours in the event of such absence.
- **F.** A Flight Attendant who is able to return to work after calling in sick for her/his original <u>pairing</u> or any portion thereof:
 - 1. Will be offered to complete the remaining portion of her/his <u>pairing</u>, if not already assigned.
 - 2. Will be permitted to pick up Open Time in accordance with Section 8 (Scheduling) of this Agreement.
- <u>Sick Time Fly Back:</u> Open Time which is picked up may be designated as Sick Leave Makeup Credit to credit the Flight Attendant's sick leave bank. <u>Any Flight Attendant who picks up open time for sick make up will have her/his sick bank credited with the greater of the scheduled or actual hours flown.</u>
 - If the Flight Attendant loses time and is not reassigned to new flying, the sick bank shall be credited with the flight time of the originally scheduled pairing.
 - 2. If the Flight Attendant is reassigned to new flying, her/his bank will be credited with the greater of 1) the originally scheduled pairing, 2) the reassigned flying, or 3) the hours actually flown.

- **H.** A Flight Attendant whose paid sick leave has been exhausted may elect to use PVDs for lost time due to illness or injury, provided it is requested before the fifth (5th) day of the following month.
- When a Flight Attendant becomes ill or injured away from domicile and is required by the Company to obtain medical clearance for travel, the Company will arrange for payment of transportation to and from the medical exam and the Flight Attendant's co-pay for the exam and tests. If unable to arrange for advance payment of these expenses, the Company will reimburse the Flight Attendant for such expenses.
 - 1. If the Flight Attendant obtains medical approval for travel or is not required to obtain medical approval for travel, the Company will provide her/him positive space travel back, at the Flight Attendant's option, to base or to her/his home.
 - 2. If the Flight Attendant is unable to fly, the Company will return her/him back to base or home, at her/his option, by other available means of transportation. The Flight Attendant will receive per diem and lodging, if necessary, in accordance with Section 5 (Expenses) of this Agreement.
- J. Flight Attendants may donate sick leave to another Flight Attendant who will be eligible to use the donated sick leave once she/he has exhausted her/his accrued sick leave.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 12 UNIFORMS

- A. A Flight Attendant shall wear the standard uniform as prescribed in Company regulations at all times while on duty, or in connection with any event where the employee is identified as a Company Flight Attendant unless otherwise provided for by this Agreement.
 - The Company may make exceptions to the uniform guidelines based on weather conditions for those Flight Attendants based in San Juan, Miami, Los Angeles and/or Dallas. The Flight Attendants based in the locations listed in this paragraph shall have the option of wearing summer uniform pieces at any time during the year.
 - Flight Attendants shall not be required to wear the uniform while deadheading/positioning. Furthermore, Flight Attendants shall be authorized to wear the uniform while commuting to and from work.
- **B.** The Flight Attendant shall be responsible for the purchase of fifty percent (50%) of her/his initial basic uniforms and accessories incident to employment, not to exceed \$750.00. The Company shall be responsible for alterations of the initial uniform.

C. Point System

- 1. A Flight Attendant will be credited with a maximum of twelve (12) Uniform points in accordance Section 20. of this agreement.
- 2. Flight Attendants may use these points as credit towards the purchase of uniform items, however; the cost(s) for any item(s) which exceed(s) the Flight Attendant's accumulated points will be absorbed by the Flight Attendant.
- 3. Flight Attendants who do not use all of the accrued points <u>in 2012</u> shall automatically carry-over all unused points <u>into 2013</u>. <u>There will be no carry-over after 2012</u>.
- D. Uniform items issued in a defective condition or unusable for any reason, must be returned to the manufacturer. The Flight Attendant may return the item within a reasonable time frame to the manufacturer and the Flight Attendant will be issued another item. Likewise, any Flight Attendant who has purchased the required uniform items, which subsequently become unserviceable due to normal usage, prior to the normal replacement time, will be replaced at no cost to the Flight

Attendant.

E. The basic uniform will consist of the required uniform pieces as set forth in Company policy, which may be revised. The current policy is set forth below:

(Female)

1 /	
Two (2) Jackets or one (1) Jacket	Five (5) Tops - Flight Attendant's
and one (1) Dress	choice of long-sleeved, short-sleeved,
	and/or seasonal alternate shirt/blouse
Two (2) Pants or Skirts	One (1) Overcoat
One (1) Sweater	Two (2) Serving Garments
One (1) Belt	One (1) Tote
One (1) Purse	One (1) Suitcase

(Male)

\ /	
Two (2) Jackets	Five (5) Shirts - Flight Attendant's
	choice of long-sleeved, short-sleeved,
	and/or seasonal alternate
Two (2) Trousers	One (1) Overcoat
One (1) Sweater	Two (2) Serving Garments
Three (3) Ties	One (1) Tote
One (1) Belt	One (1) Suitcase

- F. A Flight Attendant will be provided insignia consisting of one (1) set of wings.

 Broken insignia shall be replaced at no cost to the Flight Attendant. Lost insignia shall be replaced at no cost, a maximum of twice per 12-month period. Additional wings will be the responsibility of the Flight Attendant.
- G. If during the course of the current Agreement there is a significant uniform changeover and the Flight Attendant is directed to replace components of the basic uniform, the cost will be absorbed by the Company. The Flight Attendant will receive one new item for each like item returned limited to the number of such items specified in the initial uniform complement. Additionally, if the Company introduces a new uniform piece and determines within one year that the piece it replaces may no longer be worn, the cost of the new item shall be absorbed by the Company. A Flight Attendant will remain responsible for any cost obligation related to the previous purchase of basic or optional items, as applicable.
- **H.** Additional items as determined by the Company will be made available as optional pieces to the Flight Attendant group at actual cost. The cost of these items for initial issue and for replacement will be borne by the Flight Attendant.

- Payments for uniform and/or optional pieces may be paid for with points, check, credit card, or on a payroll deduction basis. If payroll deduction is selected, the cost of the uniform will be deducted at a rate of twenty dollars (\$20.00) per paycheck, except that a Flight Attendant may elect to pay more.
- <u>J.</u> If the costs for any <u>uniform purchase order totals less than twenty dollars (\$20.00),</u> the entire amount will be payroll deducted in one lump sum.
- K. The Company will specify guidelines with regard to shoes, socks, hosiery, undergarments and gloves without making them part of the required uniform. Furthermore, the Company shall allow Flight Attendants to wear ear muffs, hats, winter and/or rain boots, winter coats and scarves, and umbrellas, all of which should be complimentary to the uniform.
- L. Upon a Flight Attendant's termination for any reason, the unpaid balance of her/his uniform and optional items becomes immediately due and payable and the uniform becomes the property of the Flight Attendant.
- M. The Company agrees to meet with the AFA Uniform Committee or designee to discuss anticipated changes in style, color, cost, source, and components of the uniform.
- N. Any Flight Attendant who has a required uniform item damaged while on the aircraft or stolen from a Company-controlled area (e.g. crew room, bag room, aircraft, etc.), from a Company-paid hotel or a chartered vehicle shall, upon prompt submission of a claim to her/his supervisor (within twenty-four hours (24:00) of the incident) have such item(s) replaced at no cost to the Flight Attendant. The Company is not responsible for the replacement of items lost by the Flight Attendant due to negligence or carelessness.
- **O.** Flight Attendants will be allowed to wear the current Union insignia on her/his uniforms and/or crew bags while on duty.
- P. The Company shall keep and maintain a clean, adequate supply of maternity uniforms.
 - A pregnant Flight Attendant shall have the option of borrowing a maternity uniform, at no charge, until she is placed on maternity leave status.

- A Flight Attendant borrowing a maternity uniform will be responsible for returning the uniform, freshly dry-cleaned, to the Flight Service Manager within two weeks of the commencement of the Flight Attendant's maternity leave.
- 3. Absent mitigating circumstances, if a Flight Attendant does not return the borrowed maternity uniform in the time period defined above she will be charged for <u>fifty percent (50%) of</u> the full cost of a replacement maternity uniform.
- Q. The Company will provide each Flight Attendant with two (2) nametags. The wearing of nametags shall be mandatory; however, Flight Attendants will have the option of using only their first name. Broken nametags shall be replaced at no cost to the Flight Attendant.

SECTION 13 PROBATION

- **A.** Flight Attendants will be considered as probationary employees for the first six (6) months of active service as a Flight Attendant, exclusive of any leaves of absence or periods of furlough. Active service commences upon completion of Company approved Flight Attendant training and assignment to a base.
- **B.** For the purpose of this Section, a Flight Attendant shall be considered to be in active service until she/he has been on an unpaid leave of seventeen (17) or more consecutive days.
- C. When a probationary Flight Attendant is on an unpaid leave of seventeen (17) or more consecutive days or is furloughed, her/his probationary period shall be extended by the number of days in which she/he was on an unpaid leave or on a furlough, whichever is applicable.
- D. A probationary Flight Attendant shall have the right to file a grievance pursuant to Section 21 (Grievances) of this Agreement, except that such grievance shall be limited to those issues other than discipline or discharge.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Section 13 - 2

SECTION 14 SENIORITY

A. Seniority Accrual

- 1. Seniority as a Flight Attendant shall be based upon length of service as a Flight Attendant with the Company.
- 2. Seniority shall begin to accrue from the date the Flight Attendant completes Company-approved Flight Attendant training.
- 3. In the event that more than one (1) Flight Attendant has the same date of hire, the oldest Flight Attendant, as determined by date of birth, shall appear first on the seniority list. A Flight Attendant who has transferred from another job classification at the Company will be given a Flight Attendant seniority date of one (1) day prior to the date of completion of Flight Attendant training. If two (2) or more Company transferees are in the same new-hire class, their relative seniority will be determined by years of service with the Company.

B. Posting of Seniority List

- A system seniority list will be posted in January and July on the Company and Association bulletin boards at all Flight Attendant domiciles.
 - <u>A copy of the Envoy Air System seniority list shall be</u>
 <u>published as of the date of ratification as an Appendix to the Agreement.</u>
- 2. Protests of Inaccuracy within 30 Days

Each Flight Attendant will be permitted a period of thirty (30) days after the applicable system-wide posting, or thirty (30) days following the Flight Attendant's return from a leave of absence or furlough, whichever is applicable, in which to protest in writing to the Company any alleged omission or incorrect posting affecting her/his seniority. In such cases, the Flight Attendant shall have the right to seek an appropriate adjustment going back to the date of the posting.

3. Protests of Inaccuracy After 30 Days

Notwithstanding B.2.above, a Flight Attendant shall have the right to file a written protest with the Company alleging an error at any time. In such cases where the protest was made more than thirty (30) days following the incorrect posting or thirty (30) days following the Flight Attendant's return from a leave of absence or furlough, whichever is applicable, any adjustment made will have prospective application only.

4. A Monthly Bid List (a list of all of the Flight Attendants at a base indicating the seniority of each Flight Attendant and her/his status, either active or inactive, for bidding purposes for that month) will be <u>posted</u> monthly in each crew room and on the Company website.

C. Loss of Seniority

Seniority will be lost under the following circumstances:

- Resignation
- Discharge
- Retirement
- Transfer to non-flying position in accordance with sub-section
 D. below
- 5. Continuous furlough in excess of five (5) years
- 6. Failure to report for duty upon expiration of a leave of absence

D. Transfer to Non-Flying or Supervisory Duties

- A Flight Attendant transferred to supervisory or other non-flying duties directly related to Flight Attendant duties shall continue to retain and accrue all forms of seniority for a period equal to the Flight Attendant's years of service as a Flight Attendant. Thereafter, the Flight Attendant will retain but not accrue occupational and classification seniority. A Flight Attendant performing supervisory or other non-flying duties directly related to Flight Attendant duties on or before October 27, 2005 shall retain and accrue all forms of seniority.
- 2. A Flight Attendant who transfers to a Company position not directly related to Flight Attendant duties shall retain and accrue all forms of seniority for one (1) year. After one (1) year, she/he shall be removed from the Flight Attendant Seniority List.

3. Upon return to duty from a supervisory or non-flying position, other than temporary assignments, the Flight Attendant shall be permitted to exercise accrued seniority to bid for any available vacancies or to displace the junior most Flight Attendant in the system.

E. General

Seniority will govern all Flight Attendants in the case of bidding rights, reduction in force, recall after furlough, vacation preferences, and other domicile assignments, provided, however, that in the case of emergencies such as strikes or other causes considered beyond the control of the Company seniority for furloughs will not apply.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 15 FILLING OF VACANCIES

A. Awarding of Permanent Vacancies

- A permanent vacancy shall be any vacancy, including new domicile vacancies (not caused by <u>maternity</u> leave, medical or other leaves), anticipated to exist for longer than ninety (90) days. Any other vacancy will be classified as temporary.
- a. In the event that a vacancy occurs, the Company will post the vacancy for a minimum of fourteen (14) calendar days on 1)
 HI6 or its equivalent; and 2) in the daily open time recordings currently referred to as AVARS or its equivalent.
 - b The Company shall maintain a permanent vacancy bid file in which a Flight Attendant shall be afforded the opportunity to bid for a permanent vacancy at any domicile. The Company shall review the permanent vacancy bids and award the vacancy/vacancies in seniority order by the 25th of the month two (2) months prior to the effective month of the bid (e.g., by October 25th if December is the effective month of the bid). A Flight Attendant shall be able to change her/his permanent vacancy bid at any time immediately preceding the closing date of any specific permanent vacancy bid period. The Flight Attendant will be advised in writing of the award and the effective date. Once a Flight Attendant is awarded or assigned a vacancy, she/he shall be responsible for the new assignment.
 - c. A Flight Attendant may submit an initial bid, change a permanent bid, or delete her/his permanent bid in writing, including via facsimile.
- Any vacancy that is not bid upon will be assigned to the most junior Flight Attendant or at the Company's discretion by hiring a new Flight Attendant.
- 4. The Flight Attendant awarded a vacancy will be removed from all pairings for which any part of the pairing falls within the three (3) moving days period immediately preceding the effective date of transfer or have moving days inserted as a pre-planned absence. If the move is involuntary, such Flight Attendant shall be paid and credited as if

she/he had flown the dropped <u>pairing(s)</u>. If the move is voluntary, such Flight Attendant shall not be paid and credited for the dropped <u>pairing(s)</u>, however she/he shall not fall below guarantee for pay purposes

- 5. The Flight Attendant's three (3) move days will be determined as follows: [old Moving Days SL]
 - a. Following the award of the base transfer, the Company will contact the Flight Attendant to inform her/him that the move days will be scheduled on the last three (3) days of the month preceding the effective date of the transfer.
 - b. If the Flight Attendant is satisfied with the scheduling of the move days on the final three (3) days, she/he does not have to do anything.
 - c. If the Flight Attendant desires to either waive the move days or schedule them at some point besides the final three (3) days in the bid month preceding the effective date of the transfer, she/he must contact the Flight Service Administrative Manager to inform of either the waiver or the request for an alternate three-(3) day period. This contact must be made no later than a date specified by the Company.
 - d. The request for an alternate three-day (3) period must specify the calendar dates requested. It is understood that the dates must remain as three (3) consecutive calendar days.
 - e. It is understood that the three-day (3) duty-free period may not be scheduled over the following days: New Year's Day, U.S. Independence Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve, and Christmas Day.
- 6. A new hire Flight Attendant will be assigned to a base only after the permanent vacancy to which the new hire Flight Attendant is assigned has been properly posted, and then, only after no Flight Attendant with a higher seniority bid was awarded the vacancy.
- 7. A Flight Attendant awarded or assigned a base transfer or vacancy or initial base assignment shall be provided A-12 travel to the new domicile in order to obtain a new SIDA badge prior to reporting to the new base.

B. Temporary Vacancies/TDY

- When temporary vacancies/TDY are anticipated to exist for a full monthly bid period, such vacancies shall be filled in accordance with this section. A temporary vacancy/TDY will be awarded or assigned one (1) bid month at a time.
- 2. No later than the 10th of the month preceding the month in which the vacancy/TDY assignment will be offered, the Company will post the temporary vacancies at any and all bases which it determines have more than adequate staffing levels and afford the Flight Attendants at such base(s) the opportunity to bid for the vacancy/TDY. The awarding of a temporary vacancy/TDY will be done in seniority order from among the Flight Attendants who bid for the vacancy/TDY at the bases at which the vacancy/TDY is posted.
- 3. Bidding for the temporary vacancy/TDY will close at 10:00 CT on the 15th 10th of the month proceeding the month in which the vacancy/TDY will be offered.
 - a. A Flight Attendant who bids and is awarded TDY and who has vacation during the TDY period will be required to be paid out for any vacation day(s) that fall within the TDY period and thus will remain available for assignment during the time previously scheduled for vacation.
 - The Flight Attendant's vacation shall be paid at the value of the vacation week in accordance with the table in Section 10.D. and such hours shall be paid above the guarantee.
- 4. TDY bids will be awarded at 12:00 CT on the 15th of the month proceeding the month in which the vacancy/TDY will be offered.
- 5. A Flight Attendant awarded a TDY assignment, will be able to utilize PBS in the same manner as any Flight Attendant at that domicile based on their seniority.
- 6. If no Flight Attendant bids for such TDY, the most junior Flight Attendant(s) in the base(s) which have more than the adequate staffing level described in (B.2.) above will be assigned to the TDY duty. No Flight Attendant shall be involuntarily assigned to more than one (1) TDY assignment in any twelve (12) month period unless every other Flight Attendant in the domicile has been involuntarily assigned a TDY

assignment.

- 7. Flight Attendants assigned to or awarded TDY will be paid and compensated according to the provisions of Section 5 (Expenses).
- 8. The Company will provide a Flight Attendant on a TDY with priority (A12 or its equivalent) passes to and from the TDY assignment (beginning
 and end of month). Passes will be issued from the Flight Attendant's
 domicile or other requested location so long as it is on the AAG
 Company system. A Flight Attendant who, otherwise, travels to and
 from the TDY location during the TDY assignment utilizing their regular
 pass privilege benefits (not the A-12 pass) shall continue to receive per
 diem and be paid as if she/he remained at the TDY location.
 - a. A Flight Attendant who's schedule must be altered to accommodate deadheading to or from a TDY assignment in the current month or in the TDY month or the following month and who subsequently loses time will be pay protected for any time lost due to the scheduling of the deadhead in accordance with Section 4.C. (96%).

C. Establishment of New Domiciles and/or Closing of Existing Domiciles

- The Company shall announce the closing of a domicile as far in advance as possible, but not less than sixty (60) days prior to the actual closing, except that such notice is not required when a base is closed due to circumstances beyond the control of the Company.
- 2. In the event that a domicile is closed, the Flight Attendants at the domicile(s) involved may exercise all of their rights provided for in this Agreement. Additionally, if the Company is unable to schedule the relocation days off, in accordance with Section 6.G.1., and/or Section 15.A.4. of this agreement by the effective date of the domicile closure, the Flight Attendant will be eligible for up to seven (7) nights at a Company-provided hotel.
- The Company shall advise the Association of any additions of domiciles
 as soon as the Company is made aware of or decides to open a
 domicile. Flight Attendants will be afforded the option to bid for
 openings at the new domicile in accordance with the provisions of this
 Agreement.

SECTION 16 TIME OFF WITHOUT PAY

- **A.** The purpose of time off without pay is to balance the workforce during short periods of overstaffing at a specific domicile or throughout the system and to minimize Flight Attendant furloughs.
- **B.** When the requirements of service permit, the Company may offer time off without pay. Time off will be offered in seniority order within the domicile where such time exists.
- C. A Flight Attendant awarded time off without pay will retain and accrue seniority, and all Company-provided benefits including, but not limited to, medical insurance, dental insurance, and pass privileges, in the same manner as any other current active Flight Attendant.
- D. The Company will offer TOWOP in increments of five (5) or more days. No more than one (1) period of TOWOP will be permitted in the month unless two (2) separate periods are requested in connection with a period of vacation that would permit a continuous period off. In any case, the minimum period must remain five (5) days. A period of fewer than five (5) days is only permitted in the case of a second period in the month that would complete a continuous period off, such as the end of the month.
- E. When known far enough in advance, time off without pay will be included in the bid packages of the base(s) PBS "info tab" stating in which base(s) TOWOP is being offered. Such time will be awarded in the final bid.
- F. When it is not known far enough in advance, to include in the bid packet, the Company will post the offer of time off without pay will be listed in the PBS "info tab" for no less than seven (7) days in the (1) HI6 (or its equivalent); and (2) in the daily open time recordings currently referred to as AVARS or its equivalent.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Section 16 - 2

SECTION 17 FURLOUGH, DISPLACEMENT AND RECALL

A. Reduction In Force (Headcount)

<u>1.</u> Leaves In Lieu of Furlough

Prior to a reduction in force, the Company will notify the Union in advance of the reduction and the approximate number of Flight Attendants affected. The Company will, to the extent possible, make leaves of absence available to Flight Attendants prior to initiating any furloughs. Leaves granted under this subsection shall not result in the involuntary transfer of any Flight Attendant.

- a. Upon proper application to the Company, leaves of absence shall be granted in order of seniority at the specified base(s) for a period of not less than ninety (90) days and may be renewed in increments of not less than ninety (90) days. Leaves of absence, once granted, must be accepted by the Flight Attendant.
- b. The Company may cancel an awarded leave of absence granted under this provision; however, the company may request a Flight Attendant to return early from a leave and she/he may elect to do so.
- A Flight Attendant who has been granted such leave of absence shall file, in writing; her/his address with her/his Administrative Manager.
- Motice to cancel or request to return early from leaves of absence shall be sent by overnight mail return receipt requested to the last address on file with the Company and also may be made by positive contact via personal telephone call. The following timelines shall apply:
 - i. The Flight Attendant shall respond within ten (10) days of receipt of notice that she/he will either return to active service or remain on leave.
 - <u>ii.</u> If the Flight Attendant is returning to active service, the return date shall not be earlier than the 14th day after electing to return to active service.

- iii. The company shall make a reasonable effort to construct a relief line for a line holding Flight Attendant who clears for duty following the final bid award. If the Fight Attendant is a reserve, the prorated line shall consist of days off and days of reserve availability.
- A Flight Attendant granted a leave of absence for this purpose shall continue to accrue Company, Classification, and Occupational Seniority for all purposes (pay, vacation, and sick leave) for the duration of the leave.
- f. A Flight Attendant granted a leave under this provision may continue to participate in the Company's Group Life and Health Benefits Plan(s) as if she/he had remained in active service.
- g. The number of leaves granted at a domicile shall be determined by the Company.
- h. Priority will be given to leaves in lieu of furlough, other leave policies of the Company notwithstanding.
- In addition to offering voluntary leaves of absence, the Company may offer reduced-guarantee lines of flying prior to initiating any furlough.

<u>2.</u> Furlough and Displacement <u>due to a Reduction in Force</u>

- a. No fewer than forty-five (45) days prior to a planned furlough, the Company will notify the AFA MEC President of the approximate number of Flight Attendants to be affected by the furlough and forward a list of Flight Attendants who may be subject to furlough.
- b. In the event leaves in lieu of furlough fail to satisfy the need for reduction, Flight Attendants will <u>first</u> be <u>offered voluntary</u> furlough in <u>seniority order at the domicile being reduced and then involuntarily furloughed in reverse order of seniority at the domicile being reduced. <u>The notice of voluntary furlough must be posted for a minimum of fourteen (14) days. Notice of possible furlough/displacement will be sent out to Flight Attendants potentially affected by the furlough and may be</u></u>

concurrent with the notice to AFA and/or the offer of leaves in lieu of furlough, bids will be processed in the following order: leaves in lieu of furlough, voluntary furloughs, and displacements; involuntary furloughs will be processed last.

- At the close of the Voluntary Furlough Bid, the Company, in concert with the MEC President or designee(s) will process all displacement forms in seniority order.
- d. A Flight Attendant who is to be furloughed may displace the most junior Flight Attendant in any domicile provided she/he is senior to such Flight Attendant. A displaced Flight Attendant will receive notification at least fourteen (14) days prior to the date on which she/he is required to report to the new domicile. In the event that such Flight Attendant receives less than the fourteen (14) day notification specified in the above sentence, she/he will receive per diem and hotel expenses in accordance with Section 5 for the total number of required notification days not given.
 - i. Flight Attendants to be furloughed will be notified in writing at the last filed address. Flight Attendants will be given no fewer than 28 days written notice of furlough, or 28 days pay in lieu thereof, except in cases of emergency, Acts of God, or other causes beyond the control of the Company. Emergency for the purposes of this Section shall include such reasons as an Act of God, a national emergency, revocations of the Company's operating certificate(s), or grounding of a substantial number of the Company's aircraft, any strike or picketing causing a temporary cessation of work.
 - ii. A Flight Attendant on leave of absence whose seniority is such that she/he would have been furloughed had she/he not been on leave of absence shall be promptly notified that her/his status has been changed to that of a furloughed Flight Attendant and is entitled to all applicable rights of a furloughed Flight Attendant under this Agreement.

- iii. If a Flight Attendant is subject to displacement while on a leave of absence, she/he can displace a more junior Flight Attendant "on paper" and it shall become effective upon her/his return to active status.
- e. A Flight Attendant furloughed by the Company will file her/his proper address(es) with the Company at the time of furlough. Any change in address must be supplied to the Company promptly, and the Company will provide such changes to the Association.

*Notice to AFA and offer of leaves of absence may be concurrent with voluntary furlough bid and sending out of notice of potential furlough/displacement in A.2.a.

<u>f.</u> <u>Benefits</u>

- i. A furloughed Flight Attendant may continue her/his medical <u>benefits</u> for a period as specified under Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act ("COBRA").
- ii. A furloughed Flight Attendant will continue to have pass benefits for a minimum of thirty (30) days or in accordance with Company policy, whichever is greater.
- g. At her/his option, a Flight Attendant, with more than one (1) year of active service who is furloughed will be granted vacation pay for all unused and accrued vacation.

- h. In the event a Flight Attendant is displaced out of her/his domicile she/he will be provided the same awarded vacation slot(s) in the new domicile. [old Vacation Scheduling Following Involuntary Transfer SL]
- i. At the completion of the furlough, the Company will notify the MEC President of the bases from/to which Flight Attendants were furloughed, transferred or assigned and forward a list of Flight Attendants affected by the furlough, transfer or assignment.

3. Recall from a Furlough due to a Reduction in Force

- A Flight Attendant who is furloughed and subsequently recalled will retain all forms of seniority during the furlough. She/he shall continue to accrue occupational seniority only during the furlough.
- A Flight Attendant shall have recall rights for a period of five (5) years from the date of the furlough. A furloughed Flight Attendant shall be responsible for keeping the Company advised of her/his address.
- Recall from furlough will be in seniority order. When initiating C. a recall, the Company shall notify furloughed Flight Attendants via overnight mail at the last address or telephone number on file with the Company and may also notify the Flight Attendant by personal telephone call. After delivery of such notice to the last address and/or telephone number on file, the Flight Attendant will be allowed a period of ten (10) days within which to notify the Company of her/his intent to return to work or bypass recall. The Company, in concert with the MEC President or designee(s), will process the recall/bypass bids in seniority order according to the preferences specified. A furloughed Flight Attendant who is recalled to active service will receive at least fourteen (14) days notice of her/his report date after indicating her/his acceptance of recall.
- d. A furloughed Flight Attendant who has completed probation may bypass recall to a domicile other than the one from which she/he was furloughed. A Flight Attendant accepting recall to a base other than the base from which she/he was

<u>furloughed will receive moving expenses as provided for in Section 6 of this Agreement.</u>

- e. A Flight Attendant recalled to the domicile from which furloughed may bypass recall to the extent that there is a more junior Flight Attendant on furlough from that domicile. However, if all Flight Attendants furloughed from that domicile have been recalled and additional vacancies exist at that base, Flight Attendants who have bypassed recall will no longer be eligible to bypass and their recall will be in inverse seniority order.
- f. All <u>recall</u> results shall be posted on all Company bulletin boards <u>in each crew room</u> at each Flight Attendant <u>domicile</u> and on the Company website along with a copy provided to the Association.
- g. Should vacancies remain after the recall process described above, the Company may hire new Flight Attendants to fill the vacancies, provided that all Flight Attendants on furlough were offered recall and those remaining on furlough are those who have elected bypass.

<u>B.</u> Realignment of Headcount with No Reduction in <u>Force</u> [old Displacement/Voluntary Furlough SL]

Prior to initiating a realignment of headcount, the Company will notify AFA. A realignment of headcount occurs when the Company's targeted operational staffing requirement at a specific domicile(s) would result in an overage equal to or exceeding 20% of Flight Attendants on the domicile seniority list. Such overage must be anticipated to last more than ninety (90) days and no reduction in total force anticipated.

Once the Company notifies AFA that the reduction is necessary, any voluntary leaves of absence, voluntary furloughs, base transfers, resignations and terminations shall all be counted toward the reduction. If, after properly invoking the provisions of this paragraph B., the Company reduces the targeted overage to less than 20% during the reduction process, it will, at that point, no longer be able to utilize the provisions of this paragraph B. for any additional reductions at the domicile(s). The status of those already displaced out of the domicile(s) prior to readjustment of the targeted percentage reduction will not change.

- 2. Flight Attendants at the affected domicile(s) shall be given notice of the effective date of the reduction no later than forty-five (45) days prior to that effective date.
 - <u>a.</u> <u>Leaves per paragraph A.1. may be offered prior to initiating</u> any realignment pursuant to this Section.
 - b. All Flight Attendants in a domicile(s) where an overage exists will first be offered the opportunity to bid on any vacancies which exist in any other domicile prior to voluntary base transfers.
 - c. The Company will inform all affected Flight Attendants that they may elect to be voluntary displaced out of the domicile(s) or they may elect voluntary furlough. Flight Attendants electing voluntary displacement shall be considered to have been involuntarily displaced for the purposes of this Agreement. Such requests shall be processed in seniority order.
 - d. If the staffing imbalance is not remedied, the most junior flight attendant(s) equal to the amount of the remaining overage will be offered their choice of 1) involuntary displacement to a domicile where a vacancy exists or 2) voluntary furlough.
 - i. Example: An overage of ten (10) Flight Attendants exists at domicile "A". All Flight Attendant(s) in domicile "A" are offered the opportunity to bid on ten (10) open positions (which happen to exist in domicile "B"). Five (5) Flight Attendants in domicile "A" bid and are awarded the vacancies in domicile "B". The remaining five (5) most junior Flight Attendants in domicile "A" are offered their choice of involuntary displacement to domicile "B" or voluntary furlough.
 - e. Should vacancies remain in domiciles other than the one(s) being reduced, after the transfer displacement process described above, the Company may hire new Flight Attendants to fill those vacancies.
 - <u>f.</u> <u>Once notice is given per B.2. above</u>, all moves out of the domicile, whether voluntary or involuntary, where the overage

exists will be considered involuntary for purposes of eligibility under this Agreement.

- g. For those Flight Attendants who accept voluntary furlough, standard furlough benefits apply in accordance with this Agreement. Such Flight Attendants will retain all forms of seniority and continue to accrue occupational seniority.
- h. Flight Attendants on a leave of absence at the time of a displacement will not be required to select either displacement to another domicile or voluntary furlough for the duration of the leave.
- i. Flight Attendants domiciled in San Juan who are on maternity leave of absence similarly will not be required to select either displacement to another domicile or voluntary furlough for the duration of the leave. By delaying the date upon which the election must be made, it is understood that these Flight Attendants will remain eligible for the Puerto Rican Maternity benefits as provided for in the Agreement.
- j. In the event a Flight Attendant voluntarily or involuntarily transfers out of a domicile with an overage under this provision after vacation awards, she/he will be provided the same vacation slot(s) in the new domicile. [old Vacation Scheduling Following Involuntary Transfer SL]

3. Recall from Voluntary Furlough due to a Realignment of Headcount

- a. Flight Attendants who opt for voluntary furlough will provide the Company with a list of domiciles to which they will accept recall in order of preference. Flight Attendants may amend their recall preferences at any time. However, the recall preference on file with the Company as of 12:00 CT one (1) day prior to base transfer awards will be used for purposes of executing transfers/recall. As vacancies become available, those vacancies will be offered system-wide in seniority order to normal base transfers and voluntary furloughs.
- If, within five (5) years vacancies emerge in the domicile of the original displacement, those vacancies will be first offered to those voluntarily furloughed or displaced from that domicile in seniority order.

- A Flight Attendant shall have recall rights for a period of five

 (5) years from the date of the furlough. A voluntarily furloughed Flight Attendant shall be responsible for keeping the Company advised of her/his address.
- d. Recall from voluntary furlough will be in seniority order. A
 Flight Attendant will be notified by the Company via overnight
 mail, return receipt requested or via a positive contact
 personal telephone call of her/his recall with the Company.
 After delivery of such notice to the last address or telephone
 number on file with the Company, the Flight Attendant will be
 allowed a period of ten (10) days within which to notify the
 Company of her/his intent to return to work or bypass recall.
 A furloughed Flight Attendant who is recalled to active service
 will receive at least fourteen (14) days notice of her/his report
 date after indicating her/his acceptance of recall.
- e. A <u>voluntarily</u> furloughed Flight Attendant who has completed probation <u>may bypass recall</u> to a domicile other than the one from which she/he was furloughed. <u>A Flight Attendant accepting recall</u> to a base other than the base from which she/he was furloughed will receive moving expenses as provided for in Section 6 (Moving Expenses).
- f. A Flight Attendant recalled to the domicile from which furloughed may bypass recall to the extent that there is a more junior Flight Attendant on furlough from that domicile. However, if all Flight Attendants furloughed from that domicile have been recalled and additional vacancies exist at that base, Flight Attendants who have bypassed recall will no longer be eligible to bypass and their recall will be in inverse seniority order.
- g. Should vacancies remain after the transfer/recall process described above, the Company may hire new Flight Attendants to fill the vacancies.
- h. All results of voluntary furloughs and recalls shall be posted on all Company bulletin boards in each crew room at each Flight Attendant domicile and on the Company website along with a copy provided to the Union.

- i. At the end of five (5) years, Flight Attendants still on voluntary furlough will be processed in the following manner:
 - Step One: The Company will offer available positions in seniority order to all Flight Attendants remaining on voluntary furlough.
 - ii. Step Two: If Step One fails to fill all available positions, the available positions will be filled in inverse seniority order by any Flight Attendant(s) remaining on voluntary furlough.
 - Step Three: If any Flight Attendant(s) remain(s) on voluntary furlough following Step Two, they will be provided the opportunity to bid in seniority order on any position system-wide which their seniority would hold.
 - iv. A Flight Attendant remaining on voluntary furlough at the end of five (5) years who fails to exercise any of the options listed in Steps One through Three, as noted above, will forfeit all recall rights.
 - v. Any Flight Attendants who must be furloughed as a result of voluntarily furloughed Flight Attendants returning to active status by using the steps listed in paragraph iii. will be involuntarily furloughed in accordance with paragraph A.2. & 3. of this Section.

C. BASE CLOSURES

In the event of a base closure, an affected Flight Attendant will be allowed to displace a more junior Flight Attendant at another base in accordance with Section 15.C. of this agreement.

SECTION 18 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. Personal Leave

- A Flight Attendant may, upon proper application to the Company, be granted a personal leave of absence of up to ninety (90) days. When such leaves are granted, the employee shall retain and continue to accrue all forms of seniority during such leaves.
- Personal leaves of absence beyond ninety (90) days may be extended with the approval of the Company, up to a total of one (1) year. Occupational seniority will continue to accrue for the duration of the leave; however, a Flight Attendant will retain but not accrue Company and Classification seniority.
- 3. A Flight Attendant on a personal leave shall retain pass benefits in accordance with Company policy.
- <u>4.</u> <u>Personal Leaves shall be for a minimum duration of seven (7) consecutive days.</u>

B. Funeral Leave/Bereavement Leave

A Flight Attendant will be given bereavement leave as stated below. The Flight Attendant will contact In-flight Management and specify the date she/he wants to commence the leave. For all paid leaves, the Flight Attendant will be paid and credited at her/his applicable hourly rate prescribed in Section 4 of this Agreement for <u>pairings</u> missed or three hours forty-five minutes (3:45) per day of Reserve duty.

- 1. Immediate Family
 - a. In the case of death of an immediate family member, a Flight Attendant will be allowed time off for up to five (5) days which do not have to be consecutive. Three (3) such days will be paid. The Flight Attendant may elect which of the three days will be paid and must notify the Company of such paid days no later than the 5th of the following month, and such days do not have to be consecutive. A line holding Flight Attendant will be credited with pairings missed (less the value of legs into or returning from an overnight falling outside of the three compensated days) and a reserve Flight Attendant will be credited with three hours forty-five minutes (3:45) per day.

The five (5) days off shall be used in conjunction with the funeral, memorial service, or settling of the estate, which includes preparing property for sale and moving effects.

- b. Immediate family for the purpose of paragraph B.1.a. above is defined as: spouse, <u>domestic partner</u>, son and daughter (natural, step, foster), mother and father (natural, step or inlaw), sister and brother (natural, step), <u>parent or child of domestic partner</u>, grandmother, grandfather, grandchild, legal guardian, as well as any relative who is a resident of the household
- c. Should "Immediate Family" under Company policy be amended to include individuals other than those specified in paragraph B.1.b. above, such individuals will also be included under the provisions of B.1.
- 2. Other Relatives and Friends In the event of death of a close relative or friend (e.g., brother-in-law, sister-in-law, aunt, uncle) other than those listed above, a Flight Attendant will be granted, upon request, three (3) days of unpaid leave. Such days do not need to be consecutive. The three (3) days off shall be used in conjunction with the funeral, memorial service, or settling of the estate, which includes preparing property for sale and moving effects.
- In the event that a Flight Attendant requires more time off due to bereavement than is afforded by this <u>Section she/he may</u>, at her/his option:
 - Request a personal leave of absence from their flight service manager. Such request will be given the utmost consideration and a decision will be made within twenty-four (24) hours; and/or
 - Request to move their previously scheduled vacation to the period immediately following the bereavement leave; <u>and/</u>or
 - Utilize other provisions afforded under this Agreement as appropriate.

C. Jury Duty/Witness Leave

- A Flight Attendant who is required to serve on jury duty will, for pay purposes, be credited with <u>pairings</u> missed at her/his applicable hourly rate of pay as specified in Section 4 of this Agreement, or if on reserve, will be credited with three hours forty-five minutes (3:45) at her/his applicable hourly rate of pay as specified in Section 4 of this Agreement per day of reserve duty. <u>A Flight Attendant on jury duty will be released</u> from duty for the entire day.
- 2. A Flight Attendant will for pay purposes be credited for witness duty as in C.1., when appearance is at the request of the Company; or when such appearance, in response to a subpoena, is directly related to Company business, or as a witness in litigation brought by federal, state or local government, provided such litigation is not brought by, or on behalf of the Flight Attendant.
- 3. If a Flight Attendant must appear in court she/he shall be granted unpaid leave in order to appear in court upon submission of appropriate documentation prior to the appearance date.

D. Medical Leave

- Medical leaves will be approved for Flight Attendants when they are unable to perform their duties as a Flight Attendant. Such leave will be approved when medical verification is provided for the duration of the illness/injury which prohibits the Flight Attendant from returning to her/his position.
- A Flight Attendant will not be required to exhaust her/his sick leave bank before going on Medical Leave except where prohibited by law. However, the optional Short-Term and Long-Term Disability plans may require a Flight Attendant to exhaust her/his sick leave bank before being eligible for those benefits. A Flight Attendant will, upon proper application, be placed on Medical leave when her/his sick leave bank has been exhausted.
- 3. A Flight Attendant who requests treatment for a mental health problem or substance abuse problem, prior to notification of testing for random or reasonable cause, may at her/his request be placed on a medical leave for the duration of the treatment program.

- A Flight Attendant will retain and continue to accrue all forms of seniority while on a medical leave of absence.
- Medical leaves may not exceed <u>five (5)</u> years in duration. <u>If a Flight Attendant is cleared back to active status and subsequently goes back out on a medical leave, the five (5) year clock starts anew.</u>
- 6. A Flight Attendant on an authorized medical leave of absence will be allowed to travel on Company passes to medical appointments and otherwise as consistent with the Company pass travel policy.
- 7. A Flight Attendant who goes out on a medical leave of absence will be eligible to continue health insurance at the active-employee rate for a maximum of twelve (12) months. If she/he comes back to active status and subsequently goes out on a leave again for a different medical reason, the twelve (12) month clock for active-employee status insurance benefit eligibility starts anew. If she/he comes back to active status and subsequently goes out on a leave again for the same reason, she/he must have been in an inactive status for a minimum of ninety (90) days before the twelve (12) month clock for active-employee insurance benefit eligibility starts anew.

E. Injury-on-Duty

A Flight Attendant who has suffered an occupational injury on duty (IOD) <u>shall be</u> governed by the provisions of Section 35 Injury On Duty/Restricted and <u>Transitional Duty of this Agreement.</u>

F. Maternity Leave

- Maternity leave and benefits shall be granted in accordance with Company policy and applicable law and shall not be less beneficial than the terms outlined in this Agreement. The Company will notify the Association of proposed material change(s) to the policy. No material change(s) will be implemented until agreed to by the Company and the Association.
- 2. A Flight Attendant shall retain and continue to accrue all forms of seniority during a maternity leave of absence.
- 3. Upon notification by a Flight Attendant to the Company of pregnancy, she shall be provided with a copy of the Flight Attendant maternity leave policy.

- 4. At the conclusion of a maternity leave, a personal leave may be approved for an initial period not to exceed ninety (90) days. A personal leave may be extended for an additional ninety (90) days, but no further extensions will be permitted. Personal leaves will be in accordance with paragraph A. of this Section.
- 5. A Flight Attendant utilizing maternity leave may substitute any accrued and unused sick leave and vacation time for any portion of unpaid maternity leave. A Flight Attendant on such paid leave shall be considered on active status.

G. Family Leave Act

- A Flight Attendant will be granted FMLA leave in accordance with applicable law and Company policy and additionally, FMLA Leave will apply for domestic partners in the same manner as for spouses. The Company will notify the Association of material changes to the policy.
- 2. A Flight Attendant on FMLA leave will retain and continue to accrue all forms of seniority while on such leave.
- Any state FMLA statutes that provide more favorable FMLA provisions than the federal statute shall apply to Flight Attendants in accordance with applicable state law.
- 4. Intermittent FMLA leave will only be applied to days of work.
- 5. A Flight Attendant on block FMLA Leave will have the ability to paper-bid if the leave will be paid leave.
- 6. Converting FMLA to VF for pay purposes: A Flight Attendant may apply a day of the current year's earned, but unused vacation or accrued vacation for the next year to an FMLA day(s) in order to receive pay.

 She/he must notify Pay Comp by the 5th of the following month in order that payroll may process the change.
- 7. A Flight Attendant shall not be required to deplete her/his accrued vacation prior to commencing an unpaid FMLA Leave of Absence.
- 8. Converting FMLA to SF for pay purposes: A Flight Attendant may apply available sick leave to an FMLA day(s) in order to receive pay. She/he must notify Pay Comp by the 5th of the following month in order that payroll may process the change.

H. Educational Leave

- A non-probationary Flight Attendant may, upon proper application to the Company, be approved for an educational leave of absence not to exceed two (2) years. She/he will continue to accrue Occupational seniority for the duration of the leave; however, she/he will retain, but not accrue Classification and Company seniority.
- Educational leaves will be in accordance with Company policy. A Flight
 Attendant who gives the Company thirty (30) days notice may be
 allowed to return to flight status at any time during such leave. An
 educational leave will not be canceled by the Company except in an
 emergency.
- A Flight Attendant on educational leave shall be required to submit verification of enrollment and completion of course work at an accredited school, college or university within seven (7) days after registration or course completion.
- 4. Flight Attendant requests for an educational leave will normally be granted prior to voluntary or involuntary furloughs.

I. Military Leave

- A Flight Attendant will be granted a Military leave of absence in accordance with federal law.
- A Flight Attendant in the Military reserves serving guard and duty reserve to fulfill the minimum requirements will be released from days of work during the days of the actual training/duty and, if requested and necessary, any required travel days.

J. General

- Unless otherwise specified, a Flight Attendant on a leave of absence will retain and continue to accrue all forms of seniority.
- Prior to offering or implementing any type of leave not specified in this Section, the Company will notify the MEC President and allow her/him to offer input.
- 3. No leave taken pursuant to this Section will count as an attendance occurrence or otherwise be used in any way as the basis for discipline

- against a Flight Attendant, unless it is subsequently determined that the Flight Attendant falsified or misrepresented any information in relation to such leave.
- 4. Insurance provisions for Flight Attendants on Leave of Absence are outlined in Section 20 (Retirement, Insurance and Benefits Qualifications).
- 5. A Flight Attendant on any leave who does not qualify for "active-employee" health insurance benefits may maintain the Group Health Benefits in which she/he is currently enrolled as an active employee and pay 100% of the full cost; or enroll for continuation coverage under COBRA; or elect to drop coverage for the duration of the leave.
- 6. A Flight Attendant returning from a leave of absence will be returned to duty and pay status no later than two weeks from the date that all required information has been submitted to the Company. The two week time period begins with the submission of all required information per the Company's initial request.
- 7. A Flight Attendant returning from any leave whose qualification has lapsed, shall be offered training in a timely manner; however, the provisions of 6. above shall apply.
- 8. A Flight Attendant on any leave of absence may substitute accrued and unused vacation time for any unpaid portion of the leave. A Flight Attendant on such paid status shall be considered to be on active status.
- 9. The Association will be provided, on a monthly basis, the names of Flight Attendants on furlough, leaves of absence and Flight Attendants on temporary or special assignments for a full month, including the date the Fight Attendant went off the line and her/his return date.

K. Return to Active Status in Full or Partial Month

1. If available for less than the full bid period, the number of minimum days off will be prorated based upon the numbers of days available per the chart found in Section 8.E.2.e.below and the Flight Attendant will receive a "soft" credit in accordance with the chart below for each day of unpaid leave for purposes of bidding only; e.g., a Flight Attendant returning from maternity leave mid-month

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Section 19 - 1

SECTION 19 TRAINING

- A. The Company will publish the recurrent training dates and list of Flight Attendants required to attend training on the Flight Service Web Site two months prior to the applicable training month [i.e. in March the Flight Service Web Site will include May training dates available for bid and names and priority (i.e. base, grace, or early month) of eligible Flight Attendants]. Training dates will be awarded in seniority order to Flight Attendants in the order of her/his training month priority: 1. Base Month; 2. Grace Month; 3. Early Month and will follow the schedule below.
 - 1. Publish training dates on the Flight Service Web Site two months prior to the training month.
 - 2. Open training bids: no later than the 16th of the month by 12:00 CT in which dates are published.
 - 3. Close the bids: 10th of the month by 12:00 CT prior to the training month.
 - <u>Bids awarded: no later than the 14th of the month by 12:00 CT prior to the training month.</u>

Example for a February Training Event:

- December 1st: Training Dates are published on the Flight Service Web site.
- December 16th: by 12:00 CT Bids Open for Training.
- January 10th: by 12:00 CT Bids Close for Training.
- January 14th: by 12:00 CT Training Dates are awarded.
- B. If a Flight Attendant fails to submit a bid prior to the monthly <u>training</u> bid closing time or fails to indicate training preferences on the bid, she/he will be assigned training dates. Likewise, any Flight Attendant who fails to attend scheduled training will be assigned alternate training dates by the Company. A Flight Attendant who is assigned training may request a change of training dates so long as the request is received by the bid <u>line</u> closing of the month prior to the training month. If class space is available, the Company will grant such request.
- <u>C.</u> For each day in training a Flight Attendant will be paid the greater of pairings missed or the value of the day, three hours forty-five minutes (3:45), at her/his applicable hourly rate as specified in Section 4.A.1. of this agreement. It is understood for Flight Attendants holding a line of CDO's the time removed will be paid and credited the greater of VOD or <u>pairings</u> missed.

- <u>D.</u> In order to prepare for recurrent training, a Flight Attendant may, when submitting a training date bid, at her/his option indicate to have a day free from duty immediately preceding the first day of recurrent training or travel day, if applicable. Such day free from duty will be unpaid and not count towards the Flight Attendant's minimum days off.
- **E.** A Flight Attendant who attends training on a day off will be paid and credited with three hours forty-five minutes (3:45) in addition to her/his guarantee.
- F. A Flight Attendant on a reduced line guarantee may, at her/his option, attend training during the portion of the month in which no flying is scheduled.
- G. A Flight Attendant required to attend training out of domicile will be provided with positive space transportation to and from training over the AAG North American system from the Flight Attendant's domicile or airport of residence. Additionally, commuter Flight Attendants will be afforded positive space transportation in the same manner to attend training in their domicile.

H. Training Hotels and Per diem

- 1. A Flight Attendant who is required to leave her/his domicile for training will be provided hotel accommodations if the training is scheduled for more than one day. A Flight Attendant who is required to leave her/his domicile for training and is scheduled to arrive the night prior in order to attend training (of one (1) or more days) the next day, will be provided hotel accommodations for that night. The Flight Attendant will be paid per diem from the time she/he is required to report at her/his domicile until her/his return to domicile. A commuter Flight Attendant traveling for training from and to her/his airport of residence will be paid per diem from the time she/he would have been scheduled to report at her/his domicile until she/he would have been scheduled to return to domicile.
- A Flight Attendant who is not required to leave her/his domicile for training will receive per diem for each hour, or fraction thereof, of scheduled Company provided training.
- A Flight Attendant who attends training in domicile of more than three days will be provided with a hotel room per 34.A.1. The Flight Attendant will be paid per diem from the time she/he is required to report for training until the conclusion of training.
- A Flight Attendant shall not be required to return from vacation or leave of absence for any training. A Flight Attendant voluntarily returning for training will be

paid in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

- J. The Company shall provide at least ten hours (10:00) of rest after each day of training, which can be reduced to nine hours (9:00) rest after the last day of training. The Company will comply with maximum duty periods stated in this Agreement while a Flight Attendant attends training. A Flight Attendant shall be considered on duty while attending training and for the scheduled travel time to training from domicile and the later of the scheduled or actual, travel time from training back to domicile. For the purposes of this paragraph, rest will be based on the first scheduled available flight to domicile following training that the Flight Attendant would reasonably be able to depart on given travel and check-in time allowances. However, if the Company assigns the Flight Attendant to a later flight; duty time shall be based upon that flight.
 - <u>A Flight Attendant may waive in PBS to FAR + 45 minutes for rest following a training event.</u>
- K. All training will be conducted in accordance with the policies and procedures of the In-Flight Department. Upon request, the Company will meet with the Association Flight Attendant Training Committee to discuss policies and procedures.
- <u>L.</u> Flight Attendants attending training will receive one (1) ten-minute (:10) break for every two hours (2:00) of scheduled training and a one hour (1:00) meal period for training in excess of six hours. If the scheduled training period transits two traditional meal periods, the Company will schedule two (2) thirty-five (:35) minute meal periods in lieu of the one-hour (1:00) meal period. Such thirty-five (:35) minute meal periods will be scheduled in conjunction with the ten-minute (:10) break described above to create two (2) forty-five (:45) minute meal periods. In addition the Company will ensure that the meal period(s) described commence at a time consistent with the operational hours of the cafeteria.
- M. The Company will not schedule training between the hours of 2100 Local and 0600 Local time with the exception of the introduction of new aircraft type(s), while awaiting delivery of a cabin trainer.
- N. In the event that distance learning training (e.g., computer-based, home-study booklet, E-learning, etc.) is incorporated into the Flight Attendant training requirements, the Flight Attendant will be credited in the following manner:
 - A panel of four (4) Flight Attendants will be established to complete the distance learning course. The Union and the Company will each select two (2) participants to be on the panel. None of the Flight Attendants selected will have been involved in the development of the training. The

Flight Attendants on the panel will be paid in accordance with Section 4.l. (Special Assignment Pay). The average time of all four (4) Flight Attendants to complete the training will determine the official assigned value of the training.

- Each Flight Attendant completing the distance learning will be credited with 50% of the assigned value at her/his applicable hourly rate in accordance with Section 4.A.1. (Compensation).
- 3. In no event will a Flight Attendant be credited with fewer than thirty (:30) minutes for each distance learning training course completed.
- O. For training other than recurrent training and new equipment training (which is provided for in Section 1.E.), the Company may offer such training for bid in accordance with Paragraph A. above or may allow Flight Attendants to sign up for such training voluntarily on a first-come, first-serve basis. In either case, a Flight Attendant may request a change of training dates and/or classes in accordance with Paragraph B. above. Additionally, Flight Attendants may swap training dates and/or classes with each other, so long as such swap does not create a legality conflict.
- P. With the exception of new hire training, No Company required training shall be held on December 24th, 25th, 31st and January 1st.

Q. Training Failures

- If a Flight Attendant does not successfully complete a training event, the
 Flight Attendant shall be placed in the next available training event, but
 no later than seven (7) days from the date of incompletion. However,
 if the Flight Attendant has scheduled vacation that conflicts with the new
 training date, she/he shall be placed in the training event that occurs
 immediately after the vacation.
- 2. If no training event is scheduled within the time limits as described above, the Company shall offer the Flight Attendant Special Assignment work in her/his domicile until the next training event is scheduled. If the Flight Attendant elects to decline the offer of Special Assignment she/he will forgo the pay credit. Alternatively, a Flight Attendant may elect to decline the offer of Special Assignment and substitute unused paid vacation.

R. Familiarization/Differences Training

The Company may require Flight Attendants to attend special familiarization/differences training (e.g., new fire extinguisher, new oxygen mask for Embraer aircraft) at domicile not to exceed fifteen minutes (:15) and three (3) times per year (rolling 12-month period). Such training will be accomplished immediately prior to or immediately after a pairing or during a scheduled break and will be unpaid.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Section 19 - 7

SECTION 20 RETIREMENT, INSURANCE AND BENEFITS QUALIFICATIONS

A. Insurance

- Flight Attendants shall receive the insurance programs and benefits implemented by AAG for Envoy Air carrier employees and their eligible dependents.
- In the event that any new or improved insurance benefit(s) are provided to any other AAG Envoy Air employee, said benefit(s) will be made available under the same terms and conditions to the Flight Attendants.
- 3. The Company will meet with the Association to review the basis for proposed cost allocation for the new benefit year, and will share the data and the calculations used by the Company to determine the next year's employee benefits contribution. Such meeting will occur before the new benefit plan costs are announced.

B. Retirement

Flight Attendants will be eligible to participate in the Company 401(k) Plan, or equivalent type plan, (hereinafter referred to as the "Plan") in effect on the date of ratification of this Agreement. Such Plan shall remain in effect and the benefit levels shall not be reduced during the term of this Agreement. However, the provisions of such Plan may be modified from time to time to comply with applicable Federal law; and may also be amended at the Company's discretion, provided no discretionary amendment shall reduce benefit levels during the term of this Agreement. The Company will match each eligible Flight Attendant's pretax contribution to the 401(k) Plan, based on length of service, as follows:

Years of Service	Company Match Of Flight Attendant Eligible Earnings		
1-9	54% of up to 6% for a maximum of 3.25%		
10+	61% of up to 7% for a maximum of 4.25%		

C. Benefits Qualifications

 Unless otherwise provided for, Flight Attendants shall be required to meet certain annual hourly thresholds of paid credit hours in the current year in order to accrue benefits for the following year. Newly hired flight attendants with less than a full year of seniority within the qualifying period of accrual (July 1st through June 30th) will receive benefits in accordance with the pro-ration chart in Section 20.C.b.3 except for eligibility in the Company's health and welfare plans which shall commence immediately upon their status into that of active service.

- Benefits: shall mean vacation accrual, sick leave accrual, uniform point's accrual, and the company's health and welfare plans.
- <u>Credit hours: shall mean all compensation paid to a Flight</u>
 Attendant as expressed in terms of hourly pay. Examples of
 this include, but are not limited to block hours, guarantee pay,
 vacation pay, sick pay, paid union leave, paid leave, pay withheld status, training pay, special assignment pay,
 premium pay, etc.
- Unless otherwise specified in this agreement, the period of accrual shall be the period from January 1, 2013 to June 30, 2013 for benefits eligibility commencing January 1, 2014 and the credited hours shall be prorated using the table in Section 20.C.3.b. below. For all subsequent years the period of accrual shall be the period from July 1st through June 30th for benefits eligibility for the following year.
- In order to be eligible for benefits, as set forth in the above paragraph, for the following year, a Flight Attendant must earn pay credit hours pursuant to paragraph C.1.c. above, in accordance with the following schedule:
 - Any Flight Attendant who receives pay credit of 540 hours or more will not experience any reduction in benefits or benefits accrual.
 - Any Flight Attendant who receives pay credit of at least 350 hours, but less than 540 hours will receive partial benefits as outlined in the table below.

	0-349 Pay Credit Hours	350-539 Pay Credit Hours	540+ Pay Credit Hours
Sick Accrual	None	1 hour 15 minutes per month	2 hours 30 minutes per month
Health Benefit Participation	None	At Part-time Rate	At Full-time Rate
Vacation Accrual	None	½ of Full Time Accrual per 10.A.1. Pre-PBS ½ week = 3 Consecutive Days Post-PBS ½ week = 4 Consecutive Days	Full time Accrual per 10. A.1.
Uniform Points	None	6 Points Per Year	12 Points Per Year

Health and Welfare Benefits

a. A Flight Attendant who goes out on an IOD or Medical Leave of Absence will be eligible to continue health insurance at the active-employee rate for a maximum of twelve (12) months. If she/he comes back to active status and subsequently goes out on a leave again for a different medical reason, the twelve-month (12) clock for active-employee status insurance benefit eligibility starts anew. If she/he comes back to active status and subsequently goes out on a leave again for the same reason, she/he must have been in active status for a minimum of ninety (90) days before the twelve (12) month clock for active-employee insurance benefit eligibility starts anew.

b. Once a Flight Attendant returns to active status from a Leave of Absence, she/he shall continue/resume medical insurance benefits on an active-status basis until the new plan year. In order to determine the entitlement to future benefits, the Flight Attendant's eligibility shall be determined on a prorated basis for the months remaining in the "period of accrual" defined in C.1.c. above, and as outlined in the table below.

Number of Months	Qualifying Hours for Full Benefits	Qualifying Hours for Partial Benefits
1	45	29:10
2	90	58:20
3	135	87:30
4	180	116:40
5	225	145:50
6	270	175:00
7	315	204:10
8	360	223:20
9	405	262:30
10	450	291:40
11	495	320:50

SECTION 21 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A. A grievance is a dispute between the parties under the terms of this Agreement. It must be filed in writing with the Operational Vice President or her/his designee. Failure to file a grievance in writing within the limits specified constitutes a waiver of the grievance.
- B. The Union MEC President or a Flight Attendant(s) who has a grievance will be granted a hearing provided she/he files a grievance with a request for hearing with the Vice President of Flight Service or her/his designee with a copy to the Union within ten (10) business days of the date upon which discipline or discharge is based or within thirty (30) days of the time the Flight Attendant(s) became aware or should have become aware of the event giving rise to the grievance. Grievances may be filed in writing, or, electronically by email to the Vice President of Flight Service or her/his designee followed by a copy in writing via certified mail. The following steps will then be taken:
 - Step 1 The hearing will be held within ten (10) business days of the earlier of the date that the electronic or written request is received by the Vice President of Flight Service or her/his designee. Electronic receipt will be acknowledged by a return email. The aggrieved Flight Attendant(s) will be given at least three (3) business day's written notice of the time and date for such hearing.
 - Step 2 Within ten (10) business days following the completion of the hearing, the Company will issue its decision in writing. If the decision of the Company is not satisfactory, it may be appealed by the Union to the System Board of Adjustment by filing a written notice of appeal with the Board within thirty (30) days after receipt by the aggrieved Flight Attendant(s) of the Company's decision.
- **C.** The grievant is entitled to have a Union Representative present at any step of the grievance procedure.
- **D.** Copies of all notices and decisions shall be mailed to the Union Legal Department and the Union Grievance Representative.
- **E.** Time limits in this Section may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

F. Exoneration

- If, as a result of any hearing or appeal, as provided herein, a Flight
 Attendant is exonerated, she or he, if held out of service, will be
 reinstated without any loss of all forms of seniority and shall be paid for
 such time loss in an amount which would have ordinarily been earned
 had she or he continued in service during such period.
- 2. If, as a result of any hearing or appeal, as provided herein, the Flight Attendant shall be exonerated, the personnel records shall be cleared of the charges.

G. Settlement Process

- 1. Nothing herein shall prevent Company and Union representatives from intervening at any step of the grievance procedure in an effort to seek a resolution.
- There will be a quarterly meeting between designated representatives of the Company, and designated representatives of the Union to review cases which are pending appeal to the System Board of Adjustment. The purpose of this meeting will be to attempt resolution of those pending cases prior to appeal to the Board.

SECTION 22 SYSTEM BOARD OF ADJUSMENT

- A. In compliance with Section 204, Title II, of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, a System Board of Adjustment is established for the purpose of adjusting disputes or grievances arising under the terms of this Agreement. Such Board shall be known as the Envoy Air, Inc., Flight Attendant System Board of Adjustment.
- B. The Board shall be comprised of three (3) members, one (1) selected by the Union, one (1) selected by the Company and a third neutral party. The three (3) member Board shall hear all disputes properly presented to it in accordance with this Section.
- C. Each party shall advise the other, in writing, of the name of its representative and such designation shall continue in effect until successors are appointed. Either party shall have the right to change its representatives periodically, provided that written notification of such representative for any particular dispute must be made prior to the start of the scheduled hearing. The Board will meet within sixty (60) days of the submission of any case or on request of either party to consider any case. Upon request of either party, the time limits may be waived.
- D. Whenever a three (3) member Board shall be required, the parties will promptly attempt to agree on a neutral member to sit on the Board. If the parties are unable to agree on a neutral, either party may promptly request the National Mediation Board to provide a list of seven (7) neutrals. The parties shall select one (1) neutral to serve as the third neutral member of the Board from the list submitted by the National Mediation Board. The parties will choose the neutral within thirty (30) calendar days by alternatively striking names from the list until one (1) name remains who will be designated as the neutral member. The party to strike first will be alternated each time a neutral is selected to sit with the System Board. The neutral member of the Board will preside at the hearings of the Board and will be designated as Chairperson. If the parties mutually agree, the neutral member may sit and decide any dispute without the assistance of the Company and Union appointed Board members. The Board shall convene at the earliest opportunity after appointment of the neutral member.
- **E.** The Board will have jurisdiction over grievances filed pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Board will not have any power to alter or amend the provisions of this Agreement.
- **F.** The Board will consider any grievance properly submitted to it by the Union or the Company when such grievance has not been previously settled in accordance with the terms provided in this Agreement.

- G. The Board, as comprised with the neutral member sitting as the Chairperson of the Board, shall meet with the purpose of hearing and deciding the case to be determined. The Board will render its decision in writing as promptly as possible. A majority vote of three (3) Board members, or the neutral when she/he sits alone, shall be sufficient to make a decision which shall be final and binding and conclusive on the Company and the Union.
- H. The expenses and reasonable compensation of the neutral member and stenographic services will be borne equally by the parties. The parties may mutually agree to forego stenographic services if they are not required. Each of the parties will assume the compensation, travel expense and other expenses of the Board members selected by it and the witnesses called by it. Insofar as space is available and to the extent permitted by law, grievant(s), witness(es) and representative(s) who are employees of the Company shall receive positive space transportation, consistent with the Company business pass travel policy, for traveling to and from the location of the arbitration hearing.
- I. All submissions of disputes referred to the Board shall be addressed to the Board with one (1) copy to the Company and the Union. One (1) copy of the submission shall be submitted to the neutral third member. Each such submission shall show:
 - a) Question or questions at issue;
 - b) Statement of facts;
 - c) Position of the Union;
 - d) Position of the Company.
- The Company and Union may be represented by such person or persons as they may choose and designate. Evidence may be presented either orally or in writing, or both. All witnesses testifying orally or by deposition shall do so under oath.
 - The Board, may, by majority vote, or at the request of either the Union Representative or the Company Representatives thereon, summon any witnesses employed by the Company who may be deemed necessary to the dispute, provided such summons does not unnecessarily interfere with the operations of the Company.
- K. 1. Each and every Board member shall be free to discharge her/his duty in an independent manner without fear that her/his individual relations with the Company, the Union or with employees may be affected in any manner by any action taken by her/him in good faith in her/his capacity as a Board member.

 Each witness summoned by the Board or called by either party shall be free from retaliation or adverse action by either the Union or the Company because of her/his giving testimony in good faith.

L. Grievance Mediation

Once a grievance has been forwarded to the System Board level in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, the parties may mutually agree to engage in mediation prior to convening a three (3) member Board. Notwithstanding such an agreement, the parties will still meet to determine the neutral board member in accordance with sub-section D. above in order to avoid a delay and a final resolution, should mediation not be successful. If the parties mutually agree to engage in mediation, the time limits set forth in sub-section C. above determining the date by which a Board meeting must take place shall be deemed to begin upon the conclusion of the mediation process or the withdrawal of one or both parties from the process.

- A one time training session for the mediation participants will be conducted by the National Mediation Board and will be held on a mutually agreeable date at a location selected by the National Mediation Board. Thereafter, mediation proceedings conducted pursuant to paragraph L. will be held in the city where the general offices of the Company are located, at a mutually agreeable site.
- 2. Mediators will be provided by the National Mediation Board pursuant to a process agreed upon by the parties. The parties may, however, mutually agree to use the services of a private Mediator rather than those of one provided for by the National Mediation Board. In such cases, the fees and expenses, including the cost of any conference facilities or materials, will be shared equally between the parties. Each party shall bear the expenses of its participants in the mediation process.
- Mediation shall be scheduled for the second week of February, May, August, and November. In the event that there are no cases pending for mediation twenty-one (21) calendar days prior to the scheduled mediation session, the parties shall notify the scheduled Mediator that the session is being cancelled.
- 4. Cases will be scheduled for mediation conference in the quarter in which they are submitted or in the ensuing quarter. In the event the cases cannot be scheduled during the available dates or in the ensuing quarter, additional dates will be secured to accommodate the cases.

- 5. The issue mediated will be the same as the issue the parties have failed to resolve through the grievance process. The presentation of evidence is not limited to that presented at any previous step of the grievance procedure. The rules of evidence will not apply and no transcript of the Mediation Conference shall be made.
- 6. The grievant(s) and her/his Union Representative(s) will have the right to be present during the mediation proceedings. Other attendees will include those individuals needed to present the parties' position and reach agreement with authority to bind their respective party. Nonparticipating observers will not be admitted except by mutual agreement of the parties.
- 7. The Company and the Association shall each appoint a spokesperson who may be an attorney, for the Mediation Conference.
- 8. The mediation process is informal. The Mediator has the authority to meet both jointly and separately with the parties; however, the Mediator has no authority to compel resolution of the grievance.
- The record of the mediation shall be closed and inadmissible in any subsequent proceeding unless a written settlement is reached. In which case the record shall be admissible solely to interpret, enforce, or apply the settlement, if necessary.
- 10. By mutual agreement, the parties may request the Mediator to give them an oral advisory opinion.
- 11. Written material presented to the Mediator or the other party shall be returned to the party presenting the material at the termination of the Mediation Conference.
- 12. In the event that a grievance that had been the subject of a Mediation Conference is subsequently heard before the System Board of Adjustment, the Mediator may not serve as the neutral Board Member of the System Board, nor may she/he be called as a witness by either party in the Board's proceedings. During the System Board proceedings on such grievance, no reference will be made to the fact that the grievance was the subject of a Mediation Conference; nor will there be any reference to statements made, documents provided, or actions taken by either the Mediator or participants during the course of a Mediation Conference, unless the party offering such statements, documents or actions would have had access or entitlement to them

outside the Mediation Conference.

- By agreeing to schedule a Mediation Conference, the parties are not waiving any procedural argument(s) that they have regarding the case. Both the Company and the Association reserve the right to raise jurisdictional or procedural issues notwithstanding their agreement to schedule such Conference.
- All parties involved in the mediation conference, including the Mediator shall be barred from disseminating information surrounding the Conference and/or individual grievances to the public, the media or like sources for the duration of the mediation process. Nothing in this agreement, however, bars either side from disseminating general information regarding scheduling and outcome of a mediation during the mediation process.
- 15. The scheduling of hearings and meetings will be coordinated between the parties.

M. Document Exchange [old SL OO]

No later than fifteen (15) days prior to the day a case is scheduled for hearing by the System Board, the representatives designated by the parties will exchange all documents they intend to enter as exhibits in support of their respective positions and a written list of those witnesses who they deem necessary for the hearing. Representatives of either party will not be restricted from entering documents or summoning witnesses who become known subsequent to the fifteen (15) day exchange provided timely notice is given to the opposing party.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 23 UNION SECURITY AND DUES CHECK-OFF

A. Agency Shop

Each Flight Attendant covered by this Agreement who fails to voluntarily acquire or maintain membership in the Union, shall be required to, as a condition of continued employment, beginning thirty (30) days after the effective date of this Agreement or the completion of her/his probationary period, whichever is later, pay the Union each month a service charge as a contribution for the administration of this Agreement and the representation of such employee. The service charge shall be an amount equal to the Union's regular and usual monthly dues and periodic assessments, including LEC and MEC assessments, which would be required of the Flight Attendant if a member.

- B. If a member becomes delinquent in the payment of her/his initiation fee or membership dues, such member shall be notified by registered mail, return receipt requested, copy to the Company, that she/he is delinquent in the payment of initiation fee or membership dues as specified herein and is subject to discharge as an employee of the Company. Such letter shall also notify the employee that she/he must remit the required payment within a period of thirty (30) days or be discharged.
- C. If, upon expiration of the thirty (30) days the employee still remains delinquent, the Union shall certify in writing to the Company, copy to the Employee, that the employee has failed to remit payment within the grace period allowed and is therefore, to be discharged. The Company shall then take proper steps to discharge such employee from the service of the Company. Such discharge shall be deemed to be for cause.
- D. Any determination under the terms of this Section shall be based solely upon the failure of the employee to pay or tender payment of initiation fee or membership dues, and not because of denial or termination of membership in the Union upon any other grounds.
- E. The Company agrees to deduct from the pay of each employee who voluntarily executed the agreed-upon form in "Appendix A" on or after the effective date of this Agreement, and remit (electronically) to the Union the membership dues uniformly required by the Union.
- **F.** When a "dues form" as specified herein is received by the payroll department on or before the first day of the month, deductions will commence with the second pay day of the month following and will continue thereafter. The Company will

<u>electronically</u> remit to the Union payment of all dues collected as soon after the pay day as possible. These remittances will be subject to normal accounting practice with respect to adjustments necessary because of the methods involved in the deduction procedure. The Company remittance of Union dues to the Union will be accompanied by a list of names, employee numbers, and amounts deducted in that particular period. Such information shall be sent, in a mutually agreed electronic format, to the AFA Director of Membership along with an explanation of any codes used by the Company in the report.

- G. No deductions of Union dues will be made from the wages of any employee who has been transferred to a job not covered by this Agreement, who is on furlough, or who is on leave without pay. Upon return to work within the classification covered by this agreement, whether by transfer, termination or leave without pay, or recall from furlough, deductions shall be automatically resumed. As a courtesy, when a Flight Attendant requests a Leave of Absence, the Company shall advise her/him of the obligation to continue paying dues for the first three (3) months of any such leave as well as her/his obligation to send such payments directly to the Union. The cooperation of the Company on this issue is in no way considered a liability of the Company to secure Union dues. The Union will not grieve an individual and sporadic case(s) in which the Company has inadvertently failed to provide such notice to a Flight Attendant.
- H. An employee who has executed a "dues form" and who resigns or is otherwise terminated (other than furlough) from the company, shall be deemed to have automatically revoked her/his assignment, and if she/he is re-employed, further deductions of Union dues will be made only upon receipt of a new "dues form".
- Collections of any back dues owed at the time of starting deductions for any employee, and collections of dues missed because an employee's earnings were not sufficient to cover the payment of dues for a particular pay period, will be the responsibility of the Union, and will not be the subject of payroll deductions.
- J. Deductions of dues shall be made once a month provided there is a balance in the paycheck sufficient to cover the amount after all deductions authorized by the employee, or required by law, have been satisfied. In the event of termination of employment, the obligation of the Company to collect dues shall not extend beyond the pay period which included her/his last day of work. Newly hired Flight Attendants shall have the option of having the Union's initiation fees automatically deducted from their paycheck in ten (10) equal increments.
- K. The Union agrees that it shall indemnify the Company and save the Company harmless from any and all claims which may be made by the Flight Attendant or Flight Attendants against the Company by virtue of the wrongful application or

misapplication of any of the terms of this Section.

L. The Company will provide a means for payroll deductions for Flight Attendant political contributions. The Plan will be known as "FLIGHT-PAC" and will be administered by the Company with administrative cost being borne by the Association. Additionally, the Company will provide for payroll deductions under the same conditions for the AFA Pegasus Program that assists Flight Attendants in need.

The forms necessary for the administration of <u>these</u> Plans will be provided by the Association and distributed to the Flight Attendants by the Association. Payroll deductions will automatically cease if the Flight Attendant is terminated, furloughed, laid off or is not in active service with the Company.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Section 23 - 4

SECTION 24 CONDUCT OF UNION BUSINESS

- A. The Union may post Union notices signed by authorized Union officials on Union bulletin boards provided by the Company at all Flight Attendant domiciles. No notice posted on such board shall contain derogatory or inflammatory material with respect to the Company or its employees. Should the Company object to the posting of the material because it is derogatory or inflammatory as stated above, it shall immediately notify the Union and the Union will remove the item.
- B. The Union will be responsible for printing copies of this Agreement (using a Union printer) for distribution to Flight Attendants, within sixty (60) days after signing. The Company and Union will share (50%-50%) the cost of printing and providing copies of this Agreement; however, the Company's obligation will not exceed the lowest bid of the outside printers from which it solicits bids.
- C. The Union will advise the Company in writing of the names of its designated representatives and such designation shall remain effective until revoked by written notice.

D. Union Business Leave

- The MEC President or her/his designee shall inform the Vice President of Flight Service or her/his designee of the Flight Attendant(s) who are required to be free from duty for the purpose of conducting Union business and the proposed dates. If the service of the Company permits, such Flight Attendant(s) shall be removed from the requested pairing(s). The Company will not unreasonably deny such pairing removals. Once approved a Union pairing drop will not be revoked. The Flight Attendant may elect to trade pairings or be rescheduled. If such activity is restricted, the Vice President of Flight Service or designee may override such restrictions.
 - a. If a Flight Attendant's working pairing does not return to domicile in time for the Flight Attendant to commence her/his union leave due to a cancellation, delay, or other scheduling difficulty, it is understood that the portion of the drop which can be taken will not be involuntarily cancelled by the Company.
 - <u>b.</u> The Union will not be charged for the portion of the approved
 <u>Union Pairing drop for which the Flight Attendant was not able</u>
 to be available. The Flight Attendant will be compensated

under the line guarantee provision in Section 4.C.1. or other applicable provision.

2. Flight Pay Loss and Pairing Removal Procedures

a. Flight Pay Loss: Individual Pairings Dropped

A Flight Attendant released from flying for Union Business leave shall be paid by the Company for any and all <u>pairings</u> missed, unless she/he requests that the leave be without pay.

b. Flight Pay Loss: Paper Bid

When a Flight Attendant will be on Union Business leave for the entire bid period, she/he may "paper bid." The names of Flight Attendant(s) who will be paper bidding for the next bid period will be submitted to the Company no later than the fifth (5th) day of the current bid period. A Flight Attendant who paper bids will be deemed to hold the line to which her/his seniority entitles her/him for all purposes, including, but not limited to, vacation, sick leave, jury duty, etc. The Flight Attendant may designate certain pairing(s) or portions of pairings contained in the "paper bid" line as unpaid. Pairings so designated will be treated as a dropped individual pairing pursuant to D.4.

c. Flight Pay Loss: Straight Bill

The Union may submit a "Straight Bill" calculation for a specific hour amount of flight pay loss each month for an individual Flight Attendant.

- i. This "straight bill" calculation will be submitted by the Master Executive Council President to the Company no later than the fifth (5th) day of the current bid period for the following month.
- ii. The amount of hours in a straight bill calculation will not be dependent upon hours contained in any "pairings missed" which may or may not have been dropped for union business.

d. Pay for Flight Pay Loss

- The Company will compensate the Flight Attendant while performing Union Business as if she/he had performed service as her/his normal duty period(s), as applicable <u>unless she/he requests that the leave</u> be without pay.
- ii. Within thirty (30) days following the bid period in which such pay loss is incurred, the Company will advise the Union as to the total amount of such reimbursement. The Company will submit an invoice to the MEC President or her/his designee detailing the following:
 - The name(s) of the Flight Attendant(s)
 - The date(s) of work scheduled for Union Business leave
 - The number of scheduled hours missed
 - Her/his applicable hourly rate
 - The amount of loss calculated in dollars
- iii. The base amount of pay loss will be calculated by multiplying the scheduled hours missed by the applicable hourly rate of pay as prescribed in Section 4.A.1. of this Agreement.
- iv. In addition to the base pay calculated in paragraph D.3.d.iii. above, the Company may include an additional 24% override to cover the burden of taxes, workers' compensation benefits, etc.

3. <u>Unpaid Union Drops</u>

- a. A Flight Attendant may request that a pairing(s) dropped for Union Business be without pay.
- A Flight Attendant who requests and is awarded an unpaid pairing drop for Union Business will have the amount of dropped time deducted from her/his projected monthly bid line.

c. An unpaid pairing dropped for Union Business will result in time (and thus pay) being deducted from a Flight Attendant's pay in the same manner as time (and pay) deducted from a line holding Flight Attendant's monthly bid line.

4. Open Time/Fly-Back

A Union representative may pick up flying (from Open Time or from another Flight Attendant) on a scheduled day off or on a day where paid and/or unpaid union leave has been granted whether the union leave was through a pairing drop, straight bill, or paper bid. The Flight Attendant picking up Open Time may code it as Open Time or Fly-Back for pay purposes. Time picked up from another Flight Attendant may only be coded as Fly-Back. Time designated as Fly-Back will be credited against flight pay loss amounts billed to the Union.

- 5. A Flight Attendant on Union Business leave will have all rights to apply vacation, sick leave, jury duty, FMLA, and any other benefits normally entitled to as an active Flight Attendant while on such leave.
- 6. Upon request by the MEC President, the Company will split a pairing such that it will begin and/or end in a domicile other than that in which the representative is based. Upon request by the MEC President, the Company, at its discretion, may split a pairing such that it does not begin and/or end in a domicile. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 7. If a pairing is dropped for the purposes of meeting with the Company and the Company subsequently cancels or reschedules the meeting, the Company shall absorb the cost of the flight pay loss, and AFA will not be billed, if the Company does not put the Flight Attendant back on the original pairing from which removed.
- E. Official Union bulletins may be distributed to the Flight Attendant's mail boxes if they have been approved for such distribution by a Regional Managing Director of Flight Service. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. The Company may reasonably withhold approval for any bulletin it deems to be derogatory, defamatory or inflammatory. Use of the mail boxes without the approval of the notice by a Regional Managing Director of Flight Services may result in a revocation of this benefit.
- **F.** The Company will provide the Union the names, bases and addresses of Flight Attendants who are eligible for Union membership upon their initial assignment to

a domicile.

- G. The Union does not question the right of the Company to manage and supervise the work force and make reasonable inquiries of employees in the course of work. In meetings for the purpose of investigation of any matter which may result in discipline or dismissal, or when written statements are taken relating to such matters, or in meetings of sufficient importance for the Company to have witnesses, or more than one (1) Company representative present, the Flight Attendant, if she/he requests, may have a Union Representative present. The presence of a Union Representative at such meetings shall in no way interfere with the conduct of the meeting.
- H. The Company recognizes the following Union committees: Scheduling, Bid Line Pairing Construction; Safety, Health and Security; Hotel; Uniform; Grievance; Membership; EAP; and Government Affairs, ASAP, and Reserve.
- <u>I.</u> The Union may request <u>positive-space</u> passes for Company employees, traveling on Union Business, <u>and if such positive space travel is</u> consistent with Company policy <u>the passes will be provided</u>.
- J. A Union Representative will be permitted a minimum of two (2:00) hours to address each new hire class of Flight Attendants during the initial training. Nothing of a derogatory or inflammatory nature will be communicated by the Union Representative during the session. The Company may have a representative present during the Union's presentation for the purpose of observation.
- K. A Flight Attendant on a Union Business leave, <u>as provided for in paragraph D.</u> will retain and continue to accrue all forms of seniority <u>and accruals (e.g. vacation, sick, FMLA, etc.)</u> as though she/he had remained in the active service of the Company and had actually flown the time removed or credited.
- L. A Flight Attendant, upon written notification providing the length of such leave, will be granted a leave of absence to accept full time employment with the Union extended at the request of the Union. During such leave, a Flight Attendant will retain and continue to accrue all forms of seniority as though she/he remained in the active service of the Company and will retain all pass travel benefits as though an active Flight Attendant in accordance with applicable Company Pass Policy.

 A Flight Attendant returning from such leave will be subject to the same procedures and policies as a Flight Attendant returning from personal leave. A Flight Attendant returning from Union leave will be offered training in a timely manner.

M. Flight Attendant Information

- 1. On a monthly basis, the MEC President and/or designee will be provided information concerning new hires; transfers; leaves of absence; furloughs; recalls; resignations and terminations.
- On a semi-annual basis, the Company will provide to the MEC President and/or designee an electronic updated copy of the System Seniority List that includes each Flight Attendant's name, address, phone number, seniority number, date of hire, employee number, status and domicile. This information will be provided electronically and be in a format that can be sorted and searched electronically.

SECTION 25 NO STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS

It is the intent of the parties to this Agreement that the procedures set forth herein shall serve as a means of peaceful settlement of all disputes that may arise between them, and therefore:

- **A.** The Company shall neither cause nor permit a lockout during the life of this Agreement, and
- **B.** Neither the Union nor the employees covered hereunder shall engage in a strike, sit-down, walkout or stoppage, slowdown or curtailment of work for any reason during the life of this Agreement.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Section 25 - 2

SECTION 26 SAFETY AND HEALTH

A. General

- 1. The Company shall provide a safe, healthy and secure work place.
- 2. The Company and the Union shall collaborate on quarterly safety newsletters which shall contain information about known safety, health and security issues that impact the Flight Attendant's workplace.
- 3. Flight Attendants shall not be required to search for bombs or other suspicious or potentially dangerous items on an aircraft, to remain on board during such a search, or to complete the restoration of cabin furnishings after such a search.
- 4. The Association shall be permitted to participate in evaluating and improving yearly Flight Attendant recurrent and other Flight Attendant training programs.
- 5. Service duties shall never take precedence over safety related duties.

B. Safety, Health & Security Committee

The Company agrees to meet with the AFA Air Safety, Health & Security Committee on a regular basis, but not less than quarterly, in a roundtable meeting.

- The <u>round table</u> shall consist of not more than three (3) members designated by the Association and not more than three (3) members designated by the Company. Additional participants may attend such meetings when mutually agreed upon by the Company and the Association.
- Recommendations of the AFA Safety Committee Members will be considered in relation to all matters affecting Flight Attendant safety.
- 3. Positive space travel shall be provided for those members requiring air transportation to each meeting consistent with Company policy.
- 4. The AFA MEC Safety Chair will meet with the Company and its appropriate subject matter representative(s) to discuss specific and specialized issues of mutual concern, such as cabin air quality/heating/air conditioning, smoke/fume events, and others as

needed, upon request. This meeting would be separate and apart from the quarterly Safety Roundtable meeting as specified in B.1-3. above.

C. <u>Hearing Protection</u>

The Company will provide ear plugs to Flight Attendants which provide no less than 20 decibels noise reduction (NRR 20).

D. Sanitation Standards

- All Flight Attendants shall be afforded an adequate amount of bottled water on their aircraft for their consumption while on the aircraft and during ground-times away from base.

 Furthermore, Flight Attendants shall be provided potable water at each base crew room. It is understood that a Flight Attendant will be permitted to remove one opened, partially consumed bottle of water from the aircraft at the end of her/his flight.
 - b. If a Flight Attendant is required to work on a aircraft which has an inoperative lavatory she/he shall be given no less than fifteen minutes (:15) on the ground free of other duties in order to utilize an airport lavatory after each such segment.
 - c. The Company will provide hygienic and sanitary safety demo equipment.
 - <u>d.</u> The Company shall <u>e</u>nsure that all aircraft are provided with antiseptic hand-cleansing towels (pre-packaged hand wipes).
 - e. The Company shall ensure that all aircraft lavatories are clean and sanitized no less than daily.
 - If the Company is notified of the presence of vermin, rodents, and insects in the Company-controlled work areas, the Company will address the situation expeditiously.

E. Anti-Discrimination Provisions

If a Flight Attendant is given an order/instruction which is not the result of an onboard emergency procedure, she/he may decline such order/instruction without fear of discipline and/or discrimination if there is a reasonable belief that following such order/instruction may pose a risk of injury.

<u>F.</u> Safety Information

- 1. The MEC Safety Chairperson or AFA qualified designee shall be allowed to attend Envoy Air FAA emergency evacuation demonstrations or partial demonstrations of airplanes that Envoy Air plans to operate.

 The Company shall seek the approval of the FAA, the respective government authority, and/or the manufacturer, to permit the attendance of AFA designee(s) at all government required certification tests.
- The Company shall notify the MEC Safety Chairperson and the MEC President of a decision to add a new aircraft type to its fleet, or to reconfigure or redesign the interior of aircraft already in its fleet. The Company shall meet and confer with the AFA Safety Committee members to discuss in-flight safety concerns and to allow the Association to review and comment on the proposed aircraft type or changes to the cabin interior (e.g. galley configuration, emergency safety equipment location, jumpseats, etc) of the current fleet.
- The Company shall meet and confer with the MEC President prior to initiating a new class of service or before implementing a seat reconfiguration.
- 4. Material Safety Data Sheets for all chemicals, including cleaning solutions, to which Flight Attendants may be exposed while performing their duties, shall be kept current and readily available on the company website. The Company shall provide lists of all ingredients contained in these chemicals to the Association upon request.

G. Cabin Environment

The Company shall emphasize to all crew members, in writing, the importance of documenting smoke/fume events in their appropriate reporting systems.

H. Crew Member Physical Assault

- 1. The Company will continue to maintain zero tolerance for assaults and/or interference involving crew members.
 - In the case of a physical assault by one or more passengers, the Company shall arrange to have law enforcement officials waiting to take the passenger(s) into custody immediately upon landing/return to gate.

- b. If the aircraft is still on the ground and a Flight Attendant believes that a passenger poses a threat to the aircraft, crew or other passengers, she/he may request to have the passenger removed from such flight.
- c. The Company will provide a Flight Attendant with its available resources, including positive space <u>travel</u> and full pay and credit for any pairing(s) <u>and/or reserve day(s)</u> the Flight Attendant misses to aid in the prosecution of any unruly passenger.
- d. The Company shall strongly consider denying boarding on another Envoy Air flight to any passenger identified as interfering with and/or assaulting any Flight Attendant.

 However, if the passenger is allowed to board another Envoy Air flight(s), the Flight Attendant(s) working that flight(s) shall be briefed on the situation prior to boarding.
- e. The Company shall provide training to all Flight Attendants at least once per year in ways in which to deal with problem passengers and/or security issues.

<u>I.</u> Hostilities

- The Company will notify the MEC President immediately upon receipt
 of information regarding hostilities and/or political disruptions which may
 present a danger to the safety of Flight Attendants at stations into which
 they are required to fly. At the request of the MEC President, the
 Company will meet and review the impact of such hostilities and/or
 disruptions on Flight Attendants.
- Elight Attendants, who, while acting within the scope of their employment are hijacked, interred, captured, held as prisoner, hostage or missing, will continue to accrue seniority and longevity credit and will continue to be paid their monthly guarantee. All insurance and pass benefits will remain in effect for eligible dependents. Upon return from the incident, a Flight Attendant will be reinstated at the domicile held prior to the incident.

J. Access to Secure Areas

The Company will ensure, escort access to secure areas, <u>such as Customs and Immigration</u>, at the request of the ASHS Committee member to investigate specific health, safety, and security issues of concern to Envoy Air Flight Attendants.

K. Luggage

Flight Attendants will assist passengers with soft and light-weight items during boarding. Flight Attendants should exercise discretion if they find items that are too heavy or bulky and tactfully assist passengers by showing them where they can store the items and request that they obtain those same items after gate arrival.

L. Cleaning and Grooming of Aircraft

- 1. The Company shall arrange for cleaning of its aircraft at all stations.
 - <u>A Flight Attendant</u> is not responsible to groom an aircraft in a hub city and can only be required to assist grooming in out stations where ground time is less than thirty (:30) minutes. Grooming shall mean straightening seatbelts and collection of magazines and newspapers if time permits. Flight Attendants shall not be required to reach into seat-back pockets.
 - <u>A Flight Attendant shall</u> collect items <u>from passengers</u> required by the FAA to be properly stowed for taxi, takeoff and landing (e.g., cups, glasses, napkins, stir sticks, etc.).
 - <u>A</u> Flight Attendant will not be individually liable for an FAR violation which may be levied due to an unclean aircraft as a result of ground personnel not completing <u>cleaning</u> duties and <u>shall not be subject to discipline due to that situation.</u>
 - <u>d.</u> <u>Flight Attendants will not be required to clean the aircraft.</u>

M. Fatigue Review Board

The Company recognizes that a Flight Attendant may reach a point when, as a result of work-related duties, she/he feels that her/his physical state is such that <u>her/his</u> required duties could not be performed safely during flight. In such circumstances, the Flight

Attendant will notify the captain of the flight (if applicable) and crew scheduling. Upon receipt of a Flight Attendant's fatigue notification the Company shall immediately remove the Flight Attendant from duty and code the absence with "UA".

- 2. If a Flight Attendant calls in fatigued at an outstation, the Company will have the Flight Attendant return to or stay at the hotel and she/he will receive the required minimum amount of rest. The cost of the hotel will be absorbed by the Company. However, the Company may authorize travel back to the Flight Attendant's domicile or home if the Flight Attendant requests it.
- 3. All reports of fatigue will be submitted to the Company for review, within fifteen (15) days after the Flight Attendant's return to work.
 - a. If the Company upholds the absence as fatigue, the occurrence will be coded as NF and the attendance occurrence will be removed from the Flight Attendant's employment record.
 - b. If the Company determines the absence is not attributable to fatigue, the occurrence will be coded as MA and the report shall be forwarded to the Fatigue Review Board (FRB) for further evaluation.
 - On a quarterly basis, if there are fatigue reports to review, the FRB, consisting of a Union and a Company representative, will meet to evaluate the reports of fatigue that have been denied by the Company. The FRB will consider the individual circumstances of each fatigue call. The FRB will be authorized to direct either of the following:
 - i. That the incident did not meet fatigue criteria and the UA is converted to a MA.
 - ii. If the FRB deadlocks, or fails to render a decision, the Company's decision will be final but may be challenged through the grievance procedure.
 - iii. The FRB may also recommend action to alleviate conditions such as schedules and/or hotel accommodations which caused or contributed to the fatiguing circumstances. All decisions reached

by the FRB will be in writing and signed by both members. All decisions of the FRB shall be final and binding on the Union, the Company, and the Flight Attendant.

N. Record Keeping Requirements

<u>Upon request, the Company shall provide the MEC Safety Chairperson with the Online Reports.</u>

O. Indemnification For Use of Company Equipment

Flight Attendants who have been trained in and who use, in good faith and in the course and scope of their employment, the Automatic External Defibrillators (AED) or other emergency medical procedures, will be indemnified by the Company for any passenger claim arising out of the use of the defibrillator or other emergency medical procedure. If a passenger files a claim or a lawsuit against an individual employee for use of the defibrillator or other emergency procedure, while that employee is acting in good faith and within the course and scope of employment, the Company Corporate Insurance and Risk Management Department will retain counsel to defend the employee and will hold her/him harmless from all costs or damages asserted.

P. Accident/Serious Incident/Hijacking

- 1. The Company will maintain the current level of access to CERS (Corporate Event Reporting System-or successor reporting system) for all LEC Presidents, MEC President and both EAP and Safety Chairpersons.
- In the event of any accident, if the Company is granted access to the crash site, the Company shall endeavor to include the MEC Safety Chairperson or AFA qualified designee(s) among those granted access to the site.
- 3. The Company shall facilitate and expedite the arrival of the Association representatives to the crash site.
- 4. The Company shall permit the AFA designee(s) release from duty, after an aircraft accident involving an aircraft utilizing one or more Flight Attendants, to participate in the investigation and continue to allow such release from duty until the completion of the investigation.

R. Communicable Diseases

- 1. The Company shall bear the cost of any immunizations required by the country of destination served by the Company.
- <u>2.</u> <u>The Company will provide non-allergenic "exam type" "gloves on all aircraft for Flight Attendant use.</u>

SECTION 27 GENERAL

A. Non-Discrimination

- The Company is an equal opportunity employer. The Company and the Association agree to make it a matter of record in this Agreement that in accordance with this established policy of the Company and the Association, the provisions of this Agreement shall apply equally to all Flight Attendants hereunder regardless of age, sex, color, race, religion, national origin, sexual orientation or disability in accordance with applicable laws. Furthermore, the Company will not tolerate sexual harassment and will take a proactive position in deterring such harassment.
- Union Participation. A Flight Attendant will not be unlawfully interfered with, restrained, coerced, or discriminated against by the Company because of membership in, or lawful activity on behalf of, the Association.

B. Discipline

1. Notices of Discipline

All notices of disciplinary action or discharge shall be in writing. The Flight Attendant will be notified of the precise charges levied against her/him.

2. Complaint Letter

The Company will not place any negative report or derogatory material in the Flight Attendant's personnel file without providing the Flight Attendant an opportunity to inspect and review the material or report. The Flight Attendant will be allowed to place in the personnel file a statement of the incident. The Flight Attendant will not be the subject of disciplinary action based solely on a letter of complaint without corroboration.

a. Corroboration of a complaint letter means that there is at least one additional, credible verbal or written report, statement, or other documentation of the incident in question, or of similar behavior by the Flight Attendant. Corroboration shall also be required if the initial report of inappropriate

conduct by a Flight Attendant has been made by a company employee (i.e., gate agent, manager).

b. Redacted complaint letters may be viewed by the Flight Attendant during an investigation. Once the investigation is complete, and when, and if the letters become a part of the Flight Attendant's personnel file, redacted copies will be provided upon request from the Flight Attendant. If the investigation reveals no corrective action will result and no documentation occurs on the Flight Attendant's CR-1, the letter will not be placed in the Flight Attendant's personnel file.

Personnel File

A Flight Attendant will be permitted to inspect and copy, at Flight Attendant cost, her/his personnel file in the presence of management at a mutually convenient time during regular business hours. All letters of discipline, including advisory letters, will be removed from a Flight Attendant's personnel file after a period of two (2) years from the date of issuance.

C. Deliverance of Material

Notices required in this Section and this Agreement will be hand-delivered or will be sent, <u>via a method which provides confirmation of receipt.</u>

- D. All orders to Flight Attendants involving a change in domicile assignment, promotions, demotions, furloughs, vacations and leaves of absence will be stated in writing.
- **E.** A Flight Attendant grounded due to a medical condition will, at her/his request, be considered for employment with the Company in another capacity subject to available vacancies and qualifications of the Flight Attendant.
- F. 1. On any leg where safety and food service requirements are fulfilled, a Flight Attendant may eat a meal/snack in the galley area(s) of the aircraft, as long as the cabin zone is monitored and passengers' needs and requests are fulfilled.
 - If there is insufficient time for a Flight Attendant to eat a meal/snack in flight, such meal/snack may be consumed on the ground provided all other Flight Attendant responsibilities have been accomplished. Flight Attendants who are eating on the ground will not interfere with other

employees who are in the course of performing duties.

 The Company recognizes the need to allow Flight Attendants to eat during the duty day. A Flight Attendant may inform Crew Scheduling that she/he needs an opportunity to eat and Crew Scheduling will ensure that she/he receives a break, if reasonable.

G. Savings Clause

If any term or provision of this Agreement is rendered or declared invalid, inoperative or unlawful by reason of existing or subsequently enacted legislation or regulation of a federal, state, or local government, government agency or by a decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalid, inoperative, or unlawful term or provision will not invalidate the remaining portions of this Agreement, and they will remain in full force and effect. In such an event, the Association may, upon written notice to the Company, request to meet and confer to discuss the necessity of modifications pertaining to those terms or provisions rendered or declared invalid, inoperative, or unlawful and such discussions shall commence within fifteen (15) days of receipt of such a request. If no resolution is reached the parties agree to submit the issue(s) to binding arbitration.

H. Flight Attendant Crew Lounge

- The Company will provide a clean, comfortable, secure, and otherwise suitable facility for the use of the Flight Attendants covered by this Agreement which is of adequate size to accommodate, at the very least, three (3) full-sized crews, or fifteen (15) crew members, whichever number is greater, at every primary domicile. In established secondary co-domiciles, the Company will designate, at a minimum, an area for Flight Attendants to have access to computers, printers and phones necessary to the performance of their duties. Such area will also be equipped with adequate seating and facilities.
- The Company will address crew room facilities complaints and accomplish a resolution within sixty (60) days of notification. During such period, the local AFA LEC President will be kept apprised of the progress of the completion of the project.

I. Return of Company Property

Upon separation of employment, the Flight Attendant is responsible for coordinating the return of all Company property (e.g. manuals, badges, keys, etc.) with her/his Flight Service Manager.

J. Passports

- The Company will reimburse the Flight Attendants for the cost of renewing passports, within the six (6) month period prior to the expiration of such passport, including the cost of passport photos. Flight Attendants, who require an expedited passport in order to perform current scheduled flights which require a passport, will also be reimbursed for related charges. If a passport office is not available in the domicile, the Company will provide a positive space pass and reimburse for travel to and from the passport office.
- Visas The Company will reimburse the Flight Attendants for any government imposed costs (including taxes, visas, etc.) when incurred in the performance of her/his duties to destinations served by the Company.
- **K.** The Company shall provide a toll-free phone number for Flight Attendants to contact her/his Flight Service Manager's office.

L. <u>Delays</u>

Flight Attendants will not be charged for delays if they are performing duties as outlined in the IPM, safety checks or in cases where they are reporting missing required emergency equipment. Flight Attendants who receive notification requesting delay information will follow up with In-Flight in a timely manner to provide the reason for such delay.

M. The Association will be provided, on a monthly basis, the names of Flight Attendants on furlough, leaves of absence, and Flight Attendants on temporary or special assignments for a full month, including the date the Flight Attendant went off the line and her/his return date.

SECTION 28 PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS

A. Requirement for Physical/Mental Health Examinations

- 1. A Flight Attendant, on active status or on inactive status returning to active status, will not be required to submit to a physical/mental health examination without the Flight Attendant's consent unless the Company has a reasonable basis to believe that such Flight Attendant's health or physical condition is impaired enough to question her/his ability to perform her/his job as a Flight Attendant, in which case the Flight Attendant will, upon written request, be furnished a copy of the medical examiner's report.
- 2. The Company shall bear the costs for all expenses, including travel expenses, and for all exams and tests, incurred under the provisions of A. of this Section, unless otherwise provided for in this section.
- 3. Initial Evaluation A Flight Attendant who is requested by the Company to undergo a physical or mental health examination shall have the right to see a medical examiner at any hub or base of AAG which has a medical examiner available. The Flight Attendant will be notified of those hubs and/or bases which have such medical examiner available at the time she/he is requested to see an examiner.
- 4. Specialist Evaluation When it is necessary for a Flight Attendant to receive an evaluation from a specialist, the Company will, whenever possible, find the necessary specialist in the local area of the Flight Attendant's residence or as close to it as possible.
- 5. If a Flight Attendant is removed from service in accordance with this provision, and, as a result of an initial Evaluation and/or Specialist Evaluation, it is determined that there was no physical or mental health condition justifying the removal from service, she/he shall be pay protected for any flying lost until such time as returned to active duty. Such removal shall not be considered a recordable occurrence.
- 6. If a Flight Attendant is removed from service in accordance with this provision, and, as a result of an initial Evaluation and/or Specialist Evaluation, it is determined that there is reasonable cause to remove the Flight Attendant from service, she/he shall be pay protected for any flying lost until she/he receives the results of the initial evaluation and/or specialist evaluation. Such removal shall not be considered a

recordable occurrence. The Flight Attendant shall be placed on a medical leave.

7. In order to be eligible for the above pay protection, the Flight Attendant shall not take any action(s) to unreasonably delay the above process. However, delays due to the unavailability of physicians/specialists, the canceling of appointments by physicians, and weather emergencies and other circumstances beyond the control of the Flight Attendant shall not be considered delays attributable to the Flight Attendant.

B. <u>Failure to Pass Company Exam</u>

A Flight Attendant who fails to pass a Company physical/mental health examination may at her/his option, have a review of her/his case in the following manner:

- The Flight Attendant may employ a qualified medical examiner of her/his own choosing and at her/his own expense, for the purpose of conducting a physical examination for the same purpose as the physical examination made by the medical examiner on behalf of the Company.
- 2. The Flight Attendant shall furnish a copy of the findings of her/his medical examiner to the Company within fifteen (15) business days following the Flight Attendant's receipt of the report of the Company's medical examiner. However, if extenuating circumstances not under the Flight Attendant's control, require additional time, fifteen (15) additional business days shall be granted upon request in writing by the Flight Attendant and/ or physician. In the event that such findings verify the findings of the medical examiner employed by the Company, or if she/he fails to furnish such report to the Company within said time, no further review of the case shall be afforded.
- 3. In the event that the findings of the medical examiner chosen by the Flight Attendant are timely filed with the Company and they disagree with the findings of the medical examiner employed by the Company, the Company will ask that the two medical examiners agree upon the appointment as promptly as possible, but no later than ten (10) business days, of a third qualified and disinterested medical examiner, preferably a specialist, for the purpose of rendering a final binding opinion. Nothing herein shall preclude the Company from determining after the second exam that the Flight Attendant is fit for duty. In such instance, the provisions of C. below shall apply.

- 4. The said disinterested medical examiner shall then promptly make a further examination of the Flight Attendant in question and the case shall be settled on the basis of her/his findings. The disinterested medical examiner will be given a copy of the findings of the Company's medical examiner and of the Flight Attendant's medical examiner prior to making her/his examination. If the Flight Attendant is found to be fit for duty by the third independent medical examiner, she/he shall be returned to pay status within ten days of the determination being provided in writing and received by the Company's designated medical service provider.
- 5. The expense of employing the disinterested medical examiner shall be borne one-half (½) by the Flight Attendant and one-half (½) by the Company. Copies of such medical examiner's reports shall be furnished to the Company and to the Flight Attendant.
- C. 1. When the Flight Attendant is removed from flying status by the Company as a result of her/his failure to pass the Company physical/mental health examination and such decision is subsequently reversed allowing the Flight Attendant to return to flying by the third disinterested medical examiner pursuant to B.4. above, she/he shall be made whole which shall include 1) being paid for any and all pairings missed or 2) minimum monthly guarantee or portion thereof as applicable or 3) the minimum daily guarantee for any reserve days missed; and she/he shall be reimbursed for all expenses (not covered by insurance) incurred under the provisions of B of this Section.
 - In order to be eligible for the above pay protection, the Flight Attendant shall not take action(s) to unreasonably delay the above process. However, delays due to the unavailability of physicians/specialists, the canceling of appointments by physicians, and weather emergencies and other circumstances beyond the control of the Flight Attendant shall not be considered delays attributable to the Flight Attendant.

D. <u>Medical Files</u>

A Flight Attendant upon execution of a release may request that a copy of her/his medical records maintained directly by the Company's designated medical service provider be sent to her/his personal physician. Requests for a Medical Release should be sent to the employee's Area Medical Location and to the attention of the Area Medical Director. A medical release form may be obtained from the Medical Department. Reasonable charges for copying shall be borne by

the Flight Attendant.

- A Flight Attendant may review her/his complete file maintained by the Company's designated medical service provider by appointment during mutually convenient times. A nurse employed by the Company's designated medical service provider will be present during the review.
- 3. Except as restricted by applicable law, per <u>paragraph D.1. above</u>, copies of specific reports and related diagnoses, narratives, notes, writings, etc. (if applicable) <u>pertaining to the Flight Attendant and maintained by the Company's designated medical service provider will be provided to the Flight Attendant upon written request and execution of a <u>medical</u> release <u>form</u>. <u>Reasonable</u> charges for copying shall be borne by the Flight Attendant.</u>
- 4. Copies of specific reports and related diagnoses, narratives, notes, writings, etc. (if applicable) prepared by a health care provider contracted by the AAG Corporation, Envoy Air, its agents, successors, assigns or alter-egos, relied on by Envoy Air and/or the Company's designated medical service provider to apply temporary or permanent work restrictions will be provided to the Flight Attendant upon request of the Flight Attendant directly to the health care provider. It is understood that the Flight Attendant will comply with any processes or requirements established by the specific health care provider to obtain medical records.
- 5. The form to request copies of the medical file will be on the Company's website.

SECTION 29 CO-DOMICILES

- **A.** The Company shall have the right to establish co-domiciles that may serve two (2) or more airports within the same metropolitan area.
- B. The Company will provide pre-paid parking for each co-domicile Flight Attendant at each co-domicile to which she/he may be called to report in accordance with Section 5 Expenses.
- C. The Company agrees to provide notification to the Association at least sixty (60) days prior to the establishment of any new co-domicile(s) and furthermore agrees to meet and confer with the Association at such time to discuss the co-domicile operation.
- **D.** Co-Domiciles currently established by this Agreement are depicted on the following chart:

MIA/FLL	JFK/LGA	ORD/MDW
TPA/PIE	LAX/LGB/BUR/ONT/SNA	DFW/DAL
BOS/PVD	SFO/OAK/SJC	DCA/IAD/BWI

- Each co-domicile will have one airport designated as the Primary base and the other airport(s) will be considered the Secondary base(s). Any change in the Primary and/or Secondary designation will be mutually agreed to by the Company and the Union.
- **F.** The Company shall make every effort to schedule a Flight Attendant to begin and end a pairing at the same airport.
- **G.** In the event a <u>pairing</u> begins at one airport in a co-domicile and ends at another airport in that co-domicile, the Company shall provide ground transportation back to the originating airport.
 - In the event that the Company provided transportation above is not available, alternative transportation may be elected by the Flight Attendant(s) in accordance with Section 5, paragraph D of this Agreement.

- At the request of a Flight Attendant who is a bidline holder, the transportation will be provided at the beginning of the pairing, provided that such request is made at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to scheduled check-in and does not create a conflict with the duty/rest provisions of this Agreement.
- H. Time spent in transit between co-domiciles as scheduled on the pairing assigned to the Flight Attendant shall be considered duty time for purposes of Section 4, Section 5 and Section 7 of the Agreement. The scheduled times for such transit shall be no less than those set forth in the chart below and shall be considered as deadhead time and paid in accordance with Section 4 (Compensation).

Co-Domicile Pairing	Time	Co-Domicile Pairing	Time
LGA-JFK	1:00	SNA-LGB	1:00
MDW-ORD	2:00	DFW-DAL	1:00
LAX-SNA	2:00	IAD-BWI	1:48
LAX-LGB	1:00	DCA-IAD	1:06
LAX-BUR	1:12	DCA-BWI	1:06
LAX-ONT	1:30	SFO-SJC	1:00
BUR-LGB	1:30	SJC-OAK	2:00
BUR-SNA	2:12	SFO-OAK	1:00
ONT-LGB	2:00	TPA-PIE	1:00
ONT-BUR	2:00	MIA-FLL	1:48
ONT-SNA	1:12	BOS-PVD	1:30
EWR-LGA	1:20	EWR-JFK	2:00

- Minimum Call The minimum call out for Flight Attendants assigned to report to a secondary co-domicile base shall be one (1) hour more than the standard callout to the primary base.
 - The primary co-domicile base for the New York Domicile will be John F.
 Kennedy International Airport (JFK). Minimum call-out for <u>pairings</u> or
 other work assignment commencing at JFK will be three hours (3:00).
 - The secondary co-domicile base for the New York domicile will be LaGuardia Airport (LGA). Minimum call-out for <u>pairings</u> or other work assignment commencing at LGA will be two hours (2:00).

SECTION 30 INTERNATIONAL FLYING

- **A.** International flying is all flying to or from an international city, excluding cities in Mexico, Canada, the Bahamas and the United States Virgin Islands.
- **B.** International Overnight. Flight Attendants on an overnight in an international destination will receive, in addition to all other compensation, five dollars (\$5.00).
- C. The length of the RAPs applicable to domestic Reserve Flight Attendants will apply to all Reserve Flight Attendants, regardless of domicile or type of flying. RAPs will not apply to Flight Attendants based in a domicile where the Company is required by government regulations to have Flight Attendants operate under "flag" rules.
- **D.** The rest provisions set forth in Section 7.E. of this Agreement will apply to all Flight Attendants, regardless of domicile or type of flying.
- E. The Company will reimburse a Flight Attendant on a pairing for required calls to Crew Scheduling from a destination that does not have cellular phone service or toll-free capability. If the international destination, including cities in Mexico, Canada, the Bahamas and the United States Virgin Islands, has cellular-phone service, the Flight Attendant will be reimbursed for required phone calls to Crew Scheduling, if she/he incurs long-distance/international charges on her/his cellular phone.

F. Charter Flying Operations to Cuba

- In accordance with airport and security procedures, a Flight Attendant in Cuba will be authorized to deplane the aircraft. This authorization, in no way relieves the Flight Attendant of any obligation or responsibility to perform her/his normal job duties.
- 2. The Company may designate a different Ground Security Coordinator (GSC), for each departing flight, or may designate one GSC for a number of departing flights.
- 3. In the event of an unscheduled overnight, Flight Attendants will be provided with nourishing meals and accommodations, in accordance with established standards and practices, at no cost to the Flight Attendant. Such Flight Attendant shall be authorized to make one (1) telephone call (up to ten minutes in length) to the United States, free of charge for every twenty-four (24) hour period.

- Flight Attendants will be authorized to remove bottled water and food items from the aircraft for their own consumption when deplaning in Cuba.
- 5. These provisions are not to be interpreted to mean that Flight Attendants engaged in Cuban flying will be required to speak Spanish or any language other than English unless implemented by another Agreement. In addition, no Flight Attendant will be required to perform any Ground Security Coordinator duty or perform any other ground security functions.
- G. Should the Company initiate scheduled charter service to new international destinations or provide sub-service for a charter company to international destinations the Company will meet and confer with the Union well in advance of the implementation of the anticipated service/destination to discuss applicable scheduling, cleaning, security and other concerns that may arise. The service to the international destination may not conflict with the provisions of this Agreement, including Side Letters of Agreement, without the mutual consent of the Union.

SECTION 31 REPORT TO WORK AND COMMUTER POLICY

A. Each Flight Attendant shall be allowed a combined total of five (5) Late Reports and/or Commuter Policy incidents in any rolling twelve (12) month period.

B. Good Faith Commuting Policy (CP)

1. ELIGIBILITY, NOTIFICATION AND FAILED ATTEMPTS

Commuting and non-commuting Flight Attendants returning from vacation, will also be eligible for this provision. The following conditions must be met:

- the Flight Attendant notifies crew scheduling four (4) hours prior to her/his sign-in time or after the first failed attempt at commuting, whichever occurs later; and,
- b. the Flight Attendant notifies crew scheduling after a second failed attempt at commuting; and,
- the Flight Attendant has made two commuting attempts via scheduled air service, the latter of which would place her/him in her/his domicile no later than her/his original <u>pairing</u> scheduled sign-in time; or,
- the Flight Attendant makes one of the two commuting attempts above but due to delay en-route, is unable to notify Crew Scheduling.
- e. The Flight Attendant will continue to satisfy the conditions above on each day of the assignment until she/he successfully commutes to the assignment or other arrangement with Crew Scheduling is reached. If a Flight Attendant satisfies the conditions above on each day of an assignment, she/he will be assessed only one CP for a single or multi-day assignment.

NOTE: the Regional Managing Director (RMD) may waive any of the above requirements if in her/his opinion the Flight Attendant has demonstrated a good faith attempt to get to work. These provisions may be utilized by a Flight Attendant commuting for purposes of a Reserve Availability Period (RAP) or Reserve Duty Period, but do not apply to a

Flight Attendant whose first attempt to commute to a flight assignment issued during her/his RAP or Reserve Duty Period takes place after the commencement of that RAP or Reserve Duty Period.

2. <u>It is understood that a Flight Attendant need not utilize the Commuter Policy removal procedure on a day declared by Envoy Air to be a "Transportation Emergency" (TE) Day.</u>

C. Return to Duty

In the event that the Flight Attendant is unable to report for her/his originally scheduled pairing or RAP or Reserve Duty Period, all flying missed due to an unsuccessful commuting attempt shall be subject to the pay deduction specified in Section 4 (Compensation) of this Agreement.

- Crew Scheduling will place the Flight Attendant back on the next leg of her/his originally assigned <u>pairing</u> when it transits her/his domicile if the Flight Attendant is in domicile at that time.
- The Flight Attendant may be assigned to new flying (on the day she/he missed the report) from her/his domicile's available open time in order to fill the period of time between her/his arrival in domicile and the first possible opportunity at which the Crew Scheduler is able to rejoin the Flight Attendant to the first transit back to the domicile of the Flight Attendant's original pairing. Any assigned open time will be paid at straight time rates with no premium and will be credited toward the flight time lost to offset the Flight Attendant's pay deduction incurred as provided for in Section 4 (Compensation) of this Agreement. Such assignments shall be made in accordance with Section 8 (Scheduling) of this Agreement.
- 3. If a Flight Attendant is unable to report for a bridge pairing, she/he will coordinate with Crew Scheduling to reach a mutually agreed-upon alternative using the following options:
 - a. <u>Deadhead the Flight Attendant to rejoin her/his original</u> pairing; or,
 - b. <u>Assign the Flight Attendant to another pairing (similar in overnights, within footprint); or,</u>
 - c. Remove the pairing in its entirety and the Flight Attendant may use Open Time to rebuild her/his schedule.

- 4. If mutual agreement is not reached, the Crew Scheduler may assign one of the above options. Any assignment of new flying will be made in accordance with Section 8 (Scheduling). Any assigned/picked up Open Time will be paid at straight time rates with no premium and will be paid and credited toward the flight time lost to offset the Flight Attendant's pay deduction incurred as provided for in Section 4 (Compensation) of this Agreement.
- 5. A reserve Flight Attendant who will miss an assigned <u>pairing or an Airport Reserve assignment</u>, due to commuting difficulties <u>shall be assigned in accordance with Section 9 (Reserve) of this Agreement.</u>
- 6. A reserve Flight Attendant who will not be in domicile for the start of her/his RAP may have her/his RAP adjusted.
- 7. Nothing in this agreement shall prevent the affected Flight Attendant and Crew Scheduling from reaching an alternative, mutually agreed upon assignment, including flying out of another domicile.

D. Missed Assignment and Removal

- In the event a Flight Attendant missed an assignment due to commuting difficulties, a Missed Assignment (MA) will be placed in the Flight Attendant's HI10 (or its equivalent). The MA code will be changed to a Commuting Policy (CP) code by the Flight Service Manager when any of the following proof of compliance is provided:
 - Two (2) jumpseat forms or two (2) boarding passes from an air carrier other than Envoy Air or American Airlines indicating the date, time and the location of the failed attempts or alternate form of proof; or,
 - A passenger name record (PNR) printout for an ID90/ZED or ID90/ZED return receipt indicating the date, time and location of the failed attempts; or,
 - c. Two (2) printouts of a G*L[FLT#]/[DATE][DPT CTY]/PALL RES entry, or equivalent, showing the Flight Attendant's passenger listing on any Envoy Air or American Airlines flights; or,
 - d. A PNR printout if flight cancels more than four (4) hours prior to its scheduled departure.

- e. Any combination totaling two (2) of the individual items listed in (a), (b) and (c) above. For example, one jumpseat form plus one printout of a G*L[FLT#]/[DATE][DPT CTY]/PALL or equivalent would constitute compliance.
- <u>f.</u> <u>It is understood that the Flight Attendant does not have to be</u> at the airport at the time her/his commuting flight cancels.
- g. The Flight Attendant will have thirty (30) days to submit the appropriate documentation to substantiate the attempts to commute to work to her/his Flight Service Manager.
- 2. If a Flight Attendant is unable to report for her/his adjusted scheduled flying, the Missed Assignment (MA) code shall remain. If the Flight Attendant is unable to report for her/his adjusted flying due to commuting difficulties and is able to substantiate a good faith effort to commute, she/he shall not receive an additional missed assignment.

E. Late Report (LR)

A Flight Attendant may request that a "Late Report" be removed from her/his work history. To utilize the "Late Report" removal procedure, the following criteria MUST be met.

- The Flight Attendant, who through the use of ordinary care, but due to an extraordinary circumstance, anticipates that she/he will report late for an assignment, will call crew scheduling prior to the sign-in time for the assignment.
 - a. If the Flight Attendant is unable to make contact with crew scheduling, she/he should call their Inflight supervisor prior to scheduled sign-in time for the pairing.
 - b. If the Flight Attendant is unable to make contact with her/his in-flight supervisor, she/he should call AVARS and do the following:
 - Follow all prompts until the voice response requests the Flight Attendant to enter the first four characters of her/his "DECS"(or its equivalent) password and employee number.
 - ii. Enter "DECS" password and employee number.

- iii. At that point, AVARS will create a permanent record that the call was placed. This record can be used to document the Flight Attendant actually attempted to call crew scheduling.
- It is understood that if calling while driving an automobile, the Flight
 Attendant will place such call from a safe and secure location out of the
 lane of traffic, while the vehicle is fully stopped.
- 3. The Flight Attendant must actually reach the airport and work the pairing for which she/he was originally assigned without causing a delay directly attributable to that Flight Attendant, or another pairing should the Flight Attendant be assigned alternate flying by Crew Scheduling in accordance with Section 8 (Scheduling) of this Agreement.
- 4. Following the report after sign-in time, the following procedures must be followed:
 - a. If a Flight Attendant signs in for her/his pairing after the scheduled sign-in time, she/he understands that a "Late Report" is automatically registered. However, a crew scheduler or supervisor may direct a Flight Attendant to forgo sign-in in order to expedite her/his arrival to the departure gate.
 - b. Should she/he wish to have the "Late Report" removed, at the point which the <u>Flight Service Manager</u> discussed the Late Report with the Flight Attendant, a request must be made to have the Late Report removed.
- It is understood that a Flight Attendant need not utilize the Late Report removal procedure on a day declared by Envoy Air to be a "Transportation Emergency" ("TE") Day.
- F. The Commuting Policy (CP) coded entry will not be used in any corrective action or evaluation of any corrective action under the Attendance Control Policy (ACP).

 The Commuting Policy (CP) coded entry will be removed by the Company from the Flight Attendant's HI10 (or its equivalent) upon request of the Flight Attendant at the time of resignation or transfer to American Airlines.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

SECTION 32 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS (EAP)

A. Recognition

- 1. The Company and the <u>Union</u> agree to work jointly in coordinating the services of their respective Employee Assistance Programs (EAP).
- 2. <u>Upon request, the Company will meet quarterly with the AFA MEC EAP</u> Chair(s) to discuss cooperative activities and efforts.

B. EAP Notices to Flight Attendants

- 1. AFA EAP contact information will be provided <u>and/or included by the</u> Company on its Flight Service website.
- The AFA MEC EAP Chairperson shall coordinate with the Company's Director of Training to reach agreement on the method to disseminate information on AFA EAP services/resources during new hire and recurrent trainings for Flight Attendants and during the Company's In-Flight training programs for supervisors and alternates.
- The Company will permit AFA EAP notices to be placed in Flight Attendant mailboxes and on designated AFA bulletin boards. Such notices shall be in accordance with Section 24.A. (Conduct of Union Business) of this Agreement.

C. EAP Referrals

- Whenever the Company refers a Flight Attendant to the Company EAP, either verbally or in writing, AFA EAP contact information will also be provided in the same manner as the Company EAP referral and at the same time.
- AFA EAP contact information shall be included in any notice to a Flight
 Attendant concerning attendance or performance. Additionally, in any
 meeting with a Flight Service manager concerning attendance or
 performance, a card containing AFA EAP contact information shall be
 given to the Flight Attendant. Such cards will be provided by AFA.

D. EAP Representatives

- 1. Accident: In addition to the AFA MEC Chairperson, the Company will immediately release from duty a minimum of one (1) EAP Committee member from each base in the event of an aircraft accident as defined by the NTSB. The Company will provide EAP Committee members with positive space travel to domicile, if necessary. Additional emergency situations may be designated by the Company and these provisions will apply.
- In the event of any accident, the Company will not take any action to hinder the Association's access to the <u>accident</u> site. The Company shall facilitate and expedite the arrival of the Envoy Air AFA Go-Team Representatives to the accident site.
- 3. Debriefing and Diffusion: Whenever a Flight Attendant(s) is debriefed by the Company under the provisions of this Section, an AFA EAP representative(s) will be permitted to participate in the session(s). Such situation may also be diffused solely by an EAP representative. Such AFA EAP representative(s) will be removed from any portion of scheduled flying or reserve duty as necessary to participate in a debriefing/diffusion.
- 4. Once approved, the Company will not rescind an AFA pairing drop or release from reserve duty for a member who is scheduled to attend an AFA EAP training or meeting.
- When a situation arises that necessitates EAP Flight Attendant assistance, the Company will provide access to crew rooms and, if available, on-site meeting rooms in order for AFA EAP to meet with Flight Attendant(s).
- 6. The Company and AFA EAP will keep each other advised through written notice of any changes in authorized representatives and changes in EAP-related policies.
- 7. Debriefing Environment: The Company will provide a safe, private and quiet environment in which the Company and AFA EAP representatives will conduct debriefings with Flight Attendants.

E. Critical Incident/Emergency Response

- The Company critical incident stress management program and/or emergency response program shall include confidential peer support through AFA EAP (or its designee) to Flight Attendants who have been involved in or affected by an accident and/or incident.
- 2. The AFA EAP Chairperson will be included on notices sent by the Corporate Event Reporting System ("CERS") for Envoy Air.
- 3. AFA EAP will be incorporated into the Company's notification processes, trainings and procedures established in conjunction with the Company's Emergency Response Plan and/or Critical Incident Procedure.

F. <u>Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM) Procedure</u>

- Definition: A Critical Incident is any accident, incident or air disaster resulting in serious injury, severe turbulence, any hijacking incident, actual evacuation of an aircraft, physical assault of a Flight Attendant, death in-flight or on a layover, fire onboard, medical emergency in-flight with use of AED, aircraft decompression during flight or any other catastrophic event in which a Flight Attendant is involved during the course of her/his duty with the Company.
- 2. <u>Notification:</u> The Company will notify the MEC President and MEC EAP Chair via the EAP Hotline as soon as practical of <u>an occurrence</u> outlined in F.1. above. Notification for additional situations, where appropriate, will be made.
- 3. Aid to Flight Attendant: In the event of a critical incident set forth in paragraph F.1., above, or any additional situation that the Company EAP deems appropriate, the following will apply:
 - a. The Flight Attendant will be provided with immediate medical attention, and to the extent possible, isolated from the media.
 This will also apply to acute illness while out of domicile.
 - The Company will promptly notify the designated emergency contact of each Flight Attendant involved if the Flight Attendant is incapacitated or requests the Company to do so.

- C. The Company will release a Flight Attendant from further duty without loss of pay if the Flight Attendant feels she/he is able to continue to perform her/his duties. The CI Code will be used to remove Flight Attendants from any pairing where CISM is required. A CI removal will not count as an occurrence under the Company's attendance/disciplinary policies.
- d. If the Flight Attendant feels she/he is unable to continue to perform her/his duties, she/he will be provided a positive space pass on the next available flight to her/his domicile or home unless a government entity requires the Flight Attendant to remain available for the investigation. In such circumstance, the Company will provide a hotel room.

Catastrophic Event:

In the event of a catastrophic event (i.e. hijacking, aircraft accident, physical assault, etc.) the following provisions shall apply in addition to F.3. above:

- <u>a.</u> The Flight Attendant will be released for a minimum of seven (7) days with full pay and credit.
- b. Should the Flight Attendant not be able to return home immediately, the company will absorb costs of lodging, meals and travel until she/he is able to return home and transportation is secured.
- c. The Company shall promptly notify the designated emergency contact of each Flight Attendant involved in a catastrophic event. The Company shall provide positive space, on or offline, transportation and lodging, free of charge, to a Flight Attendant's eligible family members as outlined in the Company's pass policy to and from the location of the Flight Attendant involved in the event. In the case of a death of a Flight Attendant, the Company shall arrange for the timely return of the body to the location requested by the Family.

Investigation Participation:

A Flight Attendant requested or required by the Company or a

government agency to participate in an accident or incident investigation or hearing involving a Company aircraft will be released from schedule to do so, with pay protection and will be furnished positive space transportation by the Company. In such circumstances, the Company will provide a hotel room.

G. Incident with Potential for being Declared Critical Incident

When a situation arises with the potential to be declared a Critical Incident, the situation will be handled as follows:

- The Flight Service Manager will immediately contact both the Company and Union EAP Representatives to relay the facts giving rise to the request for removal by the Flight Attendant(s).
- The Company and the Union EAP Representatives will be consulted within seventy-two (72) hours to determine whether the situation should be declared a Critical Incident.
- 3. The Flight Service Manager will remove the Flight Attendant(s) from further duty. The removal will be coded as "PG" (pending). Such leave shall not be subject to staffing.
- 4. If both EAP Representatives concur, the removal will be re-coded "CI" (Critical Incident) and the time removed from further duty will be without loss of pairing pay and will not result in a reduction of the minimum monthly guarantee or the adjusted guarantee.
- 5. Following the event(s) giving rise to the potential Critical Incident, the Flight Attendant(s) may submit a request to an Flight Service Manager to be removed from further duty if she/he believes that she/he is unable to continue to perform her/his duties. The request may be made either in person or by telephone.
- 6. In addition, the Flight Service Manager will promptly authorize positive space pass travel for the Flight Attendant(s) to either their domicile or station closest to their home. It is recognized that the station nearest the Flight Attendant's home may be a location other than their domicile.
- 7. If consensus is not reached on whether or not a Critical Incident occurred, then the Flight Attendant will have option to have the time dropped coded as follows:

Unpaid Codes

PO (Personal Other)
PE (Personal Emergency)
US (Unpaid Sick)

Paid Codes

PVD (Paid Vacation Day) SK (Sick Leave)

None of the above codes will count against the Flight Attendant's attendance or be used as a countable occurrence, nor be cited in any letter of advisory.

H. The Company will consider recommendations from the Association prior to any changes in plans, policies, procedures, services and arrangements related to the Company Critical Incident Stress Debriefing (CISD) program, Company EAP, Alcohol and Drug Testing. Such changes will be discussed with the AFA EAP prior to implementation.

I. Professional Standards

- 1. When a conflict between Flight Attendants or between a Flight Attendant and another co-worker is brought to the attention of the Company in the first instance, the Company may refer that issue and the Flight Attendant(s) involved to AFA EAP. The referred Flight Attendant(s) will be encouraged to settle their conflict in a reasoned, no-fault manner.
- 2. The Company acknowledges that in order to be effective, Professional Standards activity must be and remain completely confidential within the AFA EAP system. The Company also agrees not to cite a Flight Attendant's involvement with the Professional Standards Program of the EAP in any subsequent disciplinary proceedings or work history.
- 3. The Company recognizes the AFA Professional Standards Committee and agrees to meet with said committee periodically to discuss issues of mutual concern.

J. Drug and Alcohol Testing

A Flight Attendant charged with a first drug or alcohol testing violation will be eligible for conditional reinstatement upon successful completion of the EAP's designated rehabilitation program. The policy for Flight Attendants shall be no less favorable than for any other employee group. In the event that policy changes are made for all other employee groups, such changes may be applied to the policy for Flight Attendants.

SECTION 33 GEOGRAPHIC EMERGENCY-AIRCRAFT REPOSITIONING

A "Geographic Emergency" means any event occurring naturally and/or that is manmade, that would endanger life and/or property in an area where a maintenance facility, domicile, out-station, or any other facility which the Company must protect is located.

The following geographic aircraft repositioning plan will be followed in order to provide the most expeditious means to protect life and Company property, when a Geographic Emergency is approaching, or is eminent:

- A. The Company will maintain a standing list of Flight Attendants who agree to be available to volunteer when needed for the purposes of emergency aircraft repositioning.
- A Flight Attendant may request to be removed from the volunteer list. Such request shall be effective no later than fourteen (14) days after the submission date of the request. However, Flight Attendants on the volunteer list shall maintain their right to all schedule adjustment provisions as provided for in this Agreement.
- C. In the event there are insufficient volunteers to conduct a Geographic Emergency operation, the Company will assign Flight Attendants in accordance with the order of assignment provisions of this Agreement as provided for in Section 8 (Scheduling).
- <u>D.</u>

 A Flight Attendant who volunteers, or is assigned to fly a Geographic Emergency flight, will receive per diem, in accordance with Section 5 (Expenses) of this agreement, lodging and transportation, and will receive fifty (\$50) dollar bonus for each overnight that she/he is away from domicile.

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Section 33 - 2

SECTION 34 HOTELS

- A. 1. The Company will provide, at no expense to the Flight Attendant, comfortable and adequate single occupancy lodging at overnight stations, on all CDO pairings, and training away from her/his domicile. The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to new hire initial training.
 - Day Rooms When a Flight Attendant's ground time, outside of her/his domicile, is scheduled for or anticipated to be more than five hours, inclusive of the assignment to new flying period in Section 8.F. of this Agreement, Day Rooms will be shared but only if both Flight Attendants are of the same sex. A Flight Attendant may be required to remain at the airport for the 2-hour assignment to new flying period in Section 8.F. of this Agreement; however, If there are no flights scheduled to arrive or depart from that airport during the two (2) hour period, or if she/he requests to be, and is, released by Crew Scheduling the Flight Attendant will not be required to remain at the airport for the two (2) hour period and will be provided the day room.
 - 3. In-domicile Overnights If an overnight pairing cancels or splits in domicile, the Flight Attendant(s) originally scheduled to work the pairing(s) will be provided a comfortable, safe and suitable single-occupancy hotel room, if requested, so long as the actual rest period has been rescheduled to less than ten (10 hours). If the overnight is more than the above rest, the Flight Attendant may still request a hotel room but it will be provided at the Company's discretion. However, the discretionary decision will be applied no less favorably to Flight Attendants than to pilots on the same crew.
 - 4. If it is determined that a hotel room will not be available within sixty (60) minutes after check-in at the hotel, the Flight Attendant can request that the hotel provide another comparable quality accommodation and advise Crew Scheduling.
 - 5. When irregular operations (e.g. weather, diversions, etc.) require Flight
 Attendants to layover in an unscheduled location and to stay in an
 unscheduled hotel, Crew Scheduling or the appropriate Company
 representative will be authorized to secure appropriate hotel
 accommodations. Such accommodations shall meet all minimum
 requirements in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

B. <u>Transportation & Meals</u>

- 1. The Company will provide <u>safe and reliable</u> transportation between the airport and lodging facilities.
 - a. The hotel van or contracted transportation will make a stop en route to the hotel at suitable eating facilities, if such is unavailable near the lodging.
 - <u>b.</u> If no such suitable establishment is en route to the hotel, the
 <u>Flight Attendant will be provided transportation to and from a suitable restaurant.</u>
- In the event a crew has waited more than fifteen minutes (:15) at the curb for transportation to or from the hotel, the crew will be reimbursed for the amount of the taxi, if the hotel does not pay for the taxi. The intent of this paragraph is to provide one (1) crewmember reimbursement per incident.

C. General

- The Company, upon request, will meet with the Union Hotel Committee at least on a quarterly basis at pre-determined, mutually acceptable dates, locations and times to discuss accommodations.
- The Company will provide the Hotel Committee or other Uniondesignated MEC representative with a complete listing, including the complete address and phone numbers, of every hotel with which the Company has an agreement to provide lodging for Flight Attendants.
- 3. Recommendations of the Union's Hotel Committee will be given serious consideration by the Company and management will implement any recommendations whenever it is feasible and practical to do so without causing the Company to incur an unreasonable increase in cost. The Company will accept one of the top three AFA selections for each layover location provided the hotel selected accepts the contract terms proffered by the Company.
- 4. All reports and documentation of non-compliance of hotel contracts will be addressed and responded to in the manner required and agreed to as set out in the hotel contract in question. The Company agrees to take immediate action if there is a major breach in the safety and security provided by the hotel to our crews. The Union will be provided copies

of all reports and documents associated with the incidents and/or instances of non-compliance, upon request.

The Union Hotel Committee shall work with the Company or the hotel 5. consulting business contracted by the Company in determining the layover and back-up hotels. The Company shall confer with the Committee in all phases of the selection process including review of the initial list of hotels supplied by the hotel consulting company, the narrowing of the list and site visits. Appropriate confidentiality agreements may be required. When the Company's hotel administrator goes on a review/visit of a hotel which is currently used or is being considered to be used by the Company to lodge Flight Attendants, it shall afford the Union's designated representative the opportunity to attend the review/visit and shall relieve the Flight Attendant from any of her/his pairing(s), as requested by the Union and will pay the affected Flight Attendant as if she/he had flown the time removed. Furthermore, if the hotel being reviewed/visited offers complimentary room accommodations for the Flight Attendant, the Company shall facilitate the arrangements of such accommodations and the Flight Attendant will not be charged for the single occupancy room. If offline transportation is required to facilitate the hotel review/visit, the Company will request passes, if available, from the offline carrier on behalf of the Association's Representative. Any charges associated with passes that are secured on the Flight Attendant's behalf will be paid for by the Association. The Company shall reimburse a Flight Attendant for any arrival and departure fees associated with the travel.

D. <u>Hotel Standards</u>

The Company will ensure that the following list of minimum standards is met by all of the hotels used for crew overnights in the Continental United States. The standards below marked with an asterisk (*) must be provided in all hotels systemwide. Any standard listed below may be waived by mutual agreement with the Union Hotel Committee.

Hotel Services

- *Twenty-four (24) hour front desk operation or twenty-four (24) hour security guard
- *Reliable wake-up services and/or functioning alarm clock
- *Free toll-free calls
- *Clean and pest free rooms

- Complimentary Business Center computer with internet and working printer
- *Hotel will ensure food options at standard cost with layovers on Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Year's holidays when hotel restaurant is either closed or open for limited hours

2. Safety

- *Located in safe area
- *Well-lit hallways
- * Smoke detectors in guest rooms
- *No first floor rooms
- All rooms open onto interior hallway unless agreed otherwise
- *There shall be a secondary locking mechanism on guest room doors

3. Rooms

- *Single occupancy with double, queen or king sized beds, no Murphy beds
- *No connecting rooms except with another Company crewmember
- *Clean and neat
- <u>*Linen and towels changed before each occupancy</u>
- *Working air conditioning and heater in rooms as warranted by the climate
- *Working showers with hot water
- No handicap rooms
- *Iron and ironing board provided upon request if not provided in-room
- 4. Flight Attendants who do not receive the above minimum standards may notify the Company and AFA Hotel Committee of the discrepancy and it shall be addressed in the hotel complaint process.
- <u>5.</u> <u>Preferred but not Required Items</u>

Complimentary breakfast provided

Early-morning departures "grab and go" provided if prior to the start of breakfast

Discount off in-house/on premise restaurant

Complimentary in-room coffee

Refrigerator and microwave available for Flight Attendant use Free local calls

<u>Transportation</u> by the hotel or contracted transportation company to and from suitable eating facilities.

Complimentary internet provided and/or complimentary wireless access where available.

E. Hotel without Water-Procedures

In the event a designated layover hotel is without water service or without water of sufficient quantity for a Flight Attendant to tend to her/his physiological/hygienic needs (e.g., bathing/showering, brushing of one's teeth, toilet flushing), the following shall apply:

- If the Company knows prior to the block in of the flight immediately preceding the layover that the layover hotel is without water service or anticipates no water service for the duration of the layover of a sufficient quantity for the Flight Attendant to tend to her/his physiological/hygienic needs (e.g. bathing/showering, brushing of one's teeth, toilet flushing), the <u>Company</u> will provide the crew with single room accommodations in an alternate hotel.
- It is understood that the duty period will not end and the rest period will not begin until such time as Crew Scheduling confirms reservations at the alternate layover hotel.
- 3. If it is not known prior to the point at which the crew departs for the layover hotel, that the layover hotel is without water or without water of sufficient quantity, or upon learning that the hotel is without water or without water of sufficient quantity for a Flight Attendant to attend to physiological/hygienic needs, the Flight Attendant will immediately contact Crew Scheduling to report the situation. (If telephone contact directly from the Flight Attendant cannot be made, she/he will contact the Airport General Manager at the layover station who will in turn contact Crew Scheduling on behalf of the Flight Attendant(s).
- 4. If no acceptable alternative hotel accommodation can be provided as described in paragraph one (1) and a Flight Attendant is compelled to utilize the substandard hotel, the subsequent day the crew will operate its assigned return flight to the domicile at which point the following will apply:

- a. The Flight Attendant may opt to be removed, from the remainder of the day's flying including the incidental return leg to domicile, following a layover, if applicable. It is understood the Flight Attendant will be paid and credited as if she/he had flown the flying from which removed pursuant to this paragraph.
- 5. Following the paid and credited removal from flying pursuant to paragraph 4.a. the Flight Attendant will return to her/his original pairing.
- 6. Once notified that a hotel is without water service or without water service of sufficient quantity, to tend to her/his physiological/hygienic needs (e.g. bathing/showering, brushing of one's teeth, toilet flushing), the Company's applicable corporate travel department will conduct an internal investigation to determine whether the situation represents a material breach of its contract with the hotel such that a new layover hotel should be contracted.

SECTION 35 INJURY ON DUTY LEAVE/ RESTRICTED AND TRANSITIONAL DUTY

- A. 1. A Flight Attendant who is eligible for worker's compensation or El Fondo benefits, will have her/his claim administered under the state or territory in which she/he is domiciled or may choose to file her/his claim in another jurisdiction, as applicable. Her/his eligibility to claim benefits in a particular state will be governed by such state's specific statutes. Such Flight Attendant shall be placed on an Injury on Duty (IOD) status.
 - A Flight Attendant who is eligible for El Fondo benefits may use accrued sick leave and/or vacation to make up the difference between the El Fondo benefits and two-thirds (2/3) of the Flight Attendant's average weekly wage.

B. <u>Pay Protection and Compensation</u>

- 1. The Flight Attendant shall be pay protected for any remaining and scheduled flights on the duty day in which the IOD occurs.
- A Flight Attendant may use her/his sick leave and/or vacation time during the statutory waiting period. Such Flight Attendant's sick bank and/or vacation bank will be restored if the IOD Leave exceeds the statutory waiting period and the Flight Attendant receives state-paid income replacement for that time. The Flight Attendant will repay the Company for the worker's compensation or El Fondo benefits received for the waiting period and that amount (converted to equivalent pay hours) will be restored to her/his sick leave and/or vacation bank.
- 3. After the bid month in which the IOD occurred, a Flight Attendant may utilize sick leave or vacation to augment the worker's compensation benefit as follows:
 - a. A Flight Attendant who is expected to be on an IOD leave for an entire bid period shall be entitled to "paper bid" in accordance with Section 8.E.7. of this Agreement. The difference between the credited hours awarded on such "paper bid" and the worker's compensation benefit may be made up using sick leave and vacation.

C. Benefits

- 1. While on IOD leave, a Flight Attendant will retain medical insurance as though an active employee for a minimum of twelve (12) months from the last day on payroll. If the Flight Attendant returns to active status for at least ninety (90) days and then goes back on IOD leave for the same injury/illness, the twelve (12) month clock will start anew. Additionally, if a Flight Attendant returns from an IOD to active status and subsequently goes back out on an IOD leave for a different illness or injury, the benefits clock starts anew.
- A Flight Attendant on IOD will continue to receive monthly sick leave accruals if she/he has qualified for such benefit under Section 20.C. of this Agreement, in the year prior.
- 3. A Flight Attendant on an IOD Leave will retain and accrue all forms of seniority for the duration of the leave.
- 4. A Flight Attendant who has vacation scheduled to occur during an IOD leave shall have the following options:
 - a. Receive vacation pay when she/he returns from the leave.
 - Rebid her/his vacation to an available slot if timing allows. If the timing of the accident/injury does not allow rebidding, the Flight Attendant may trade with any un-awarded vacation block.
 - c. Receive vacation pay-out during that vacation calendar year at anytime during the IOD leave.
- A Flight Attendant who has suffered an occupational injury on duty (IOD) need not use or exhaust her/his sick leave bank before going on medical leave, except where prohibited by law.

D. Transitional Duty (for IOD) & Restricted Duty (for Non-IOD injury/illness)

The Company may request a Flight Attendant on IOD leave to perform Transitional Duty. If a Flight Attendant declines Transitional Duty, the Company may cancel her/his worker's compensation pay within the guidelines of the applicable state's statutes. All Transitional Duty offered must adhere to the restrictions below. Any work offered that does not meet the below restrictions and is subsequently refused, shall

not result in the cancellation of any benefits.

- a. All transitional duty offered must be within the guidelines and the restrictions specified by the Flight Attendant's primary treating physician.
- b. The site at which the work is to be performed may not exceed thirty-five (35) miles from the Flight Attendant's residence without her/his agreement.
- <u>c.</u> The Transitional Duty may not exceed five (5) days and may not exceed forty (40) hours per calendar week. This does not preclude the Flight Attendant and management from reaching an alternate and mutually agreed-upon schedule.
- A Flight Attendant may request or be offered Restricted Duty while on Medical leave. The performance of Restricted Duty is completely optional for the Flight Attendant and the Company is not required to offer such duty assignments.
- 3. A Flight Attendant will be permitted to attend physician's visits and physical therapy during the day(s) on which she/he performs a Transitional or Restricted duty assignment. Such Flight Attendant will attempt to schedule these visits so as not to conflict with the Transitional or Restricted duty assignment. If this is not possible, then she/he may have her scheduled hours or days adjusted, by mutual agreement, to accommodate the appointment.
- 4. Flight Attendants will receive their normal rate of pay, including per diem associated with the actual hours worked, during the Transitional or Restricted Duty assignment and shall be allowed to paper bid in accordance with Section 8.E.7.of this Agreement. If performing Transitional or Restricted duty in the bid month injured, the Flight Attendant shall be paid for pairings missed.
- 5. Flight Attendants working Transitional or Restricted duty shall be considered to be on active status. In addition, the clock for medical benefits determination shall be stopped for the portion of the month(s) in which a Flight Attendant performs a Transitional or Restricted duty assignment.

E. Return to Duty

A Flight Attendant returning from an IOD leave of absence will be returned to duty and/or pay status no later than two weeks from the date that all required information has been submitted to the Company. The two (2) week time period begins with the submission of all required information per the Company's initial request.

F. General

- No leave taken pursuant to this Section will count as an attendance occurrence or otherwise be used in any way as the basis for discipline against a Flight Attendant, unless it is subsequently determined that the Flight Attendant falsified or misrepresented any information in relation to such leave.
- 2. IOD leaves may not exceed five (5) years in duration. If a Flight Attendant returns to active status from an IOD leave of absence and subsequently goes back out on an IOD leave, the five (5) year clock starts anew.
- 3. The direction of medical care will be governed by each state's specific worker's compensation statues and guidelines (e.g., a Flight Attendant will have the right to use her/his personal physician to diagnose and treat any injury on duty if permitted by state law and approved by the worker's compensation board, if required).
- 4. A Flight Attendant on an IOD leave of absence will be permitted to use travel privileges in accordance with Company policy. Flight Attendants may travel upon request and approval of the Company. Examples of such requests may include but are not limited to the following: A9 qualifying emergency, to seek medical treatment not available locally or Union Business.

SECTION 36 DURATION

- A. This Agreement shall become effective January 1, 2013 except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, and shall continue in full force and effect until and including eight (8) years from July 1, 2012 and shall renew itself without change until each succeeding July 1, thereafter, unless written notice of intended change is served in accordance with Section 6, Title I of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by either party within two hundred (200) days prior to the 1st day of July in any year, beginning with 2020.
- B. Should written notice of intended change be served in accordance with paragraph A., above, the Company and the Association shall meet and begin Section 6 negotiations no later than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the 1st day of July.

C. Amendment Round Negotiations

- The Association and the Company have agreed that in 2016 both parties shall enter into a period of negotiations, which will culminate in binding arbitration if mutual agreement is not reached. Such mutual agreement or binding arbitration may alter the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 2. The parties agree that any terms and conditions altered by mutual agreement or by the arbitration award will become part of the Agreement. However, the duration of the Agreement will not be altered.
- 3. The "Amendment Round Negotiations" shall proceed as provided for in Letter of Agreement T, "Amendment Round Negotiations."

Whereof, the parties have signed this Agreement this 26th day of July, 2012.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.	FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO	
/s/ Linda Kunz	/s/ Sara Nelson	
Linda Kunz	Sara Nelson	
Vice President – Flight Service	International President	
	/s/ Robert Barrow	
	Robert Barrow, MEC President	
	/s/ Paula Mastrangelo	

Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Section 36 - 2

Letters of Agreement

- SL A: Change in Name of Corporation SL B: Retention of Company Seniority
- SL C: Employment Consideration
- SL D: Jumpseat Agreement
- SL E: Anticipated Misconnect Flight Reclamation
- SL F: SJU Maternity Benefits
- SL G: All Weekends Off Reserve Lines
- SL H: Right to Reinstatement to Paid Status Following Leave of Absence
- SL I: Transitional Leave Of Absence for AA Flight Attendant Employment
- SL J: New Hire Vacation Accrual for Company Transfers
- SL K: Section 8 Examples (8.F.2.a.)
- SL L: TTOT (Automated Pairing Trading with Open Time)
- SL M: ASAP
- SL N: PBS
- SL O: Profit Sharing
- SL P: 1113 Global Me-Too
- SL Q: Document Clean-Up
- SL R: Expedited Arbitration SL S: Early Out Incentive
- SL T: Amendment Round
- SL U: Contract Interpretation Committee
- SL V: 1113 Administrative Claim
- SL W: Dispute Resolution Process for "Included" Claims to the 1113
 Admin Claim
- SL X: Implementation Bankruptcy Agreement and Disposition of Sideletters
- SL Y: Compensating Union Appointed PBS Trainers
- SL Z: Buddy Bidding Amendment of CBA Section 8.E.8.c.
- SL AA: Deletion of Reference to "El Fondo"
- SL BB: TDY Bidding and Awarding Timeline
- SL CC: Changes Required for Implementation of Preferential Bidding System



SIDELETTER - A

LETTER OF AGREEMENT between AMERICAN EAGLE AIRLINES, INC. and the FLIGHT ATTENDANTS in the service of AMERICAN EAGLE AIRLINES, INC. as represented by the

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS - CWA, AFL-CIO

Change in Name of the Corporation

THIS LETTER OF AGREEMENT is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by and between the Company (hereinafter referred to as the "Company"), and the Flight Attendants in the service of Envoy Air, Inc. as represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as the "Union").

THE PARTIES AGREE that, in the event the Company's corporate name changes (whether due to a divestiture, sale, merger or any other cause), the parties will change all references to the current corporate name in the collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") to references to the new corporate name. However, the new name (including its underlying cause) and references to it in the CBA will not result in any substantive change to the CBA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement on this 16 day of October, 2012.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz

Linda Kunz

Vice President – Flight Service

/s/ Robert Barrow
Robert Barrow, MEC President

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo
Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER - B

April 15, 2014

Robert Barrow MEC President Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO 501 Third Street, NW Washington, DC 20001

Re: Retention of Company Seniority

Dear Mr. Barrow:

Following a review of our past policy regarding the retention of Company seniority when hired from an AAG affiliate to a position covered by the Envoy Air/AFA Agreement, the company has agreed to acknowledge such prior service for company seniority purposes only, as they may be amended by the Company at its sole discretion. This letter shall be applicable to Company employees hired on or after October 1, 1990, who have applicable service with another affiliate of AAG Corporation.

Current or future employees who are affected by this letter will have their benefits, which are determined by Company seniority determined in accordance with the practice provided for in the Company's inter-company employment policy, as may be amended by the Company at its sole discretion

Sincerely,

/s/ Pedro Fabregas Pedro Fabregas President

Envoy Air, Inc.

/s/ Sara Nelson Sara Nelson

International President

Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO

/s/ Robert Barrow Robert Barrow MEC President

Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO

SIDELETTER - C

April 15, 2014

Robert Barrow MEC President Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO 501 Third Street, NW Washington, DC 20001

Re: Employment Consideration

Dear Mr. Barrow:

This letter will confirm our understanding reached during the discussions which led to the Agreement.

Employees covered by this Agreement will be given consideration for vacancies which become available at other AAG Companies so long as Envoy Air, Inc. remains a wholly owned subsidiary of AAG. Nothing herein is construed to waive qualification requirements or testing policies. Only qualified candidates will receive consideration for vacancies.

Sincerely,

/s/ Pedro Fabregas /s/ Sara Nelson Pedro Fabregas Sara Nelson

President International President

Envoy Air, Inc. Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO

/s/ Robert Barrow Robert Barrow MEC President

Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO

SIDELETTER - D

October 1, 2012

Robert Barrow MEC President Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO 610 South Industrial Blvd, Suite 230 Euless, TX 76040

RE: Jumpseat Priority

Dear Mr. Barrow:

This letter will confirm our understanding that in the event American Airlines and APFA agree upon a policy which permits the Company's Flight Attendants represented by the AFA to occupy the jumpseat on American Airlines aircraft, the Company will concur with such agreed upon policy.

Additionally, if the Company ever acquires and owns aircraft which have installed jumpseats in excess of the Flight Attendant crew compliment, the Company's Flight Attendants will have priority on traveling on those seats.

Sincerely,

/s/ Linda Kunz

Linda Kunz Vice President, Flight Services Envoy Air, Inc. /s/ Sara Nelson

Sara Nelson
International President
Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO

/s/ Robert Barrow

Robert Barrow MEC President Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo

Paula Mastrangelo Staff Negotiator Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO

SIDELETTER - E

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING by and betwixt ENVOY AIR, INC. and the FLIGHT ATTENDANTS in the service of ENVOY AIR, INC. as represented by the

as represented by the ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

Anticipated Misconnect Flight Reclamation

The parties agree that from time to time, a Flight Attendant who has been replaced on her/his originally scheduled flight(s) due to an anticipated misconnection may arrive on her/his inbound flight in sufficient time to work the flight(s) from which she/he was removed by Crew Scheduling due to the anticipated misconnection. In such cases, the Flight Attendant may reclaim the original flight(s) from which removed or be pay protected in conformity with section 4.A. of this Agreement if returning the Flight Attendant to the originally scheduled flight(s) is not practical if the following procedures are followed.

Reserve Flight Attendants, who picked up the trip from Open Time, may reclaim the original flight(s) from which removed or will be credited with 100% of the scheduled flight time if returning the Flight Attendant to the originally scheduled flight(s) is not practical.

- To reclaim the original flight from which removed due to the anticipated misconnection, the Flight Attendant must be on the ground, in the departure terminal at the gate from which the flight to be reclaimed will depart.
- No later than five minutes prior to the close out of the flight from which removed, the Flight Attendant must call Crew Scheduling to inform the department that she/he desires to be assigned back to the original flight from which removed.
- 3. At that point, Crew Scheduling will determine whether it is practical to assign the Flight Attendant back on the originally scheduled flight. If it is practical, she/he will be assigned back to the flight. If not practical, she/he will be paid the greater of the actual time of the flight(s) to which she/he was reassigned or the scheduled time of the flight(s) from which she/he was removed due to the anticipated misconnection, but would have flown if not removed.
- In the event of a dispute concerning the time when the call was placed, it is understood that Crew Scheduling's phone log will control.
- It is further understood that the parties acknowledge that flights are closed out by gate agents. Once the agent has closed the flight, it is not possible to reclaim the original assignment. Thus, no reclamation or pay protection will be due.

6. If a flight that has been closed subsequently is reopened by the gate agent, the Flight Attendant who had been removed from the flight due to the anticipated misconnection may place a call to Crew Scheduling during the window of opening and reclaim the flight. This call must be placed no later than five (5) minutes prior to the time when the flight actually closes following the reopening.

7. Departures to International Destinations

For the purposes of reclaiming a trip, International Destinations are defined as any time a flight must be cleared by U.S. customs prior to its departure. This means that all flights taking off to a destination outside the United States are considered International. For purposes of this Memorandum of Understanding ONLY, THIS INCLUDES Canada, Mexico and the Bahamas Islands. It does NOT include the U.S. Virgin Islands or Puerto Rico. To be absolutely clear, this definition of International is applicable ONLY to the right to reclaim a trip from which the Flight Attendant has been removed due to an anticipated misconnection. It does not change, amend or alter any other section of the collective bargaining agreement addressing "International".

A flight to an International Destination closes when a "General Declaration Form" (i.e. the hard paper copy of the crew manifest) is hand carried and delivered by a ticket/gate agent to U.S. Customs prior to the flight's departure. The parties understand and acknowledge that it must be delivered and accurate one (1) hour prior to the flight's departure. Thus, even if a flight to an International Destination may reopen subsequent to close out, it will not be possible for a Flight Attendant to reclaim that flight.

8. Examples - Domestic Flying

A.	Scheduled Departure of Flight Scheduled Close Out of Flight Flight Attendant must place call no later than	15:00 14:50 14:45
В.	Scheduled Departure of Flight Normal Scheduled Close Out of Flight Delay Announced Rescheduled Departure of Flight Flight Attendant must place call no later than	15:00 14:50 14:49 15:30 15:15
C.	Scheduled Departure of Flight	15:00

		Normal Scheduled Close Out of Flight Flight Closes Out At Departure Delay Announced Passengers Permitted to Deplane (thus flight "re-opens") New Departure Time Scheduled New Close Out Time	14:50 14:50 15:00 16:00 15:50
		If original flight not reclaimed prior to first close out, Flight Attendant must place call no later than	15:45
9.	Example	– International Flying	
	A.	Scheduled Departure of Flight General Declaration Form Delivered to U.S. Customs Flight Attendant must place call no later than	15:00 14:00 13:55
	В.	Scheduled Departure of Flight Normal Time for General Declaration Form to be delivered to U.S. Customs Flight Attendant must place call no later than Why? Flight Attendant may NOT reclaim flight once General Declaration has been delivered to customs	15:00 14:00 13:55
	C.	Scheduled Departure of Flight Normal Time for General Declaration Form to be delivered to U.S. Customs At Departure Delay Announced Passengers Permitted to Deplane (thus flight "re-opens")	15:00 14:00 15:00
		New Departure Time Scheduled Flight Attendant must place call no later than Why? Flight Attendant may NOT reclaim flight Once General Declaration has been delivered to customs	16:00 13:55

AGREED

For Envoy Air For the Asso

For the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz /s/ Robert Barrow

Linda Kunz Robert Barrow
Vice President-Flight Service MEC President

SIDELETTER - F

August 24, 2005

Reginald Salas MEC President Association of Flight Attendants - CWA, AFL-CIO

Re: SJU Maternity Benefits

Dear Mr. Salas:

This is to confirm our understanding with respect to the maternity benefits currently provided by Envoy Air, Inc. to the Flight Attendants based in SJU. Flight Attendants eligible for such benefits under Company policy receive half pay for eight (8) weeks upon their return to work. As we discussed, the Company will not reduce these maternity benefits.

Sincerely,

/s/ Linda Kunz

Linda Kunz Vice President - Flight Service

SIDELETTER – G

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING by and betwixt ENVOY AIR, INC. and the FLIGHT ATTENDANTS in the service of ENVOY AIR, INC. as represented by the ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

ALL WEEKENDS OFF RESERVE LINES

This MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by and betwixt, ENVOY AIR, INC., (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") and the Flight Attendants in the service of ENVOY AIR, INC., as represented by the ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS (hereinafter referred to as the "Union").

The parties have met and agree to the following:

- 1. For every 150 Flight Attendants active at a domicile, the Company will create a minimum of one (1) line containing all weekends off to be awarded to no less than one (1) Flight Attendant.
- For purposes of calculating the number of active Flight Attendants at a domicile, the number used will be that reported by administrative management concurrent with the reporting of "PO" availability for the subsequent month. It is understood that this will be prior to the opening date for Flight Attendant bidding for the subsequent month.
- It is understood that this MOU is intended to provide clarification of Section 8.E.2.f.
 of this Agreement and not replace any portion of the collective bargaining
 agreement.

ENVOY AIR

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz

LINDA KUNZ 01/03/2013

Vice President-Flight Service

/s/ Robert Barrow

ROBERT BARROW 01/03/2013

President Master Executive Council

SIDELETTER - H

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

by and betwixt
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by the
ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA. AFL-CIO

Right to Reinstatement to Paid Status Following Leave of Absence Section 18.J.6.-7. & 35.E.

This Memorandum is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, betwixt Envoy Air, Inc. and Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO.

- Following a Leave of Absence, the parties acknowledge that the Company has a duty to return a Flight Attendant to duty and paid status no later than two weeks from the date that all required information has been submitted to the Company per the Company's initial request.
- Notwithstanding paragraph 1., a Flight Attendant who is offered a training date for which she/he is legal and available within the two week period, but declines to attend such training, choosing instead to attend training following the two week period, is deemed to have waived the reinstatement to paid status until such time as she/he actually begins training.
- 3. Except as provided in this Memorandum, all provisions of the collective bargaining agreement remain in effect.

AGREED:

ENVOY AIR, INC.

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz /s/

LINDA KUNZ 02/27/2013 Vice President-Flight Service /s/ Robert Barrow
ROBERT BARROW 02/27/2013

SIDELETTER - I

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
by and betwixt
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by the

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

TRANSITIONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE TO TRAIN FOR AMERICAN AIRLINES FLIGHT ATTENDANT EMPLOYMENT

This Memorandum is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, betwixt Envoy Air, Inc. and Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO.

- The parties recognize that certain Envoy Air Flight Attendants apply to and are accepted for initial Flight Attendant training by American Airlines or its successors or assigns.
- 2. When a Flight Attendant is accepted into the American Airlines Flight Attendant training program Envoy Air, Inc., will place the Flight Attendant on a "Transitional Leave".
- 3. A "Transitional Leave" is an unpaid Leave of Absence during which a Flight Attendant may attend American Airlines initial Flight Attendant training.
- At the commencement of a Transitional Leave of Absence, a Flight Attendant will lose all Occupational and Classification seniority with Envoy Air, Inc. She/he will maintain and accrue Company seniority for the duration of the Leave of Absence.
- 5. For the duration of the Transitional Leave of Absence, the Company will continue to provide basic health and life insurance coverage. The Flight Attendant will continue to be responsible for any employee contribution, at the same rate, as when actively working. The Flight Attendant must continue to pay for any supplemental coverage (e.g. supplemental medical, additional life, flexible spending, or accident plans) for the coverage to remain in effect.

- If a Flight Attendant completes the training which triggered the Transitional Leave, upon graduation/successful completion of the training, the Transition Leave shall terminate.
- 7. Prior to successful completion of American Airlines initial Flight Attendant Training, and Envoy Air Flight Attendant will have the right to return to Envoy Air Flight Attendant employment. Notification of intent to return must be made within three (3) days following the date on which the Flight Attendant left American Airlines initial Flight Attendant training. Such return will be without any Occupational or Classification seniority, but with Company seniority.
- 8. In accordance with the Company policy in effect at the time the Transitional Leave commences, a Flight Attendant will retain the same travel privileges for which she/he was eligible prior to the leave.
- 9. It is understood that a Flight Attendant may not engage in outside paid employment while on Transitional Leave.
- 10. Except as provided in this Memorandum, all provisions of the collective bargaining agreement remain in effect.

AGREED:

ENVOY AIR. INC.

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz

LINDA KUNZ 02/27/2013

Vice President-Flight Service

/s/ Robert Barrow

ROBERT BARROW 02/27/2013
President Master Executive Council

SIDELETTER – J

LETTER OF AGREEMENT
between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by the
ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS – CWA, AFL-CIO

New Hire Vacation Accrual for Company Transfers

Existing Envoy Air employees who are hired as Flight Attendants and successfully complete New Hire Training and pass the Initial Operating Experience will retain their Company Seniority and accrue vacation in the manner outlined below.

To determine the amount of vacation the Flight Attendant will be able to bid in her/his year of hire and which will be taken in the subsequent year, the following procedure will be followed:

The Envoy Air company transfer will carry in the amount of accrued and unused vacation earned from her/his non-Flight Attendant position, as determined by PayComp. For the portion of the hire year that the employee is a Flight Attendant, her/his vacation accrual rate will be determined in accordance with Section 10.A.1. of this Agreement and the actual days accrued in accordance with the schedule set forth below.

The rate at which the Flight Attendant accrues the vacation shall be determined by her/his Envoy Air Company Seniority (which is the sum of non-Flight Attendant and Flight Attendant service at any Envoy Air company position) and qualification in accordance with Section 10.B.3. of this Agreement.

The accrual rates shall be the following:

2 weeks 1.167 days/month 0-5 years of seniority

 3 weeks
 1.75 days/month
 5 years

 4 weeks
 2.33 days/month
 15 years

 5 weeks
 2.92 days/month
 20 years

The carry in amount of accrued and unused vacation will be added to the "Flight Attendant" accrued vacation to determine the total number of days for which the Flight Attendant is eligible to bid.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement on this 26th day of July, 2012.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION OFFLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz

Linda Kunz

Vice President - Flight Service

/s/ Sara Nelson

Sara Nelson

International President

/s/ Robert Barrow

Robert Barrow, MEC President

/s/ Debora Sutor

Debora Sutor, Chairperson, Negotiating

Committee

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo

Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER – K

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING by and betwixt ENVOY AIR, INC. and the ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

8. <u>F</u> .2	2.a.

The parties have met and agree that "the check-out time of the originally scheduled <u>pairing</u>" as referenced in Section 8.<u>F</u>.2.a. of this Agreement means fifteen (15) or thirty (30) minutes (i.e., the applicable de-brief period), following the block in of the last flight of the original <u>pairing</u> as it was scheduled, when awarded or assigned.

Any new flying assigned must conform within the parameters represented by the following examples:

Example One

Day Three of a three day trip. Begins following a layover in XXX.

Flight	City Pair	Departure	Arrival
1.	XXX-ORD	10:00	11:00
2.	ORD-YYY	12:00	13:00
3.	YYY-ORD	14:00	15:00

ORD-YYY-ORD cancels

Flight Attendant is assigned new flying.

4.	ORD-ZZZ	13:00	14:00
5. ZZZ-ORD	ZZZ-ORD	15:00	16:00

This is a legal assignment of new flying because the new ZZZ turn is scheduled to check out no more than two hours (2:00) later than the check—out time of the Flight Attendant's originally scheduled pairing.

Example Two

Day Three of a three day trip. Begins following a layover in XXX.

Flight	City Pair	Departure	Arrival
1.	XXX-ORD	10:00	11:00
2.	ORD-YYY	12:00	13:00
3.	YYY-ORD	14:00	15:00

Flight # 2 experiences creeping delay. Company keeps delaying departure in fifteen (15) minute increments. At 15:59, flights 2 & 3 (YYY turn) are still scheduled to operate, although delayed. The Schedule, incorporating the delays, is posted to fly as follows:

2.	ORD-YYY	16:00	17:00
3.	YYY-ORD	18:00	19:00

At 16:00, Flight #2 cancels. Flight Attendant calls scheduling and is assigned to following flights:

6.	ORD-AAA	17:00	18:00
7.	AAA-ORD	19:00	20:00

This is not a legal assignment to new flying because the check-out time of the AAA turn is scheduled to check out five (5) hours later than the check-out time of the Flight Attendant's originally scheduled pairing.

Example Three

Day Three of a three day trip. Begins following a layover in XXX.

Flight	City Pair	Departure	Arrival
1.	XXX-ORD	10:00	11:00
2.	ORD-YYY	12:00	13:00
3.	YYY-ORD	14:00	15:00

Flight Attendant gets to XXX airport at 09:00 checks her schedule and learns that Flights 2 & 3 (YYY turn) have already been cancelled.

Before departing from XXX, Flight Attendant is assigned to the following new flying:

4.	ORD-ZZZ	13:00		14:00	
5.	ZZZ-ORD		15:00		16:00

At 11:00, upon landing in ORD following Flight 1, Flight Attendant learns that Flights 4 & 5 (ZZZ turn) have cancelled. She calls Crew Scheduling and learns she has been assigned to the following flights:

8.	ORD-MQT	13:30	15:00
9.	MQT-ORD	16:00	17:30

This is not a legal assignment because the check-out time of the <u>pairing</u> following Flight 9 is not within two hours following the check-out time of the pairing if it ended with Flight 3.

Example Four

Day Three of a three day trip. Begins following a layover in XXX.

Flight	City Pair	Departure	Arrival
1.	XXX-ORD	10:00	11:00
2.	ORD-YYY	12:00	13:00
3.	YYY-ORD	14:00	15:00

Flight Attendant gets to XXX airport at 09:00 checks her schedule and learns that Flights 2 & 3 (YYY turn) have already been cancelled.

Before departing from XXX, Flight Attendant is assigned to following new flying:

4.	ORD-ZZZ	13:00	14:00
5.	ZZZ-ORD	15:00	16:00

At 11:00, upon landing in ORD following Flight 1, Flight Attendant learns that Flights 4 & 5 (ZZZ turn) are delayed. They continue to delay in fifteen (15) minute increments. At 14:59, they are scheduled to operate as follows:

4.	ORD-ZZZ	15:00	16:00	
5.	777-ORD	17:00	18:00	

At 15:00, Flights 4 & 5 cancel (ZZZ turn). Crew Scheduling assigns Flight Attendant to the following flights:

8	ORD-MQT	15:30	17:00
9	MQT-ORD	18:00	19:30

This is not a legal assignment. The check-out time of the <u>pairing</u> following Flight 9 is not within two hours (2:00) following the check-out time of the <u>pairing</u> if it ended with Flight 3.

Example Five

One day trip.

Flight	City Pair	Departure	Arrival	
1.	SJU-SDQ	9:00		10:00
2.	SDQ-SJU	11:00		12:00
3.	SJU-DOM	15:30	17:00	
4.	DOM-SJU	20:00	22:20	

Entire trip cancels. Crew Scheduling replaces the trip with the following pairing:

5.	SJU-PUJ	9:30	10:30
6.	PUJ-SJU	11:30	12:30
7.	SJU-BGI	14:00	16:50
8.	BGI-SJU	20:00	22:50

This is a legal assignment of new flying because the new <u>pairing</u> is scheduled to check out no more than two hours (2:00) later than the check-out time of the Flight Attendant's originally scheduled <u>pairing</u>.

Α	G	R	F	F	D

ENVOY AIR, INC. ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT

ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz /s/ Robert Barrow

LINDA KUNZ ROBERT BARROW

Vice President-Flight Service President Master Executive Council

SIDELETTER – L

LETTER OF AGREEMENT
between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by the
ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS – CWA. AFL-CIO

Automated Pairing Trading with Open Time

The parties acknowledge that the introduction of Automated Trip Trading (TTOT) requires that certain sections of the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) require modification. To fully effectuate the automated pairing trading system, the parties have met and agree to implement the following amendments to the CBA.

During the 1113 Bankruptcy Negotiations (2012), the provisions of the original TTOT Side Letter, except for the commitment to amend the CBA as needed, were incorporated into the bankruptcy CBA. The parties agree to retain the original provision below.

Should any further modifications, amendments or other adjustments to the CBA become necessary at any time while this CBA is in effect, the parties agree to meet and negotiate such changes prior to implementation.

AGREED this 17th day of October, 2012.

FOR:

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz
Linda Kunz
Linda Kunz
Vice President – Flight Service

/s/ Robert Barrow
Robert Barrow, MEC President

/s/ Debora Sutor

Debora Sutor, Chairperson, Negotiating Committee

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo

Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER – M

ENVOY AIR, INC.
AVIATION SAFETY ACTION PROGRAM (ASAP)
FOR
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

- GENERAL. Envoy Air, Inc. (EAI) is a Title 14 of the Code of Federal Regulations (14 CFR), air carrier operating under Part 121 engaged in Air Carrier within United States, Canada, and Mexico. <u>EAI</u> operates approximately 250 aircraft, and employs approximately 1700 flight attendants. The flight attendants are represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA ("AFA-CWA").
- 2. PURPOSE. The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), <u>EAI</u> and the AFA-CWA are committed to improving flight safety. Each party has determined that safety would be enhanced in there were a systematic approach for flight attendants to promptly identify and correct potential safety hazards. The primary purpose of the <u>EAI</u> Aviation Safety Action Program (ASAP) is to identify safety events, and to implement corrective measures that reduce the opportunity for safety to be compromised. In order to facilitate flight safety analysis and corrective actions, <u>EAI</u> and the AFA-CWA join the FAA in voluntarily implementing this ASAP for flight attendants, which is intended to improve flight safety through flight attendants self-reporting, cooperative follow-up, and appropriate corrective action. This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) describes the provisions of the program.
- 3. BENEFITS. The program will foster a voluntary, cooperative, nonpunitive environment for the open reporting of safety of flight concerns. Through such reporting, all parties will have access to valuable safety information that may not otherwise be obtainable. This information will be analyzed in order to develop corrective action to help solve safety issues and possibly eliminate deviations from 14 CFR or Company Policies. For a report accepted under this ASAP MOU, the FAA will use lesser enforcement action or no enforcement action, depending on whether it is a sole-source report, to address an event involving possible noncompliance with 14 CFR. This policy is referred to in this MOU as an "enforcement-related incentive."
- 4. APPLICABILITY. The <u>EAI</u> ASAP applies to all flight attendant employees of <u>EAI</u> and only to events that occur while acting in that capacity. Reports of events involving apparent noncompliance with 14 CFR that are not inadvertent or that appear to involve an intentional disregard for safety, criminal activity, substance abuse, controlled substances, alcohol, or intentional falsification are excluded from

the program.

- a. Events involving possible noncompliance with 14 CFR by <u>EAI</u> that are discovered under this program may be handled under the Voluntary Disclosure Policy, provided that <u>EAI</u> voluntarily reports the possible noncompliance to the FAA and that the other elements of that policy are met. (See the current version of AC 00-58, Voluntary Disclosure Reporting Program and FAA Order 2150.3B, Compliance and Enforcement Program, Chapter 5).
- Any modifications of this MOU must be accepted by all parties to the agreement.
- 5. PROGRAM DURATION. This is a Continuing Program subject to review and renewal every two years by the FAA. This ASAP may be terminated at any time for any reason by <u>EAI</u>, the FAA, or AFA-CWA. The termination or modification of a program will not adversely affect anyone who acted in reliance on the terms of a program in effect at the time of that action; i.e., when a program is terminated, all reports and investigations that were in progress will be handled under the provisions of the program until they are completed. Failure of any party to follow the terms of the program ordinarily will result in termination of the program. Failure of <u>EAI</u> to follow through with corrective action acceptable to the FAA to resolve any safety deficiencies ordinarily will result in termination of the program.
- REPORTING PROCEDURES. When a flight attendant observes a safety program
 or experiences a safety-related event, he or she should note the problem or even
 and describe it in enough detail so that it can be evaluated by a third party.
 - a. ASAP Report Form. At an appropriate time during the workday (e.e., after the <u>pairing</u> has ended for the day), the employee should complete the <u>EAI</u> ASAP Form found on Jetnet, for each safety problem or event and submit it by Jetnet to the ASAP Manager. If the Jetnet system is not available to the flight attendant at the time he or she needs to file a report, the employee may contact the ASAP manager's office and file a report via telephone within 24 hours after the end of flight <u>pairing</u> for the day of occurrence, absent extraordinary circumstances. Reports filed telephonically within the prescribed time limit must be followed by a formal report submission within three calendar days thereafter.
 - b. Time Limit. Reports that the ERC determines to be sole-source will be accepted under the ASAP, regardless of the limitations within which they are submitted, provided they otherwise meet the acceptance criteria of paragraphs 11a (2) and (3) of this MOU. Reports which the

ERC determines to be non sole-source must meet the same acceptance criteria, and must also be filed within one of the following two possible time frames:

- (1) Within 24 hours after the end of flight pairing for the day of occurrence (48 hours international), absent extraordinary circumstances. For example, if the event occurred at 1400 hours on Monday and a flight attendant completes the flight pairing for that day at 1900 hours, the report should be filed no later than 1900 hours Tuesday. In order for all employees to be covered under the ASAP for any apparent noncompliance with 14 CFR resulting from an event, they must all sign the same report or submit separate signed reports for the same event.
- (2) Within 24 hours of having become aware of possible noncompliance with 14 CFR (48 hours International), provided the following criteria are met: If a report is submitted later than the time period after the occurrence of an event slated in paragraph 6b(1) above, the ERC will review all available information to determine whether the flight attendant knew or should have known about the possible noncompliance with 14 CFR within that time period. If the ERC determines that the employee did not know or could not have known about the possible noncompliance with 14 CFR until informed of it, then the report would be included in ASAP, provided that the report otherwise meets the acceptance criteria of this MOU. If the employee knew or should have known about the possible noncompliance with CFR, then the report will not be included in ASAP.
- c. Non-reporting employees covered under this ASAP MOU. If an ASAP report identifies another covered employee in an event involving possible noncompliance with 14 CFR and that employee has neither signed that report nor submitted a separate report, the ERC will determine on a case-by-case basis whether that employee knew or reasonably should have known about the possible noncompliance within 14 CFR. If the ERC determines that the employee did not know or could not have known about the apparent possible noncompliance with 14 CFR, and the original report otherwise qualifies for inclusion under ASAP, the ERC will offer the non-reporting employee the opportunity to submit his/her own ASAP report. If the non-reporting employee submits his/her own report within 24 hours of notification from the ERC, that

report will be afforded the same consideration under the ASAP as that accorded the report from the original reporting employee, provided all other ASAP acceptance criteria are met. However, if the non-reporting employee fails to submit his/her own report within 24 hours of notification from the ERC, the possible noncompliance with 14 CFR by that employee will be referred to an appropriate office within the FAA for additional investigation and reexamination and/or enforcement action, as appropriate, and for referral to law enforcement authorities, if warranted.

- d. Non-reporting employees not covered under the ASAP MOU. If an ASAP report identifies another EAI employee who is not covered under the MOU, and the report indicates that employee may have been involved in possible noncompliance with 14 CFR, the ERC will determine on a case-by-case basis whether it would be appropriate to offer that employee the opportunity to submit an ASAP report. If the ERC determines that it is appropriate, the ERC will provide that employee with information about ASAP and invite the employee to submit an ASAP report. If the employee submits an ASAP report within 24 hours of notification from the ERC, that report will be covered under ASAP, provided all other ASAP acceptance criteria are met. If the employee fails to submit an ASAP report within 24 hours of notification from the ERC, the possible noncompliance with 14 CFR by that employee will be referred to an appropriate office within the FAA for additional investigation and reexamination and/or enforcement action. as appropriate, and for referral to law enforcement agencies, if warranted.
- e. NASA ASRS Reporting: Voluntary participation in the ASAP program also guarantees participation in the NASA Aviation Safety Reporting System (ASRS), as described in FAA Advisory Circular 00-46, as amended. Upon receipt of an ASAP report from a flight attendant the ASAP manager will forward a copy of the report to NASA for inclusion in ASRS. The ASAP Manager assumes the responsibility of fulfilling the ten-day ASRS reporting requirement on all reports that meet the ASAP 24 hour (48 hours International) reporting deadline.
- 7. POINTS OF CONTACT. The ERC will be comprised of one representative from <u>EAI</u> management; one representative from the AFA-CWA; and the FAA inspector assigned as the ASAP representative from the Certificate Holding District Office (CHDO) for <u>EAI</u>; or their designated alternates in their absence. In addition, <u>EAI</u> will designate one person who will serve as the ASAP manager. The ASAP manager will be responsible for program administration, and will not serve as a

voting member of the ERC.

- 8. ASAP MANAGER. When the ASAP manager receives the report, he or she will record the date and time of any event described in the report and the date and time the report was submitted through the Jetnet system. The ASAP manager will enter the report, along with all supporting data, on the agenda for the next ERC meeting. Reports should be provided to all ERC members prior to the scheduled ERC meeting in accordance with guidance contained in Advisory Circular 120-66, as amended. The ERC will determine whether a report is submitted in a timely manner or whether extraordinary circumstances precluded timely submission. To confirm that a report has been received, the ASAP manager will send a written receipt through the Jetnet system to each employee who submits a report. The receipt will confirm whether or not the report was determined to be timely. The ASAP manager will serve as the focal point for information about, and inquiries concerning the status of, ASAP reports, and for the coordination and tracking of ERC recommendations.
- 9. EVENT REVIEW COMMITTEE (ERC). The ERC will review, analyze, and investigate (when necessary) reports submitted by the flight attendants under the program, identify actual or potential safety problems from the information contained in the reports and propose solutions for those problems. The ERC will provide feedback to the individual who submitted the report.
 - a. The ASAP manager will maintain a database that continually tracks each event and the analysis of those events. The ERC will conduct a 12-month review of the ASAP database with emphasis on determining whether corrective actions have been effective in preventing or reducing the recurrence of safety-related events of a similar nature. That review will include recommendations for corrective action for recurring events indicative of adverse safety trends.
 - b. This review is in addition to any other reviews conducted by the FAA. If an application for renewal of the continuing program is anticipated, the ERC will prepare and submit a report with the certificate holder's application to the FAA 60 days in advance of the termination date of the existing continuing program.

10. ERC PROCESS.

a. The ERC will meet as necessary to review and analyze reports that will be listed on an agenda submitted by the ASAP manager. The ERC will determine the time and place of the meeting. The frequency of meetings will be determined by the number of reports that have accumulated or the need to acquire time-critical information.

- h. The ERC will make its decisions involving ASAP issues based on consensus. Under the EAI ASAP, consensus of the ERC means the voluntary agreement of all representatives of the ERC. It does not require that all members believe that a particular decision or recommendation is the most desirable solution, but the result falls within each member's range of acceptable solutions for that event in the best interest of safety. In order for this concept to work effectively, each ERC representative shall be empowered to make decisions within the context of the ERC discussions on a given report. representatives will strive to reach consensus on whether a reported event is covered under the program, how that event should be addressed, and the corrective action or any enforcement action that should be taken as a result of the report. The corrective action process would include working the safety issue(s) with the appropriate departments at the airline and the FAA that have the expertise and responsibility for the safety area of concern. Recognizing that the FAA holds statutory authority to enforce the necessary rules and regulations, it is understood that the FAA retains all legal rights and responsibilities contained in Title 49, United States Code, and FAA Order 2150.3B. In the event there is not a consensus of the ERC on decisions concern a report involving an apparent violation(s), a qualifications issue, the FAA ERC representative will decide how the report should be handled. The FAA will not use the content of the ASAP report in any subsequent enforcement action, except as described in paragraph 11a(3) of this MOU.
- c. It is anticipated that three types of reports will be submitted to the ERC: safety-related reports that appear to involve a possible noncompliance with 14 CFR, failure to follow company policies, procedures related to safety, training or their job duties, or reports that are of a general safety concern, but do not appear to involve possible noncompliance with 14 CFR, and any other reports: e.g., involving catering and passenger ticketing issues. All safety-related reports shall be fully evaluated and, to the extent appropriate, investigated.
- d. The ERC will forward de-identified non-safety reports to be appropriate <u>EAI</u> department head for his/her information, and, if possible, internal (<u>EAI</u>) resolution. For reports related to flight safety, including reports involving possible noncompliance with 14 CFR, the ERC will analyze the report, conduct interviews of reporting flight attendants, and gather additional information concerning the matter described in the report, as

necessary.

e. The ERC should also make recommendations to <u>EAI</u> for corrective action for systemic issues. For example, such corrective action might include changes to <u>EAI</u> flight operations procedures, aircraft maintenance procedures, or modifications to the training curriculum for flight attendants. Any recommended changes that affect <u>EAI</u> will be forwarded through the ASAP manager to the appropriate department head for consideration and comment, and, if appropriate, implementation. The FAA will work with <u>EAI</u> to develop appropriate corrective action for systemic issues. The ASAP manger will track the implementation of the recommended corrective action and report on associated progress as party of the regular ERC meetings. Any recommended corrective action that is not implemented should be recorded along with the reason it was not implemented.

f. RESERVED

- g. Any corrective action recommended by the ERC for a report accepted under ASAP must be completed to the satisfaction of all members of the ERC, or the ASAP report will be excluded from the program, and the event will be referred to the FAA for further action, as appropriate.
- h. Use of the <u>EAI</u> ASAP Report: Neither the written ASAP report nor the content of the written ASAP report will be used to initiate or support any company disciplinary action, or as evidence for any purpose in an FAA enforcement action, except as provided in paragraph 11a(3) of the MOU. The FAA may conduct an independent investigation of an event disclosed in a report.

11. FAA ENFORCEMENT.

- a. Criteria for Acceptance. The following criteria must be met in order for a report to be covered under ASAP:
 - (1) The employee must submit the report in accordance with the time limits specified under paragraph 6 of this MOU;
 - (2) Any possible noncompliance with 14 CFR disclosed in the report must be inadvertent and must not appear to involve an intentional disregard for safety; and,
 - (3) The reported event must not appear to involve criminal

activity, substance abuse, controlled substances, alcohol, or intentional falsification. Reports involving those events will be referred to an appropriate FAA office for further handling. The FAA may use the content of such reports for any enforcement purposes and will refer such reports to law enforcement agencies, if appropriate. If upon completion of subsequent investigation it is determined that the event did not involve any of the aforementioned activities, then the report will be referred back to the ERC for a determination of acceptability under ASAP. Such referred back reports will be accepted under ASAP provided they otherwise meet the acceptance criteria contained herein.

- b. Administrative or Informal Action. Notwithstanding the criteria in Chapter 5 of FAA Order 2150.3B, as amended, possible noncompliance with 14 CFR disclosed in a non-sole-source ASAP report that is covered under the program and support by sufficient evidence will be addressed with administrative action (i.e., a FAA Warning Notice or FAA Letter of Correction, as appropriate for administrative action) or informal action (i.e., oral or written counseling). Sufficient evidence means evidence gathered by an investigation not caused by, or otherwise predicated on, the individual's safety-related report. There must be sufficient evident to prove the violation, other than the individual's safety-related report. In order to be considered sufficient evidence under ASAP, the ERC must determine through consensus that the evidence (other than the individual's safety-related report) would likely have resulted in the processing of a FAA enforcement action had the individual's safetyrelated report not been accepted under ASAP. If the ERC determines that sufficient evidence supports a violation for an accepted non-solesource report, before informal action can be used to close an ASAP case, there must be ERC consensus that the apparent violation does not indicate a lack of qualification, as listed on the E-EDP worksheet, Step two, Criterion three in FAA Order 8900.10, Volume 14, Chapter 1, as amended. In addition, as determined by applying E-EDP worksheet steps three, four, and five, the violation must be determined by consensus of the ERC to be low risk. Accepted non-sole-source reports for which there is not sufficient evidence will be closed with a FAA Letter of No Action.
- c. Sole-Source Reports. For the purposes of FAA action, a report is considered a sole-source report when all evidence of the event available to the FAA is discovered by or otherwise predicated on the report. Apparent noncompliance disclosed in ASAP reports that are

covered under the program and are sole-source reports will be addressed with an ERC response (no FAA action required). It is possible to have more than one sole-source report for the same event.

- d. Reports involving Qualification Issues. <u>EAI</u> ASAP reports covered under the program that demonstrate a lack, or raise of a question of a lack, of qualification of a certificate holder employee will be addressed with corrective action, if such action is appropriate and recommended by the ERC. If an employees fails to complete the corrective action in a manner satisfactory to all members of the ERC, then his/her report will be excluded from ASAP. In these cases, the ASAP even will be referred to an appropriate office within the FAA or any additional investigation and reexamination and/or enforcement action, as appropriate.
- e. Excluded from ASAP. Reported events involving possible noncompliance with 14 CFR that are excluded from ASAP will be referred by the FAA ERC member to an appropriate office within the FAA for any additional investigation and re-examination and/or enforcement action, as appropriate.
- f. Corrective Action. Employees initially covered under the ASAP will be excluded from the program and not entitled to the enforcement-related incentive if they fail to complete the recommended corrective action in a manner satisfactory to all members of the ERC. Failure of an employee to complete the ERC recommended corrective action in a manner satisfactory to all members fo the ERC may result in the reopening of the case and referral of the manner for appropriate action.
- g. Repeated Instances of Noncompliance with 14 CFR. Reports involving the same or similar possible noncompliance with the Regulations that were previously addressed with administrative or informal action under ASAP will be accepted into the program, provided they otherwise satisfy the acceptance criteria in paragraph 6 above. The ERC will consider on a case-by-case basis the corrective action that is appropriate for such reports.
- h. Closed Cases. A closed ASAP case including a related enforcement investigative report involving a violation addressed with the enforcement-related incentive, or for which no action has been taken, may be reopened and appropriate enforcement action taken if evidence later is discovered that establishes that the violation should have been excluded from the program.

- 12. EMPLOYEE FEEDBACK. The ASAP manager will publish a synopsis of the reports received from flight attendants in the ASAP section of the Jetnet publication quarterly. The synopsis will include enough information so that flight attendants can identify their reports. Employees names, however, will not be included in the synopsis. The outcome of each report will be published. Any employee who submitted a report may also contact the ASAP manager to inquire about the status of his/her report. In addition, each employee who submits a report accepted under ASAP will receive individual feedback on the final disposition of the report.
- 13. INFORMATION AND TRAINING. The details of the ASAP will be made available all flight attendants and their supervisors by publication in the <u>EAI</u> Inflight Procedures Manual or Jetnet. Each <u>EAI</u> flight attendant and manager will receive written guidance outlining the details of the program at least two (2) weeks before the program begins. Each flight attendant will also receive additional instruction concerning the program during the next regularly scheduled recurrent training session, and on a continuing basis in recurrent training thereafter. All new-hire flight attendant employees will receive training on the program during initial training.
- 14. REVISION CONTROL. Revisions to this MOU shall be documented using standard revision control methodology.
- 15. RECORDKEEPING. All documents and records regarding this program will be kept by the <u>EAI</u> ASAP manager and made available to the other parties of this agreement at their request. All records and documents relating to this program will be appropriately kept in a manner that ensures compliance with 14 CFR and all applicable laws. AFA-CWA and the FAA will maintain whatever records they deem necessary to meet their needs.
- 16. SIGNATORIES. All parties to this ASAP are entering into this agreement voluntarily.

/s/ Robert Barrow	Date: November 21, 2013
Dobort Parrow	

Robert Barrow
MEC President
Association of Flight Attendants-CWA - Envoy Air

/s/ Captain Chris Hurrell	Date: November 18, 2013
Captain Chris Hurrell	
Managing Director Safety	
Envoy Air, Inc.	
/s/ Skip Whitrock	_ Date: November 21, 2013
Skip Whitrock	
Manager, AMR CMO	

SIDELETTER – N

LETTER OF AGREEMENT
between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
Flight Attendants
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by

THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS—CWA, AFL-CIO

IMPLEMENTATION OF PREFERENTIAL BIDDING SYSTEM

This Agreement is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, between Envoy Air, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") and the Flight Attendants in the service of the Company, as represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA (hereinafter referred to as the "Association").

NOW, THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to and understood by and between the parties to this letter of understanding regarding the implementation of a Preferential Bidding System (PBS):

- The Company and the Association each have selected Navtech, Inc. as
 their preferred choice as the PBS vendor and the Company has entered
 into a contract with Navtech to provide a PBS for the flight attendants.
 The selected vendor may not be changed without affording the
 Association the opportunity to participate in the selection process in the
 same manner as was used in the current process. Any new PBS will
 include a seniority-based algorithm, unless otherwise mutually agreed
 upon by the parties.
- The parties agree that reasonable changes that do not alter the vendor's underlying algorithm for the processing and awarding of preferences may be made as required or suggested by the vendor. In such cases, the Association will be given advance notice and be allowed input into the change. It is understood that the Association and the Company will meet and negotiate a Letter of Agreement incorporating all the changes to the Collective Bargaining Agreement required to implement PBS.

3. PBS Implementation Committee:

A joint Company/Association Committee (the "JPBSC") shall be established immediately upon execution of this Agreement. The JPBSC shall be composed of a minimum of two (2) members from the Company and minimum of two (2) members from the Association. The Association members of the JPBSC will be considered quasi full time through implementation of both the Bid Line and Reserve systems plus one (1) year. The Company shall bear reasonable flight pay loss of the Association's JPBSC Members. The Association members shall have continuing PBS involvement as part of the Bid Planning Committee. The Company will consult with the JPBSC on all significant matters regarding implementation of PBS as well as any future enhancements or changes before making decisions regarding such matters.

4. PBS Implementation:

Implementation and development of the PBS shall be overseen by the JPBSC. The Association members will be provided equal access to verify system settings, constraints and parameters (within the vendor's contractual limitations/restrictions, provided that, if the applicable contract does not permit the Association to acquire its own copy of the software, then the Association will be provided access to the Company's copy adequate to enable the Association to verify system settings, constraints and parameters). Bidding interface will be accessible to Flight Attendants both inside and outside the Company's network (home computer via internet). Flight Attendants will never be assessed any fee for utilizing the PBS. The Company shall bear all necessary and reasonable expenses related to the initial startup and subsequent "debugging" of PBS. The Company will supply sufficient terminals for Flight Attendants to bid at each domicile, and will provide internet and network bidding capabilities, for a web-based program.

PBS Training:

The JPBSC shall develop all required PBS procedure manuals and training programs and oversee Flight Attendant training which will be mandatory and shall begin so as to provide sufficient time for Flight Attendant classroom training, but no later than three (3) months prior to PBS going "on line". PBS training will be governed by the provisions of Section 19 of the collective bargaining agreement. No later than two (2) months prior to PBS going "on line", a mandatory parallel bidding process will be made available to Flight Attendants for familiarization

purposes. It is understood that these are minimum time limits and they may be expanded to provide for additional training and/or the parallel bid process.

- 6. During the training months, in addition to the Association members of the JPBSC there will be Association appointed Trainers in each class. The Company shall bear all reasonable flight pay loss for the Association members of the JPBSC and the Association Trainers. For the first ninety (90) days following implementation, the trainers will be available to help Flight Attendants to bid, and to understand their award. Except as provided for in paragraph 2, no part of the PBS algorithm shall be substituted, altered or modified without the prior agreement of the Association.
- 7. The Sections, or portions thereof, of the new agreement involving building of or bidding for Bid Lines or Reserve Lines shall not become effective until implementation of PBS.
- 8. All provisions of the contract, without modification, remain in effect until altered by mutual agreement to accommodate the implementation of PBS. Prior to PBS going "on line", the Association will have input into the readiness for implementation.

9. Line Construction:

Lines shall be constructed preferentially, in order of seniority, one Flight Attendant at a time with the Flight Attendant holding as many <u>pairings</u> available at her/his seniority that meet her/his specific preferences, such preferences being stated in priority order provided that those <u>pairings</u> do not conflict with any known absences, carry-in <u>pairings</u> or reserve periods, or legalities following carry-in activities.

10. Criteria for Line Construction:

a. The JPBSC will meet with the vendor to thoroughly vet the new scheduling provisions which must be considered in the context of a PBS environment. The Company with input from the JPBSC will determine the range for the line average and the window above and below it to which a Flight Attendant's schedule may be built. Any subsequent change(s) will be made after consultation with the JPBSC.

- All contractual limitations on the construction of bid lines and Reserve lines shall remain in effect, unless otherwise agreed.
- A bid line will contain no reserve days and a reserve line will contain only reserve days and days off.
- d. A bid line will not contain any out of domicile pairings.

11. Parameters for Line Construction:

The following procedures will precede line construction:

- All known flying, including charters, shall be constructed into <u>pairings</u> and placed in the PBS for bid. (Parties recognize that the flying must be known at the time <u>pairings</u> are constructed).
- b. The company will apply any known absence to a Flight Attendant's schedule. The credit value of the known absence(s) will be reflected in the total value of the line for purposes of the line construction parameters according to the schedule below. To the extent that the "off the shelf" software accommodates credit value waivers, at the Flight Attendant's option, she/he may elect to have the credit value not counted toward her/his maximum bid award. However, in no event may the Flight Attendant's bid award exceed one-hundred ten (110) hours.
- c. For the purposes of Line construction, the planned absences or events that are known prior to the close of the bids will have the below daily credit value applied towards a Flight Attendant's line credit except as provided for in b. above.

i.	Training	3:45
ii.	Sick Leave	3:45
iii.	Bereavement	3:45
iv.	Paid Move Days	3:45
٧.	Special Assignment	3:45
vi.	Union Leave	3:45
vii.	Jury Duty Leave	3:45
viii.	Family Leave if SK or VC used	3:45
ix.	Pay Withheld	3:45
Χ.	Paid Witness	3:45

xi.	Travel Day	3:45
xii.	Single VC Day prior to	
	January 1, 2016	2:41
xiii.	Single VC Day commencing	
	January 1, 2016	3:00
xiv.	California Paid Family Leave and	
	Paid School	3:45
XV.	Miscellaneous Other	TBD

12. Bidding and Awarding of Monthly Schedules:

a. The Company will utilize and maintain a Preferential Bidding System (PBS), meeting the requirements in this section and the Collective Bargaining Agreement for the construction and awarding of flight schedules and Reserve Lines of Time.

Planned absences/activities

A Flight Attendant will bid in her/his specific domicile (When "domicile" is used herein, it will include any co-domicile).

- Flight Attendants on a paper-bid status, whose bid will be for pay purposes only, will be able to bid and be awarded a schedule without impacting other active Flight Attendants' awards.
- ii. A Flight Attendant who obtains medical clearance prior to the close of bids will be allowed to bid during the bidding process, and will be awarded a schedule for the entire bid period or that portion of the month for which she/he will be available. If available for less than the full bid period, the number of minimum days off will be prorated based upon the numbers of days available; e.g., a Flight Attendant returning from maternity leave midmonth.
- iii. Carry-ins/absences/pre-awards that are known at the time of bidding, will be pre-planned in the bid process and credited in the new month.
- iv. During the bid process Flight Attendants scheduled for vacation shall be afforded the option to expand

their vacation by up to four (4) unpaid days. If the "off the shelf" software does not provide for this option, the vacation expansion days will be preplotted as an unpaid planned absence by crew scheduling prior to the monthly bid awards. Such days adjacent to vacation will count toward the minimum monthly days off. Only one option will be accepted and awarded during the bid process. Please refer to # 32 on the Global Options Table.

- v. If a Flight Attendant is withheld from service with pay by the Company at the time of bid closing she/he will be allowed to bid for a schedule for the following bid period in accordance with this section.
- vi. The following preferences, or their reasonable facsimile (depending on the selected vendor's terminology and nuanced version of the option), shall be available for Flight Attendants. It is recognized that bidding too many options could result in a poor bid award. The JPBSC may determine which preference options will be available and that the creation of a "phasing in" timeline for options would be in the best interest of PBS implementation.

If any items listed below are not contained in the vendor's "off –the-shelf" product, and not available at a reasonable cost, the Company may, after consultation with the Association, determine not to offer that option.

Preference Options

- Pairings Equipment [Prefer/Avoid, Aircraft type]
 Flight Attendant may prefer to want to avoid pairings with specific aircraft type
- Pairing Length [Prefer/Avoid, #Calendar days, Date]
 Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid <u>pairings</u> with specified number of calendar days.
- Layover City [Prefer/Avoid, Layover Station, Date]
 Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid a layover station or region, e.g. West Coast, North East, FL. Caribbean, Mexico, Southwest.

4.	Pairing Type [Prefer/Avoid, Type of pairing Date] Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid a type of pairing. Pairings types - 4 day, 3-day, 2-day or 1-day pairings.
5.	Crew Position [Prefer/Avoid, Crew Position, Date] Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid a specific position on pairings. Flight Attendant positions are specified on each pairing.
6.	Report/Release [Before/After, Time, Date] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> that report/release before or after a specific time. The <u>pairings</u> may optionally originate/terminate on a specific date.
7.	No Deadheads [Date] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a no deadheads in the <u>pairing</u> .
8.	Layover Duration [Minimum/Maximum, Duration, Station] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum layover per duty periods. This limit shall apply to all layovers within the <u>pairing</u> .
9.	Landings per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Value] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum landings per duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the <u>pairing</u> .
10.	Block Hours per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Value] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum block time per duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the <u>pairing</u> .
11.	Average Credit Hours per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Value] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum credit time per duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the <u>pairing</u> .
12.	Prefer Calendar Days Off [Days of week] Flight Attendant may bid off days on specific days of the week (e.g., prefer to work every Monday-Thursday).
13.	Credit Ratio [Prefer, Credit Ratio Value] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> that do not exceed the Credit Ratio Value (<u>pairing</u> time away from base/ <u>pairing</u> credit).
14.	Pairing [Pairing number, Date] Flight Attendant may bid for a specific pairing number and optionally depart on a specific date.
15.	Range of days off [First date, Second date] Flight Attendant may bid for a range of days off.
16.	Block of days off [Date from, Date of] Flight Attendant may bid for a period of days off and would be awarded all days off or none.

17.	Co-Domicile Preference [Prefer, Co-Domicile] Flight Attendant may bid for pairings that originate from a specific co-domicile.
18.	Min/Max Connection Time [Minimum/Maximum, Duration] Flight Attendants may bid for <u>pairings</u> that have minimum or maximum connection (sit) times. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the <u>pairing</u> .
Global	Options
19.	Maximum number of work periods - Flight Attendant may elect to specify a maximum number of work periods in the bid month (subject to their minimum and maximum permissible credit hours).
20.	Allow Back-to-Backs Flight Attendants may elect to allow legal back-to-backs to be included in their line- of-time.
21.	Allow Training and a <u>Pairing</u> as a Back-to-Back Flight Attendants may elect to schedule training and a <u>pairing</u> as a legal back-to-back to be included in their line of time.
22.	Allow Multiple Pairings Flight Attendants may elect to allow two(2) pairings in the same calendar day separated by legal domicile rest.
23.	Waive Domicile Rest to FAR Minimum + :45
24.	Min Days Off between Work Periods Flight Attendant may set the number of days off between work periods. The system default is two (2) days.
25.	Pairing Mix in a Work Period Flight Attendant may create work periods that contain pairings of specific lengths. The system will use the pairing lengths only in the order that the Flight Attendant specifies.
26.	Commutable Work Period Flight Attendant may bid that their work period begins after a specific time and ends prior to a specific time.
27.	Cadence Preference - Flight Attendant may elect that their work period begins on the same day of the week thought the bid month.
28.	Buddy Bid - Flight Attendant may bid with other Flight Attendants up to the number of Flight Attendants on the equipment, utilizing the seniority of the least senior Flight Attendant. Flight Attendants may also buddy bid with pilots.

- 29. Avoid Bid - Flight Attendant may avoid more senior Flight Attendants or more junior Flight Attendants who have been awarded a pairing providing the senior Flight Attendant waives her/his seniority to immediately below the junior Flight Attendant's seniority. 30. Reasons Report - System shall generate a report for each Flight Attendant which explains why a preferred pairing or day off was not awarded. Standing Bids - System shall maintain persistent or "standing" bids which shall act 31. as a default bid should the Flight Attendant fail to enter a monthly bid. If a Flight Attendant fails to input her/his bid and does not have a standing bid inputted, her/his bid will be inputted using a default bid created by the JPBSC. 32. Vacation Expansion - A Flight Attendant who is scheduled for a block of consecutive vacation days may elect to place up to a total of four (4) days off (at sole discretion of the Flight Attendant) before, after, or split on either side of such vacation period. The days off will act as a pre-planned absence and will carry neither a value for pay nor credit. Such days off will be counted toward the Reserve's scheduled Golden Days. Such block of four days, or portion thereof, may be extended into the next bid period. 33. Paper Bid/Pay Purpose Only Bid - Once the final awards are published. Crew Scheduling will run PBS for a Pay Purpose Only (PPO) award. Crew Scheduling shall run PBS with the same bids and settings as the regular bid with the addition of the bids (standing or actual) of any Flight Attendant who is off the entire bid period to determine what she/he could have held for pay purposes only. Such PPO awards shall only be used for this pay determination and shall not change in any way pairings warded as published in the final line awards. 34. High/Low time Option. Flight Attendants desiring a low time or high time option may elect to do so in accordance with paragraph 15: Low/High Bid Options of this Side Letter. If PBS is unable to grant a low time option then the Flight Attendant may elect or revert to a regular bid line option. 35. Other Bid Options as agreed by the JPBSC. **Reserve Options** Block of Reserve Golden Days off [Date from, Date to] 36. Flight Attendant may bid for a period of Reserve Golden Days off and would be
- awarded all Reserve Golden Days off or the same period of Moveable Days off or none.
- 37. Range of Reserve Golden Days off [First date, Second date] Flight Attendant may bid for a range of reserve Golden Days off. The First date is the most important day off and the Second date is the less important.

38.	"Reserve Block Lines" (RBL) Line Option
39.	Days on and off
40.	Length of block of available days
41.	Month end carry-over
42.	Standby Line Preferences
43.	Placement of Golden Days

- Other preferences may be mutually agreed upon and request for said preferences will not be unreasonably denied.
- d. A Flight Attendant will use the PBS to bid. If PBS is inoperative, the Company will provide an alternative method for bidding.
- e. Bid packages will be made electronically available via a home access computer system and the Company computer terminals located in each domicile on or before the date of bid package distribution. One hard copy of the bid package will be available at each domicile or co-domicile. Bid packages shall contain all of the pairing information, for all of the scheduled pairings in a given domicile and its co-domiciles. Each domicile's bid package shall state the anticipated number of bid lines and reserve lines that will be awarded in that domicile, the line average for the month in the domicile, the minimum and maximum hours a line can be built to in the domicile, and the training dates and locations for the domicile.

f. Bidding time line:

i. The Company and the Association (with input from the Association PBS Committee) will mutually agree on a new timeline for the bidding and awarding of schedules in the context of PBS. In the event that any mainline partner changes the timing of providing flying schedules to the Company, the Company may make changes to the timeline for the bidding and awarding of schedules with input from the JPBSC. ii. In the event of a major, previously unknown airline schedule change, after <u>pairings</u> are constructed, the Company and the Association may agree to modify the Bid Timeline as appropriate.

g. Failure to Bid:

- i. A Flight Attendant failing to make a bid or failing to meet the deadline will be assigned a line in the awards as per her/his standing bid. A standing bid may be submitted at any time by a Flight Attendant, and will remain in effect until it is changed by the Flight Attendant, but no later than the date bids must be submitted for a given month.
- If no standing bid exists, the Flight Attendant's bid will be inputted using a default bid created by the JPBSC.
- The PBS will generate, track, and provide each Flight
 Attendant a bid confirmation for each bid supplied by the Flight Attendant.
- i. Following the awarding of bid lines, no more than 10% of the remaining known and proposed flying may be designated as open flying in each domicile pursuant to Section 8.G.1. of the Collective Bargaining Agreement (Example: If the DFW domicile has 1,000 block hours, there will be a maximum of 100 hours of open flying remaining in the domicile after the awarding of the bid lines).
- j. All monthly lines shall be awarded in accordance with seniority and bid preferences. In cases where a Flight Attendant is denied a bid preference in order to ensure adequate daily work coverage, such assignment shall be in accordance with the bid preferences of the Flight Attendant and forced in inverse order of seniority.
- k. An individual Report will be made available to each Flight Attendant each month, which reconciles the Flight Attendant's bid to her/his awarded schedule on a preference-bypreference basis.

Bid Protests

- The JPBSC will create an appropriate protest timeline based on the new bid and award deadlines created for PBS.
- b. Crew Planning shall promptly review any inquiry submitted. If a programming or system error occurred, the affected Flight Attendant will be made whole. No remedy will be available if the subject of the inquiry was due to the Flight Attendant's choice of bid preferences.
- c. Where there is a programming error that affects substantial numbers of Flight Attendants in a domicile(s), there may be a re-award upon agreement between the Company and the Association.
- d. If, after the final bids have been awarded, any errors are subsequently discovered that make any bid illegal in any manner, the Company will pull the Flight Attendant from sufficient flights with pay to be made legal.

14. PairingTrading

No <u>pairing</u> trading involving a carry-over pairing(s) or flight legs touching the last seven (7) days of the current contractual month will be allowed during the line award process.

15. <u>Low/High Bid Options</u>

a. Low Bid Option:

The Company will offer low time bid options when feasible. This option would allow a Flight Attendant to bid a line in the domicile not to exceed 45.5 hours. The pay guarantee for low bid option lines will be fifty percent (50%) of the regular monthly guarantee as defined in Section 4 (Compensation) of this Agreement. If the Company offers a low bid option in a specific domicile, it will specify the number of Flight Attendants who will be able to hold that option, and conduct a bid, based upon seniority order.

b. High Time Option:

A Flight Attendant may elect to bid a high time line option. Lines constructed as high time may exceed the ninety-one hour (91) cap as set forth under Section 8.B.4. of this Agreement, but in no event will they exceed one-hundred ten (110) hours.

16. Reserve:

- Reserve lines shall be allocated as part of the monthly PBS process. A Flight Attendant who may be awarded a line of flying may conditionally bid for a reserve line.
- Reserves will have a minimum of eleven (11) scheduled days free of duty ("days off") at their domicile each bid month.
 Three (3) of such days shall be Golden Days. Patterns must conform to the following:
 - Reserve Flight Attendants will receive at least two
 periods of two (2) days free from duty. In addition, reserves will receive at least one (1) period of four (4) consecutive days off.
 - Reserve Flight Attendants will receive one set of three (3) Golden Days off. Golden Days will always begin a block of days off and may not be preceded by a non-Golden Day off.
 - iii. Day off periods may not be separated by less than three (3) days of availability or by more than six (6) days of availability. Groups of days of availability which transition from month to month shall be subject to this limitation.
- c. A Reserve with vacation day (s) in a bid period shall receive all her/his days off outside of the vacation period, if applicable, in addition to her/his vacation days. This will guarantee the Reserve her/his full number of minimum days off in addition to her/his vacation day(s). However, if the days off as provided for in Global Option #32 plus the scheduled vacation days does not allow for the required days off to be placed outside of the scheduled vacation period, such days will not be restored or moved to the subsequent month.

d. The chart below shall be used to determine the number of days free from duty for a Reserve who is bidding for or returning to schedule as a Reserve with less than a full bid period. This chart shall be used to determine the number of days free from duty during the Reserve's days of availability in a partial bid period.

30 Day	Month	31 Day	Month
Available Days	Prorated Days Off	Available Days	Prorated Days Off
29 - 30	11	30 - 31	11
26 - 28	10	27 - 29	10
24 - 25	9	24 - 26	9
21 - 23	8	22 - 23	8
18 - 20	7	19 - 21	7
15 - 17	6	16 - 18	6
13 - 14	5	13 - 15	5
10 - 12	4	10 - 12	4
7 - 9	3	8 - 9	3
5 - 6	2	5 - 7	2
2 - 4	1	2 - 4	1
1	0	1	0

17. Superseding Effect

This letter entirely replaces and supersedes the prior letter dated July 25, 2012 between Envoy Air and AFA bearing the subject "PBS". Such prior letter, upon the date of execution by Envoy Air and AFA of this Letter of Agreement, shall have no further force or effect.

WITNESS:

FOR:

ENVOY AIR, INC

FOR:

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Cathy McCann

Cathy McCann

Vice President, People

/s/ Sara Nelson Sara Nelson

International President

/s/ Linda Kunz

Linda Kunz

Vice President, Flight Service

Robert Barrow

Robert Barrow MEC President

/s/ Deb Sutor

Deb Sutor

Chairperson, Negotiating Committee

/s/ Armando Ramos

Armando Ramos

LEC President, SJU and Negotiating

Committee Member

/s/ John Grace

John Grace

Negotiating Committee Member

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo

Paula Mastrangelo

Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER – O

LETTER OF AGREEMENT
between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by the
ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS – CWA, AFL-CIO

PROFIT SHARING PLAN

THIS LETTER OF AGREEMENT is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor act, as amended, by and between Envoy Air, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Company"), and the Flight Attendants in the service of Envoy Air, Inc. as represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as the "Union").

WHEREAS the Company and the Union have reached consensual agreement upon a collective bargaining agreement (hereinafter referred to as the "Agreement");

NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

A "first dollar" profit sharing plan for Flight Attendants will be implemented as described below:

A. DEFINITIONS

- "Pre-tax earnings" means the Company's consolidated earnings for the target year before any applicable income tax expense, excluding any accruals for profit sharing and/or incentive compensation, accounting adjustments, or extraordinary or one-time items as may be determined by the Company's Board of Directors Compensation Committee (consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles "GAAP" and applicable regulations, after consultation with the Company's independent auditors).
- 2. "Profit Sharing Pool" means 100% of the Company's pre-tax earnings for the target year at the applicable percentage.

B. PROFIT SHARING POOL

Bracket #	Envoy Air Profit Margin %	Profit Sharing Pool
1	0-2	5% of pre-tax profit within the bracket
2	2-4	10% of pre-tax profit within the bracket
3	4-6	15% of pre-tax profit within the bracket
4	6-8	20% of pre-tax profit within the bracket
5	8+	25% of pre-tax profit within the bracket

C. DISBURSEMENT

- 1. The profit sharing payments due to individual Flight Attendants shall be computed as follows:
 - a. For the year in which the profit sharing was earned, the applicable profit sharing pool shall be divided by the total W-2 earnings of all eligible employees of the company to arrive at a profit sharing percentage of the W-2 figure. This figure will be used to distribute the profit sharing pool based on share of W-2 salary expense.
 - The profit sharing percentage of the W-2 figure, as calculated in 1.a. above shall be multiplied by the individual Flight Attendant's reported W-2 earnings for the year in which profit sharing was earned.
 - c. To be eligible for profit sharing payments, employees must:
 - Have earned W-2 salaries during the year in which profit sharing was earned.
 - ii. Hold current employment status, either active or on leave, with the company as of the date the profit sharing pool distribution calculations are made.

- Profit Sharing awards are not considered compensation for purposes of determining Company contributions to the 401(k) plan.
- D. Flight Attendants at Envoy Air will participate in the Profit Sharing Plan on terms outlined above and in no event may those terms be any less favorable than any other labor group at Envoy Air.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement on this 26th day of July, 2012.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC

FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz

Linda Kunz Vice President – Flight Service

/s/ Sara Nelson

Sara Nelson International President

/s/ Robert Barrow

Robert Barrow, MEC President

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo

Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER - P

Mr. Robert Barrow

1113 Global "Me- too: Provision"

Dear Robert,

During the negotiations that led to the signing of the Agreement between Envoy Air, Inc. ("AAG" or "the Company") and the Association of Flight Attendants - CWA, AFL-CIO ("AFA"), the Company and the AFA agreed to the following, effective upon ratification of the pending AFA Agreement by the AFA membership:

- 1. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Restructuring Agreement ("Agreement") the terms of the Agreement shall not become effective until the Company has received approval to implement, through binding agreement, and/or implemented by legal unilateral authority revisions to (i) the labor contracts of the Company's other non-AFA unionized employees and (ii) the wages, benefits and working conditions of the Company's non-union hourly employees and (iii) the wages, benefits, and working conditions of the non-union salaried and management employees so that the aggregate revisions, agreed to or imposed, in (i), (ii), and (iii) for each individual non-AFA union and nonunion employee group are reasonably projected by the Company to produce the targets of labor cost savings specified in the Company's 1113(c) Restructuring proposals for each union dated March 21, 2012 and in the Company's March 2012 Big Tent Presentation for each nonunion labor group, and any Section 1113(c) motion subsequently filed by the Company, provided that the targets specified in the Company's motion match the March 21, 2012 targets.
- The Company agrees that if it fails to implement the changes described in paragraph 1 for any other non-AFA union or non-union employee group, without implementing other changes that are reasonably projected by the Company to achieve equivalent labor cost savings, the Company will meet with AFA to discuss and agree upon a proportionate reduction in projected labor cost savings under the Agreement. This paragraph shall expire upon the earlier of 1) six (6) months after the date the Company emerges from the bankruptcy process; or 2) when the changes described in paragraph 1, or other changes that are reasonably projected by the Company to achieve equivalent labor cost savings, are implemented for all non-AFA union or non-union employee groups.

- 3) The Company further agrees that if it obtains modifications to agreements with other non-AFA union groups that result in labor cost savings to the Company from reduction in AFA represented employees, it will meet with AFA to discuss and agree upon an appropriate credit to the AFA based on the level of labor cost savings realized by the Company from that reduction.
- 4) The company will provide AFA with sufficient relevant information reasonably necessary for AFA to determine compliance with the terms of this Agreement.
- 5) Any alleged violation of these provisions will be resolved pursuant to the grievance and arbitration procedures of the AFA Agreement.

If this letter accurately reflects the agreement of the parties, please indicate by signing below.

Sincerely,
s/ Cathy McCann
Cathy McCann Vice President of People
Agreed to:
s/ Sara Nelson Sara Nelson President, Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO
s/ Robert Barrow Robert Barrow MEC President

SIDELETTER - Q

Document Clean-Up Post Ratification

To: Cathy McCann

> Vice President People Department

To: Linda Kunz

> Vice President Flight Service

Dear Cathy and Linda:

AFA and Envoy Air management have reached a Tentative Agreement (TA) and have confirmed all language and initialed copies of contract sections, Letter of Agreement and other documents stating the agree-to changes to the current pay, benefits and work rules. As discussed in the recently concluded bankruptcy negotiations, if the TA is ratified by the AFA membership, the AFA and the management negotiating committees will meet in order to correct any mistakes in the document and to finalize the disposition of existing Letters of Agreement and agree on any other corrections prior to the final printing of the contract.

Please signal your agreement with this letter by signing below and returning the document to me.

Sincerely,

/s/ Robert Barrow Robert Barrow President, AFA MEC Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Cathy McCann /s/ Linda Kunz Cathy McCann Linda Kunz Vice President, People Department

Vice President, Flight Service Envoy Air, Inc. Envoy Air, Inc.

SIDELETTER - R

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

between

ENVOY AIR, INC.

and the

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA. AFL-CIO

Expedited Arbitration

THIS LETTER OF AGREEMENT is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of Title I of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by and between Envoy Air, Inc. (hereinafter known as the "Company") and the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO (hereinafter known as the "Union").

The following will set forth the procedures to be utilized for expedited arbitration for the purpose of resolving disputes which may arise under the terms of the Flight Attendant Agreement.

- The Company and the Union will mutually agree on the selection of one neutral, to be chosen from the Panel of Arbitrators as described in Section 22 of this Agreement, together with one Union appointed member and one Company appointed member, to constitute the Expedited Arbitration Board of Adjustment.
- The Board will sit for a period pre-determined by the parties and is authorized to hear and decide only those cases that are mutually agreed upon by the parties. Termination cases shall not be heard under the provisions of Expedited Arbitration.
- 3. At the conclusion of each day, the Board shall issue an award for each case heard during that day.
- 4. The Board will issue a written award without a written opinion on the Expedited Arbitration Award Form (Appendix B). Awards issued by this Expedited Arbitration Board will not establish precedent and will not be

- used or referred to in the future by either party except to enforce the terms of the award.
- 5. Each party agrees to waive its right to an arbitration pursuant to Section 22 of this Agreement by submitting a case to Expedited Arbitration.
- 6. Each party will be represented by any one person that it may choose and designate. Each party will be limited to one other person to testify or offer clarifying information.
- 7. At least ten (10) working days prior to the date the case is to be heard, each party will inform the other party, in writing (stating name and case number) of its intention to have its witness present. The parties will also exchange documents they intend to enter as exhibits in support of their respective positions.
- 8. Each party will have no more than sixty (60) minutes to present its case. This sixty (60) minute period will include the party's opening (if one is desired), the direct examination of its own witness and the cross-examination of the other party's witness. Additionally, each party will have an additional five (5) minutes for rebuttal and/or closing. All documentary evidence must be submitted by the parties within the time set forth in this paragraph. Post hearing briefs or submissions will not be allowed.
- Once either party has presented evidence in support of its case, there
 will be no adjournments or postponements of the hearing unless
 mutually agreed to by the parties.
- 10. The time and date of the hearing must be agreed to by the parties.
- 11. Representatives of either party will not be restricted from entering documents that become known subsequent to the ten (10) days exchange as provided in paragraph 6. above, as long as timely notice is given to the opposing party.
- 12. The Board is prohibited from calling any additional witnesses, except those witnesses so designated in Paragraph 6. to testify in this proceeding.
- 13. There will be no transcripts or electronic records made of the proceedings.

- 14. Grievances handled under this Expedited Arbitration procedure will be heard in the city where the employee is domiciled if the parties have agreed to hear at least three (3) grievances in that domicile. If the parties have agreed to hear fewer than three (3) grievances, then they shall be heard in the most convenient alternate domicile unless mutually agreed to otherwise.
- 15. This Letter of Agreement shall become effective on January 1, 2013 and continue in force for a minimum of twenty-four months. At the end of this initial trial period, either party may terminate this Letter of Agreement. If no action is taken, this Letter of Agreement shall renew in increments of twenty-four month terms.
- 16. The parties may mutually agree to amend this Letter of Agreement at any time.

For Envoy Air, Inc.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Letter of Agreement this 26th day of July, 2012

Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO	-
/s/ Sara Nelson Sara Nelson International President	/s/ Linda Kunz Linda Kunz Vice President, Flight Service
/s/ Robert Barrow Robert Barrow MEC President	
/s/ Debora Sutor Debora Sutor Chairperson, Negotiating Committee	
/s/ Paula Mastrangelo Paula Mastrangelo	-

For Association of Flight

Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER – S

between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
Flight Attendants
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by

THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS—CWA, AFL-CIO

Early-Out Incentive Package for Flight Attendants

THIS LETTER OF AGREEMENT is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by and between ENVOY AIR, INC. ("Company") and the Flight Attendants in the service of the Company, as represented by the ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO ("AFA").

A. Global Incentive Provisions:

- The Company will offer, no later than seven (7) days following the ratification and bankruptcy court approval of the bankruptcy tentative agreement, the Early-Out Incentive Program described in this Letter of Agreement.
- 2. Flight Attendants will have thirty (30) days following the date of the offer, as described in A. 1. above to respond to this offer.
- 3. A Flight Attendant who accepts the Early-Out offer will forfeit any recall rights she/he may have, and will no longer be considered an active employee and will waive all seniority credit upon any future rehire. However, a Flight Attendant will have fifteen (15) days to rescind her/his acceptance after it is made.

- 4. <u>Eligibility</u>: A Flight Attendant will be eligible for the Early-Out Incentives so long as she/he had 13 or more years of Flight Attendant seniority at the Company.
- The Company may stage the separation dates for operational purposes.
 If so, Separation dates will be offered for preferencing, and preferences will be awarded by domicile in seniority order.
- 6. A Flight Attendant on Leave of Absence or "Inactive" status is eligible to accept the Incentive offers.

B. Early-Out Incentive Package Provisions:

- 1. <u>Separation Pay:</u> The Flight Attendant will receive \$12,500 upon separation from the Company.
- Medical Benefits: A Flight Attendant who elects to accept the Early-Out offer will be eligible for COBRA at the active employee rate for the first 30 days. Following the first 30 days, COBRA will be available for purchase for an additional 17 months at full COBRA rates.
- Travel Pass Benefits: The Flight Attendant will receive 18 months of travel benefits in accordance with the AA Travel Policy. She/he will receive an additional 6 months of travel benefits (total of 24 months) if in the 90 days prior to the date of separation from the Company, she/he had no attendance occurrences. During the first 90 days the boarding priority will be D2 and will convert to D2P for the remaining eligibility period. Retiree Pass Benefits will be in accordance with AAG company policy.

AGREED this 2nd day of October, 2012.

FOR: ENVOY AIR, INC.	FOR: ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO
/s/ Linda Kunz	/s/ Sara Nelson
Linda Kunz	Sara Nelson
Vice President – Flight Service	International President
	/s/ Robert Barrow

/s/ Debora Sutor

Debora Sutor, Chairperson, Negotiating Committee

Robert Barrow, MEC President

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo

Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER – T

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

between

ENVOY AIR, INC.

and the

FLIGHT ATTENDANTS

in the service of

ENVOY AIR, INC.

as represented by the

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS – CWA. AFL-CIO

AMENDMENT PROCESS

TIMELINE

February, 2016	Send notices/Board selection
April	
May	Negotiations
June	
June 30	Reach agreement or submit to interest arbitration
30-60 days	Interest arbitration hearing
after submission	
60 days after hearing	Draft award, final following

AMENDMENT PROCESS

The following procedure will be followed in the event that either party desires to make alterations to specific provisions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) between the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO (AFA) and Envoy Air, Inc. (Company).

A. Notice, Initial Meetings and Negotiations

 No earlier than February 1, 2016 but no later than February 29, 2016, either party may serve written notice specifying which provisions of the CBA the party proposes will be deleted, added or amended, as provided for in this Letter of Agreement. Negotiations will commence no later than April 1, 2016 and continue for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days. Ratification of any tentative agreement will be governed by the AFA Constitution and Bylaws.

- 2. Due to considerations of scheduling, the three (3) neutrals must be selected per B.2. no later than February 29, 2016 on a contingent basis.
- Three (3) months prior to February 1, 2016, the Company will share any studies, reports or the results of any benchmarking exercises which it conducts in preparation for the Amendment Round. Such information shall include the carriers selected in the benchmarking.
- 4. Meetings to define and resolve the issues with respect to the Amendment Round will be held at a mutually agreeable site. Such meeting shall continue for a period not to exceed ninety (90) calendar days commencing with the first day of meetings. The parties will meet in good faith to resolve all issues between them.
- 5. The Company shall provide the meeting room facilities.
- 6. If the parties reach agreement on all items, then those items become effective on January 1, 2017 unless otherwise mutually agreed.
- 7. If the parties are unable to reach a complete and final agreement on all issues on or before June 30, 2016 the parties will finalize the Amendment Round through the interest arbitration procedure outlined below. All prior agreed-to items in negotiations will become part of the arbitration Final Award without change. Nothing in this paragraph will prevent either party from proposing and/or agreeing to items as a "package".

B. Interest Arbitration Board

- 1. Board Composition
 - a. The Interest Arbitration Board (Board) will be comprised of five (5) members, one (1) selected by the Association, one (1) selected by the Company, ("the parties' representatives") and three (3) neutral members, selected in accordance with the

paragraphs below.

b. Such selection will be made on or before February 29, 2016.

Board Selection Process

In order to select the three (3) neutral members, the parties will endeavor to agree on a mutual selection. Barring mutual agreement on the selection, the below procedure will be followed to select the three (3) neutrals.

- All neutrals shall be members of the National Academy of Arbitrators.
- b. The Association and the Company shall each select one neutral to sit on the panel. The two (2) arbitrators selected shall then be charged with agreeing on one (1) additional arbitrator to join them on the five (5) member panel as an equal to hear and decide the resolution of the issues submitted before the panel.
- c. The third arbitrator selected shall serve as the Chairperson of the panel and shall perform all of the administrative duties required by the panel.
- d. The arbitrators shall be advised of and adhere to the timelines contained in this Letter of Agreement and the number of hearing days provided for. Each arbitrator's confirmation shall be contingent upon acceptance of the terms and timelines of this Letter of Agreement. Any neutral who must withdraw will be replaced in the manner in which she/he was placed on the panel.
- e. The salary and expenses of the arbitrators, including any cancellation fees in the event a negotiated agreement is reached, and any transcript costs shall be borne by the Company. The Company shall provide the meeting room facilities.

C. Submission of Items to the Board

- Each party may submit no more than five (5) single, separate and specific proposed changes to the Agreement of interest arbitration. Examples of such changes:
 - a. "pairing rig", "duty rig" or "minimum day" (but not "rigs"); or
 - b. "eliminate all PVD touching legs" (but not "eliminate all touching legs"); or
 - c. "reduce number of pounds of household goods which can be moved at Company expense" (but not" reduce moving expenses");
 - d. "percentage increase to rates of pay" (but not "increase pay").
- Such changes may consist of single, separate and specific changes to
 provisions currently in the CBA and/or new single, separate and specific
 provisions, provided that the aggregate number of specific provisions
 submitted by each party may not exceed five (5).
- If there is any dispute over whether or not an item represents only a single and separate item, the Board will have jurisdiction to decide that dispute prior to the hearing.
- 4. The parties will submit to the Board the single, separate and specific last offer or positions made by each of the parties on the remaining open issues, identified and limited as described in paragraphs 1. and 2. above. The Board will be limited in its award to the open issues presented and the award must be within the limits set by the offers or positions of the parties, and must embody and reflect the industry average of the regional carriers as defined in D. below.
- 5. The award will be subject to provisions of the Duration Section of the CBA.

D. Standard for Award

 The standard, or "benchmark", used by the Board in determining resolution of the items submitted to it shall be the two large regional carriers with the most competitive labor costs, with Flight Attendant populations similar to Envoy Air's, operating at least 200 aircraft of similar equipment type as the Company, within the seat range of aircraft operated by the Company. No airline that is in bankruptcy, as of November 1, 2015 may be used in this analysis. A bankruptcy filing by an airline after November 1, 2015 shall not be a cause for its exclusion from this analysis. The parties will endeavor to agree on the carriers to be used by the Board. If the parties cannot reach agreement, the decision of defining the two carriers shall be decided by the Board and the decision shall be final.

- The basis for adjustments to the contract provisions during this
 Amendment Round will be Envoy Air's Flight Attendant cost position
 relative to the average of the total flight attendant costs at the
 comparative carriers in paragraph 6. above. Included in the study will
 be the total flight attendant wages, benefits, work rules and longevity.
 - a. This shall be determined by a combination of the appropriate application of such carriers' contract elements or terms of employment to Eagle's Schedule of flying and population and the application of Eagle's pay rates and contract elements to the average of the comparative carriers' flight attendant seniority.

E. Arbitration Hearing

- No later than ten (10) days after the submission of the issues dispute for final and binding interest arbitration, the arbitrators shall convene a telephonic prehearing to set the date for the commencement of the hearings. The hearings shall be held at a location mutually agreed to by all five (5) members of the Board. The arbitrators shall establish the order of presentation of evidence and determine any other procedural matter that they believe shall be conductive to a just and orderly resolution of the issues in dispute.
- Subject to the schedule of the arbitrators and counsel, the Board shall commence the hearing on the dispute as soon as possible, but no earlier than thirty (30) days and no later than sixty (60) days after

submissions of the issues to be resolved.

- 3. The Chairperson of the Board shall schedule a total of five (5) full days (preferably consecutive) of hearings. The hearing days shall be allocated equally to permit each party to present its case and cross-examine the other party's case. The Board may extend the hearing as it deems necessary and may afford additional time to the parties, if in the sole judgment of the Board, one party has had less than a full and fair opportunity to submit its evidence relative to the opportunity of the other party.
- 4. Closing arguments may be oral and given at the conclusion of the hearing upon the agreement of the parties.

F. Arbitration Award and Jurisdiction

- The Board shall have the jurisdiction to decide all individual items submitted to it within the range of the positions of the parties on each item.
- 2. The Board shall issue a written, draft award. Such award shall be reviewed by the Board prior to the issuance of the Final Award.
- The Board shall issue its final, written decision, which shall be binding on all parties, no later than sixty (60) days after the submission of the items.
- 4. The Board shall retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes over the interpretation or application of the Final Award. Any such dispute must be submitted to the Board within sixty (60) days after knowledge of the dispute arises. The Board shall decide what procedures shall be applied for the expeditious resolution of such disputes. This provision compels both parties to willingly engage in the dispute resolution process inherent in the retained jurisdiction.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement on this 26th day of July, 2012.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz

Linda Kunz

Vice President - Flight Service

/s/ Sara Nelson

Sara Nelson

International President

/s/ Robert Barrow

Robert Barrow, MEC President

/s/ Debora Sutor

Debora Sutor, Chairperson, Negotiating

Committee

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo

Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER – U

LETTER OF AGREEMENT
between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by the
ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS - CWA, AFL-CIO

IMPLEMENTATION AGREEMENT (CIC)

THIS LETTER OF AGREEMENT is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by and between Envoy Air, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Company"), and the Flight Attendants in the service of Envoy Air, Inc., as represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as the "Union").

WHEREAS the Company and the Union have reached agreement upon a collective bargaining agreement (hereinafter referred to as the "Agreement"); NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

For purposes of this Letter of Agreement, the Date of Signing (DOS) will be the implementation date for the agreed upon changes to the Agreement as outlined in the 1113(c) Me-Too Protections letter dated July 26, 2012.

The parties agree that upon ratification by the Union membership, a Contract Implementation Committee (CIC) will be created, the purpose of which is to ensure the Agreement is implemented consistent with the intent of the parties and to quickly resolve issues relating to implementation.

 a. The CIC will consist of at least three (3) members chosen by management, and at least three (3) members chosen by the Union.
 The members must include participants in the direct discussions during the negotiations period. Either side may allow staff or other

- representatives to participate.
- The jurisdiction of the CIC will be limited to resolving implementation issues and those issues concerning any new side letters and new or amended provisions.
- c. The CIC will meet as necessary, at either party's request, commencing with the ratification of the Agreement. The meetings will continue until the Agreement is fully implemented but no later than <u>June 30, 2014</u>. At that time the jurisdiction of the CIC will cease unless it is extended by mutual agreement.
- d. Discussions of the CIC are considered to be confidential. Neither party will discuss, publish or otherwise disclose the proceedings of any CIC session other than to report that a matter has been considered. Upon resolution of a matter, both parties will be free to report to their respective constituencies as they deem applicable. Should a matter not be resolved, both parties agree that the only information to be disseminated was that no resolution was achieved.
- e. If an issue submitted to the CIC is unresolved after the earlier of:
 - 1) being discussed at three (3) separate CIC meetings prior to June 30, 2014;
 - 2) impasse is mutually declared;
 - ninety (90) days have passed since the issue was first raised with the CIC.

The time limits set forth in Section 21.B. of this Agreement will be deemed to begin. Either party may submit such issue for resolution under Sections 21 and 22 of this Agreement. The actions of the CIC will not be subject to review under Sections 21 and 22 of this Agreement.

f. Any remedy pursuant to a contractual interpretation implemented pursuant to a decision of the Contract Implementation Committee may be retroactive to the date on which the issue was first raised with the committee. In the absence of mutual agreement to commence a remedy to the date on which the issue was first raised with the committee, the parties agree that the Association may seek retroactive remedy to the date on which the issue was first raised with the CIC, or thirty (30) days prior to the filing of a grievance, whichever earlier.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement on this 26^{th} day of July, 2012.

AGREED:	
FOR: FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.	FOR: FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO
/s/ Linda Kunz	/s/ Sara Nelson
Linda Kunz	Sara Nelson
Vice President – Flight Service	International President
	/s/ Robert Barrow
	Robert Barrow, MEC President
	/s/ Debora Sutor
	Debora Sutor, Chairperson, Negotiating
	Committee
	/s/ Paula Mastrangelo
	Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER - V

December 18, 2012

Robert Barrow
AAG MEC President
Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO
6250 North River Road, Suite 4020
Rosemont, IL 60018

Subject: Administrative Expense Claim and Bankruptcy Protections

Dear Mr. Barrow:

This Letter of Agreement is between Envoy Air, Inc. (collectively "Envoy Air" or "the Company") and the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO ("AFA").

The modifications to the collective bargaining agreement between the Company and AFA (the "CBA") reached in connection with the Company's Chapter 11 Restructuring embodied in the Ratified Agreement dated September 7, 2012 (the "Ratified Agreement") were agreed to in furtherance of the Company's effort to restructure its capital structure and operations.

This Letter of Agreement will be binding on any Chapter 11 trustee that may be appointed in the Company's pending cases under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code entitled In re American Airlines Group ("AAG"), AAG Corporation, et al., Chapter 11 Case No. 11-15463(SHL) (the "Chapter 11 Cases"), or other entity operating with the equivalent authority of a Chapter 11 trustee.

For purposes of this Letter of Agreement, the term "Debtors" shall include Eagle, American Airlines, Inc., AAGCorporation and all their affiliated entities that are debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases.

The Company and AFA agree as follows:

Effective Date.

A. This Letter of Agreement shall not become effective until the Ratified Agreement and this Letter of Agreement are approved by an order of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York which order has not been stayed.

- B. It is expressly understood and agreed that if the Effective Date does not occur, all of the terms contained in this Letter of Agreement are inapplicable and will be of no force or effect. At such time as the Effective Date occurs but prior to the approval of any Plan of Reorganization in these Chapter 11 Cases, this Letter of Agreement shall constitute a binding and enforceable post-petition agreement between AFA and the Company.
- 2. Administrative Claim for Fees and Expenses. AFA shall have an allowed administrative expense claim of \$500,000 as of the Effective Date ("AFA Allowed Administrative Expense Claim") to be utilized to reimburse AFA for all reasonable fees and expenses incurred by AFA lawyers, professionals, investment bankers. financial advisors and experts, and other reasonable expenses incurred, in the Chapter 11 Cases in connection with the negotiations related to the collective bargaining agreement between Eagle and AFA, this Letter of Agreement, and Plan of Reorganization (the "Fees and Expenses"). The AFA Allowed Administrative Claim, however, shall not include any Fees or Expenses (a) incurred with respect to AFA's opposition to any Company motion filed pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 1113; or (b) incurred with respect to any services rendered in connection with consideration or pursuit of any potential third party purchaser of the Company or merger partner (including but not limited to US Airways). Any amount, in cash, remaining from the AFA Allowed Administrative Expense Claim after payment of Fees and Expenses (such remaining amount, the "Grievance Remedy Amount"), may be used by AFA in respect of grievances settled and extinguished pursuant to this Letter of Agreement.

3. Indemnification.

A. The Company will indemnify and hold harmless AFA and its current or former (a) members, (b) officers, (c) directors, (d) committee members, (e) employees, (f) advisors, (g) attorneys, (h) accountants, (i) investment bankers, (j) consultants, (k) agents, (l) actuaries, (m) financial advisors, (n) professionals, (o) agents and (p) other representatives (each an "Indemnity") from fifty percent of any liability, loss, damages, fines, penalties, taxes, expenses, and costs (not including any income or excise taxes or similar amounts imposed by

any governmental agency) relating to, concerning or resulting from any and all third party claims, lawsuits, or administrative charges of any sort whatsoever, including fifty percent of the reasonable attorney's fees and costs, arising in connection with matters relating to, concerning or connected to the negotiation or establishment of (a) the Ratified Agreement and this Letter of Agreement, and (b) any other document or agreement forming part of the Ratified Agreement and this Letter of Agreement. This fifty-percent sharing arrangement will exist until AFA's financial exposure reaches \$1 million. Any exposure exceeding \$1 million will be the responsibility of the Company.

- В. Such indemnification and hold harmless obligation will not apply to: 1) any claim, lawsuit or administrative charge resulting from the willful or intentional conduct of any Indemnity; 2) any claim, lawsuit or administrative charge asserting that AFA violated its By-Laws or other organizational requirements by entering into the Ratified Agreement and this Letter of Agreement; 3) any claim, lawsuit or administrative charge resulting from any statement made by any Indemnity that incorrectly describes the Ratified Agreement or Letter of Agreement or the modifications made thereby; 4) any claim, lawsuit or administrative charge related to allocation among Eagle employees represented by AFA of any proceeds or distribution received in connection with the AFA Allowed Claim (as defined in paragraph 6 below); or 5) any claim, lawsuit or administrative charge related to any disposition by AFA or employees represented by AFA to third parties of the AFA Allowed Claim or any Proceeds (as defined in paragraph 6 below) or distribution received in connection therewith or on account thereof.
- C. An Indemnity seeking to be indemnified and held harmless pursuant to this paragraph must provide to the Company written notice within seven (7) business days of the Indemnity learning of the claim, lawsuit or administrative charge as to which the Indemnity seeks to be indemnified and held harmless. The Company will have the right to conduct the defense of such matter with counsel of the Company's choosing and enter into a settlement of such matter. The Company will give reasonable consideration to the wishes of the Indemnity in connection with the matters described in the foregoing sentence.

- 4. Exculpation. The Company agrees that it will not propose or support any Plan of Reorganization that does not contain an exculpation or release provision for AFA and each of its current or former members, officers, directors, committee members, employees, advisors, attorneys, accountants, actuaries, investment bankers, consultants, agents and other representatives at least as favorable as any exculpation or release provisions provided for the Company's officers, directors, employees, advisors, attorneys, accountants, actuaries, investment bankers, consultants, agents and other representatives.
- 5. Bankruptcy Protection. From the date of this Letter of Agreement until a date three (3) years from the date of this Letter of Agreement, the Debtors will not file or support any motion ("Motion") pursuant to 11 U.S.C. Sections 1113, 1113(e), or any other relevant provision of the Bankruptcy Code, seeking rejection or modification of, or relief or interim relief from, the Ratified Agreement or this Letter of Agreement and the finalized documents implementing the Ratified Agreement or this Letter of Agreement. The Debtors will actively oppose any such Motion if filed by another party.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Debtors reserve the right to file or support any Motion if there is a material deterioration in the Company's financial condition or financial prospects, whether because of general economic conditions or otherwise. All requirements and provisions of Section 1113 will also remain applicable to any such Motion. AFA reserves its right to object to such Motion and nothing in this Letter of Agreement shall be construed as an agreement by AFA to such modifications or relief.

6. AFA Settlement Consideration As AFA Allowed Claim.

A. In recognition of the Ratified Agreement and in full and complete satisfaction of any and all claims (excluding grievances, disputes, and pending or potential grievances, in each case, set forth in Exhibit 1 hereto, and any litigation associated with any such item set forth in Exhibit 1) AFA has or might arguably have, on behalf of itself or any Flight Attendants represented by AFA pursuant to the Railway

Labor Act ("RLA") and the terms of the CBA, against the Debtors (or any of them) in the Chapter 11 Cases, and subject to the approval of the Court, AFA, on behalf of the flight attendants it represents, will have an allowed general, unsecured prepetition non-priority claim under section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code in the American Airlines, Inc. Chapter 11 Case (Case No. 11-15464) in the amount of \$4.6 million not subject to reconsideration under section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise (the "AFA Allowed Claim"; and any equity and other consideration received in respect of the AFA Allowed Claim or the proceeds of one or more permitted sales of the AFA Allowed Claim or such equity or other consideration are collectively referred to as the "Proceeds"). The AFA Allowed Claim and any Grievance Remedy Amount fully, finally, and completely extinguish any and all claims, interests, causes or demands (including any and all grievances, excluded grievances, disputes, and pending or potential grievances set forth in Exhibit 1 hereto, and any litigation associated with any such item listed in Exhibit 1) AFA has or might arguably have, on behalf of itself or the Flight Attendants represented by AFA pursuant to the RLA or arising under or in connection with the CBA, against the Debtors (or any of them) arising prior to July 27, 2012.

- B. The Company and AFA will discuss in good faith whether, and if so on what terms, a portion of the AFA Allowed Claim shall be in the form of cash or debt (based on the value of the claim otherwise to be received).
- C. AFA will be solely responsible for determining how the AFA/Flight Attendant Allowed Claim, any Grievance Remedy Amount, and any Proceeds will be distributed among Eagle Flight Attendants. The Company will reasonably cooperate with AFA in establishing a mechanism for the distribution of the AFA/Flight Attendant Allowed Claim, any Grievance Remedy Amount or Proceeds, but will not have any responsibility or liability for the distribution of the AFA/Flight Attendant Allowed Claim, any Grievance Remedy Amount, or any distribution to individual Flight Attendants, and the Company will not be required to make any distribution itself to individual Flight Attendants.

The AFA/Flight Attendant Allowed Claim, the Grievance Remedy Amount and the Proceeds will be property of Eagle Flight Attendants represented by AFA (subject to such allocation and distribution referenced in this paragraph) and not property in which AFA itself has any beneficial interest. It is the Company's understanding and AFA has advised the Company that AFA will make allocation decisions regarding the AFA/Flight Attendant Allowed Claim and any distributions in accordance with AFA policy.

- D. AFA further agrees that the AFA Allowed Claim may not be assigned or transferred (including the granting of any participation) prior to the effective date of a plan of reorganization, except with the express written consent of Eagle, exercised in its sole discretion.
- 7. Alternative Settlement Consideration. To the extent the Company agrees to provide settlement consideration in the form of equity or other value (other than the amount of the allowed administrative expense claim provided for in Paragraph 6. above, ("Settlement Consideration") to any other labor union at Eagle that is in excess of the AFA/Flight Attendant Allowed Claim when compared to the size and payroll of such other union, the Company agrees to meet with AFA and negotiate in good faith for the provision of Settlement Consideration to AFA on the same relative terms and basis. For the avoidance of doubt, any such Settlement Consideration for AFA would be in lieu of the AFA/Flight Attendant Allowed Claim in Paragraph 6., if such Settlement Consideration would exceed the value of the AFA Allowed Claim, and the provisions of Paragraph 6. would not apply to any such Settlement Consideration for AFA unless specifically agreed in such negotiations thereon.
- 8. <u>Court Approval</u>. With the full and active support of AFA, the Company will file and execute a motion for approval and assumption of the CBA(s) contemplated by the Ratified Agreement and this Letter of Agreement under sections 363 and 105 of the Bankruptcy Code and any other applicable sections thereof. Both the motion and the proposed order attached thereto (the "363 Order") shall be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to AFA. Both the Company and AFA will use their reasonable best efforts to obtain the support of the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors and other parties and stakeholders for the Ratified Agreement, including this Letter of Agreement, and to seek entry of the "363 Order".

9. <u>Superseding Effect</u>. This letter entirely replaces and supersedes the prior letter dated July 26th, 2012 between Eagle and AFA bearing the subject "Administrative Expense Claim and Bankruptcy Protections", which prior letter, upon the date of execution by Eagle and AFA of this Agreement, shall have no further force or effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement on this 18th day of December, 2012.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.	FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO
/s/ Cathy McCann Cathy McCann Human Resources	/s/ Sara Nelson Sara Nelson International President
/s/ Beverly K. Goulet	/s/ Robert Barrow
Beverly K. Goulet	Robert Barrow
Vice-President, Corporate Development	MEC President
and Treasurer	
American Airlines, Inc.	
On behalf of American Airlines, Inc.	/s/ Debora Sutor
solely for the purpose of binding	Debra Sutor
American Airlines, Inc.	Chairperson, Negotiating Committee
to the first sentence of Paragraph 6 of this	
Letter of Agreement and to no other provision.	
/s/ Linda Kunz	/s/ Armando Ramos
Linda Kunz	Armando Ramos
Vice President – Flight Service	Negotiating Committee Member
	/s/ John Grace
	John Grace
	Negotiating Committee Member

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo

Paula Mastrangelo Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER - W

LETTER OF AGREEMENT
between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
Flight Attendants
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by

THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

Dispute Resolution Process for "Included" Claims to the 1113 Administrative Claim Letter of Agreement

THIS LETTER OF AGREEMENT is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by and between ENVOY AIR, INC. ("Company") and the Flight Attendants in the service of the Company, as represented by the ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO ("Association").

WHEREAS the Company and the Association have agreed to a supported Administrative Claim in accordance with the 1113 Administrative Claim Letter of Agreement;

WHEREAS, as a condition of that Letter of Agreement, and with the exception of those claims listed on Exhibit 1 attached to the 1113 Administrative Expense Claim and Bankruptcy Protections Letter of Agreement, the parties have agreed to resolve all grievances <u>not expressly excluded by the 1113 Administrative Claim Letter of Agreement and filed by the Association prior to July 27, 2012. These shall be considered the "Included Claims".</u>

NOW THEREFORE, the following process will be employed to reach final disposition of the Included Claims:

- 1. The parties will meet and agree on the list of Included Claims and attempt to reach accord on the final disposition of each grievance.
- Any grievance left unresolved will be processed through the Grievance Mediation
 procedure already employed by the Association and the Company. The parties
 will employ the assistance of a National Mediation Board Mediator for this
 purpose.
- Those grievances which remain unresolved after being discussed in Grievance
 Mediation may be submitted by the Association to the Expedited Arbitration
 Procedure outlined in Side Letter Q of this Agreement, attached hereto.
- 4. It is the intent of the Association and the Company to complete the Expedited Arbitration Procedure promptly by scheduling consecutive days of hearings and slotting multiple cases per day as allowed for per Side Letter Q of this Agreement.
- 5. It is understood that any grievance remedy that is paid to a Flight Attendant for any of the Included Claims, whether through direct agreement between the parties, through Grievance Mediation, or resulting from an Expedited Arbitration award, shall be paid from funds realized from the provisions outlined in the 1113 Administrative Expense Claims and Bankruptcy Protections Letter of Agreement. The amount of any such payment may be adjusted at the sole discretion of the Association depending on the proceeds realized from the unsecured claim.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement on this 27th day of February, 2013.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT
ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz /s/ Robert Barrow

LINDA KUNZ 02/27/2013 ROBERT BARROW 02/27/2013
Visc President Elight Service Meeter Executive Council President

Vice President-Flight Service Master Executive Council President

SIDELETTER – X

LETTER OF AGREEMENT
between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
Flight Attendants
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by

THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

Implementation Bankruptcy Agreement and Disposition of Side letters

This Agreement is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, between Envoy Air, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") and the Flight Attendants in the service of the Company, as represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as the "Association").

NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to and understood by and between the parties to this letter of agreement regarding the implementation schedule of the provisions enumerated below from the bankruptcy Agreement ratified by the Flight Attendants on September 7, 2012.

Section 8: Scheduling

8.K.2.c. – This provision is applicable to Hybrid Line holders.

Section 10: Vacation

10.M.2. – PVD's which will be deducted from vacation blocks scheduled in the calendar years 2013, 2014 and 2015 may not be deducted from an Unpaid block of vacation.

Section 11: Sick Leave

Sick Time Transition Implementation

- On January 1, 2013 Flight Attendants will have all accrued sick time, earned in 2012, deposited into their sick bank for immediate use.
- From January 1, 2013 through June 30, 2013, a Flight Attendant's sick bank will be credited with two hours and thirty minutes (2:30) of paid sick time on a monthly basis for each month in which they were on active payroll for 15 or more days.
- Monthly sick time accruals will be deposited into each eligible Flight
 Attendant's sick bank on the first day of the bid month following a
 qualifying month, as outlined in paragraph 2. above.
- 4. On July 1, 2013, the Company will calculate each Flight Attendant's pay credit hours earned from January 1, 2013 through June 30, 2013. The table in Section 20.C.3.b. of this Agreement will then be used to determine a Flight Attendant's entitlement to full/partial sick leave accrual beginning July 1, 2013 and for each month thereafter. The qualifying active payroll provision outlined in paragraph 2. above shall no longer apply.
- 5. For all subsequent years the period of accrual shall be the period from July 1st through June 30th for benefits eligibility for the following year.

New Hires:

- a. Flight Attendants hired in 2012 will be credited with two hours and thirty minutes (2:30) of paid sick time for each month (or pro-ration thereof) they were on active payroll for 15 or more days in the year 2012. Such time will be deposited into their sick bank for immediate use on January 2013. (Current Collective Bargaining Agreement)
- From January 1, 2013 through June 30, 2013, a (new hire)
 Flight Attendant's sick bank will be credited with two hours

and thirty minutes (2:30) of paid sick time on a monthly basis for each month in which they were on active payroll for 15 or more days.

- c. New Flight Attendants hired in any year between the dates of July 1st and June 30th of the following year, will use the proration table in Section 20.C.3.b. of this Agreement to determine their full/partial sick leave accrual credit entitlement scheduled to begin July 1st of that same year and continue through June 30th of the following year.
- d. A new hire Flight Attendant will accrue monthly sick leave credit during the probationary period; however, she/he may not use such accrued leave until she/he has completed the first six (6) months of service.

Example: A Flight Attendant hired October 1st, 2013 will accrue 2:30 hours of sick leave per month. After the completion of probation on April 1, 2014 that Flight Attendant will be credited with 9 hours of sick leave which will be immediately available for use. She/he will continue to accrue 2:30 hours each month thereafter through June 30th, 2014. On July 1, 2014 the Company will calculate the Flight Attendant's pay credit hours earned from October 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. This Flight Attendant will have 9 months of active service on June 30, 2014. Therefore, using the table in Section 20.C.3.b. of this Agreement, this Flight Attendant must have earned a minimum of 405 pay credit hours to earn full time sick leave benefits and 262:30 pay credit hours for partial sick leave benefits to be credited each month beginning in July 2014.

Section 12: Uniforms

Uniform Points Implementation

 On January 1, 2013 a Flight Attendant will be credited with 12 uniform points.

- 2. Beginning July 1, 2013 the Company will calculate each Flight Attendant's pay credit hours earned from January 1, 2013 through June 30, 2013. The table in Section 20.C.3.b. of this Agreement will then be used to determine a Flight Attendant's entitlement to full/partial uniform point accrual and the appropriate number of points shall be credited to each eligible Flight Attendant beginning January 1, 2014 and in accordance with Section 12.C.1. of this Agreement.
- 3. For all subsequent years the period of accrual shall be the period from July 1st through June 30th for benefits eligibility for the following year.
- 4. Flight Attendants hired after January 1st of any calendar year will have their benefit eligibility hours, as cited in Section 20.C.3.b. of this Agreement, pro-rated using a calculation of measure from the time they are placed on active payroll through June 30th of the same year.

Section 20: Insurance

The period of credit hour accrual shall be the period from January 1, 2013 to June 30, 2013 for benefits eligibility commencing January 1, 2014 and the credited hours shall be prorated using the table in Section 20.C.3.b. of this Agreement.

Scheduled Implementation Schedule:

Section	Item	Scheduled Implementation Date
4	Compensation	
4.A.2.	Longevity Pay	1-Jan-13
4.E.	Deadheading Pay (50% pay)	1-Jan-13
4.F.4.	Reserve OT Pay	1-Jan-13
5	Expenses	
5.A.1.	Per diem	1-Jan-13
5.B.1.	Parking/Public Transportation	1-Jan-13
7	Hours of Service	
7.D.2.a-		
b.	Golden Days swap/trade	1-Jan-13
7.E.1.a.	Comp Rest Programming (must start)	1-Feb-13

7.E.3.a.	Rest out of domicile	1-Jan-13
8	Scheduling	
8.2.	Bid Package (RBL, Hybrid Lines)	1-Feb-13
8.C.2.	Reserve Line Construction	1-Feb-13
8.C.3.	Reserve Block Lines	1-Feb-13
8.C.4.	Hybrid Lines (Pay)	1-Feb-13
8.D.3.	Bid Committee (24 hours)	1-Jan-13
8.E.9.	Bid Award Error	1-Jan-13
8.G.2.	Known Open Time	1-Jan-13
8.F.7.	Managers Picked up OT	1-Jan-13
8.J.10.	OE from another Base	1-Jan-13
8.J.11.	Jet-bridge Transaction	1-Jan-13
8.N.	Order of Assignments	1-Jan-13
8.0.3.	Junior Manning	1-Jan-13
8.0.5.	JM/EX add EX Volunteer List	1-Jan-13
8.R.1.a.	Crew Scheduling Recording (60 Days)	1-Jan-13
9	Reserve	
9.C.2.a.	Credit Reserve Codes	1-Jan-13
9.E.	Two (2) hour call out	1-Jan-13
10	Vacation	
10.A.2.	Vacation Accrual Posted Online	Completed 11/1/12
10.B.	Annual Vacation Bid	Completed 11/1/12
10.D.1.	Vacation Pay-Touching Leg Unpaid	1-Jan-13
10.D.3.	Flying during Vacation (monthly email)	1-Jan-13
10.G.2.e.	Day Pairings-Slide	1-Jan-13
10.G.3.	Reserve Slide	1-Jan-13
10.H.1.b.	Vacation Conflicts (touching leg)	1-Jan-13
10.N.	PO (1%)	1-Jan-13
11	Sick Leave	
11.A.	Accrual	1-Jan-13
11.J.	Sick Donation	1-Jan-13
12	Uniforms	
12.C.	Point System	1-Jan-13
	Remove Cleaning Allowance	1-Jan-13
14	Seniority	

14.B.1.b.	Print Seniority–Appendix C	Include In Final Printing
15	Filling of Vacancies	
15.B.3.a.	TDY while on VC	1-Jan-13
18	Leave of Absence	
18.B.1.a.	Bereavement Days 1-Jan-13	
18.D.5.	Medical Leave Duration	Implemented
19	Training	
19.A.1-4.	Training Dates Published Online	1-Jan-13
19.C.	Touching Legs Pay	1-Jan-13
19.H.3.	In Domicile Hotel	1-Jan-13
19.N.	Distance Learning	1-Feb-13
19.Q.	Training Failures	1-Jan-13
20	Retirement, Insurance and Benefits Q	ualifications
20.C.	Benefits Qualification	1-Jan-13 – 30-Jun-13
23	Union Security and Dues Check-Off	
23.L.	Pegasus Program	1-Jan-13
23.L. 26	Pegasus Program Safety and Health	1-Jan-13
	•	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13
26	Safety and Health	
26 26.D.1.c.	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo	1-Jan-13
26 26.D.1.c. 31	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13
26 26.D.1.c. 31 34	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy Hotels Hotel Standards	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13
26 26.D.1.c. 31 34 34.D.	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy Hotels Hotel Standards	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13
26 26.D.1.c. 31 34 34.D. Sideletter	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy Hotels Hotel Standards	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13
26 26.D.1.c. 31 34 34.D. Sideletters M.	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy Hotels Hotel Standards PBS	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 TBD
26 26.D.1.c. 31 34 34.D. Sideletter: M. N.	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy Hotels Hotel Standards PBS Profit Sharing Plan	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 TBD 1-Jan-13
26 26.D.1.c. 31 34 34.D. Sideletter M. N. Q.	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy Hotels Hotel Standards PBS Profit Sharing Plan Expedited Arbitration	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 TBD 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13
26 26.D.1.c. 31 34 34.D. Sideletters M. N. Q. R.	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy Hotels Hotel Standards PBS Profit Sharing Plan Expedited Arbitration Early Out	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 Completed
26 26.D.1.c. 31 34 34.D. Sideletters M. N. Q. R.	Safety and Health Hygienic and Sanitary Safety Demo Report to Work and CP Policy Hotels Hotel Standards PBS Profit Sharing Plan Expedited Arbitration Early Out CIC	1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 1-Jan-13 Completed

SIDE LETTERS TO ADD/RETAIN:

ASAP (retain) ... new SL L.

TTOT Side Letter [A1] paragraph AA – any changes to TTOT must be negotiated. Need to affect another LOA with this paragraph.

- SL A (Retention of company seniority)
- SL B deleted (incorporated into 1.E.2.)
- SL C (employment consideration)
- SL D re-write: If Envoy Air acquires a/c with a spare jumpseat; the priority with that jumpseat will be for Envoy Air Flight Attendants.
- SL E (SJU early vacation pay) delete
- SL F (SJU Christmas Bonus) delete
- SL G deleted obsolete
- SL H me-too w/pilot Junior Manned pay put in 8.O.6.
- SL J deleted obsolete
- SL K deleted moved raises into Section 4
- SL L (CIC SL) delete and replace w/new CIC LOA SL T
- SL M (Boston Parking) delete
- SL N (Fatigue) Delete moved to 26.M.
- SL O (Overtime make up) delete moved to 8.L.6.
- SL P (Airport Standbys no extensions) delete moved to 8.O.1.b.
- SL Q (critical incident) delete moved to Section 32.
- SL R (Cuba Flying) delete moved to 30.G.
- SL S (bottled water) delete moved to 26.D.1.a.
- SL T (Anticipated misconnection) Leave as SL reference in contract in Section 8.F.8. (new) To reclaim flying when a misconnect is anticipated, see SL D.
- SL U (SJU maternity benefits) retain new SL E.
- SL V (Cleaning A/C) delete moved to 26.L.1.a.
- SL W (Prior Knowledge of Rest/Days Off in domicile) delete moved to 7.E.1.a.
- SL X (Standby Reserve) delete moved to Section 9 placed at the end
- SL Y (Late Report) delete moved to Section 31 Commuter Policy
- SL Z (Uniform Cleaning Allowance Simmons) delete
- SL AA (Assignment to New Flying when 2 FA crew loses time) delete moved to 8.F.5.

- SL BB (PM Airport Reserve) delete moved to 9.F.4.
- SL CC (Line value, Pairing Trades) delete moved to 2.00.
- SL DD (TDY bidding/awarding) delete moved to 15.B.
- SL EE (A12 travel for pick-ups out of domicile) delete moved to 8.M.1.a.
- SL FF (Personal LOA, non-probationary) delete moved to 18.A.1.
- SL GG (PO cap) delete incorporate #1 into 10.N.1.a.
- SL HH (Assignment to new flying when notified > 24 hours prior) delete –moved to 8.F.6.
- SL II (Return to Domicile Extension) delete moved to 8.O.2.
- SL JJ (PE days) delete moved to 10.0.1.
- SL KK (SJU Christmas Bonus) delete
- SL LL (Calculation of Per Diem for Special Assignment) delete moved to 5.A.4.
- SL MM (Pairing Trade out of domicile for Union biz) delete moved to 24.D.6.
- SL NN (Voluntary waiver of Required Rest following an Extension) -delete moved to 8.O.1.g.
- SL OO (Redacted Complaint Letter)-delete #1 moved to 27.B.2.b.; #2 moved to 22.M.1.
- SL PP (Repaying an Overpayment)-delete moved to 4.M.- 4.M.3. corrected on payment amount
- SL QQ (DTS) delete made obsolete by TTOT SL.
- SL RR (Critical Coverage Pay) delete moved to 8.O.8.a.

Disposition of Side Letters Outside of the Agreement

- SL A1 delete Everything incorporated already Except for paragraph #2 which was inserted into 4.C.3.
- SL B1 delete moved to 15.A.5.
- SL C1 delete already incorporated into 17.A.2.h. and 17.B.2.j.
- SL D1 delete Hotel w/o water moved to 34.E.
- SL E1 delete (Displacement/Vol furlough) moved to Section 17
- SL F1 redo as in Section 24 (FPL for Union biz) partially moved to Section 24 except CIC component which must be addressed in new CIC SL.
- SL G1 delete (series of emails: OT flyback on PU/UU) moved to 24.D.4.
- SL H1 delete (Paper-bidding/unpaid pairing drops) moved to 24.D.2.b.
- SL I1 delete (Unpaid union drops) moved to 24.D.3.
- SL J1 delete (Straight bill FPL) moved to 24.D.2.c.
- SL K1 delete (Union drops) moved to 24.D.1.a-b.

- SL L1 delete (Relax restriction of Pairing Drops) obsolete
- SL M1 delete (Reserve Order of Assignment) moved to 9.C.4.e. and 8.O.3.b.iii.
- SL N1 delete (Precursor to TTOT LOA) obsolete
- SL O1 delete (Treatment of voluntarily furloughed BOS FAs) obsolete
- SL P1 keep as a side letter but need to change site references in SL -
- [8.D.2.a. should be 8.F.2.a.]
- SL Q1 delete (CUBA SL) obsolete replaced with new CUBA LOA
- SL R1 delete covered in new definition of Positive Contact
- SL S1 delete (NY domicile min reserve call out) moved to 29.I.
- SL T1 delete (Travel on PO days) moved to 10.N.9.
- SL U1 delete (Domicile Transfer Award Date) moved to 15.A.2.b.
- SL V1 delete (A12 travel for SB meetings) moved to 22.H.
- SL W1 delete (FA ability to copy medical file) moved to 28.D.
- SL X1 delete (Travel to Training) moved to 19.G.
- SL Y1 delete (Automatic External Defibrillators Indemnification) moved to 26.O.
- SL Z1 delete (Arbitration Award Vacation/FMLA) moved to 18.G.7.
- SL AA1 delete (series of letters FMLA paper bid) moved to 8.E.7. (General statement any leave with pay, FA can paper bid) and 18.G.5. (FMLA-specific provision) and 18.G.4. (Co can only count days of scheduled work toward FMLA maximum)
- SL BB1 delete (Document Review Process) moved to 22.M.
- SL CC1 delete (Commuter Policy Packet) pilots/FAs commuting back from vacation can use Commuter Policy moved to 31.B.1.
- SL DD1 delete (Reserve Daily Assignments 1st day of month) moved to 9.C.4.a.
- SL EE1 delete (Moving Expenses FA can take w/in 1 yr. of triggering event) 6.E.3.
- TTOT SL 48 hours for DTS moved to 10.H.

AGREED this 17th day of January, 2013.

FOR: FOR: FOR: FOR ENVOY AIR, INC. FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

 /s/ Linda Kunz
 /s/ Sara Nelson

 Linda Kunz
 Sara Nelson

 Vice President – Flight Service
 International President

 /s/ Robert Barrow

Robert Barrow, MEC President
/s/ Debora Sutor

Debora Sutor, Chairperson, Negotiating Committee

/s/ Paula Mastrangelo
Paula Mastrangelo, Staff Negotiator

SIDELETTER - Y

LETTER OF AGREEMENT by and betwixt ENVOY AIR, INC. and the FLIGHT ATTENDANTS in the service of ENVOY AIR as represented by the ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA. AFL-CIO

Compensating Union-appointed PBS Trainers

THIS LETTER OR AGREEMENT is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by and betwixt Envoy Air (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") and the Flight Attendants in the service of Envoy Air, as represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as the "Union).

The parties acknowledge that the system by which Flight Attendants select their monthly work schedules is transitioning from a monthly bidding and awarding of fixed schedules to a system of "Preferential Bidding" in which a Flight Attendant will have the opportunity to construct her/his own line of flying based on individual preferences.

During this transition period, certain individuals have been appointed by the Company and certain individuals have been appointed by the Union to train Flight Attendants on the Preferential Bidding System.

The parties agree that Envoy Air will compensate Flight Attendants on the system seniority list who have been appointed by the Union to serve as "PBS Trainers" on the same basis as those individuals appointed by the Company.

- The pay calculation formula to be used will be that described in CBA Section 4.I. ("Special Assignment").
- In addition, these individuals, whether appointed by the Company or by the Union will be paid per diem in accordance with CBA Section 4.I.

 This Sideletter is signed on a non-precedent setting basis. It may not be interpreted to establish any binding practice or course of dealing between the parties.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz
Linda Kunz
08/05/2013
Vice President – Flight Service

/s/ Sara Nelson
Sara Nelson 08/12/2013
International President

/s/ Robert Barrow
Robert Barrow 08/05/2013
President-AFA MEC

/s/ Richard Wrede
Richard Wrede 08/12/2013
Senior Attorney

SIDELETTER - Z

LETTER OF AGREEMENT by and betwixt ENVOY AIR, INC. and the FLIGHT ATTENDANTS in the service of ENVOY AIR as represented by the ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA. AFL-CIO

Buddy Bidding-Amendment of CBA Section 8.E.8.c.

THIS LETTER OR AGREEMENT is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, by and betwixt Envoy Air (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") and the Flight Attendants in the service of Envoy Air, as represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as the "Union).

1. The parties have mutually agreed to amend Section 8.E.8.c The language contained in paragraph 8.E.8.c. as published in the tentative agreement signed on July 26, 2012 is replaced as follows:

If no bidline is found with two (2) open positions that can be held by both Flight Attendants, or if the Buddy Bid Link is never established, the "Buddy Bid" will be considered "busted." Each Flight Attendant of the busted Buddy Bid will be awarded an individual bidline. Such lines will both be awarded at the seniority of the most junior Flight Attendant of the busted bid.

 It is understood that this Sideletter is restricted to an amendment of Section 8.E.8.c. of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. It is not intended to amend, alter, replace or in any way change any other portion of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. Any such implication is expressly denied and rejected by the parties. FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ Linda Kunz		/s/ Sara Nelson	
Linda Kunz	08/14/2013	Sara Nelson	08/14/2013
Vice President – Flig	ht Service	International President	
		/s/ Robert Barrow	
		Robert Barrow	08/14/2013
		President-AFA MEC	
		/s/ Richard Wrede	
		Richard Wrede	08/14/2013
		Senior Attorney	

SIDELETTER - AA

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
by and betwixt
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
FLIGHT ATTENDANTS
in the service of
ENVOY AIR INC.
as represented by the
ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA. AFL-CIO

DELETION OF REFERENCE TO "EL FONDO"

This Memorandum is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, betwixt Envoy Air, Inc. and Association of Flight Attendants-CWA, AFL-CIO.

- 1. The parties agree to delete all references to "El Fondo" from Section 35 of the agreement.
- Notwithstanding the deletion of references to "El Fondo" the parties acknowledge
 that a Flight Attendant retains the right to have her/his Workers Compensation
 claim administered through El Fondo or its successor agency provided Puerto
 Rico and El Fondo accept jurisdiction for the claim.
- If a Flight Attendant chooses to process her/his workers compensation claim through El Fondo, she/he may use accrued sick leave and/or vacation to make up the difference between the El Fondo benefits and two-thirds (2/3) of the Flight Attendant's average weekly wage.
- 4. A Flight Attendant may use her/his sick leave and/or vacation time during the statutory waiting period. Such Flight Attendant's sick bank and/or vacation bank will be restored if the IOD leave exceeds the statutory waiting period and the Flight Attendant receives state-paid income replacement for that time. The Flight

Attendant will repay the Company for the El Fondo benefits received for the waiting period and that amount (converted to equivalent pay hours) will be restored to her/his sick leave and/or vacation bank.

 Unless specifically altered by this Memorandum of Understanding, all other sections of the collective bargaining agreement remain unchanged in full force and effect.

ENVOY AIR, INC.

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ LINDA KUNZ /s/ ROBERT BARROW

LINDA KUNZ 02/26/2014 ROBERT BARROW 02/26/2014 Vice President-Flight Service Master Executive Council President

SIDELETTER - BB

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

between

ENVOY AIR, INC.

and the

FLIGHT ATTENDANTS

in the service of

ENVOY AIR, INC.

as represented by the

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS – CWA, AFL-CIO

TDY Bidding and Awarding Timeline

The Association of Flight Attendants-CWA (Association) and Envoy Air, Inc. (Company) acknowledge that with the implementation of a Preferential Bidding System (PBS), an alternate bidding and awarding timeline for Temporary Duty Assignment (TDY) may be appropriate in order to accommodate full participation in the PBS Pre-Bid.

This agreement will be in place, on a trial basis for ninety (90) calendar days following the first occurrence of a TDY bid, measured from the initial notification to Flight Attendants that a TDY assignment is available for bid. At the conclusion of the trial period, the parties must either mutually agree to make the provisions of the trial period permanent or mutually agree to an alteration. If there is no mutual agreement on either continuing or changing the bidding timeline below, then the TDY timeline will revert back to the original timeline provided below.

TRIAL TDY BIDDING/AWARDING TIMELINE:

TDY announced (bid opens) 7th of the month TDY bid closes 10th of the month

ORIGINAL TDY BIDDING/AWARDING TIMELINE:

TDY announced (bid opens) 10th of the month TDY bid closes (close 1000, award noon) 15th of the month IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Letter of Agreement this 5th day of December, 2013

For Association of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO For Envoy Air, Inc.

/s/ Sara Nelson	/s/ Linda Kunz
Sara Nelson	Linda Kunz
International President	Vice President, Flight Service
/s Robert Barrow	/s/ Matt Bartle
Robert Barrow	Matt Bartle
MEC President	Counsel, Employee Relations
/s/ John Grace	
John Grace	
PBS Chairperson	
/s/ Paula Mastrangelo	
Paula Mastrangelo	
Staff Negotiator	

SIDELETTER - CC

between
ENVOY AIR, INC.
and the
Flight Attendants
in the service of
ENVOY AIR, INC.
as represented by

THE ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS—CWA, AFL-CIO

CHANGES REQUIRED FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF PREFERENTIAL BIDDING SYSTEM

This Agreement is made and entered into in accordance with the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, between Envoy Air, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") and the Flight Attendants in the service of the Company, as represented by the Association of Flight Attendants-CWA (hereinafter referred to as the "Association").

WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge that the introduction of a Preferential Bidding System (PBS) requires that certain provisions of the Envoy Air Flight Attendant Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) and of Side Letter M: Implementation of Preferential Bidding System (SL M) require modification. To fully effectuate PBS, the parties have met and agree to implement the following amendments to the CBA upon implementation of PBS.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to and understood by and between the parties to this Letter of Agreement regarding the implementation of a Preferential Bidding System (PBS) that the following changes will be made to the CBA language:

Change Key:

Underlined = from SL M
bold = new language
Struck = deleted language
Normal text = CBA language

GLOBAL CHANGES (new)

- 1) Change all references to "sequences" and "pairings" to "pairings."
- 2) Part time becomes "Reduced Guarantee."

SECTION 2: DEFINITIONS

The following additions, deletions and modifications to Section 2 will be made to accommodate PBS Implementation:

- 2.D. change "pairing" to "pairing"
- 2.L. "BridgeTrip" becomes "Bridge Pairing"
- 2.KK "Hybrid Lines" deleted

"HYBRID LINES" are lines of time that contain the first or second half of a bid month as reserve availability days and the other half of that month dedicated for trips. The bid package will show all hybrid lines available for bid in any given month.

2.NN. JPBSC – Means the Joint Preferential Bidding System Committee which shall be a joint Company/Association Committee composed of a minimum of two (2) members from the Company and a minimum of two (2) members from the Association. The Committee shall maintain oversight of all significant matters regarding implementation and continuing operation of PBS as well as any future enhancements or changes.

2.PP "Trip or Trip Pairing or Trip Sequence" delete and REPLACE term with "Pairing"

2.BBB "Regular Line" deleted

"REGULAR LINE" means a line of time on the monthly schedule consisting of flying made available to Flight Attendants for bid.

2.CCC (Relief Lines) deleted

"RELIEF LINE" means a monthly schedule built and awarded after the bids are awarded and transitions are completed, but before initial open time is posted, except as provided in Section 8.E.5.

(new definition) "Protest Window" means either the period after the pre-bid window closes during which a Flight Attendant may protest her/his pre-bid award and/or the period after bid closing during which a Flight Attendant may protest her/his bid award

(new definition) "Monthly Pre-bidding System" Website that allows Flight Attendants to pre-bidding and be awarded ing of specific options not available in regular PBS. This pre-bidding process takes place prior to regular PBS bidding.

(new definition) "Flight Operating System (FOS) Lockout" means a period of time during the bidding window in which the last six (6) days of the current bid month may not be impacted by scheduling transactions such as <u>pairing</u> trades, optional exchanges, etc.ing.

(new definition) "Carry-In/ Carry-out" means the portion of a <u>pairing</u> that crosses contractual months.

2.VV "Paper Bid" means a bid award for a contractual bid month for pay purposes only (i.e. not actually given a line) but the Flight Attendant is not obligated to fly, except in extreme circumstances. In the PBS system, this is referred to as "Shadow Bidding."

SECTION 4: COMPENSATION

The following additions, deletions and modifications to Section 4 will be made to accommodate PBS Implementation:

4.C. Cancellation Credit/Adjusted Guarantee

1. A Flight Attendant who is available for a full month and is awarded a regular or relief line of flying will be guaranteed ninety-six percent (96%) of the scheduled flight credit hours awarded on her/his final bid award: plotted during the PBS build for that bid month. Such scheduled credit hours will include time carried in from the previous bid month.

4.C.3. delete (24 Hour Pairing Trade Window Adjustment) 24 Hour Trip Trade Window Adjustment

Time added or deducted during the twenty-four hour (24:00) Automated Trip Trade with Open Time Window following the publication of preliminary bid awards will affect the amound of time shown on a Flight Attendant's final bid award by the amount of additional time acquired or the amount of time traded away. A Flight Attendant who pairing trades for lower time pairing(s) may reduce his/her minimum monthly gurantee.

SECTION 7: HOURS OF SERVICE

The following additions, deletions and modifications to Section 7 will be made to accommodate PBS Implementation:

7.A.4. delete (provisions concerning month-month pairing conflicts) and renumber 7.A. paragraphs

If a Flight Attendant is awarded a pairing sequence that continues into the following month and causes her/his projection for the following month to exceed the one hundred (100:00) limitation, she/he may elect to complete the pairing sequence. If the Flight Attendant does not elect to complete the pairing sequence that continues into the following month, the Company will determine which leg(s) to remove from her/his schedule in order to reduce her/his projected block hours in the following month to one hundred (100:00) or less.

7.C.2. A Flight Attendant will receive one (1) calendar day free from duty in her/his domicile in any seven-day period. However, a Flight Attendant at her/his discretion, may elect a 24-hour break from duty in any seven day period to accommodate her/his request(s) for pairing trades, optional exchanges and/or pick-ups of open time. However, if a Flight Attendant adjusts her/his schedule (OT pick up, pairing trade, etc.) for the end of the current month before the final bid awards are made for the following month and such schedule adjustment puts her/him into a one in seven conflict after bids are awarded, the Flight Attendant shall not be considered to have waived the calendar day off. One day of flying shall be removed in order to accommodate the Flight Attendant's right to one day free from duty in any seven-day period.

Changes to "Golden Days" procedures to allow for PBS and increase Reserves' options:

7.D.2. The Company PBS will construct lines of time with duty days grouped together, and days off grouped together in which there are at least two periods of two (2) days free from duty. In addition, the "default" construction for the lines of Reserve Flight Attendants will be constructed with at least one (1) period of four (4) consecutive days off, and at least one (1) period of three (3) Golden Days. Such default parameters may be waived by the Flight Attendant. Reserve lines will include one The set of three (3) Golden Days off will be placed consecutively on a Reserve's line in any block of three or more days off. Golden Day placement will always start with the first day of a block of days off. When more than one block of three or more days off exist in the bid month, such Golden Days will be placed on the set of days off which were given the highest priority within the Flight Attendant's submitted bid. Such Golden Days off cannot be changed or removed by the Company for any reason without the approval of the Flight Attendant. Golden Days will be built into the bid line and will be bid upon as part of the line by those Flight Attendants bidding reserve lines. A Flight Attendant may swap her/his complete set of Golden Days off for another Flight Attendant's complete set of Golden Days off so long as the trading of such sets of Golden Days does not create a conflict with the Flight Attendant's Reserve schedule.

7.E.1.b. Lines of time for a month Pairings will be constructed with a minimum of ten hours (10:00) of rest in domicile and a minimum of eight and one-half hours (8:30) of rest in out stations.

7.E.1.c. Lines of time for a month will be constructed with a minimum of ten hours (10:00) of rest in domicile. Such rest limitation may be waived by the Flight Attendant to FAR + 45 minutes.

Changes to CDO line construction to reflect PBS Implementation:

- 7.F.2. . Flight Attendant schedules will be constructed with no more than three (3) consecutive CDOs. Such CDO groupings shall be followed by not less than two (2) calendar days off. Flight Attendants may bid for and be awarded a "CDO" line in the Monthly Pre-bidding System.
- 7.F.3. Wherever possible, the Company will construct lines of flying that contain only CDOs. CDO lines will be constructed with no more than three (3) consecutive CDOs. Such CDO groupings shall be followed by not less than two (2) calendar days off.
- **7.F.4.** No more than four (4) consecutive CDOs will be scheduled for a Flight Attendant during the transition period.

SECTION 8: SCHEDULING

The following additions, deletions and modifications to Section 84 will be made to accommodate PBS Implementation:

[CBA 8.A.1.a. is moved to 8.A.2. and 8.B.. CBA 8.A.1. is replaced the following:] [CBA 8.A.b.-q. are deleted]

8.A.1. The Company will utilize and maintain a Preferential Bidding System (PBS), meeting the requirements in this section and the Collective Bargaining Agreement for the construction and awarding of flight schedules and Reserve Lines of Time (New). [SL M 12.a]

[TA Section 8.A.1.b-g]

b. Bid Closing Date

Bidding will close at 1200, Central Time (CT) at the domicile, five (5) days after electronic posting.

c. Preliminary Bid Awards

Preliminary bid awards will be posted electronically and via AVARS later on the same date as the bids close.

d. Transition Adjustments Period and Open Time Window The Company will utilize the four days following Preliminary bid awards to resolve scheduling conflicts during the transition

period.

e. A twenty-four (24) hour Automated Pairing Trade with Open Time window opens at 1200 CT no later than seven (7) days prior to the next contractual month. No Pairing Drops, Open Time Pick Up or Manual Trades with Open Time will be allowed during this window.

f. No later than six (6) days prior to the next contractual bid month, the Automated Pairing Trade Twenty-Four (24) hour window closes at 1200 CT and relief lines will be constructed.

g. Final Awards

Final bid awards will be posted as soon as available but in no case less than four (4) days prior to the start of the next contractual month. Automated Pairing Trading with full functionality begins concurrently with the publishing of final bid awards at 1200 CT. Flight Attendants may also begin submitting requests for Manual Trades at this time.

8.A.2. Monthly Bidding Process Bid Information

a.

Schedules for bidding purposes will be posted electronically to each Flight Attendant at each domicile on or before sixteen(16) days prior to the start of the next contractual month. Paper bid packages will be made available to each Flight Attendant at each domicile fifteen (15) days prior to the start of the next contractual month. In the event that the Company needs to adjust this timeline due to unforeseen circumstances, the Company will notify the Association as soon as possible.

Pairing information will be made electronically available via a home access computer system and the Company computer terminals located in each domicile on or before the date of pairing information package distribution. One hard copy of the pairing information package will be available at each domicile or co-terminal. Pairing information packages, and online access, shall contain all of the pairing information, for all of the scheduled pairings in a given domicile and its co-domiciles. Each domicile's bid package The pairing information package shall state the anticipated number of bid lines and reserve lines that will be awarded in each that domicile, the line average for the month in the domicile, the minimum and maximum hours a line can be built to in the domicile, and the training dates and locations for the domicile. [SL M 12.e.]

[CBA 8.B. is moved to 8.D. and replaced with the following from CBA 8.A.1. and 8.E.:]

8. B. Monthly Bidding Process

- **8.B.1.** A Flight Attendant will bid in her/his specific domicile (When "domicile" is used herein, it will include any co-domicile). A Flight Attendant may enter a default standing bid and it shall remain in force until one of the following occurs: 1) Base Transfer 2) TDY award 3) Flight Attendant changes bid. [SL M 12.b.]
- a.
- i. Carry-ins/absences/pre-awards that are known at the time of bidding, will be pre-planned in the bid process, and credited in the new month.[SL M 12.b. iii.]
- ii. Flight Attendants on a paper-bid status, whose bid will be for pay purposes only, will be able to bid and be awarded a schedule without impacting other active Flight Attendants' awards.[SL M 12.b.i.]
- iii. A Flight Attendant who obtains medical clearance prior to the close of bids will be allowed to bid during the bidding process, and will be awarded a schedule for the entire bid period or that portion of the month for which she/he will be available. If available for less than the full bid period, the number of minimum days off will be prorated based upon the numbers of days available per the chart below and the Flight Attendant will receive a "soft" credit in accordance with the chart below for each day of unpaid leave for purposes of bidding only ; e.g., a Flight Attendant returning from maternity leave mid-month.[SL M 12.b.ii.]

[issue is 1- if bidding via PBS, then FA's line determined by prorated credit threshold, 2 - if not bidding via PBS, then how is line built/days off? Lisa?]

Type of Credit	Prorated Minimum Days off	Pay Credit	PBS Credit		
5 41	NO	0.75	0.75		
Bereavement Leave	NO	3.75	3.75		
Vacation Ex Days					
(part of guaranteed					
days off)	NO	0.00	3.75		
FMLA (intermittent) /	NO				
KIN Care		3.75	3.75		
FMLA (non-	YES				
intermittent)	163	2.50	2.50		
Furlough	YES	0.00	2.50		
Jury Duty/Witness (1-4 Days)	NO	3.75	3.75		

Jury Duty/Witness	YES		
(More Than 4 Days)		2.50	2.50
Long Term Training	YES	2.50	2.50
LT LOA	YES	0.00	2.50
Maternity Leave	YES	2.50	2.50
Medical Leave	YES	0.00	2.50
Military Leave	YES	0.00	2.50
Move Days (MV)	NO	3.75	3.75
Move Days (UM)	NO	0.00	3.75
Other Company Paid Days (1- 4 days)	NO	3.75	3.75
Other Company Paid Days (More than 4			
days)	YES	2.50	2.50
PLOA	YES	0.00	2.50
Pre-planned Sick Leave/IOD	YES	2.50	2.50
Retirement/Resignati on	YES	0.00	2.50
Short Term Training	NO	3.75	3.75
Special Assignment Daily	NO	3.75	3.75
Special Training	NO	3.75	3.75
Travel Day	NO	3.75	3.75
Union Leave (1- 4 Days)	NO	3.75	3.75
Union Leave (More than 4 Days)	YES	2.50	2.50
Vacation (1- 4 Days)	NO	2.67	2.67
Vacation (More than 4 Days)	YES	2.67	2.67
Vacation Credit Effective 1-1-16	YES	3.00	3.00
Withheld from Service - Paid	YES	2.50	2.50
Withheld from Service - Unpaid	YES	0.00	2.50
Witness Leave (1- 4 Days)	NO	3.75	3.75

Witness Leave (More than 4 Days)	YES	2.50	2.50
*Special Assignment Full Month Will Shadow Bid			

Absence Credit.. Appendix A

iv. If a Flight Attendant is withheld from service with pay by the Company at the time of bid closing she/he will be allowed to bid for a schedule for the following bid period in accordance with this Section.[SL M 12.b.v.]

b. Planned absences/activities

8.B.2. Low/High Minimum/ Maximum Bid Options [SL M 15]

a. Low Bid Option:

The Company will offer low time bid options when feasible. This option would allow a Flight Attendant to bid a line in the domicile not to exceed 45.5 hours. The pay guarantee for low bid option lines will be fifty percent (50%) of the regular monthly guarantee as defined in Section 4 (Compensation). If the Company offers a low bid option in a specific domicile, it will specify the number of Flight Attendants who will be able to hold that option, and conduct a bid, based upon seniority order. [SL M15.a.]

b. High Time Option:

A Flight Attendant may elect to bid a high time line option. Lines constructed as high time may exceed the ninety-one hour (91) cap as set forth under Section 8.B.5. but in no event will they exceed one-hundred ten (110) hours. [SL M 15.b.]

A bidder may choose the minimum or maximum range of credit hours to be awarded for a bid period during PBS line construction. The minimum credit range will be 75 to 91 credit hours. The minimum credit range will never be less than 75 hours and will never exceed 91hours. The maximum credit range will be 91 to 110 credit hours and will never exceed 110 hours.

[Insert procedure for bidding for a month in which there is vacation below:]

8.C. Pairing Line Construction

8.C.1. Lines shall be constructed preferentially, in order of seniority, one Flight Attendant at a time with the Flight Attendant holding as many pairings available at her/his seniority that meet her/his specific preferences, such preferences being stated in priority order provided that those pairings do not conflict with any known absences, carry-in pairings or reserve periods, or legalities following carry-in activities. [SL M 9.]

8.C.2. Criteria for Pairing Line Construction:

- a. The JPBSC will meet with the vendor to thoroughly vet the new scheduling provisions which must be considered in the context of a PBS environment. The Company, with input from the JPBSC, will determine the range for the line average and the window above and below it to which a Flight Attendant's schedule may be built. Any subsequent change(s) will be made after consultation with the JPBSC. [SL M 10.a.]
- b. A bid pairing line award will contain no reserve days. and a reserve line will contain only reserve days and days off. [SL M 10.c.]
- <u>c.</u> A bid pairing line will not contain any out of domicile pairings. [SL M 10.d.]

[Insert CBA 8.B. and amend as follows:]

8.C.3. Parameters for **Pairing/** Line Construction:

The following procedures will precede line construction:

- a. All known flying, including charters, shall be constructed into <u>pairings</u> and placed in the PBS for bid. (Parties recognize that the flying must be known at the time <u>pairings</u> are constructed.) A variety of <u>pairings</u> will be constructed (e.g. single day <u>pairings</u>, multi-day <u>pairings</u>, CDOs if applicable) -[SL M 11.a]
- b. The Company will apply any known absence to a Flight Attendant's schedule. The credit value of the known absence(s) will be reflected in the total value of the line for purposes of the line construction parameters according to the schedule below. To the extent that the "off

the shelf' software accommodates credit value waivers, **or if mutually agreed by the parties**, at the Flight Attendant's option, she/he may elect to have the credit value not counted toward her/his maximum bid award. However, in no event may the Flight Attendant's bid award exceed one-hundred ten (110) hours. [SL M 11.b]

<u>c.</u> For the purposes of Line construction, the planned absences or events that are known prior to the close of the bids will have the below daily credit value applied towards a Flight Attendant's line credit except as provided for in b. above. [SL M 11.c]

i.	Training	3:45
ii.	Sick Leave	3:45
iii.	Bereavement	3:45
iv.	Paid Move Days	3:45
٧.	Special Assignment	3:45
vi.	Union Leave	3:45
vii.	Jury Duty Leave	3:45
viii.	Family Leave if SK or VC used	3:45
ix.	Pay Withheld	3:45
X.	Paid Witness	3:45
xi.	Travel Day	3:45
xii.	Single VC Day prior to January 1, 2016	2:41
xiii.	Single VC Day commencing January 1, 2016	3:00
xiv.	California Paid Family Leave and Paid School	3:45
XV.	Miscellaneous Other	TBD

Preference Options [SL M 12]

Prefer	ence Options [SL M 12]
1.	Pairing Equipment [Prefer/Avoid, Aircraft type]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid pairings with specific aircraft type.
2.	Pairing Length [Prefer/Avoid, #Calendar days, Date]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid pairings with specified number of
	calendar days.
3.	Layover City [Prefer/Avoid, Layover Station, Date]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid a layover station or region, e.g.
	West Coast, North East, FL, Caribbean, Mexico, Southwest.
4.	Pairing Type [Prefer/Avoid, Type of pairing, Date]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or avoid a type of pairing. Pairing types – 4-day, 3-
	day, 2-day or 1-day <u>pairings</u>
5.	Crew Position [Prefer/Avoid, Crew position, Date]
	Flight Attendant may prefer or want to avoid a specific position on pairings.

Flight Attendant positions are specified on each pairing.

6.	Report / Release [Before/After, Time, Date]
	Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> that report / release before or after a specific time. The <u>pairings</u> may optionally originate / terminate on a specific date.
7.	No Deadheads [Date] Flight Attendant may bid for pairings with no deadheads in the pairing.
8.	Layover Duration [Minimum/Maximum, Duration, Station] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum layover between duty periods. This limit shall apply to all layovers within the pairing.
9.	Landings per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Number] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum landings per duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the <u>pairing</u> .
10.	Block Hours per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Value] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> with a minimum or maximum block time per duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the <u>pairing</u> .
11.	Average Credit Hours per duty period [Minimum/Maximum, Value] Flight Attendant may bid for pairings with a minimum or maximum credit time per duty period. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the pairing.
12.	Prefer Calendar Days Off [Days of week] Flight Attendant may bid off days on specific days of the week (e.g., prefer to work every Monday-Thursday)
13.	Credit Ratio [Prefer, Credit Ratio Value] Flight Attendant may bid for <u>pairings</u> that do not exceed the Credit Ratio Value (pairing time away from base / pairing credit).
14.	Pairing [Pairing number, Date] Flight Attendant may bid for a specific pairing number and optionally depart on a specific date.
15.	Range of days off [First date, Second date] Flight Attendant may bid for a range of days off.
16.	Block of days off [Date from, Date to] Flight Attendant may bid for a period of days off and would be awarded all days off or none.
17.	Co-Domicile Preference [Prefer, Co-Domicile] Flight Attendant may bid for pairings that originate from a specific co-domicile.
18.	Min / Max Connection Time [Minimum/Maximum, Duration] Flight Attendants able to bid for <u>pairings</u> that have minimum or maximum connection (sit) times. This limit shall apply to all duty periods within the pairing.
Globa	Options

19. Maximum number of work periods - Flight Attendant may elect to specify a maximum number of work periods in the bid month (subject to their minimum and maximum permissible credit hours). 20. Allow Back to Backs Flight Attendants may elect to allow legal back-to-backs to be included in their line-of-time. 21. Allow Training and a Pairing as a Back to Back Flight Attendants may elect to attend training and operating a pairing as a legal back-to-backs to be included in their line of time. 22. Allow Multiple Pairings Flight Attendants may elect to allow two (2) pairings in the same calendar day separated by legal domicile rest. Waive Domicile Rest to FAR Minimum + :45 23. 24. Min Days Off between Work Periods Flight Attendant may set the number of days off between work periods. The system default is two days. 25. Pairing Mix in a Work Period Flight Attendant may create work periods that contain pairings of specific lengths. The system will use the pairing lengths only in the order that the Flight Attendant specifies. 26. Commutable Work Period Flight Attendant may bid that their work period begins after a specific time and ends prior to a specific time. 27. Cadence Preference- Flight Attendant may elect that their work period begins on the same day of the week throughout the bid month. 28. Buddy Bid – Flight Attendant may bid with other Flight Attendants up to the number of Flight Attendants on the equipment, utilizing the seniority of the least senior Flight Attendant. Flight Attendants may also buddy bid with pilots should that group implement a PBS. 29. Avoid/ Prefer Bid – Flight Attendant may avoid **or prefer** more senior Flight Attendants or more junior Flight Attendants who have been awarded a pairing providing the senior Flight Attendant waives her/his seniority to immediately below the junior Flight Attendant's seniority. Flight Attendants may also prefer or avoid buddy bid pairings with pilots should that group implement a PBS. Reasons Report – System shall generate a report for each Flight Attendant 30. which explains why a preferred pairing or day off was not awarded. 31. Standing Bids – System shall maintain persistent or "standing" bids which shall act as default bids should the Flight Attendant fail to enter a monthly bid. If a Flight Attendant fails to input her/his bid and does not have a standing bid inputted, her/his bid will be inputted using a default bid created by the Joint PBS Committee.

- 32. Vacation Expansion A Flight Attendant who is scheduled for a block of consecutive vacation days may elect to place up to a total of four (4) days off (at sole discretion of the Flight Attendant) before, after, or split on either side of such vacation period. The days off will act as a pre-planned absence and will carry neither a value for pay nor credit. Such days off will may be counted toward the Reserve's scheduled Golden Days. Such block of four days, or portion thereof, may be extended into the next bid period.
- 33. Paper Bid/Pay Purpose Only Bid Once the final awards are published, Crew Scheduling will run PBS for a Pay Purpose Only (PPO) award. Crew Scheduling shall run PBS with the same bids and settings as the regular bid with the addition of the bids (standing or actual) of any Flight Attendant who is off the entire bid period to determine what she/he could have held for pay purposes only. Such PPO awards shall only be used for this pay determination and shall not change in any way pairing awards as published in the final line awards.
- 34. High/Low Time Option. Flight Attendants desiring a low time option may elect whether to work the first or last half of the bid month. If PBS is unable to grant a low time option in either half of the month, then FA may elect to revert to a regular bid line option. A Flight Attendant desiring minimum or maximum credit may elect Minimum Credit or Maximum Credit, which may will waive some contractual restrictions. The minimum credit awarded will never be lower than 75 hours in conformity with line guarantee. The maximum credit awarded will never be higher than 110 hours.
- 35. Other Bid Options as agreed by the Joint PBS Committee.
- 36. Block of Reserve Golden Days off [Date from, Date to]
 Flight Attendant may bid for a period of Reserve Golden Days off and would be awarded all Reserve Golden Days off or the same period of Moveable Days off or none.
- 37. Range of Reserve Golden Days off [First date, Second date]
 Flight Attendant may bid for a range of reserve Golden Days off. The First
 dated is the most important day off and the Second date is the less important.
- 36. RBL Line Option
- 37. Days on and off
- 38. Length of block of available days
- 39. Month end carry-over
- 40. Standby Line Preferences

- d. Other preferences may be mutually agreed upon and requests for said preferences will not be unreasonably denied. [SL M 12.c.]
- e. A Flight Attendant will use the PBS to bid. If PBS is inoperative, the Company will provide an alternative method for bidding. [SL M 12.d.]
- Flight Attendants who fail to bid and/or have no default standing bid
 - i. A Flight Attendant failing to make a bid or failing to meet the deadline will be assigned a line of pairings or reserve line, in accordance with seniority, in the awards as per her/his defaultstanding bid. A defaultstanding bid may be submitted at any time by a Flight Attendant, and will remain in effect until it is changed by the Flight Attendant. [SL M 12.g.]
 - ii. If no defaultstanding bid exists, the Flight Attendant's bid will be inputted using a default bid created by the Joint PBS Committee. [SL M 12.g.]
- g. The PBS will generate, track, and provide each Flight Attendant a bid confirmation for each bid supplied by the Flight Attendant. [SL M 12.h.]
- h. Following the awarding of bid lines, no more than 10% of the remaining known and proposed flying may be designated as open flying in each domicile pursuant to Section 8.G.1 of the collective bargaining agreement. (Example: If the DFW domicile has 1,000 block hours, there will be a maximum of 100 hours of open flying remaining in the domicile after the awarding of the bid lines.). [SL M 12.i.]
- All monthly lines shall be awarded in accordance with seniority and bid preferences. In cases where a Flight Attendant is denied a bid preference in order to ensure adequate daily work coverage, such assignment shall be in accordance with the bid preferences of the Flight Attendant and forced in inverse order of seniority.[SL M 12.j.]
- j. An individual report will be made available to each Flight Attendant each month, which reconciles the Flight Attendant's bid to her/his awarded schedule on a preference-by-preference basis (Reasons Report). [SL M 12.k.]

[CBA 8.D.: Bidline Construction Committee moves to 8.T.]
[Insert CBA 8.B: Bidline Schedule Construction, and amend as below:]

8.D. Pairing Line Schedule Construction [CBA 8.B.1-9]

- A variety of bid lines will be constructed, with priority given to constructing lines with similar pairings (e.g. single day pairings or multi-day pairings or CDOs). [addressed in 8.C.3.a.]
- Regular Pairing and relief lines will be constructed with a minimum of two (2) periods of at least two (2) consecutive days off.
- 23. A Flight Attendant holding a regular line of time will not be scheduled for reserve.
- 4. Lines will not be constructed with more than ninety-one (91:00) credit hours (including fifty percent (50%) of scheduled deadhead hours).
- 34. Lines will be constructed with at least ten hours (10:00) rest between <u>pairings</u> in domicile.
- 45. Lines of time for a month will reflect any known reduced/changed holiday scheduling for that month. Should holiday schedules be modified after the final bid award, the affected Flight Attendants will be notified as soon as possible.
- 56. If an overnight is scheduled for less than nine hours (9:00), the following day shall not be scheduled for more than twelve hours (12:00) on duty.
- 67. A bidline trip pairing will normally not consist of more than four (4) days. However, in unusual circumstances such as, but not limited to, charters, retirement of equipment type or shifting of equipment type to a different domicile; pairings may be scheduled to a maximum of five (5) days.
- 78. The Company shall offer reduced guarantee lines when feasible. Eligibility for these lines will be awarded in the pre-bid. The pay guarantee for reduced guarantee lines will be fifty percent (50%) of the regular monthly guarantee as defined in Section 4 (Compensation).
 - a. Reduced guarantee lines shall contain <u>pairings</u> up to a maximum of forty-five hours and thirty minutes (45:30).
 - b. Such lines will be issued as part of the bid packet and

awarded in seniority order.

- b. No Flight Attendant will be involuntarily assigned to a reduced guarantee bid line.
- Flight Attendants holding reduced guarantee lines may bid for and be awarded open time in the same manner as any other Flight Attendant covered by this Agreement, including on their regularly scheduled day(s) off.
- d. Benefits and health insurance premiums will be provided in accordance with Section 20 Benefits, Retirement and Eligibility. Accruals of seniority, vacation and sick leave will be as provided in those sections. Pass privileges will be the same as those extended to regular line holders.

[CBA 8.C.: Reserve Line Construction is moved to 8.E. and amended as follows:]

8.E. Reserves Line Construction

- Reserve lines shall be allocated as part of the monthly PBS process.
 A Flight Attendant who may be awarded a line of flying may conditionally bid for a reserve line.[SL M 16.a.]
- Reserves will have a minimum of eleven (11) scheduled days free of duty ("days off") at her/his domicile each bid month. Three (3) of such days shall be Golden Days. Patterns must conform to the following unless the Flight Attendant selects the waivers provided in PBS: [SL M 16.b.]
 - a. Reserve Flight Attendants will receive at least two periods of two (2) days free from duty.
 - b. <u>In addition,</u> Reserves will receive another at least one (1) period of four (4) consecutive days off. [SL M 16.b.i.]
 - c. In addition, Reserve Flight Attendants will receive one set of three (3) Golden Days off. Golden Days will always begin a block of days off and may not be preceded by a non-Golden Day off. [SL M 16.b.ii.]
 - d. The minimum provisions in 2.a., b., and c. above may be waived by the Flight Attendant in her/his PBS bid.
 - e. Day off periods may not be separated by less than three (3) days of availability or by more than six (6) days of availability.

Groups of days of availability which transition from month to month shall be subject to this limitation. [SL M 16.b.iii.]

- d. A Reserve with vacation day(s) in a bid period shall receive all her/his days off outside of the vacation period, if applicable, in addition to her/his vacation days. This will guarantee the Reserve her/his full number of minimum days off in addition to her/his vacation day(s). However, if the days off as provided for in Global Option #32 plus the scheduled vacation days does not allow for the required days off to be placed outside of the scheduled vacation period, such days will not be restored or moved to the subsequent month. [SL M 16.c.]
- e. The chart below shall be used to determine the number of days free from duty for a Reserve who is bidding for or returning to schedule as a Reserve with less than a full bid period. This chart shall be used to determine the number of days free from duty during the Reserve's days of availability in a partial bid period. [SL M 16.d.]

30 Day N	/lonth	31 Day Month				
Available Days	Prorated Days Off	Available Days	Prorated Days Off			
29- 30	11	30 - 31	11			
26 - 28	10	27 - 29	10			
24 - 25	9	24 - 26	9			
21 - 23	8	22 - 23	8			
18 - 20	7	19 - 21	7			
15 - 17	6	16 - 18	6			
13 - 14	5	13 - 15	5			
10- 12	4	10- 12	4			
7 - 9	3	8 - 9	3			
5 - 6	2	5 - 7	2			
2 - 4	1	2 - 4	1			
1	0	1	0			

3. Reserve Block Lines (RBLs)

a. A Flight Attendant's eligibility to hold a Reserve Block lines

(RBLs) will be determined in the pre-bid.

- b. Reserve Block Lines (RBLs) will be constructed with a minimum of thirteen (13) days off. All of the days of reserve availability shall be allocated on the line as outlined in the table below. In bid months containing thirty-one (31) days, one (1) additional day off will be- attached to a block of contiguous days off.
- The RBLs will be available for bid at each domicile and must be published in the bid packet according to the examples (A, B and C) below:

The three types of Reserve Block Lines possible:

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1	1	1	1	1	1 5	1 6	1 7	1	1 9	0	2	2 2	2	2	2 5	2 6	2 7	2 8	9	3 0
A	R	R	R	R	R	R	X	R	R	R	R	R	R	Х	R	R	R	R	R	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	Х
В		Х	X	X	X	X	X	Х	Х	Х	X	R	R	R	R					R	R	R	R	R	X	R	R	R	R	R
С	R	R	R	R	R	Х	R	R	R	R	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	R	R	R	R	Χ	R	R	R	R

c. Award of RBLs

The number of RBL lines posted and multi-awarded shall be determined by the below provisions:

- i. Each domicile shall have a minimum of three (3) RBLs (one each of A,B and C) awarded, if bid.
- ii. A minimum of ten percent (10%), rounded up, of awarded reserve lines will be RBLs (if bid) in each domicile. RBLs will be multi-awarded if all three (3) RBLs are bid.
- iii. The number of RBL lines awarded may not exceed twenty percent (20%) of a base's total awarded reserve lines.
- iv. If insufficient Flight Attendants bid the RBLs, the un-awarded lines shall be dropped and may not be involuntarily assigned to a Flight Attendant.
- v. The percentage limitations in c.ii and iii. above may

be amended by mutual agreement.

vi. The minimum monthly guarantee of 75 hours in accordance with section 4.B. shall apply to RBL-lines.

8.G.: Open Time

[TA 8.G.5. delete provisions and replace with below chart]

8.G.: Open Time

5. The Company may use known open time after the preliminary bids close for transition conflict resolution. The Company may use remaining open time after the Automated Pairing Trade Twenty-Four Hour (24:00) Window closes to construct relief lines. The below chart outlines the display / listing of available pairings:

Entries for viewing available pairings

	To the time of time of time of the time of the time of the time of time of time of time of the time of time of tim
N4D/Base/Date (e.g., N4D/DFW//10JAN)	Displays all <u>pairings</u> that are open ("above the line") or posted for drop ("below the line"), making them available for pick up.
N4DL/Base//Date (e.g., N4DL/DFW//18JAN)	Will display only those open and posted <u>pairings</u> that a Flight Attendant is qualified and legal to pick up. If a "D" follows's the <u>pairing</u> , a Duty Free period (DFP) conflict exists, requiring the elimination of a DFP.
N4T/ <u>Pairing</u> /Date (e.g., N4T/22132/24JAN)	Will display a list of "redder" open <u>pairings</u> with which a Flight Attendants is qualified and legal to trade his/her red <u>pairing</u> . If a "D" follows the <u>pairing</u> number, a Duty Free Period (DFP) conflict exists, requiring the elimination of a DFP
N4TL/ Pairing /Date (e.g., N4TL/22123/24SEP)	Displays only those "redder" open <u>pairings</u> for which a Flight Attendant is qualified and legal to trade his/her red pairing . If a "D" follows the pairing number, a Duty Free Period (DFP) conflicts exists, requiring the elimination of a DFP.

[Above chart new to section, bought in from TTOT user guide]

8.G.6. [CBA 8.G.6. moved to 8.G.7.]

8.G.6. Red for Red Trading Rules

Red for Red Trading Rules Chart

Drop Status	Pick-Up Status	Allowed	Pairing Date pick up vs Pairing Date Drop
Green	Green	Yes	n/a
Green	Red	Yes	n/a
Red	Green	No	n/a
Red	Red	Yes (exceptions)	n/a
Red	Red	Yes (if different duration, the picked up pairing must be redder)	Same Date Start
Red	Red	Yes (if different duration, the picked up pairing must be redder)	Overlapping Dates
Red	Redder	Yes (Restrictions)	Different Dates

[Above chart new to section, bought in from TTOT user guide]

a. Red for Red Trading Rules

i. Same Date Trades

If same start date and same end date, then no restrictions

If same start date but different end date, then allow trade if pick up <u>pairing</u> is redder than dropped <u>pairing</u>.

ii. Overlapping Trades

If overlapping (where both <u>pairings</u> operate on at least one common date), then allow trade if pick up <u>pairing</u> up <u>pairing</u> is redder than dropped <u>pairing</u>.

iii. Different Date Trades

For different dates (<u>pairings</u> operate on mutually exclusive dates), allow trade if pick up <u>pairing</u> is redder than dropped <u>pairing</u>.

iv.iv. Posting a trip pairing is always allowed.

Doing so allows the trip pairing to be picked up by another Flight Attendant without regard to "RED" restrictions. [from TTOT user guide, TA 8.A.1.g.]

[CBA 8.G.6. becomes new 8.G.7] [CBA 8.G.7. becomes new 8.G.8.]

[CBA 8.D.: Bidline Construction Committee moves to 8.T. and is modified below:]

8.T. Association Committees

1. <u>Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction Committee:</u> [old *CBA* 8.D.]

- a. The Association will establish a Bidline-Pairing/Reserve Construction Committee consisting of at least one representative from each Domicile that will meet with the Company for the purpose of developing cooperative and efficient flight operations, including input and suggestions with respect to pairings and line construction as applicable to each base's unique operations.
- b. The Association Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction Committee shall meet or coordinate with the Company each bid period, or more frequently by mutual agreement, to discuss the subsequent month's pairings and bidline line construction.
- c. The Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction Chairperson and/or the Domicile representatives will be afforded the opportunity to provide input during the pairing construction process. After completion of the "daily solution" the Chairperson and/or Domicile representatives shall be provided no less than 24 hours to review and provide recommendations. Recognizing that some trip-pairing(s) which are otherwise legal, may present problems such as delivery of service difficulties, the Committee Chairperson and /or Domicile reps will be given reasonable consideration in the final construction of pairings.

d. Once per quarter, the Company will meet with representatives from each domicile and the Bidline Pairing/Reserve Construction MEC Committee Chair to discuss planning issues, projections, staffing, or any issues impacting quality of the schedule/operation.

2. PBS Implementation Committee:

The Joint PBS Committee (JPBSC) shall be composed of a minimum of two (2) members from the Company and minimum of two (2) members from the Association. The Association members shall have continuing PBS involvement as part of the Pairing Construction Committee. The Company will consult with the JPBSC on all significant matters regarding implementation of PBS as well as any future enhancements or changes before making decisions regarding such matters. [SL M 3.]

TA 8.T:	General becomes the new-8.U.: General	

Additional Contract Provisions to Address:

[delete current CBA 9.B.2. and replace with the following:]

CBA 9.B.2. A Flight Attendant may bid for monthly airport reserve on her/his pre-bid option, for example S-1, S-2, S-3, etc. which is an airport-on-duty period of no more than eight (8) hours.

[delete current CBA 10.D.3. and replace with the following:]

CBA 10.D.3 A Flight Attendant who is scheduled for vacation may indicate via the PBS website her/his intention to fly on some or all of her/his vacation block per the bidding time-line as found in section 8.B.2.

CBA 10.G.

delete No longer applicable

- G. Vacation Slide
- A Flight Attendant may at her/his option indicate her/his desire to move the start date of her/his scheduled vacation block. This option, if exercised, would be made known to the Company's computer bid system for the contractual month so affected.

- 2. Should a lineholder Flight Attendant indicate a desire to effect a change in the start date of her/his vacation, the following will apply:
 - a. The effective starting date of an awarded vacation will be adjusted (slid) by up to three (3) days to coincide with the scheduled departure date of the first pairing sequence which is in conflict with the Flight Attendant's originally scheduled block.
 - b. If the change in sub-paragraph a., above, cannot be accomplished, such vacation date would be moved by up to three (3) days so as to terminate the vacation coincidental with the termination date of the last pairing sequence which is in conflict with the original vacation termination date.
 - c. Should the application of either sub-paragraph a. or b., above result in a Flight Attendant's scheduled vacation still being in conflict with the flying of a complete pairing sequence at either the start or termination of such vacation block(s), no such vacation change will be effected.
 - d. Vacation slides will only be permitted to overlap into another contractual month, with the concurrence of Crew Scheduling.
 - e-a. Consecutive one-day CDO pairings shall be considered one "block" or "pairing" for the purposes for sliding a Flight Attendants vacation
 - **f.b.** Consecutive vacation weeks are considered one block for the purposes of sliding a Flight Attendant's vacation.

CBA 10.H. rename heading to "Vacation Conflicts with CDO's"

- Whenever a vacation block conflicts with a Flight Attendant's CDO flying, the Flight Attendant at her/his option may choose one of the following options by indicating on the bid ballot or via an electronic message (i.e. 'RF' message or equivalent) within 48-Hours following the closing of the bids:
 - Fly whatever portion of the trip sequence pairing that falls outside of her/his vacation block for which she/he is legal and available, or

- b. Drop the complete pairing sequence pairing when any portion of such pairing sequence pairing conflicts with her/his vacation block. The Flight Attendant may choose to drop a pairing(s) pairing(s) conflicting with the beginning, end, or on both the beginning and end of the vacation block. In the event the Flight Attendant chooses one of these options, she/he will not be credited for pay purposes for any flight(s) outside her/his vacation block, except as provided in subparagraph D.1. above. Notwithstanding D.1., if a Flight Attendant's leg(s) into or out of an overnight is removed, she/he will not be paid for the leg(s) removed.
- c. For the purposes of this provision, a block of contiguous one-day pairings CDOs shall be considered one "block" or pairing pairing In this situation, the Flight Attendant must send an RF message to Crew Scheduling, no later than forty-eight hours (48:00) following the closing of the bids, indicating that the block of one-day pairings CDO which abut the vacation period should be dropped.

CBA 10.H.1.c. [remove reference to one-day pairing and replace with "CDO block"]

c. For the purpose of this provision, a block of contiguous one day pairings **CDOs** shall be considered one "block" or "pairing. **pairing**" In this situation, the Flight Attendant must send an RF message to Crew Scheduling, no later than forty-eight hours (48:00) following the closing of the bids, indicating that the block of one day pairings **CDOs** which abut the vacation period should be dropped.

CBA 15.A.4. [amend the provision in the following manner:]

4. The Flight Attendant awarded a vacancy will be removed from all pairings for which any part of the pairing trip falls within the three (3) moving days period immediately preceding the effective date of transfer or have moving days inserted as a pre-planned absence. If the move is involuntary, such Flight Attendant shall be paid and credited as if she/he had flown the dropped pairing(s) trip(s). If the move is voluntary, such Flight Attendant shall not be paid and credited for the dropped pairing(s) trip(s), however she/he shall not fall below guarantee for pay purposes

CBA 15.B.2-4 (amend timeline in 15.B.2-4 as followswaiting finalization of PBS bidding timeline)

- B.2. No later than the 10th-7th of the month preceding the month in which the vacancy/TDY assignment will be offered, the Company will post the temporary vacancies at any and all bases which it determines have more than adequate staffing levels and afford the Flight Attendants at such base(s) the opportunity to bid for the vacancy/TDY. The awarding of a temporary vacancy/TDY will be done in seniority order from among the Flight Attendants who bid for the vacancy/TDY at the bases at which the vacancy/TDY is posted.
- B.3. Bidding for the temporary vacancy/TDY will close at 10:00 CT on the 15th 10th of the month proceeding the month in which the vacancy/TDY will be offered.
 - A Flight Attendant who bids and is awarded TDY and who has vacation during the TDY period will be required to be paid out for any vacation day(s) that fall within the TDY period and thus will remain available for assignment during the time previously scheduled for vacation.
 - b. The Flight Attendant's vacation shall be paid at the value of the vacation week in accordance with the table in Section 10.D. and such hours shall be paid above the guarantee.
- B.4. TDY bids will be awarded at 12:00 CT on the 15th 10th of the month preceeding the month in which the vacancy/TDY will be offered.

CBA 15.B.5. [delete current CBA 15.B.5. and replace with the following:]

 A Flight Attendant awarded a TDY assignment, will be able to utilize PBS in the same manner as any Flight Attendant at that domicile based on their seniority.

A Flight Attendant who is awarded TDY will be issued the bid package for the base to which she/he will be temporarily transferred on the date of the regular bid publication. She/he shall have the opportunity to bid for any line in that base's bid packet and will be awarded a line based on her/his seniority in the same manner as any Flight Attendant based at that domicile.

CBA 16.E.: TOWOP [amend the provision in the following manner:]

E. When known far enough in advance, time off without pay will be included in the bid packages of the base(s) PBS "info tab" stating in which base(s) TOWOP is being offered. Such time will be awarded in the final bid.

CBA 16.F.: TOWOP [amend the provision in the following manner:]

F. When it is not known far enough in advance, to include in the bid packet, the Company will post the offer of time off without pay will be listed in the PBS "info tab" for no less than seven (7) days in the (1) HI6 (or its equivalent); and (2) in the daily open time recordings currently referred to as AVARS – or its equivalent.

CBA 17.A.1.d.iii. [amend the provision in the following manner:]

iii. The company shall make a reasonable effort to construct a **relief** line for a line holding Flight Attendant who clears for duty following the final bid award. If the Fight Attendant is a reserve, the prorated line shall consist of days off and days of reserve availability.

CBA 18.K.1. [delete current CBA 18.K.1. and replace with the following from SL M.12.b.ii.:]

1. If available for less than the full bid period, the number of minimum days off will be prorated based upon the numbers of days available per the chart found in Section 8.E.2.e.below and the Flight Attendant will receive a "soft" credit in accordance with the chart below for each day of unpaid leave for purposes of bidding only; e.g., a Flight Attendant returning from maternity leave mid-month

A Flight Attendant returning to active status for a full or partial month and who has not been awarded a line of flying or a reserve schedule during the monthly bidding process shall have a schedule built in consultation with the Administrative Manager. The schedule constructed shall be in parity with the Flight Attendant's seniority with regard to pairings, days of reserve and days off.

CBA 19.C. [amend the provision in the following manner:]

C. For each day in training a Flight Attendant will be paid the greater of pairings missed or the value of the day, three hours forty-five minutes (3:45), at her/his applicable hourly rate as specified in Section 4.A.1. of this agreement. It is understood for Flight Attendants holding a line of CDO's the time removed will be paid and credited the greater of VOD or pairings missed.

CBA 19.D. [delete current CBA 19.D. and replace with the following:]

D. In order to prepare for recurrent training, a Flight Attendant may, when submitting a training date bid, at her/his option indicate to have a day free

from duty immediately preceding the first day of recurrent training or travel day, if applicable. Such day free from duty will be unpaid and not count towards the Flight Attendant's minimum days off.

In order to prepare for recurrent training, a Flight Attendant may, at her/his option, drop all portions of her/his pairing(s) or reserve day that conflicts with the day immediately preceding the first day of recurrent training. Such time dropped will be unpaid.

CBA 19.J.1. [insert new provisions:]

19.J.1. A Flight Attendant may waive in PBS to FAR + 45 minutes for rest following a training event.

CBA 24.D.2.b. [amend the provision in the following manner:]

b. Flight Pay Loss: Paper Bid

When a Flight Attendant will be on Union Business leave for the entire bid period, she/he may "paper bid." The names of Flight Attendant(s) who will be paper bidding for the next bid period will be submitted to the Company no later than the fifth (5th) day of the current bid period. A Flight Attendant who paper bids will be deemed to hold the line to which her/his seniority entitles her/him for all purposes, including, but not limited to, vacation, sick leave, jury duty, etc. The Flight Attendant may designate certain pairing(s) or portions of pairings contained in the "paper bid" line as unpaid. Pairings so designated will be treated as a dropped individual pairing pursuant to D.4.

CBA 24.H. [amend the provision in the following manner:]

H. The Company recognizes the following Union committees: Scheduling, Bid Line
Pairing Construction; Safety, Health and Security; Hotel; Uniform; Grievance;
Membership; EAP; and Government Affairs, ASAP, and Reserve.

CBA 29.G.2. [amend the provision in the following manner:]

2. At the request of a Flight Attendant who is a bidline holder, the transportation will be provided at the beginning of the pairing sequence pairing, provided that such request is made at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to scheduled check-in and does not create a conflict with the duty/rest provisions of this Agreement.

Should any further modificatio amendments or other adjustments to the CBA become necessary at the time while this CBA is in effect, the parties agree to meet and negotiate such changes prior to implementation.

FOR ENVOY AIR, INC.

ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

/s/ LINDA KUNZ

LINDA KUNZ 02/26/201 Vice President-Flight Service /s/ ROBERT BARROW

ROBERT BARROW 02/26/2014
President-Master Executive Council

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Appendix Documents

- A... Section 23 Initiation Union Dues Fee
- B... Expedited Arbitration Award Form
- C... Envoy Air, Flight Attendant Master Seniority List



APPENDIX - A

<u>To:</u>	Payroll Department
	Envoy Air, Inc.
	I,
	Additionally, if I am a newly hired Flight Attendant with Envoy Air, Inc., I elect the following option of having the Union's initiation fees automatically deducted from
	my paycheck:
	In one lump sum of \$60.00; or
	In ten (10) equal increments
	Name/Employee #

APPENDIX - B

ENVOY AIR, INC. and ASSOCIATION OF FLIGHT ATTENDANTS-CWA, AFL-CIO

FLIGHT ATTENDANTS SYSTEM BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT EXPEDITED ARBITRATION AWARD FORM

AFA Grievance Number:		
Grievance sustained in	n full.	
Grievance denied in fu	ıll.	
Grievance sustained in Explanation:	າ part, denied in part.	
Chair	Date	
Carrier Appointee	Date	
Union Appointee	Date	

APPENDIX – C (FLIGHT ATTENDANT MASTER SENIORITY LIST)

Base	Sen #	Name Last	Name First
JFK	1	KOWALSKY	LINDA
DFW	2	VILLARREAL	DARLENE
DFW	3	AMES	JULIE
ORD	4	PIPER	SUSAN
MIA	5	BERGNER	SUZANNE
ORD	6	MOORE	STEVEN
ORD	7	WHITE	KARIN
ORD	8	TEMPLE	TAMMY
DFW	9	WITCHER	JAMES
ORD	10	DEMICHELE	TAMMY
DFW	11	BUIE	ROXANNE
DFW	12	HARDIN	ANTHONY
MIA	13	ALBANESE	MARIA
DFW	14	CHANDLER	JAREN
ORD	15	KEENEY	SUSAN
ORD	16	EDWARDS	MARCIA
ORD	17	ASPAN	TAMILA
MIA	18	CHRISTIAN	ELSA
DFW	19	MORRONE	CYNTHIA
JFK	20	CASEY	VICTORIA
DFW	21	MASON	PAMELA
JFK	22	KERR	BEVERLY ANNE
ORD	23	VIECELI	JANET
ORD	24	MELVILLE	FRANCIE
DFW	25	HASTINGS	GENA
JFK	26	DANER	LYNN
ORD	27	SALINAS	MARGARITA
ORD	28	THORNTON	TRACEY
MIA	29	COLON	ELIZABETH
ORD	30	SUTOR	DEBORA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	31	SANJURJO-TORRES	ROBIN
DFW	32	XANDERS	BETTYANNE
DFW	33	MOSES	CAROLYN
DFW	34	LANE	DIANA
MIA	35	RAMIREZ	LIZZETTE
JFK	36	GIORDANO	ROXANN
MIA	37	MEYERS	DANNIELLE
DFW	38	NEILL	JANET
ORD	39	SHARKUS	SHANON
DFW	40	BLANCO	NELLIE JO
JFK	41	MILINER	TRACEY
MIA	42	RODRIQUEZ	MARY ANN
MIA	43	MATOS	SILVIA
MIA	44	BALLET	WALESKA
JFK	45	HEALD	HEATHER
MIA	46	LOVE	MANUELA
ORD	47	BAIRD	WILLIAM
GSW	48	FLORES	DONNA
DFW	49	EASTERWOOD	С
ORD	50	HEMINGER	KIM
DFW	51	LOPEZ	BRENDA
DFW	52	HILL ROBINSON	DORIS
MIA	53	WILHOITE	THERESA
MIA	54	HUTZ	ALLISON
ORD	55	WARE	JEANETTE
ORD	56	SCAGGS	CAROLE
ORD	57	BEES	THERESA
MIA	58	ADAMS	MARY
MIA	59	CHAMBERS GARRICK	SANDRA
ORD	60	GADDY	VERA
MIA	61	SOYKA	MIRTHA
JFK	62	BUNNELL	LYNN

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
JFK	63	ALFANO	KAREN
JFK	64	TROVATO	CARL
ORD	65	KOSTAKIS	SUSAN
ORD	66	BUONADONNA	PATRICIA
MIA	67	ARMSTRONG	CAROL
ORD	68	EGGEBRECHT	MARIA
DFW	69	JUDKINS	JULLIANNA
DFW	70	FRALEY	CAROL
ORD	71	BRUDER	STACY
MIA	72	FIGUEROA	MIGUEL
DFW	73	BROUGHTON	PETRA
DFW	74	HORNE	SONIA
JFK	75	KALLANDER	SARA
MIA	76	MUNDY	KIMBERLY
DFW	77	KELLEY	HEDWIG
MIA	78	MCCOY	KAREN
MIA	79	RYE	KAY
MIA	80	HARPAUL	KAREN
MIA	81	PERKINS	ANA
DFW	82	THOMPSON	LUCILLE
DFW	83	CARTER	SANDRAL
ORD	84	WOLOVNIK	CAROL
ORD	85	COYLE	KENDALL
JFK	86	GRACE	JOHN
MIA	87	SAINT-GAUDENS	CYNTHIA
MIA	88	WORKMAN	BARBARA
JFK	89	MURPHY	FRANCIS
DFW	90	HUNTER	NANCY
MIA	91	FIGUEROA	ISABEL
ORD	92	CONROY	DENISE
ORD	93	IACOBELLO	HELEN
MIA	94	BINKLEY	MICHELLE

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	95	BENNETT	SANDRA
ORD	96	SIMMONS	JOYCE
MIA	97	COLON	BELINDA
DFW	98	HAWK	ROBIN
DFW	99	RINICKER	RITA
DFW	100	BEAM	VANESSA
DFW	101	CALLENDER	CYNTHIA
ORD	102	LEMBKE-GARRETT	CYNTHIA
JFK	103	SANCHEZ	WANDA
DFW	104	KIERNAN	SHERI
DFW	105	JETTE	DOUGLASS
JFK	106	BROGNA OMARA	KRISTINA
DFW	107	TENNIS	GLENN
DFW	108	HORRUITINER	ANALUZ
DFW	109	PACEWICZ	HEATHER
DFW	110	KNOWLTON	KIM
ORD	111	VONRUDEN	ANNETTE
MIA	112	MORALES	YVONNE
MIA	113	CARTAGENA	MARISOL
DFW	114	HERNANDEZ	SANDRA
MIA	115	RAMOS	ARMANDO
HDQ	116	SNYDER	LISA
DFW	117	ARAUJO	BRANDI
DFW	118	BLASINGAME	DONNA
DFW	119	CARNES	MARTIN
DFW	120	SCHWESTKA	MICHELLE
DFW	121	MURRIE	MONICA
JFK	122	MARCOLINI	LAUREL
DFW	123	FRICKE	SCOTT
DFW	124	WINSOR	LEANN
DFW	125	CHAVEZ	KATHY
DFW	126	SIQUEIROS	LISA

DFW 127 JONES CHRISTINA DFW 128 BELLAMY PAULA DFW 129 BECKER JEFFREY DFW 130 JONES PATRICIA DFW 131 SAMUELS MELINDA ORD 132 BURRUSS-BROWN CLORA DFW 133 ROHEY AZIZA DFW 134 MANNY KAYLA DFW 135 BRADLEY MONICA ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144	Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW 129 BECKER JEFFREY DFW 130 JONES PATRICIA DFW 131 SAMUELS MELINDA ORD 132 BURRUSS-BROWN CLORA DFW 133 ROHEY AZIZA DFW 134 MANNY KAYLA DFW 135 BRADLEY MONICA ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146	DFW	127	JONES	CHRISTINA
DFW 130 JONES PATRICIA DFW 131 SAMUELS MELINDA ORD 132 BURRUSS-BROWN CLORA DFW 133 ROHEY AZIZA DFW 134 MANNY KAYLA DFW 135 BRADLEY MONICA ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148	DFW	128	BELLAMY	PAULA
DFW 131 SAMUELS MELINDA ORD 132 BURRUSS-BROWN CLORA DFW 133 ROHEY AZIZA DFW 134 MANNY KAYLA DFW 135 BRADLEY MONICA ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148	DFW	129	BECKER	JEFFREY
ORD 132 BURRUSS-BROWN CLORA DFW 133 ROHEY AZIZA DFW 134 MANNY KAYLA DFW 135 BRADLEY MONICA ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 150	DFW	130	JONES	PATRICIA
DFW 133 ROHEY AZIZA DFW 134 MANNY KAYLA DFW 135 BRADLEY MONICA ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 <	DFW	131	SAMUELS	MELINDA
DFW 134 MANNY KAYLA DFW 135 BRADLEY MONICA ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152	ORD	132	BURRUSS-BROWN	CLORA
DFW 135 BRADLEY MONICA ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154	DFW	133	ROHEY	AZIZA
ORD 136 EISENSTEIN BETTE ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 <t< td=""><td>DFW</td><td>134</td><td>MANNY</td><td>KAYLA</td></t<>	DFW	134	MANNY	KAYLA
ORD 137 AYALA PABLO ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSH	DFW	135	BRADLEY	MONICA
ORD 138 COLEMAN CAROL ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156	ORD	136	EISENSTEIN	BETTE
ORD 139 ESPELAND LAURETTE MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 <	ORD	137	AYALA	PABLO
MIA 140 RAMIREZ YASMINE DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	ORD	138	COLEMAN	CAROL
DFW 141 NIEVES IVONNE MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	ORD	139	ESPELAND	LAURETTE
MIA 142 PALACIOS REBECCA DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	MIA	140	RAMIREZ	YASMINE
DFW 143 CISNEROS ALBERTO ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	141	NIEVES	IVONNE
ORD 144 SADLER KRISTI DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	MIA	142	PALACIOS	REBECCA
DFW 145 WAGNER ELAINE DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	143	CISNEROS	ALBERTO
DFW 146 TAYLOR SONDRA JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	ORD	144	SADLER	KRISTI
JFK 147 BALTIERI CHRISTINE DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	145	WAGNER	ELAINE
DFW 148 JOSEPH NEELTJE DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	146	TAYLOR	SONDRA
DFW 149 MAUCH LETA DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	JFK	147	BALTIERI	CHRISTINE
DFW 150 LANGFORD JOHNSON CARON DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	148	JOSEPH	NEELTJE
DFW 151 MANUEL RONALD DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	149	MAUCH	LETA
DFW 152 WELLS AMY DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	150	LANGFORD JOHNSON	CARON
DFW 153 SMITH JEFF DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	151	MANUEL	RONALD
DFW 154 WELLS SHARON DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	152	WELLS	AMY
DFW 155 BENSHOOF TIFFANY ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	153	SMITH	JEFF
ORD 156 GEISLER FLORENCE ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	154	WELLS	SHARON
ORD 157 SLAYTON MICHELE	DFW	155	BENSHOOF	TIFFANY
	ORD	156	GEISLER	FLORENCE
ORD 158 HUSBANDS MICHAEL	ORD	157	SLAYTON	MICHELE
	ORD	158	HUSBANDS	MICHAEL

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
HDQ	159	STANLEY	WALTER
ORD	160	TAYLOR	AMY
DFW	161	TRAN	NGHIA
DFW	162	GIL	NORMA
ORD	163	TENERELLI	VERONICA
DFW	164	CERVANTES	ESTELA
MIA	165	EDWARDS	CHRISTINA
ORD	166	LAMACCHIA	JULIE
DFW	167	COOKE	LYNN
DFW	168	KLAJBOR	KATHLEEN
ORD	169	BARRERA JR	PETE
DFW	170	HERNANDEZ	JENNIFER
DFW	171	MCKEE	NICOLE
ORD	172	MARTIN	ALISA
DFW	173	ANZUETA	MARISOL
MIA	174	GAITAN	JENNIFER
DFW	175	BRADY	SHIRLEY
DFW	176	ROBLES	GARY
ORD	177	LONGHOFER	JENNIFER
ORD	178	ILG	JEANINE
GSW	179	MELENDEZ	MAYRIM
DFW	180	FLORES DE RUVALCABA	OLIVIA
DFW	181	LUSK	JULIE
DFW	182	LONGMORE	SANDRA
DFW	183	GOFFMANIS	DONNA
ORD	184	LUCCO	MARIANNE
DFW	185	PHILLIPS	PATRICIA
DFW	186	OSBORNE	MICHAEL
JFK	187	REYES	YAJAIRA
DFW	188	CORZO	JOSE
DFW	189	MENNIE	LINDA
DFW	190	GRANDELL	BETTYE

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	191	JONES	JERRY
DFW	192	CORDERO	ART
ORD	193	MYLES	JEFFREY
JFK	194	ROSARIO	ANGELA
DFW	195	HENDERSON	CRESSANDRA
DFW	196	BEILER	CYBILL
JFK	197	LOEBER	MARIE
MIA	198	DIAZ	MYRNA
DFW	199	SCOTT	JAMES
DFW	200	JOHN	PAMELA
JFK	201	GONZALEZ	RAFAEL
DFW	202	ROSE	ERIC
DFW	203	ADDKISON	JEANNE
DFW	204	DAY	TERRY
DFW	205	MIXON	CHRISTINA
DFW	206	BARAN	VIVIAN
ORD	207	MCCOY	MICHAEL
JFK	208	ENOCHS	LINDA
DFW	209	ROBINSON	JULIAN
MIA	210	HOLLADAY	JAQUELINE
DFW	211	BRUHMULLER	LINDA
DFW	212	TREVINO	CYNTHIA
DFW	213	HERRMANN	MARSHA
DFW	214	BURNEO	JOSE
JFK	215	BANGS	GLORIA
DFW	216	HENDRICKS	JEAN
MIA	217	ZAVALA	ESTEBAN
DFW	218	HOLLAND	DARIN
ORD	219	TOMPKINS	RASEAN
ORD	220	FLORES	DERMALY
JFK	221	HILL	MICHELLE
ORD	222	BEAUDRIE	MATILDA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	223	SHANDS	MARY
DFW	224	BACHE	MARESA
DFW	225	LEVINE JR	ALVIN
DFW	226	HALL	AMIE
DFW	227	VITANZA	TONI
DFW	228	COLLINS	YOLANDA
DFW	229	TEREKHOV	ROSEMARIE
DFW	230	NEIGHBORS	MICHAEL
DFW	231	KRAUSE	SHERRI
JFK	232	PELKEY	LISA
JFK	233	RUSSELL	LYNETTE
MIA	234	ZIEMANN	CORALIE
MIA	235	MONTEIRO	DIANNE
JFK	236	WARMINSKI	ELIZABETH
MIA	237	ROMAN	AIDA
DFW	238	HENDERSON	LAURIE
ORD	239	DAVIS	LAVICCIA
JFK	240	CAMPBELL	CHARLENE
JFK	241	BERGEVIN	HEATHER
DFW	242	EDMUNDSON	TIARE
ORD	243	SKAAR	KAREN
DFW	244	PHILEMON	ANGELA
DFW	245	CRANDALL	SHELLEY
DFW	246	ARANETA	LUISITO
DFW	247	ZIMMER	JILL
JFK	248	OSORIA	JOSE
DFW	249	MELENDEZ	ZULMA
ORD	250	BIDWELL	CAROL
ORD	251	WOODS	MARY
DFW	252	ATKINS JR	DAVID
DFW	253	SALAZAR	ERMA
JFK	254	MCDONALD	AUDREY

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	255	GAWLIK	THOMAS
DFW	256	WILSON-MOORE	SHAWNA
DFW	257	DELA TORRE	BOBBY
MIA	258	ELIACIN	BERNADETTE
JFK	259	HUTCHINSON	MICHELLE
ORD	260	ALEXANDER	JAMES
DFW	261	PITTARI	JAKE
MIA	262	AQUINO	JOSE
DFW	263	MERRITT	BEVERLY
MIA	264	SEOW	SHERYL
MIA	265	DONNELL	CYNTHIA
ORD	266	NORAKY	CHANTHASONE
DFW	267	AVILES	ALISIA
MIA	268	LEWIS YOUNG	TIEQUELA
ORD	269	RANDALL	MARK
MIA	270	PACHECO	FERNANDO
DFW	271	CAGLE	KATHY
ORD	272	ST GODDARD	CORY
MIA	273	RIVERA	А
ORD	274	RODRIGUEZ	NANCY
JFK	275	LOPATA	HEATH
MIA	276	SANTANA	DEBORAH
MIA	277	ANDERSON	ANN MARIE
JFK	278	GILHOOLEY	MEGAN
MIA	279	PINDER	JULIA
JFK	280	LEITCH	ODESSA
DFW	281	NARVAEZ	MICHELLE
JFK	282	MEJIA	MARIANELA
ORD	283	WALKER	MARIA
JFK	284	BERBERENA	LILLIANA
DFW	285	ESTRADA	MARILYN
JFK	286	FIGUEROA	ARLENE

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	287	ROSADO	MAYRA
MIA	288	ENGEL	MICHELLE
JFK	289	RIVERA	RAMON
ORD	290	ROBERTS	JULIA
ORD	291	LAUGHLIN	MICHELLE
ORD	292	PEMBERTON	KIMMIE
MIA	293	GREGG DRAKES	SAMANTHA
JFK	294	JOBITY	NICOLE
DFW	295	CIFUENTES	SILVIA
DFW	296	SHARPE	KRISHA
MIA	297	FREYTES	ELBA
DFW	298	PERRY	SHERYL
DFW	299	DICKSON	SHERYL
JFK	300	YULE	GAY
DFW	301	WACHHOLZ	CAROL
DFW	302	MCALEER	JAMES
JFK	303	ALEXANDER-BAXTER	TEHERA
DFW	304	CORDOVA	ELIZABETH
MIA	305	CRUZ	MAGDA
DFW	306	PENA	SHALIME
ORD	307	JACKSON	MARY
ORD	308	KHODRA	DALIA
MIA	309	MONTES	JOSE
ORD	310	ITO	MARIA
DFW	311	DOSSA	ROSMIN
JFK	312	HERNANDEZ	SONYA
ORD	313	VAN LIEROP	TERESA
ORD	314	SHELTON	KENYATTA
DFW	315	MILLER	AMANDA
MIA	316	AMAR SELANO	RACHEL
DFW	317	VAZQUEZ	CARMEN
DFW	318	LOGAN	AMY

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
MIA	319	LABOY	JOSE
MIA	320	BERKELEY	DIANE
ORD	321	SANTIAGO	LUZ
ORD	322	RODRIGUEZ	ERNESTO
DFW	323	CLARK	DARLENE
DFW	324	NEMBHARD	GRACE
DFW	325	PATTERSON	KATHLEEN
MIA	326	MULLENS	LAURA
DFW	327	WANG	SANDRA
MIA	328	COLON	MARITZA
JFK	329	ERAZO	TRACY
MIA	330	MESIDOR	MARCELLINE
MIA	331	SANCHEZ	NESHMAIDA
JFK	332	HUDSON	DIANE
DFW	333	AUSTIN	JANE
DFW	334	MEEKER	ROBERTA
MIA	335	SANTANA	JULIE
MIA	336	APONTE	VIRMARIE
JFK	337	DUNKLEY	LORNA
DFW	338	OGBONDAH	EBERE
JFK	339	TORRES BONILLA	HILDA
DFW	340	BARROW	ROBERT
JFK	341	SANCHEZ	GINESKA
DFW	342	CRINER	JANET
DFW	343	MAEDER	BEATRICE
DFW	344	CHRISTOPHER	JULIE
MIA	345	HARDY	JENNIFER
DFW	346	SARANDIS	MAVIAEL
DFW	347	AUSTIN	JILL
DFW	348	HUA	JIN
MIA	349	RIOS SANCHEZ	PAULA
ORD	350	WARREN	JOYCE

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
MIA	351	HOLMAN	ALODIA
DFW	352	MARTINEZ	RACHELL
JFK	353	DASOUZA	DEBBY
DFW	354	BERG	DIANA
DFW	355	LLAMAS	CARMEN MARIA
DFW	356	WRIGHTSON	CYNTHIA
DFW	357	ALVARADO	MARCOS
DFW	358	THOMPSON	BESTY
JFK	359	GONZALEZ	NATALIA
DFW	360	COBOS	RACHEL
ORD	361	RAGUSA	KRISTINA
JFK	362	AYALA	ELIZABETH
DFW	363	SEARFOSS	BECKY
ORD	364	COUSINEAU	JIM
MIA	365	PENTECOST	CATHY
DFW	366	AYALA	JOHANA
MIA	367	ARROYAVE	MYRIAM
JFK	368	HERNANDEZ	WANDA
MIA	369	HARPSTER	BARBARA
MIA	370	FERNANDEZ	JEAN MARIE
MIA	371	RODRIGUEZ	ALLEN
DFW	372	RIVERA	JERRY
ORD	373	LOPEZ	JUDY
ORD	374	VALENTINE	ROBERT
ORD	375	MATOS	LUIS
ORD	376	RODRIQUEZ	RUTH
DFW	377	ALLEN	ELIZABETH
ORD	378	JONES	ETTORIA
MIA	379	LIERMAN	SAURIE
JFK	380	CORDERO	CRISTINA
DFW	381	REPPERT	DEBORAH
DFW	382	LAKHSASSI	HAMID

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	383	SONG	ELBA
MIA	384	FRANK	KIMI
ORD	385	RODRIGUEZ	ENID
MIA	386	MELENDEZ	GLADYS
MIA	387	PEREZ	MARIA
DFW	388	SUIKKARI	HELENA
ORD	389	MCWILLIAMS	SHARON
JFK	390	MALDONADO	LIZZIE
MIA	391	STERLING	CINDY
MIA	392	GRAY	CYNTHIA
DFW	393	SIMPSON	THRESA
ORD	394	STEWART	PARISICE
MIA	395	VISGALIO	KATHY
MIA	396	WASHINGTON	BERNICE
DFW	397	STANLEY	JILL
ORD	398	FOLKERS	DOUGLAS
DFW	399	BRAMBILLA	VERONICA
ORD	400	SCHNEIDER	HEATHER
DFW	401	JACOBS	KELLY
MIA	402	SISNEY	MARIBEL
DFW	403	VICKERY OLSEN	LUPITA
MIA	404	PRINGLEY	ADRIANE
MIA	405	IVEY	CLARENCE
ORD	406	METIDIERI	JOHN
JFK	407	ZALEWSKI	PAULA
MIA	408	DIEGUEZ	LUIS
DFW	409	ADAMSON	PAMELA
DFW	410	ESPINOSA	LIEU
DFW	411	SPEARS	GEORGIA
DFW	412	HOBBS	SHARON
DFW	413	NORMAN	MARY
ORD	414	BARNWELL	TERESA

JFK 415 RODRIGUES JULIETTA DFW 416 HUX DAWN MIA 417 ABEL MOISES JFK 418 SALAS REGINALD MIA 419 PRINCE ISIS DFW 420 GIPSON SHIRLEY HDQ 421 DUSTIN SUSAN ORD 422 ROBBEN JEFFREY DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 430 SUMMERLIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK <th>Base</th> <th>Sen#</th> <th>Name Last</th> <th>Name First</th>	Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
MIA 417 ABEL MOISES JFK 418 SALAS REGINALD MIA 419 PRINCE ISIS DFW 420 GIPSON SHIRLEY HDQ 421 DUSTIN SUSAN ORD 422 ROBBEN JEFFREY DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSO	JFK	415	RODRIGUES	JULIETTA
JFK 418 SALAS REGINALD MIA 419 PRINCE ISIS DFW 420 GIPSON SHIRLEY HDQ 421 DUSTIN SUSAN ORD 422 ROBBEN JEFFREY DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMP	DFW	416	HUX	DAWN
MIA 419 PRINCE ISIS DFW 420 GIPSON SHIRLEY HDQ 421 DUSTIN SUSAN ORD 422 ROBBEN JEFFREY DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER </td <td>MIA</td> <td>417</td> <td>ABEL</td> <td>MOISES</td>	MIA	417	ABEL	MOISES
DFW 420 GIPSON SHIRLEY HDQ 421 DUSTIN SUSAN ORD 422 ROBBEN JEFFREY DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER </td <td>JFK</td> <td>418</td> <td>SALAS</td> <td>REGINALD</td>	JFK	418	SALAS	REGINALD
HDQ 421 DUSTIN SUSAN ORD 422 ROBBEN JEFFREY DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILB	MIA	419	PRINCE	ISIS
ORD 422 ROBBEN JEFFREY DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TO	DFW	420	GIPSON	SHIRLEY
DFW 423 KOWATCH ALISON DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441	HDQ	421	DUSTIN	SUSAN
DFW 424 CUNNINGHAM YVONNE ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442	ORD	422	ROBBEN	JEFFREY
ORD 425 DELANEY TAMMIE ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443	DFW	423	KOWATCH	ALISON
ORD 426 ROBINSON MAXIMILLIAN DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444	DFW	424	CUNNINGHAM	YVONNE
DFW 427 VIEN ASIA MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTIN	ORD	425	DELANEY	TAMMIE
MIA 428 WIEBE NORMA MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	ORD	426	ROBINSON	MAXIMILLIAN
MIA 429 BOYER JEAN DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	DFW	427	VIEN	ASIA
DFW 430 SUMMERLIN DALE MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 4445 CABANTING ANDRE	MIA	428	WIEBE	NORMA
MIA 431 BALDWIN DEBORAH ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	MIA	429	BOYER	JEAN
ORD 432 NEWMARK BRYAN JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	DFW	430	SUMMERLIN	DALE
JFK 433 LEROUX SAMALOT BEATRIZ DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	MIA	431	BALDWIN	DEBORAH
DFW 434 THOMPSON KAREN JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	ORD	432	NEWMARK	BRYAN
JFK 435 VANE ANN ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	JFK	433	LEROUX SAMALOT	BEATRIZ
ORD 436 MEEHAN JOYCE ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	DFW	434	THOMPSON	KAREN
ORD 437 RICHTER HEATHER ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	JFK	435	VANE	ANN
ORD 438 HEINDORF KEVIN DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	ORD	436	MEEHAN	JOYCE
DFW 439 HEILBERGER TERI JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	ORD	437	RICHTER	HEATHER
JFK 440 TOLEDO RIVERA JACQUELINE JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	ORD	438	HEINDORF	KEVIN
JFK 441 BELTRAN ANGEL ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	DFW	439	HEILBERGER	TERI
ORD 442 ADAMS TERILYNN DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	JFK	440	TOLEDO RIVERA	JACQUELINE
DFW 443 JONES TARA ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	JFK	441	BELTRAN	ANGEL
ORD 444 KUHN RICHARD ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	ORD	442	ADAMS	TERILYNN
ORD 445 CABANTING ANDRE	DFW	443	JONES	TARA
	ORD	444	KUHN	RICHARD
ORD 446 WALLACE RACHELLE	ORD	445	CABANTING	ANDRE
	ORD	446	WALLACE	RACHELLE

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	447	SMITH	TERESA
ORD	448	HUNT DORSEY	JACQUELINE
MIA	449	VELASQUEZ	ANA
ORD	450	GARCIA	LYDIA
DFW	451	RAINEY	VALENETTA
JFK	452	KEEGAN	DONNA
DFW	453	EDWARDS	SAUNDRA
JFK	454	MENESALE	KRISTEN
JFK	455	RODRIGUEZ	GILVANIA
DFW	456	ARNOLDY	PATRICIA
JFK	457	WALLACE	KENNETH
ORD	458	HARDING	CYNTHIA
JFK	459	CRUZ	HECTOR
ORD	460	VASQUEZ	JOHN
DFW	461	TOVAR	FELIP
DFW	462	PAYNE	CATHERINE
JFK	463	WILLIAMSON	DENISE
DFW	464	HELUS	SHELBA
ORD	465	VANE	ELLEN
ORD	466	TRUSS	TERI
ORD	467	AGUILERA	JOHN
DFW	468	SIMPSON	JACQUELINE
DFW	469	FELICIANO	RAMONITA
ORD	470	WRIGHT	VICTORIA
JFK	471	TESTA	ELIZABETH
ORD	472	PAGOULATOS	JERRY
JFK	473	OGLESBY	ANGELYN
ORD	474	JONES	TAVONNA
DFW	475	DYCE	HEATHER
DFW	476	MCCARTHY	MOIRA
ORD	477	BOSTIC HOLLAND	AKIN
DFW	478	BREWER	KATHRENE

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	479	BEAL	BRUCE
DFW	480	MORENO	JOHN
ORD	481	ADAMS	ETHEL
GSW	482	POWELL	LESLIE
MIA	483	DELAO	MARIA
MIA	484	HAO	MARISOL
MIA	485	CABAN	MIGUEL
ORD	486	PAGAN	ADIEREN
ORD	487	FIDALGO	JUAN CARLOS
MIA	488	BONNANZIO	LORRI
DFW	489	SOTELO-MORALES	JACQUELINE
DFW	490	SHIREY	ELISE
DFW	491	TAVAGLIONE	NICOLE
JFK	492	ROOKARD-DIAZ	JEAN
JFK	493	GARCIA	GALO
MIA	494	PALMER	SHERINE
ORD	495	WEISHAAR	PHYLLIS
DFW	496	ELLIOTT	VIRGINIA
ORD	497	GILES	JAN
DFW	498	YANES	JESUS
DFW	499	GONZALEZ	CESAR
JFK	500	RANA	YEIMMY
ORD	501	ANTON	PATRICK
MIA	502	OLDACRE	VARONIE
JFK	503	SANTANA	DENISE
ORD	504	DEJESUS-RIVERA	SANDRA
ORD	505	CORLISS	ALBERT
JFK	506	ARLORO	RENATO
DFW	507	RAMOS	EVELYN
JFK	508	DUVERNEY	LANNA
ORD	509	PINEAULT	MELISSA
ORD	510	MORRIS	KOREN

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
JFK	511	ABDOU	NAGI
JFK	512	BRAXTON	VINCENT
JFK	513	BARIAS	SONIA
MIA	514	BYRNE	CHERISE
ORD	515	PAOLILLI	VANESSA
DFW	516	SHAW	TIFFANY
ORD	517	MICKOW	SUSAN
JFK	518	BAEZ	LILIANA
ORD	519	ANTONIO	AGNES
ORD	520	QUEENAN	JACLYN
JFK	521	THOMPSON	BRENDA
JFK	522	BRAY	THOMAS
ORD	523	MACGILLIVRAY	VIRGINIA
ORD	524	PLATTS	KELLY
JFK	525	POLIZZI	KILEY
JFK	526	LYNCH	TERRY-ANN
MIA	527	CANCIO	JORGE
JFK	528	GONZALEZ	JOSE
JFK	529	POORE	CHRISTINE
JFK	530	LOPES	FRANCISCO
ORD	531	BATTUNG	DOMINGO
DFW	532	AYALA	SHEYLA
ORD	533	DYE	DIANNA
JFK	534	BASTONE	DONNA
DFW	535	JACKMAN	DAWN
ORD	536	SPENCE	SHEILA
ORD	537	MINNICH	JUDITH
ORD	538	OZGUR	DILARA
JFK	539	ALVARADO	LUIS
ORD	540	GARCIA	IVANUSA
ORD	541	STONE	WILLIAM
ORD	542	GOOD	DEBORAH

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
JFK	543	BROCCOLI	ANTHONY
HDQ	544	KUNZ	LINDA
JFK	545	ROBICHAUD	KAZIA
DFW	546	NGUYEN	MELANIE
ORD	547	HARRIS	SHARON
DFW	548	RALEY	CARLYN
ORD	549	BROWN-ATKINS	JESSE
ORD	550	WATSON	JULIE
ORD	551	DAGLEY	CHANDRA
DFW	552	SANTIAGO	JAMIR
DFW	553	CROWLEY	GILMARIE
JFK	554	CALDERON	WANDA
JFK	555	PIZARRO	VALERIE
ORD	556	RIVERA	TAMAR
DFW	557	BARRIE	LINDA
DFW	558	NIA	FARID
MIA	559	MASSIE	JACQUELINE
JFK	560	TORRES	JULIO
MIA	561	FUENTES	MARIA DEL
DFW	562	SANTIAGO	SORAYA
ORD	563	TORRES	LYDIA
DFW	564	FERRIS	ELIZABETH
ORD	565	KING	LORNA
DFW	566	HERNANDEZ	LILIA
ORD	567	PASSARELLA	VICKIE
DFW	568	YANEZ	ENRIQUE
DFW	569	GILLESPIE	TOMMY
ORD	570	MURPHY	MAGDALENA
DFW	571	CAMPBELL	PEGGY
DFW	572	SCOTT	MARK
DFW	573	LOVELADY	KARL
ORD	574	MACAULEY	ALESSANDRA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	575	GURKE	SHANDY
JFK	576	BREWSTER MURILLO	JAYRA
DFW	577	MCCLURE	LINDSEY
ORD	578	BARIZO	JERRY
ORD	579	MCVICKER	CHRISTOPHER
MIA	580	MCGOVERN	BRIAN
DFW	581	CLARKSON	RICHARD
ORD	582	KELLER	JUDY
ORD	583	DENNISON	JULIANNE
ORD	584	BROOKS	CHERYL
MIA	585	MILLER	SALLY
DFW	586	BOYD	CHARITA
ORD	587	MCDOUGALD	DEBRA
MIA	588	MANN	PAULINE
JFK	589	JACKSON	JEROL
DFW	590	GAGE	LINDA
DFW	591	MCLAUCHLIN	JUDY
DFW	592	TAYLOR	BRIGID
ORD	593	SALVADOR	BERNABE
ORD	594	ROSA	JASON
DFW	595	BOHANAN	TARA
DFW	596	CASTELAN	LUIS
ORD	597	NIEHAUS	VIVIENNE
JFK	598	BRAHM	ROGER
ORD	599	CARR	CARLA
JFK	600	MEDINA	CRISTIAN
DFW	601	TURNER	SHARRON
MIA	602	GARAVITO-SALINI	MARITZA
ORD	603	STROTTNER	CHRISTINA
MIA	604	GOLDSMITH	KIMBERLY
ORD	605	CESTONE	CHRISTINE
ORD	606	VICTORIA	BETSAIDA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	607	HARPER	CAROL
ORD	608	FISHER	PAMELA
ORD	609	WELCH	KEVIN
ORD	610	CHERRY	REBECCA
ORD	611	KERN	THERESA
JFK	612	DUVERGE	BARBARA
ORD	613	ELLIS	KIMBERLY
ORD	614	SPILLMAN	SHANE
ORD	615	MARIN	DELMY
ORD	616	STOWE	JAYNE
JFK	617	OROZCO	JON
DFW	618	SKRELJA	PETER
ORD	619	OLIVERIO	SAM
ORD	620	SIMONTON-GREGG	M. ANDREA
ORD	621	PIERINI	SUSAN
ORD	622	CHENG	TONY
ORD	623	IKEDA	ANN
ORD	624	MCNEELY	MARY
ORD	625	HANNER	BOBBIE
JFK	626	VAZQUEZ	ARMANDO
DFW	627	BANMILLER	ABIGAIL
DFW	628	JORDAN	LILLMER
JFK	629	GUEST	CORIN
DFW	630	DACUNHA	VILMAR
ORD	631	THORN	WENDY
ORD	632	WILSON	KAHALA
JFK	633	GARCIA	OSWALDO
ORD	634	SCHULTE	LANCE
DFW	635	ELLER	LISA D
MIA	636	TORRES	ERIC
DFW	637	BURGOS	ERNESTO
DFW	638	OROZCO	ERIKA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	639	MORALES	MARIA
ORD	640	MARTINEZ	DONNY
MIA	641	QUATROMONI	JANE
ORD	642	PETROSIE	PRESTON
ORD	643	BOUGHTON	LYNNETTE
JFK	644	DEFREITAS	LOUISE
JFK	645	GONZALEZ	GLORIA
MIA	646	MOSS	ISABEL
DFW	647	YORK	RODGER
DFW	648	MCKELVEY	WALTRAUD
ORD	649	GLASER	PATRICIA
ORD	650	MUELLER	GLENN
ORD	651	DIAZ	JAYMI
JFK	652	DANTUONO JR	LOUIS
JFK	653	CAMPOVERDE	JUAN
JFK	654	CORONA	CHRISTOPHER
ORD	655	CURI	MARIA
JFK	656	APONTE	FERNANDO
ORD	657	MAISONET	TANIA
HDQ	658	WILKERSON	HEATHER
ORD	659	LECOCQ	MARY
ORD	660	BROWN	MUHAMMAD
JFK	661	GOUSKOS	BROOKE
DFW	662	VARGAS	JUAN
ORD	663	SANTIAGO-MADERA	OLIVO
DFW	664	HANES	CATHY
DFW	665	APPLEHANS	KAREN
DFW	666	GOMEZ	KARI LYN
MIA	667	FIGUREOA	FERNANDO
DFW	668	ROMAN	JULIO
MIA	669	VAZQUEZ	WALESKA
ORD	670	MEINDERS	MITCHELL

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	671	SEGERLIND	ALEXIS
DFW	672	SCALLION	ANA
DFW	673	CRAWFORD KNUTSON	REGINA
DFW	674	REYNOLDS	REBECCA
JFK	675	BROOKS	JILL
DFW	676	BITZER	STAR
ORD	677	VISOKY	CARLA
ORD	678	STAHL IV	JOHN
DFW	679	BREEDEN	BARBARA
DFW	680	CAMPBELL	KENNETH
ORD	681	FALLEN	TERRY
ORD	682	ROMAN	HERIBERTO
DFW	683	CRIBBS	TERRI
JFK	684	DEFREITAS	AINKA
ORD	685	ANDERSON	LAURA
ORD	686	LEAKE	KATHLEEN
DFW	687	DESANTIAGO	ANGELA
DFW	688	EDENS JR.	JACK
DFW	689	KARLEN	CONNIE
ORD	690	PARDINGTON	HEIDI
DFW	691	VIRANI	SOHAIL
ORD	692	SMUTS	HALEY
ORD	693	ROBINSON	SHARON
DFW	694	FULLHART	SHARON
DFW	695	JONES	KEITH
DFW	696	HALBACH	LORA
ORD	697	OLIVER	CELINA
ORD	698	REED	DANA
ORD	699	MARCELLIN	DONYA
DFW	700	DRIVER	MITZI
JFK	701	MELENDEZ	ANGELICA
ORD	702	VAN HORN	PATRICE

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	703	ECONOMY	PETER
ORD	704	MARTINEZ	LYRIANA
ORD	705	THRESHER	COLLEEN
DFW	706	LYTON	GALE
ORD	707	NOVAK	MELISSA
DFW	708	LOW	LAUREN
DFW	709	LEVY	VICKI
ORD	710	BENOIT	GORDON
ORD	711	MENON	RASAN
DFW	712	LANCASTER	LYNDSAY
ORD	713	HARTZELL	AUTUMN
ORD	714	MILLER	CAMERON
ORD	715	TILLEY	APRIL
ORD	716	MARCUCCI	CARMEN
JFK	717	HERRERA	YOLANDA
ORD	718	GRASSMAN	MARGARET
DFW	719	MCCLELLAND	LETHA
DFW	720	WEST	JOSEPH
ORD	721	BILLMAN	RONALD
ORD	722	JOHNSON	ROCIO
DFW	723	PHILLIPS	JOHN
DFW	724	WYATT	JANICE
DFW	725	GENTLES	REGINA
ORD	726	OSWALD	MARY
DFW	727	FREDERICK	MICHAEL
DFW	728	DORAN	MARY-BETH
DFW	729	RODRIGUEZ	ELIZABETH
ORD	730	WOOLFORD	DARLA
DFW	731	BLASINGAME	MICHAEL
DFW	732	MARTIN	PATRICIA
DFW	733	REYES-WEBB	ROXANN
DFW	734	BARTHOLD	KATHY

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	735	KEPNER	LUCY
ORD	736	ROONEY-GRAVES	JEANNE
ORD	737	MIKOS	PAUL
JFK	738	SERRANO	JOSE
JFK	739	PARSONS	MAXINE
DFW	740	GALBREAITH	DONICIA
DFW	741	GONZALEZ	EVELYN
ORD	742	MERCED	CARLOS
ORD	743	JOHNSON	ANN JEANETTE
ORD	744	GUZMAN	DESIREE
ORD	745	DAVIS	DELISA
ORD	746	JACKSON	LISA
ORD	747	BERINGER-TIETZE	PATRICK
ORD	748	STOLE	ELYSE
ORD	749	LUKES	NATASHA
JFK	750	SCHAFFNER	JOSH
JFK	751	SIMMONS	RHONDINE
MIA	752	CHIN	MARK
DFW	753	DUNCAN	JAN
DFW	754	DUFF	SHERRI
ORD	755	VINDHURST	ELIZABETH
ORD	756	GERSDORF	TERRY
MIA	757	BANKER	CYNTHIA
DFW	758	WHITT	JANIS
ORD	759	BROWN	TANYA
ORD	760	RIEGER	MURIEL
JFK	761	ALCOBA	EILEEN
JFK	762	DOVEAS-PITZI	MARY
DFW	763	YOUNG	BRENDA
ORD	764	SIKICH	INGRID
DFW	765	RENTERIA	EILEEN
ORD	766	WELCH	VALIS

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	767	ESSEX	MARY JANE
ORD	768	MITCHELL	VONCIA
ORD	769	DAVID	JANINE
DFW	770	JEFFERSON	ROCHELLE
DFW	771	JONES	DANIEL
ORD	772	KENT	STEVEN
ORD	773	PRENDERGAST	KELLY
ORD	774	CORDWELL	BRANDY
DFW	775	ROMAN	JEMMA
ORD	776	ROCHA	PATRICIA
ORD	777	BURGESS	LIZABETH
ORD	778	DAILEY	YUMIKO
ORD	779	HARRIS	MARQUITA
DFW	780	ROBERTS	CHAD
ORD	781	DAMSTRA	MARILYN
ORD	782	GRANT	CYNTHIA
DFW	783	CHOI	YOUNG
JFK	784	TRINIDAD	MARIBEL
JFK	785	ROHENA	ESTHER
DFW	786	HARRIS	NATASHA
DFW	787	GALAN	GINA
DFW	788	SU	WINNIE
JFK	789	ALS	SHERRIANN
DFW	790	WIMBERLY	TONYA
DFW	791	GRIMES	JEFFERY
ORD	792	WOYNER	CHARLES
DFW	793	BLACKMAN STEFANIK	DEBRA
DFW	794	MURILLO	DANIA
JFK	795	FENICK	ANDREW
ORD	796	WALKER	CINDY
MIA	797	LAMBRIGHT	RICHARD
DFW	798	HENDRICKS	MAURICE

DFW 799 RIPPARD-EAST ERICKA ORD 800 YOVANOVICH CHRISTINE ORD 801 WALLACE LISA MIA 802 MOORE DEREK ORD 803 DESENFANTS ROSE ORD 804 BERRY JAMES JFK 805 ORELLANA ELLIOT ORD 806 TARLINI JODI DFW 807 GARRETT SONJA JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 <td< th=""><th>Base</th><th>Sen#</th><th>Name Last</th><th>Name First</th></td<>	Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD 801 WALLACE LISA MIA 802 MOORE DEREK ORD 803 DESENFANTS ROSE ORD 804 BERRY JAMES JFK 805 ORELLANA ELLIOT ORD 806 TARLINI JODI DFW 807 GARRETT SONJA JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 820 BONNER	DFW	799	RIPPARD-EAST	ERICKA
MIA 802 MOORE DEREK ORD 803 DESENFANTS ROSE ORD 804 BERRY JAMES JFK 805 ORELLANA ELLIOT ORD 806 TARLINI JODI DFW 807 GARRETT SONJA JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 820 BONNER <td>ORD</td> <td>800</td> <td>YOVANOVICH</td> <td>CHRISTINE</td>	ORD	800	YOVANOVICH	CHRISTINE
ORD 803 DESENFANTS ROSE ORD 804 BERRY JAMES JFK 805 ORELLANA ELLIOT ORD 806 TARLINI JODI DFW 807 GARRETT SONJA JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 821 REINBOL	ORD	801	WALLACE	LISA
ORD 804 BERRY JAMES JFK 805 ORELLANA ELLIOT ORD 806 TARLINI JODI DFW 807 GARRETT SONJA JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBO	MIA	802	MOORE	DEREK
JFK 805 ORELLANA ELLIOT ORD 806 TARLINI JODI DFW 807 GARRETT SONJA JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 823	ORD	803	DESENFANTS	ROSE
ORD 806 TARLINI JODI DFW 807 GARRETT SONJA JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824	ORD	804	BERRY	JAMES
DFW 807 GARRETT SONJA JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	JFK	805	ORELLANA	ELLIOT
JFK 808 BUSIGO GUALBERTO DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	ORD	806	TARLINI	JODI
DFW 809 MORALES JAVIER JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	DFW	807	GARRETT	SONJA
JFK 810 NAGY NICOLE JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	JFK	808	BUSIGO	GUALBERTO
JFK 811 KIRKPATRICK BILLIE DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	DFW	809	MORALES	JAVIER
DFW 812 PIPER CARLENE ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	JFK	810	NAGY	NICOLE
ORD 813 STARR ANGELIA DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	JFK	811	KIRKPATRICK	BILLIE
DFW 814 EDWARDS MICHAEL DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	DFW	812	PIPER	CARLENE
DFW 815 ZANOTTI HEATHER ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	ORD	813	STARR	ANGELIA
ORD 816 NORTHRUP ANN ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	DFW	814	EDWARDS	MICHAEL
ORD 817 CHAUNG TONY DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	DFW	815	ZANOTTI	HEATHER
DFW 818 CUIE JACQULYN ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	ORD	816	NORTHRUP	ANN
ORD 819 MARTEL BARBARA ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	ORD	817	CHAUNG	TONY
ORD 820 BONNER ELIZABETH ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	DFW	818	CUIE	JACQULYN
ORD 821 REINBOLT PATRICIA ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	ORD	819	MARTEL	BARBARA
ORD 822 GRIDER ASHLEY ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	ORD	820	BONNER	ELIZABETH
ORD 823 MARTINEZ-TORRES LILLIANA DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	ORD	821	REINBOLT	PATRICIA
DFW 824 NGUYEN THANH	ORD	822	GRIDER	ASHLEY
	ORD	823	MARTINEZ-TORRES	LILLIANA
ORD 825 CZEREW GARY	DFW	824	NGUYEN	THANH
	ORD	825	CZEREW	GARY
DFW 826 CRUZ JOSE	DFW	826	CRUZ	JOSE
DFW 827 FOWLER JEANIE	DFW	827	FOWLER	JEANIE
ORD 828 COLBURN KAREN	ORD	828	COLBURN	KAREN
DFW 829 MOORE DEBRA	DFW	829	MOORE	DEBRA
ORD 830 RYAN DANIEL	ORD	830	RYAN	DANIEL

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
JFK	831	RODRIGUEZ JR	JUAN RAUL
ORD	832	LYNCH	REBEKAH
JFK	833	POLANCO-PEDROGO	ROSA
ORD	834	MCNEIL	KEVIN
ORD	835	SHIPLEY	TANYA
DFW	836	CASTANEDA	CARLOS
DFW	837	MEADOWS	ALBERT
DFW	838	PETTIGREW MORRIS	CANDICE
ORD	839	BROWN	BARRY
DFW	840	MANCHESTER	JOANN
DFW	841	BRIGGS	ELLEN
DFW	842	ARMSTRONG	JULIO
ORD	843	BURNETTE	ANDREA
DFW	844	WRIGHT	KISHA
DFW	845	BONILLA	JEZREEL
JFK	846	ARROYO MOJICA	CARLOS
MIA	847	SILVA	JAZMIN
JFK	848	ALVAREZ	YASIRI
HDQ	849	LARSEN	CELIA
ORD	850	BEDNAR	ANNA MARIE
JFK	851	ESPINDOLA	RUBENS
DFW	852	ANNIS	SHIRLEY
ORD	853	JOHNSON	JOYCE
ORD	854	DYCMAN	DANIELLE
DFW	855	COOKE	STEPHEN
DFW	856	FREUTEL	KAY
ORD	857	HERRITT	MELANIE
DFW	858	THURMAN	CYNTHIA
ORD	859	MILTON	SHARON
ORD	860	BAKER-OLNEY	JODI
DFW	861	RIVERA	SAHADIA
ORD	862	DISS	EMILY

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	863	WORTMAN	KELLIE
ORD	864	RECTOR	EMILY
ORD	865	MORRIS	MARILYN
DFW	866	ANDRUS	ERICA
ORD	867	ALLIBALOGUN	MORAYO
JFK	868	CARAPELLUCCI	DIANE
DFW	869	WASHINGTON	CASSAUNDRA
DFW	870	JETT	ELIZABETH
ORD	871	STROUD	ELIZABETH
MIA	872	BROWN	CHAKIA
DFW	873	SLOMAN	KELLI
DFW	874	BETHKE	JENNIFER
ORD	875	KOSTICH	MICHELLE
JFK	876	VALENTIN-SANTIAGO	MARIO
ORD	877	TIESMAN	CHARLOTTE
JFK	878	CARABALLO-MORALES	JORGE
JFK	879	PEGUERO	ELFI
ORD	880	ROCHE	WENDY JEAN
MIA	881	MICHEL	JEAN
ORD	882	BOURGEOIS	NANCY
ORD	883	MALDONADO	ALFRED
ORD	884	CAMARENA-CASTELLANOS	VENONI
ORD	885	CHARLES	SHEILA
ORD	886	BROWN	IDA
ORD	887	RODRIGUEZ	LUIS
DFW	888	WARD	JULIE
DFW	889	ANTHONY	DEBORAH
ORD	890	BLUETHMAN	KELI
ORD	891	ROBINSON	JANICE
ORD	892	CASTILLO	NAGER
DFW	893	SHARP	CASEY
ORD	894	ESTRADA CASTRO	CRISTIAN

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	895	MCCLAIN	JUDE
DFW	896	STEWART	SHELLEY
ORD	897	WISE	LAUREN
GSW	898	MOLINA	JOSE
JFK	899	GASPARD	EDDY
DFW	900	REICHERT	GWEN
ORD	901	ELAM	MARY
ORD	902	ADAMS	BROOKE
JFK	903	ROUSH	JORDAN
ORD	904	DUNN	COURTNEY
ORD	905	JOSSELYN	DIANE
DFW	906	CHANDLER	SHELIA
ORD	907	AMODEO	CATHERINE
JFK	908	BERGREN	ALICIA
ORD	909	DE LA MORA	ALEJANDRO
MIA	910	NOCERA SCHICHT	VANESA
ORD	911	FRANCOIS	LINDA
ORD	912	HOLTWICK	AMBER
JFK	913	WINTZ	YOHAN
DFW	914	ROSS	FRANCES
ORD	915	LEUNG	PUY YING
DFW	916	STEWART	ROSALYN
DFW	917	MCDONALD	KELLY
JFK	918	BENITEZ LIBERATO	MARIA
JFK	919	ROMAN	JORGE
DFW	920	GANN GEB LORENZ	KRISTINA
ORD	921	DAVIS	BARAKA
JFK	922	WADMAN	SARAH
JFK	923	COLEMAN	DAVID
DFW	924	POLEMENI	SANDY
JFK	925	BROTHERTON	MAXLANA
JFK	926	ALBAUGH	CHERI

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
JFK	927	JENSEN	ZILENE
ORD	928	SYLVANO	CHRISTINE
JFK	929	DOUGHERTY	MARY
ORD	930	RODRIGUEZ	VANESSA
ORD	931	VELAZQUEZ	MARIA
DFW	932	AMEZCUA	JOSEPH
DFW	933	GREER	DEANENE
JFK	934	MASON	SALLY
ORD	935	CONOLTY	GAYLE
DFW	936	WINTERS	DAWN
MIA	937	OSVOLD	JENNIFER
ORD	938	BROOKS	ANDREA
ORD	939	CHARGULAF	BRYAN
ORD	940	NEAL	MARY
DFW	941	SALTER	CHRISTINE
DFW	942	BLEVINS	TERESA
ORD	943	LEFEAR	LUCILLE
ORD	944	HEZINGER	DONNA
MIA	945	LONGCHAMP	MARGUERITE-MARTINE
JFK	946	BERRY	KEVIN
JFK	947	ODEN	CHOYCE
DFW	948	VILLARAN	AIXA
DFW	949	HIRALDO	JUAN
JFK	950	JOHNSON	MARGARET
DFW	951	BEATTY	STEPHANIE
DFW	952	HALEY	VARINA
DFW	953	QUINN	COLLEEN
ORD	954	ATCHISON	BRENNA
DFW	955	MOSHINSKI	KEVIN
DFW	956	BYRD	SHELLY
DFW	957	HESTER	ANTHONY
ORD	958	SMITH	SHEILA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	959	MORRIS	ALICIA
DFW	960	DENSON	JESSICA
ORD	961	ORTIZ ARROYO	CHRISTIAN
ORD	962	MC BRIDE	AMANDA
MIA	963	WOLF	TY
ORD	964	MALARET	CARMEN
JFK	965	DE LOS SANTOS PINA	KARLA
JFK	966	KNAUS	CRAIG
JFK	967	MCCULLEN	SUSAN
JFK	968	BROCK	JOLENE
ORD	969	DIAZ-HOWER	BARBARA
ORD	970	CARTER	WILLIAM
ORD	971	JACKSON	WANDA
ORD	972	MCFARLAND	JOAN
DFW	973	SANFORD	JOAN
DFW	974	NEVAREZ	SANDRA
JFK	975	LASTER	MIKKI
ORD	976	STIERS	JASON
ORD	977	TENCH	LINDSEY
ORD	978	HATTEN	JESSICA
ORD	979	DAVIS	PAMELA
ORD	980	KOPPLIN	PAMELA
ORD	981	CARTER	KATHY
JFK	982	KAY	LAILA
ORD	983	COUTURE	REBECCA
ORD	984	HARTZLER	DENA
DFW	985	MARTEL WOOD	ELENA RAMOS
JFK	986	WANAT	LAUREN
JFK	987	WHITE	KAREN
ORD	988	PECINA	ERICA
ORD	989	ADAMS	MARY
ORD	990	WEBB JR	RUSSELL

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	991	GRAMBUSCH	RHONDA
DFW	992	JONES	KAREN
ORD	993	HAMILTON	RICHARD
ORD	994	SMALL	COURTNEY
JFK	995	FAITH	ANA
JFK	996	TURNER	URSULA
ORD	997	THOMPSON	CHARISSE
DFW	998	STARKEY	CHELSEA
DFW	999	AHRENS	ELIZABETH
DFW	1000	MURRAY	MARGARET
ORD	1001	LALOGGIA	JEANINE
ORD	1002	ZELM	LAURA
ORD	1003	CLARK	ALICE
ORD	1004	DRAEVING	PORTIA
ORD	1005	BARRETO JR	MARIO
JFK	1006	MONTALVO	JOSEPH
ORD	1007	TYRON PATTERSON	TONYA
ORD	1008	ZAGORSKA	JUSTYNA
JFK	1009	FORTINEAUX	JAIDA
ORD	1010	NGHIEM	KEVIN
ORD	1011	PILGREEN	ALLAN
ORD	1012	ROMAN FELICIANO	GIL
ORD	1013	JOHNSON	RYAN
ORD	1014	ZAJC	ASHLEY
ORD	1015	WATKINS	JACQUELINE
ORD	1016	KNIGHT	LAUREN
ORD	1017	RODRIGUEZ	ROSALINDA
JFK	1018	MARSHALL	THOMAS
MIA	1019	ARIEL	SUMMER
ORD	1020	ULRICH	CHARLES
JFK	1021	TURNER	DOUGLAS
DFW	1022	WYLIE	GINA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	1023	FRIESE	DARLENE
MIA	1024	HOLNESS	CAROL
DFW	1025	CASAS	NUBIA
JFK	1026	WAGNER JR	WESLEY
ORD	1027	CALMES	FRANKO
JFK	1028	HINDS	JERIENE
MIA	1029	EUGENT	KAMALA
ORD	1030	CADENA	HEIDRUN
ORD	1031	HARRELL	WANDA
DFW	1032	PIUCO	ROSA
DFW	1033	MAGNESON	LYNETTE
ORD	1034	KENKEL	JULIE
ORD	1035	BROWN	ANDREA
ORD	1036	HARDESTY	SHERRY
JFK	1037	MCDONALD	LISA
DFW	1038	FORD	CYDNEY
ORD	1039	NARVID	JORDAIN
ORD	1040	BUENGER	GERI
MIA	1041	BOLTON	GEORGIANNA
JFK	1042	DELANS	MARIE
ORD	1043	BACIUS	CONNIE
JFK	1044	SHARKEY	CAROLYN
ORD	1045	HARDY	EVAN
DFW	1046	MCDOWELL	LAUREN
ORD	1047	WOBBEKING	PAMELA
DFW	1048	CWIKLA	MELISSA
ORD	1049	MYERS	COLETTE
ORD	1050	URBAN	NICHOLE
MIA	1051	KIDD	SHERRION
MIA	1052	PAREDES	RICARDO
MIA	1053	ORTIZ ESPADA	ROSA
DFW	1054	RIVERA	SUSANA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
JFK	1055	SILVESTRY	JAVIER
JFK	1056	COLLAZO	ELVIN
JFK	1057	RAMOS	ARIEL
ORD	1058	RAMIREZ	MISAEL
ORD	1059	SANCHEZ	YOLIMAR
MIA	1060	HARRIGAN	RADALIZA
ORD	1061	JOSEPH	ARIEL
DFW	1062	LANCASTER	DEBORAH
JFK	1063	CARPENTER	LINDA
ORD	1064	CARDEN ZUZIAK	DENISE
JFK	1065	CRUZ REYES	ERIK
ORD	1066	RIVERA	VANESSA
ORD	1067	MARTIN-WATKINS	LISA
DFW	1068	CANNATELLA HOTCHKISS	CHRISTINE
ORD	1069	HELTON	KALANI
ORD	1070	MOORE	LINDA
ORD	1071	DAILIDAS	JOANNA
ORD	1072	WALTHER	JANET
DFW	1073	RANDLE	TAMIKO
JFK	1074	LEBRON	KELLY
JFK	1075	NARVAEZ	RAQUEL
ORD	1076	KAYE	CYNTHIA
JFK	1077	DAMICO	TAMARA
JFK	1078	BETHUNE-FISHER	CHARLOTTE
DFW	1079	SUGGS	ADAM
JFK	1080	WHITENECK	JOSHUA
MIA	1081	SLUSHER	CARA
JFK	1082	COLINDRES	DENNIS
ORD	1083	BLANTON	JENNIFER
ORD	1084	ROBINSON	CHRISTIAN
JFK	1085	KUHLENSCHMIDT	ROBERT
JFK	1086	AUBIN	TRACY

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	1087	DAVENPORT	REN
JFK	1088	MC CLELLAND	KATY
ORD	1089	BAILEY	NADIA
JFK	1090	DAVIS	ANTWAIN
MIA	1091	PACQUETTE	RYAN
JFK	1092	FLATTER	VICKI
JFK	1093	DI STAULA	LAURA
JFK	1094	GARCIA	ALFREDO
JFK	1095	MORALES	ALIESKY
DFW	1096	DOYEL	EVAN
DFW	1097	SOLIMAN	MONA
DFW	1098	FALL	COURTNEY
DFW	1099	WASHINGTON	ANGELA
JFK	1100	VIGILANT	CHERYL
ORD	1101	FOXX	STEPHANIE
DFW	1102	IVY	NICKESHA
DFW	1103	PETTIGREW JR.	RICHARD
DFW	1104	PENDLETON	CAROL
MIA	1105	GREALY	PATRICIA
ORD	1106	GONZALEZ	ADALBERTO
ORD	1107	BEAUSEJOUR	CHARLINE
JFK	1108	FEKETE	ANDREW
ORD	1109	STROKOS	ASHLEY
JFK	1110	WILLIAMS	COURTNEY
JFK	1111	HANLEY	TIFANI
ORD	1112	TOLBERT	TAYLOR
MIA	1113	MENDOZA	JACQUELINE
JFK	1114	JORDAN	PAMELA
JFK	1115	RIVERS	MIRIAM
ORD	1116	OMASTIAK	HELEN
DFW	1117	BURKE	SHARON
DFW	1118	WRIGHT LECLAIR	CRYSTAL

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	1119	POWELL	BENJAMIN
JFK	1120	LOPEZ	CHELSEY
DFW	1121	STAHL	MICHAEL
MIA	1122	RHODEN LOBBAN	MARY
DFW	1123	COULTER	ERIN
DFW	1124	LAUTENSLAGER	DANA
MIA	1125	MARTIN MONTIEL	OSCAR
JFK	1126	KABA	VALDETA
DFW	1127	VELVICK	KRYSTAL
ORD	1128	TACHCO	MARY
ORD	1129	SAN MARTIN ZAMBRANO	SONIA
MIA	1130	RINCON	EDGAR
JFK	1131	WILLIAMS	NOLIE
DFW	1132	WILLIAMS	OTHA
JFK	1133	BEST	MONIQUE
ORD	1134	BRYANT	SUSAN
ORD	1135	LAZARO	RICHARD
DFW	1136	MANNING	GENA
ORD	1137	AROUNNOTHAY	TOUN
JFK	1138	DUKE-HUSSEIN	LESLYN
JFK	1139	PEREZ	PATRICIA
MIA	1140	MOLITOR	SUSAN
ORD	1141	STEVENS	SHARON
DFW	1142	LOVING	JAMES
MIA	1143	STAUBLE	ANDREA
ORD	1144	SZOMOR	KRISZTINA
MIA	1145	MALDONADO	JESSICA
JFK	1146	ABADIA	ROBINSON
ORD	1147	LUCIO	AGUSTINA
MIA	1148	DANNELLY	ASHLEY
JFK	1149	TURNER	JANET
MIA	1150	KEIM	PATRICIA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
ORD	1151	VALERI	CHERLYN
DFW	1152	FEARS	DARON
MIA	1153	PATINO	JOYCE
JFK	1154	REDONDO RAFFO	JOSE
JFK	1155	COLON	CHRISTIAN
JFK	1156	MELONSON	MISTY
ORD	1157	KROSTUE	JENNIFER
JFK	1158	REED	STEPHANIE
JFK	1159	SCHMIDT	STEPHANIE
ORD	1160	BERTRAM	ASHLEY
JFK	1161	DE BIE	DEVON
ORD	1162	KNIGHT	NICOLE
JFK	1163	GUTIERREZ	LINDSAY
JFK	1164	LYTTLETON	TAVON
ORD	1165	HATZUNG	STACI
ORD	1166	BAKER	WILLIAM
DFW	1167	GONZALEZ	EMILIO
MIA	1168	STABERG	MARY
DFW	1169	SANTIAGO	PATRICIA
JFK	1170	MAZZUCCO	BARBARA
MIA	1171	VELAZQUEZ	CARMEN
ORD	1172	TRAMMELL	TANISHA
JFK	1173	SINGLETON	VALERIE
ORD	1174	DOUGLAS-CARSON	JOHNWANA
DFW	1175	FORTE	JOY
JFK	1176	MARTINEZ	WUANLLIS
ORD	1177	TAYLOR	LAUREN
JFK	1178	KNIGHT	GLORIA
JFK	1179	ULLAH	AVON
DFW	1180	HUFF	DIANE
DFW	1181	FOGELMAN	LUANNA
JFK	1182	MCGUINNESS	VICTORIA

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First
DFW	1183	BUSTAMANTE	ELIZABETH
JFK	1184	MCGUINNESS	SUSAN
ORD	1185	MACKLEY	JOSEPHINE
JFK	1186	SUNDARAM	RAJANDRAN
ORD	1187	KA AUWAI	ABRAHAM
ORD	1188	BORDEN	ISADORA
DFW	1189	BRENNER	LINDA
JFK	1190	ROBBINS	MELISSA
ORD	1191	MCINTYRE	PATRICA
ORD	1192	RODRIGUEZ	LETICIA
JFK	1193	LOYD	TERESA
JFK	1194	STALLINGS	RHETTA
JFK	1195	FERRILL	LILA
MIA	1196	BALLERINI	CESAR
ORD	1197	OWENS	JOHN
ORD	1198	HILALY	AMAL
ORD	1199	MITCHEM	BRANDI
ORD	1200	WYNNE	SHYEEDA
DFW	1201	PENTON	MEGAN
DFW	1202	HALL	JANINE
JFK	1203	WILLIAMSON	BRIANNA
JFK	1204	FELICIANO-RUIZ	JOSE
DFW	1205	ALI	ZIA
DFW	1206	MABRY	CYNTHIA
DFW	1207	CROCKER	JACQUELINE
JFK	1208	DAVIS	DAMARIS
ORD	1209	FULLER	KRISTINE
ORD	1210	BUI	STEPHANIE
MIA	1211	BELTRE	NOEL B
ORD	1212	DEGALLERIE TURNBULL	HELEN
JFK	1213	GAYDOSH	MICHAEL
JFK	1214	MATHURIN	MARIE

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First	
ORD	1215	HALINSKI	JENNIFER	
JFK	1216	ALMONTE	CHRISTOPHER	
ORD	1217	HERREN	DELORES	
ORD	1218	AYALA	MARIA	
ORD	1219	RUIZ	LISA	
JFK	1220	RODRIGUEZ	IVAN	
ORD	1221	SANCHEZ	PATRICIA	
ORD	1222	BANISTER	DEBBIE	
JFK	1223	JOHNSON	JERRY	
JFK	1224	TICEHURST	ANN	
ORD	1225	LOPES GIL	MARIA	
MIA	1226	PEREIRA	PATRICIA	
JFK	1227	FREDERICK	SHELLY ANN	
JFK	1228	NAVARRO	DORIAN	
JFK	1229	LOZADA BERRIOS	BETZAIDA	
DFW	1230	HERNANDEZ	YESENIA	
JFK	1231	PHELAN	NIYA	
JFK	1232	BERRY	ACQUANETTA	
ORD	1233	HOLT	KAREN	
ORD	1234	DAUNCH	TERESA	
ORD	1235	SULLIVAN	SHANNON	
JFK	1236	TUZINOWSKI	ARTUR	
DFW	1237	RICHARDSON	SHERRELL	
ORD	1238	REHKER	LINDSAY	
JFK	1239	HANNA	ARSANY	
JFK	1240	CHAPARRO	PAMELA	
JFK	1241	CRUZ	SHARDEY	
JFK	1242	LORIA	ANTHONY	
MIA	1243	BERMUDEZ MARTINEZ	JUAN	
ORD	1244	MCKENZIE	REBECCA	
ORD	1245	CACCAMO	YVETTE	
MIA	1246	COOKE	CHRISTIANA	

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First	
ORD	1247	BETKA	THOMAS	
DFW	1248	DE LA FUENTE MORA	DANIEL	
JFK	1249	HEMHONG	SARINYA	
DFW	1250	CHAMNARNSRIPETCH	KHUNNATHAM	
JFK	1251	ARIAS NOVA	RAFAEL	
DFW	1252	QUINTEROS	MAGALY	
ORD	1253	HADDIX	KELSEY	
DFW	1254	WONG	STACY	
DFW	1255	CLARY	KATHERINE	
ORD	1256	BROWN	AVA	
ORD	1257	FRUTH	SUSAN	
DFW	1258	HAYES	BRIGETTE	
DFW	1259	CHAVEZ	LORETTA	
DFW	1260	WIGGINS	JOSETTE	
JFK	1261	LOGAN	KARYN	
JFK	1262	CAPLEY	MELISSA	
DFW	1263	CIOCCO	ANTHONY	
ORD	1264	BUENO	ELIANNY	
ORD	1265	PLANTE	ERIC	
ORD	1266	SANTIAGO JR	MELVIN	
ORD	1267	YOUNG	JASMINE	
ORD	1268	COLAIACOMO	BREANNA	
JFK	1269	LEWIS	GIZELLE	
DFW	1270	ROSALES	CLAUDIA	
MIA	1271	GONZALEZ	REGLA	
DFW	1272	OLIVER	ANGELA	
DFW	1273	MCCLOUD	KIMBERLY	
DFW	1274	WOODS	MARSHA	
DFW	1275	MARTINEZ	KIMBERLY	
MIA	1276	MATHEUS	MARIA	
JFK	1277	EARL	KENDALL	
JFK	1278	STEWART	ELISA	

ORD 1279 KING GREGORY DFW 1280 KIMBRELL RALEIGH JFK 1281 HEISER NICOLE ORD 1282 CORESSEL AMBER JFK 1283 ESPINAL JOEL DFW 1284 JOHNSON MARIAH JFK 1285 CARRERA SALAZAR ANDRES ORD 1286 MBONGO NELLY DFW 1287 SMITH LACEY DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1	Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First	
JFK 1281 HEISER NICOLE ORD 1282 CORESSEL AMBER JFK 1283 ESPINAL JOEL DFW 1284 JOHNSON MARIAH JFK 1285 CARRERA SALAZAR ANDRES ORD 1286 MBONGO NELLY DFW 1287 SMITH LACEY DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298	ORD	1279	KING	GREGORY	
ORD 1282 CORESSEL AMBER JFK 1283 ESPINAL JOEL DFW 1284 JOHNSON MARIAH JFK 1285 CARRERA SALAZAR ANDRES ORD 1286 MBONGO NELLY DFW 1287 SMITH LACEY DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 130	DFW	1280	KIMBRELL	RALEIGH	
JFK 1283 ESPINAL JOEL DFW 1284 JOHNSON MARIAH JFK 1285 CARRERA SALAZAR ANDRES ORD 1286 MBONGO NELLY DFW 1287 SMITH LACEY DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 </td <td>JFK</td> <td>1281</td> <td>HEISER</td> <td>NICOLE</td>	JFK	1281	HEISER	NICOLE	
DFW 1284 JOHNSON MARIAH JFK 1285 CARRERA SALAZAR ANDRES ORD 1286 MBONGO NELLY DFW 1287 SMITH LACEY DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW <t< td=""><td>ORD</td><td>1282</td><td>CORESSEL</td><td>AMBER</td></t<>	ORD	1282	CORESSEL	AMBER	
JFK 1285 CARRERA SALAZAR ANDRES ORD 1286 MBONGO NELLY DFW 1287 SMITH LACEY DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD <	JFK	1283	ESPINAL	JOEL	
ORD 1286 MBONGO NELLY DFW 1287 SMITH LACEY DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1	DFW	1284	JOHNSON	MARIAH	
DFW 1287 SMITH LACEY DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 13	JFK	1285	CARRERA SALAZAR	ANDRES	
DFW 1288 TODD JASMINE JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW	ORD	1286	MBONGO	NELLY	
JFK 1289 MANCEBO ONEAL DENISSE JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD	DFW	1287	SMITH	LACEY	
JFK 1290 BELL REGINA DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309<	DFW	1288	TODD	JASMINE	
DFW 1291 ELLIS TIFFANIE ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	JFK	1289	MANCEBO ONEAL	DENISSE	
ORD 1292 ELZEER ERNEST JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	JFK	1290	BELL	REGINA	
JFK 1293 CRITCHER KAREN JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	DFW	1291	ELLIS	TIFFANIE	
JFK 1294 HOWELL DENISE DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	ORD	1292	ELZEER	ERNEST	
DFW 1295 PRASAD SUSAN JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	JFK	1293	CRITCHER	KAREN	
JFK 1296 GRANT JUSTINE DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	JFK	1294	HOWELL	DENISE	
DFW 1297 VON STEIN CYNTHIA ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	DFW	1295	PRASAD	SUSAN	
ORD 1298 HUNT PRISCILLA ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	JFK	1296	GRANT	JUSTINE	
ORD 1299 LLORET TERESA JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	DFW	1297	VON STEIN	CYNTHIA	
JFK 1300 HARLEY FAITH ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	ORD	1298	HUNT	PRISCILLA	
ORD 1301 ERWIN SARAH DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	ORD	1299	LLORET	TERESA	
DFW 1302 GONZALEZ PEREZ MAIRA DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	JFK	1300	HARLEY	FAITH	
DFW 1303 GREGORY JARVIUS ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	ORD	1301	ERWIN	SARAH	
ORD 1304 SACHARCZUK EWELINA JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	DFW	1302	GONZALEZ PEREZ	MAIRA	
JFK 1305 SIMON ANDREA JFK 1306 PADILLA DANNY DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	DFW	1303	GREGORY	JARVIUS	
JFK1306PADILLADANNYDFW1307CAMPBELLFELICIAORD1308WOLFRAMMARYDFW1309FERRAROKAREN	ORD	1304	SACHARCZUK	EWELINA	
DFW 1307 CAMPBELL FELICIA ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	JFK	1305	SIMON	ANDREA	
ORD 1308 WOLFRAM MARY DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	JFK	1306	PADILLA	DANNY	
DFW 1309 FERRARO KAREN	DFW	1307	CAMPBELL	FELICIA	
	ORD	1308	WOLFRAM	MARY	
DFW 1310 RITCHIE RENE	DFW	1309	FERRARO	KAREN	
	DFW	1310	RITCHIE	RENE	

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First	
DFW	1311	CORREIA	JOSE	
DFW	1312	DAVIS	CINDY	
JFK	1313	HEJTMANKOVA	MARIA	
ORD	1314	EUGENT	DANIELLE	
JFK	1315	ALVES	NUWONIA	
JFK	1316	HUERTAS	JEIMY	
JFK	1317	JEWELL	JULIA	
JFK	1318	TERRERO	MELISSA	
ORD	1319	PENNINGS	BRITTNEY	
DFW	1320	AYERS	AARON	
DFW	1321	LUNDY	LORI	
DFW	1322	STONE	MAGDALENA	
DFW	1323	SIMMONS	TAMMY	
JFK	1324	KAVANAGH	SIMONE	
DFW	1325	HARTSOCK	BARBARA	
ORD	1326	LUONG	QUANG	
DFW	1327	HOOD	TRINA	
DFW	1328	RUSSEK	TRACY	
DFW	1329	VELAZQUEZ	KENISKA	
JFK	1330	CLARKE	TANYA	
DFW	1331	AYALA	SEBASTIAN	
JFK	1332	LUCAS	KELLY	
JFK	1333	PHILPOT	MARGARET	
JFK	1334	JONES	JESSICA	
JFK	1335	FERNANDEZ	ARACELYS	
JFK	1336	DECONTE	SIERRA ANN	
DFW	1337	GIBSON-BROWN	DEBORAH	
DFW	1338	COLLIER	CARYN	
DFW	1339	DUNCAN	SHAUN	
DFW	1340	ALEXANDER	MARCELLE	
DFW	1341	MCCLARY	LISA	
DFW	1342	JUNGBLUTH	ERIC	

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First	
DFW	1343	SEARLES	KENISHA	
ORD	1344	WILKERSON	ARIELL	
JFK	1345	PANASIS	ELENA	
JFK	1346	KAUR	HARJOT	
JFK	1347	BAK	GI-HYE	
JFK	1348	TORRES CUAUTLI	KEVIN	
JFK	1349	ACOSTA DURAN	MIGUEL	
ORD	1350	MORROW	DANIEL	
ORD	1351	HAFSTROM	LINDA	
ORD	1352	ANAGUANO	LUIS	
JFK	1353	STEELMAN	KOZUE	
JFK	1354	CHEUNG	KALO	
JFK	1355	MARTE GRULLON	LAURA	
JFK	1356	PRICE	TANISHA	
ORD	1357	NIHONYANAGI	MITCHELL	
JFK	1358	MORALES	JAKY	
JFK	1359	REYNOLDS	YASHIMABETH	
JFK	1360	MARSHALL	LADIONA	
JFK	1361	PARKER	KEJAFA	
JFK	1362	ROBERSON	TRAVIS	
ORD	1363	ANDERSON	ROBIN	
JFK	1364	NORRIS	KAY	
ORD	1365	LOMELI	VALERIE	
JFK	1366	FITZGERALD	PATRICE	
JFK	1367	GADSBY	CATHERINE	
JFK	1368	RAMSEY	IBUKA	
JFK	1369	TWYMAN	JENNIFER	
JFK	1370	POLINSKY	EILEEN	
JFK	1371	MARRERO	CHRISTINE	
ORD	1372	BLEAJA	ISABELA	
JFK	1373	LEE	SIERRA	
JFK	1374	WILBOURN	DEONTE	

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First	
JFK	1375	JONES	JEROMY	
JFK	1376	PRADO	GABRIEL	
ORD	1377	STAM	REBECA	
ORD	1378	KING	ANNE	
JFK	1379	LOPER	WILLIAM	
JFK	1380	HUHA	GEORGE	
JFK	1381	GRAY	TAWN	
JFK	1382	DAVID	MARK	
JFK	1383	BAKER	DEBRA	
JFK	1384	ACHILLE	BURLEIGH	
JFK	1385	GROSSI	LORRAINE	
JFK	1386	RESTREPO	CLAUDIA	
ORD	1387	BRITO	ITAMAR	
JFK	1388	JORDAN	PAULA	
ORD	1389	HANSON	YOLANDA	
ORD	1390	ZENDANO	IRENE	
JFK	1391	MAS	VERONICA	
JFK	1392	ULRICH	LAUREN	
JFK	1393	KAMAI CLEMENTE	JUSTIN BRANT	
ORD	1394	FUNES	FATASHA	
JFK	1395	COLON RIVERA	SONANGELY	
JFK	1396	OLIVER	NYLO-JEANETTE	
ORD	1397	SARABIA JR	EVARISTO	
JFK	1398	MEDRANO	JERSON	
JFK	1399	CERCHERO	SAMANTHA	
JFK	1400	CIPRIANO	DEANNA	
JFK	1401	CARLISLE	KIARA	
JFK	1402	KENOPKE	WILLIAM	
JFK	1403	GIORDANA	MELISSA	
ORD	1404	HAMILTON	TRACEY	
ORD	1405	CALZON	DONNA	
JFK	1406	MITCHELL-WRIGHT	JAY	

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First	
ORD	1407	ROSENBERG	DAVID	
JFK	1408	DAVIS	LEIGH	
ORD	1409	EDWARDS	NAILA	
JFK	1410	THOMAS-WILLIAMS	TANIKA	
JFK	1411	TERRY	TAISHA	
JFK	1412	STEELE	MICHAEL	
JFK	1413	HSIEH	JONATHAN	
JFK	1414	ROAN	KANDIS	
JFK	1415	DUNN	ROBERT	
JFK	1416	MENZIES	CASEY	
JFK	1417	MURRAY	MARKUS	
JFK	1418	GREEN	CHERISE	
JFK	1419	JOHNSON	KALEMIA	
JFK	1420	WILLIAMS	KENDRICK	
JFK	1421	REYES	AMBAR	
JFK	1422	RUSH	JASMINE	
DFW	1423	BEAULIEU	MARYSE	
ORD	1424	GREEN	DAN	
ORD	1425	WAREHAM	ROSEMARY	
ORD	1426	MAPEL	HEATHER	
ORD	1427	DAVIDSON	REYNALDA	
ORD	1428	ELHALAH	SHARON	
ORD	1429	LUCADO	DANELLE	
ORD	1430	LEE	JACQUELYN	
ORD	1431	RESTREPO	SANDRA	
ORD	1432	MARTINEZ SOSA	PATRICIA	
ORD	1433	WORLE	APRIL	
ORD	1434	BRUNS	JONATHAN	
ORD	1435	QUINONES	SILMARY	
ORD	1436	WHEELER	MAGGIE	
ORD	1437	SAFFO	NICOLE	
ORD	1438	LUNA TORRES	MERALY	

Base	Sen#	Name Last	Name First	
ORD	1439	COLLIER	BRIANNA	
ORD	1440	JOHNSON	SHANEQWA	
ORD	1441	MYSYK	LOLA	
ORD	1442	GLOVER	KAYLA	
ORD	1443	WINTERS	MARSHELL	
ORD	1444	BROWNING	MICHELLE	
ORD	1445	HARRIS	LISA	
ORD	1446	ANDERSON	DEMETRIA	
ORD	1447	CASTELLLON	YAUDY	
ORD	1448	PARISH	CARL	
ORD	1449	ARCHER	CHRISTINA	
ORD	1450	WOODS	MICHELLE	
ORD	1451	JOHNSON	DANIELLE	
ORD	1452	ALSTON	DEBBU	
ORD	1453	HILL	TAMICKA	
ORD	1454	ROBLETO	MARILYN	
ORD	1455	MONTALVO-COLLAZO	SONIALY	
ORD	1456	JACKMAN	AMANI	
ORD	1457	STEWART	IMANI	
ORD	1458	BRUEHL	GRIFFIN	
GSW	1459	COFFEY	TAMMY	
JFK	1460	BLAIR	SHARON	
ORD	1461	STEFFEN	TODD	
ORD	1462	DZIATKOWIEC	MARZENA	

INDEX

A		
A-12 Travel for OT Out of Domicile	15.B.8	15-4
Abuse - Sick Leave	11.D	11-1
Accident Notification	32.F.2	32-3
Accident – Aircraft	26.P 32.F.4	26-7 32-4
Accrual - Seniority	14.A	14-1
Accrual - Sick Leave	11.A	11-1
Accrual - Vacation	10.A	10-1
Actual Flight Time	2.A	2-1
Additional Uniform Items	12.H	12-2
Administrative Claim 1113	Letter V	SL V-1
Aircraft Accidents/Incidents (Crew Assault)	26.H	26-7
Aircraft Cleaning	26.L	26-5
Alcohol/Drug Testing	4.J	4-4
Amendment Round	Letter T	SL T-1
American Airlines Employment Consideration	Letter C	SL-C-1
American Airlines Flight Attendant Jump Seat	Letter D	SL D-1
Annual Vacation Bid	10.B	10-1
Anti-Discrimination	26.E 27.A	26-2 27-1
Anticipated Misconnect Flight Reclamation	Letter E	SL E-1
Arbitration (See System Board of Adjustment)	22	22-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Appendix A Initiation Union Dues	AP.A	AP A -1
Appendix B Expedited Arbitration Award Form	AP.B	AP B-1
Appendix C Envoy, Flight Attendant Master Seniority List	AP.C	AP C-1
Appeals - Grievances	21.B.2	21-1
ASAP	Letter.M	SL M-1
Assigned New Flying	2.D	2-1
Assigned New Flying 24-Hour Prior to Loss	8.F.6	8-20
Assignment of Trips - Reserve	9.C.1-7	9-1
Assignment to New Flying (Two Flight Attendant Crew)	8.F.5	8-20
Assignment to New Flying When a Flight Attendant is Notified of Loss of Flying More Than Twenty-Four Hours Prior to the Loss	8.F.6	8-20
Assignment Past Standby Reserve Shift	9.F	9-4 9-6
Association of Flight Attendants (See "Union")	2.TTT	2-7
Automated Trip Trading/OE	2.E	2–1
Available	2.F	2-1
AVRS / AVARS	2.G	2-1
Awarding of Permanent Vacancies	15.A	15-1
Awards - Vacation	10.E.4-5	10-6
В		
Basic Uniform Pieces	12.E	12-2
Base (See "Domicile)	2.H	2-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Bases - Operating and Closing	15.C.1-3 17.C	15-4 17-10
Base Transfer Voluntary	15.A	15-1
Benefits Eligibility/Qualification	2.I 20.C	2-1 20-1
Bid Month	See Contractual Bid Month 2.U	2-2
Bid Period	See Contractual Bid Month 2.U	2-2
Bidding	8.A 8.C.1-6	8-1 8-7
Bidding for and Awarding Temporary Duty Assignments (TDY)	15.B	15-3
Bidding - Open Time	8.G.3 8.I	8-22 8-26
Bidding Vacation	10.E.1-5	10-6
Bid Period Transition Assignments	8.Q.1-5	8-40
Bid Protest	8.B.6	8-6
Blocks - Vacation	10.B.2	10-2
Block to Block/Block Hours	2.K	2-1
Bomb Searches	26.A.3	26-1
Bottle Water Consumption	26.D.1.a	26-2
Bridge Pairing	2.L	2-2
Budding Bidding	8.B.4 Letter Z	8-4 SL Z-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
С		
Cabin Environment	26.G	26-3
Calculation of Per Diem Earned in Conjunction with a Special Assignment	5.A.4	5-1
Calendar Day	2M	2-2
Call-Out Times - Reserves	2.N 9.E 29.I	2-2 9-4 29-2
Carry In / Carry Out	2.0	2-2
Cancellation / Delay Notification	8.U.1	8-44
Cancellation of Vacation	10.I	10-9
CDOs During Transition	7.F.4-6	7-9
Cellular Phone-Reserve	9.D	9-4
Change in name of the Corporation	Letter A	SL A-1
Changes to Schedules	8.F	8-18
Changing Vacation Period	10.F.1-5	10-6
Charters	8.C.3.a 8.G.2 30.G	8-8 8-21 30-2
Check-in Time	2.P	2-2
Check Out Time	2.Q	2-2
Contract Implementation Committee (CIC)	Letter U	SL U-1
Closing Domiciles	15.C.1-3 17.C	15-4 17-10
Co-Domiciles	2.R 29	2-2 29-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Collection of Back Dues	23.1	23-2
Commuter Policy / Report to Work	31	31-1
Company	2.S	2-2
Company Paid Moves	6.A	6-1
Company Seniority Retention	Letter B	SL B-1
Compensation	4	4-1
Compensation - Union Business	24.D.1-3	24-1
Complaint Letter	27.B.2	27-1
Conduct of Union Business	24	24-1
Contact During Rest	7.E.4	7-6
Contractual Month / Contractual Bid Month	2.U	2-2
Conflicts - Vacation with CDO'S	10.H	10-8
Consecutive CDOs During Transition	2.T 7.F.4-5	2-2 7-9
Continuous Duty Overnights ("CDO")	7.F.1-7	7-8
Copy of Personnel File	27.B.3	27-2
Corroboration	27.B.2.a	27-1
Credited Hours-Benefits	20.C.1.b	20-2
Crew Lounge	27.H	27-3
Crew Scheduling Recording	8.R	8-41
Critical Coverage	2.V O.8	2-3 8-39
Critical Incident Handling	2.W 32.E,. F.,G	2-3 32-3-5

Topic Index	Section	Page
Critical Incident Procedures	32.F.1-3	32-3
Cuba - Flying Operations to	30.F.1-5	30-1
D		
Daily Open Time Pick Up	8.1.1-3	8-26
Day Rooms	34.A.2	34-1
Days Off	2.X 7.D.1-5 8.D.1	2-3 7-3 8-13
Days Off/ Vacation No Requirement of Notification of Whereabouts	8.U.5	8-44
Days Off - Reserve line Prorated Construction Chart	8.E.2.f	8-15
Deadheading	2.Y 8.S 9.I	2-3 8-42 9-5
Deadheading Pay - Air	4.E.1	4-3
Deadheading Pay - Ground	4.E.2 29.H	4-3 29-2
Debriefing/Diffusion	32.D.3	32-2
Defective Uniform Items	12.D 12.F	12-1 12-2
Delays	27.L	27-4
Delinquent Dues	23.B & C	23-1
Demotion Notices	27.D	27-2
Departure Delay Notification	8.U.1	8-44
Derogatory Reports in Personnel File	27.B.2	27-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Disciplinary Notices	27.B.1	27-1
Discharge -Grievances	21.B	21-1
Discipline - Grievances	21.B	21-1
Displacement From Flying	8.P.1	8-40
Displacement / Furlough- Reduction n Force	17.A.2	17-2
Dispute Resolution Process for "Included" to the 1113 Admin Claim	Letter W	SL W-1
Document Clean Up	Letter Q	SL Q-1
Document Exchange	22.M	22-5
Domicile	2.AA	2-3
Domicile Report	4.D 29.I	4-2 29.2
Domicile Assignment Notice	27.D	27-2
Domicile/Base - Closing	17.C	17-10
Domicile - Opening and Closing	15.C.1-3	15-4
Domestic Partner	2.Z	2-3
Donate PO & PVD	10.Q	10-14
Downgrades	8.P.2-4	8-40
Drug & Alcohol Testing	32.J	32-6
Drug/Alcohol Testing Pay	4.J	4-4
DTS for CDO's (Vacation Conflict)	10.H	10-8
Dues Check-off	23	23-1
Dues Deduction - Paycheck	23.E	23-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Dues Form	Appendix A	AP A-1
Duration	36	36-1
Duty Day Maximum	7.C.1	7-2
Duty Periods	2.BB 7.B.1-5	2-3 7-1
Duty Time	2.BB 7.B.1-5	2-3 7-1
E		
Early Out Incentive	Letter S	SL S-1
Early Re-Opener	36.B	36-1
Ear Plugs	26.C	26-2
EAP (Employee Assistance Program)	32	32-1
EAP Referrals	32.C	32-1
EAP Representatives	32.D	32-2
Eating During Flight	27.F.1-2	27-2
Educational Leave	18.H.1-4	18-6
El Fondo (SJU)	2.CC Letter. AA	2-3 SL AA-1
Employment Consideration - American Airlines	SL C	SL C-1
Equal Opportunity	27.A.1	27-1
ERC Committee	Letter M	SL M-5
Establishing New Domiciles	15.C.1-3	15-4
Evacuation Demo – Union Participation	26.F.1	26-3
Exoneration - Grievances	21.F.1-2	21-2

Topic Index	Section	Page
Expedited Arbitration	Letter R	SL R-1
Extensions	2.DD 8.O.1.a-g 9.J	2-3 8-34 9-5
Extensions - Pay	8.0.6	8-37
Extensions - Return to Domicile	8.0.2	8-35
Extensions - Voluntary Waiver of Contractually Required Rest	8.O.1.g	8-34
F		
Family Leave Act	18.G.1-8	18-5
Fatigue Review Board	26.M	26-5
Ferry Flight	2.EE	2-3
Ferry Pay	4.G	4-4
Filling of Vacancies	15	15-1
Flexible Hiring Pay Rates	4.K.1-4	4-4
Flight Attendant	2.FF	2-4
Flight Attendant Information to the Union	24.M	24-6
Flight Operating System (FOS)	2.GG	2.4
Flight-Pac Payroll Deduction	23.L	23-3
Flight Pay Loss/Union	24.D.2.d	24-3
Flying on Day Off	7.D.5	7-4
Flying Operations to Cuba	30.F.1-5	30-1
Funeral Leave	18.B.1-3	18-1
Furlough	2.HH	2-4

Topic Index	Section	Page
Furlough and Displacement - Recall from Reduction in Force	17.A.3	17-5
Furlough & Displacement – Reduction in Force	17.A.2	17-2
Furlough Notices	27.D	27.2
Furlough Notices Chart	17.2.e	17-4
G		
General	27	27-1
Geographic Emergency	2.II 33	2-4 33-1
Global 1113 Me-Too	Letter P	SL P-1
Gloves	26.R.2	26-8
Golden Days	2.HH 7.D.2 8.C.3.c.32	2-4 7-3 8-11
Good Faith Commuting Policy	31.B	31-1
Grievance Procedure	21	21-1
Grievances - Contractual	21.B.1-2	21-1
Grievances - Decisions	21.D	21-1
Grievances - Discipline and Discharge	21.B	21-1
Grievances - Exoneration	21.F.1-2	21-2
Grievances - Right to Union Representation	21.C	21-1
Grievances - Settlements	21.G.1-2	21-2
Grievances - Time Limits	21.B 21.E	21-1 21-1
Minimum Monthly Pay Guarantee	4.B	4-2

Topic Index	Section	Page
1		
Health and Welfare Benefits	20.C.3	20-3
Health Insurance – Leave of Absence	18.D.7 20.C 35.C.1	18-4 20-1 35-2
Hearing Protection	26.C	26-2
HIBOARD	2.KK 8.L.7	2-4 8-31
Holiday Pay	4.N	4-7
HIPOST	2.LL 8.L.7	2-4 8-31
Hostilities	26.1	26-4
Hotels	34	34-1
Hotel Room In Domicile	34.A.3	34-1
Hotel Rooms	34.A.1	34.1
Hotel Standards	34.D	34-3
Hotel Taxi	34.B.2	34-2
Hotel Transportation & Meals	34.B	34-2
Hotel Without Water Procedures	34.E	34-5
Hourly Pay Rates	4.A.1	4-1
Hours of Service	7	7-1
Immunization	26.R.1	26-7

Topic Index	Section	Page
Implementation Agreement Process / Disposition of Side Letters	Letter X	SL X-1
Indemnification	26.0	26-7
Initial Operating Experience Pay ("I.O.E.")	4.H	4-4
Initial Uniform Purchase	12.B	12-1
Injury on Duty	18.E 35.A-C	18-4 35-1-2
Injury on Duty Duration	35.F.2	35-4
Injury on Duty - Travel	35.F.4	35-4
Inoperative Lavatory	26.D.1.b	26-2
Inspection of Personnel File	27.B.3	27-2
Insurance	20.A.1-3	20-1
International	30	30-1
International – New Scheduled/Charter Service	30.G	30-2
International Overnight	2.MM 5.A.3	2-4 5-1
International Per Diem	30.B	30-1
J		
Jet-Bridge Transaction	2.NN 8.J.11	2-4 8-27
Joint Preferential Bidding System Committee (JPBSC)	2.PP Letter N	2-5 SL N-1
Jumpseat - American Airlines	Letter D	SL D-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Junior Manning	2.00 8.0.1-7 9.J	2-4 8-34-38 9-5
Junior Manning - Pay	8.0.6	8-37
Jury Duty	18.C.1-2	18-3
L		
Labor Protective Provisions	1.C	1-1
Late Report	31.E	31-4
Leaves in Lieu of Furlough	17.A.1	17-1
Leave of Absence	18	18-1
Leaves of Absence - AA Flight Attendant Training	Letter I	SL I-1
Leave of Absence - Family	18.G	18-5
Leave of Absence - Funeral / Bereavement	18.B.1-3	18-1
Leave of Absence - Educational	18.H.1-4	18-6
Leave of Absence - Jury Duty / Witness	18.C.1-2	18-3
Leave of Absence - Maternity	18.F.1-5	18-4
Leave of Absence - Medical	18.D.1-7	18-3
Leave of Absence - Military	18.1.1-2	18-6
Leaves of Absence – Military Travel Day	18.1.2	18-6
Leave of Absence - Notice	27.D	27-2
Leave of Absence - Personal	18.A.1-2	18-1
Leave of Absence - Personal Emergency Days (PE)	10.0	10-12
Leaves of Absence – Return to Active Status	18.K	18-7

Topic Index	Section	Page
Leaves of Absence - Right to Reinstatement to Paid Status	Letter H	SL H-1
Leave of Absence - Union	24.D.1-4	24-1
Line of Construction	8.C.	8-7
Lineholders Days Off	7.D.1-5	7-3
Line Value	2.QQ	2-5
List - Seniority	14.B.1-4	14-1
Lockouts	25	25-1
Loss of Seniority	14.C	14-2
Luggage Stowage Assistance	26.K	26-5
M		
Mailboxes	24.E 32.B.3	24-4 32-1
Make Up Hours	2.SS 8.J.5 8.L.6	2-5 8-27 8-30
Management Rights	3	3-1
Material Safety Data Sheets	26.F.4	26-3
Maximum Duty Day	7.C.1	7-2
Meal Breaks	27.F.3	27-3
Medical Condition - Other Company Employment	27.E	27-2
Medical Files	28.D	28-3
Mergers and Acquisitions	1.F	1-2
Mid Pairing Changes	8.F.4	8-20

Topic Index	Section	Page
Military Leave	18.1.1-2	18-6
Misconnect Flight Reclamation	Letter E	SL E-1
Monthly Bidding Process	8.A.1	8-1
Monthly Maximum	7.A.1-6 8.B.2	7-1 8-3
Monthly Minimum	8.B.2	8-3
Monthly Pay Guarantee	4.B	4-2
Monthly Schedule Maximum	8.B.2	8-3
Move / Moving Days	2.UU 6.G.1-2 15.A.4-5	2-5 6-3 15-1
Moving Expenses	6	6-1
Moving Expenses Receipts	6.C	6-1
Moving Expenses Maximum	6.D	6-1
Moving Vacation	10.F.2	10-7
N		
Negative Reports in Personnel File	27.B.2	27-1
New Equipment	1.E 19.O 26.F.2	1-2 19-4 26-3
New Hire Presentations	24.J	24-5
Newsletters / Safety	26.A.2	26-1
Notification – Crew Scheduling	8.U.1	8-44
Notification - Sick Call	11.E	11-2

Topic Index	Section	Page
Notification Time - Reserve	9.C.5	9-3
No Strikes/Lockouts	25	25-1
0		
Open Flying	8.G.1-5	8-21
Opening Domiciles	15.C.1-3	15-4
Open Time	2.VV 8.G.1-5	2-5 8-21
Open Time – 24 TTOT Window	8.H	8-25
Open Time Award "Turn Times"	8.G.3	8-22
Open Time - Bidding	8.1.1-5	8-26
Open Time – Blocked	8.G.7.a	8-25
Open Time Fly Back/Union	24.D.4	24-4
Open Time – Management Pick Up	8.G.7-8	8-25
Open Time - Pay ("CDOs")	7.F.7	7-9
Open Time – Pay for Lineholders and Reserves	4.F.1-4	4-3
Open Time – Pick Up	8.1	8-26
Open Time – Reserve	9.H	9-5
Open Vacation Blocks	10.F.3-4	10-7
Optional Exchange	2.WW 8.J	2-5 8-26
Optional Uniform Items	12.H	12-2
Order of Assignment	8.N	8-32
Out of Base Open Time (Positive Space Travel)	8.M.1.a	8-31

Topic Index	Section	Page
Out of Base Transactions	8.M	8-31
Outstation Schedule Disruption	8.F.7	8-21
Overnight	2.XX	2-5
Overnight Hotel Rooms	34.A.1	34-1
Overnight Hotel Transportation	34.B.1-2	34-2
A	34.A.3-4	34-1
Overpayments	4.M	4-6
Overpayments - Repayment Plan	4.M.1-9	4-6
P		
Paper Bid	2.ZZ 8.C.33 24.D.2.b	2-5 8-11 24-2
Parking	5.B.1-2	5-1
Pairing Drops	8.L	8-29
Pairing - Reduce Guarantee Line	8.B.5.a 8.D.7	8-6 8-14
Pairing - Line Construction	8.C	8-7
Pairing - Line Construction Parameters	8.C.3	8-8
Pairing - Line Maximum	8.B.2	8-3
Pairing - Preference Options	8.C.3.c.xv.1-18	8-9
Pairing - Preference Options (Global)	8.C.3.c.xv.19-40	8-10
Partial Optional Exchanges	8.J.1-11	8-26
Partial Pairing Drops	8.L.3	8-30

Topic Index	Section	Page
Pass Travel – Union Business	24.I 26.B.3	24-5 26-1
Passports	27.J.1-3	27-4
Pay - Drug/Alcohol Testing	4 .J	4-4
Pay - Ferry	4.G	4-4
Pay - Flexible Hiring Rates	4.K.1-4	4-4
Pay - Initial Operating Experience Instructor ("I.O.E")	4.H	4-4
Pay - Open Time	4.F.1-4	4-3
Pay Rates	4.A.1	4-1
Pay Scale	4.A.1	4-1
Pay - Sick Leave	11.B.1-3	11-1
Pay - Special Assignment	4.1	4-4
Pay - Vacation	10.D.1-2	10-5
Pay Day	4.L	4-5
Payroll Deductions - Uniforms	12.I. & J.	12-3
PBS Trainers Compensation Union Appointed	Letter Y	SL Y-1
Per Diem	5.A.1-3 9.F.1	5-1 9-4
Per Diem - International	5.A.3 30.B	5-1 30-1
Permanent Vacancy	2.AAA 15.A	2-6 15-1
Personal Emergency	10.0	10-12

Topic Index	Section	Page
Personal Emergency (PE) Leaves of Absence	10.0.1-8	10-12
Personal Leave	18.A.1-4	18-1
Personal Leaves of Absence	18.A	18-1
Personal Time Off ("PO")	10.N	10-11
Personal Vacation Days ("PVDs")	10.M	10-10
Personnel File	27.B.3	27-2
Phone Calls from International Destinations - Reimbursement	30.E	30-1
Phone Calls to Contact Company/Toll-Free Numbers	27.K 9.D.1	27-4 9-4
Physical Assault - Crew Member	26.H	26-3
Physical Examinations	28	28-1
Placement of Disposition of Sideletters	Letter X	SL X-1
PM Airport Reserve	9.F.4	9-4
PO Cap	10.N.1	10-11
Point System - Uniforms	12.C.1-3 20.C.1-2	12-1 20-2
Positive Contact	2.BBB 7.E.4 8.O.1.g	2-6 7-6 8-34
Posting Open Time	8.G.1	8-21
Preference/Reserve	9.C.3-4	9-2
Preferential Bid System (PBS)	2.DDD Letter N	2-6 SL N-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Preferential Bid System (PBS) Chager Required For Implemintation	Letter CC	SL CC-1
Prior Knowledge of Rest and Days off in Domicile	7.E.1.a	7-5
Probation	13	13-1
Professional Standards	32.1	32-6
Profit Sharing	Letter O	SL 0-1
Prorated Days Off	7.D.3	7-4
PVDs for Sick Calls	11.H	11-3
Q		
Quiet Room – At Airport	9.F	9-4
R		
Realignment of Headcount No Reduction in Force Section	17.B	17-6
Recall Duration	17.A.3.b 17.B.3.b	17-5 17-8
Recall from Furlough	17.B.3	17-8
Recall From Furlough – Reduction in Force	17.A.3	17-5
Recall From Voluntary Furlough Realignment of Headcount	17.B.3	17-8
Reclaim Lost Flying – Misconnect	8.F.8	8-21
Red For Red Trading Rules	8.G.6	8-24
Reduced Guarantee Lines	2.FFF 8.D.7.a-d	2-6 8-14
Reduction in Force	17.A	17-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Regular Lines of Time	2.JJJ 8.B.2	2-7 8-3
Release - Reserve Day	9.B.3 9.C.3	9-1 9-2
Release Time/ Check-Out Time	2.Q	2-2
Relief lines Days Off	7.D.1	7-3
Removal of Bottled Water from Aircraft	26.D.1.a	26.2
Removal of Late Report	31.E	31-4
Reopener - Early	36.B	36-1
Repaying an Overpayment	4.M	4-6
Report Time / Check-in Time	2.P	2-2
Report to Work/Commuter Policy	31	31-1
Return to Work/Duty	11.E.&F., 14.D.3., 17.A.1.d., 17.A.2.d.iii., 17.A.3.c., 17.B.3.d., 18.H.2. 18.k 23.G., 26.M.3., 28.C.1., 35.E.	11-2 14-3 17-1 17-4 17-5 17-9 18-6 18-7 23-2 26-6 28-3 35-4
Requesting Release - Reserve Day	9.B.3	9-1
Reserve	2.GGG 9	2-6 9-1
Reserve Assignments	9.C.1-7	9-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Reserve - Cellular Phone / Beepers	9.D.1	9-4
Reserve Days Off	7.D.1-2	7-3
Reserve Flight Attendant	9.A	9-1
Reserve Guarantee	4.B	4-2
Reserve Line	2.JJJ 8.E	2-7 8-15
Reserve - Airport	2.B 9.F.1-5	2-1 9-4
Reserve – At Home	2.C 9.A	2-1 9-1
Reserve Availability Period (RAP)	2.HHH 9.B	2-6 9-1
Reserve Block Line	2III 8.E.3	2-6 8-16
Reserve Line Construction	8.E	8-15
Reserve - Slide Block of Days	9.K	9-5
Resignation - Vacation	10.K	10-9
Rest	7.E	7-4
Rest Away From Domicile	7.E.3	7-6
Rest in Domicile	7.E.2	7-5
Rest - Training	19.J	19-2
Restricted Duty	35.D	35-2
Retention of Company Seniority	Letter A	SL A-1
Retirement - 401(k) Plan	20.B	20-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Retirement, Insurance and Benefit Qualifications	20	20-1
Return to Domicile Extensions	8.0.2	8-35
Return to Work - Sick Leave	11.F.1-2	11-2
\$		
Safety and Health	26	26-1
Safety, Health & Security Committee	26.B.	26-1
San Juan (SJU) Maternity Benefits	Letter F	SL F-1
Sanitation Standards	26.D	26-2
Scheduling / Pairing Assignments	8.A	8-1
Scheduled Changes	8.F.1-8	8-18
Scheduled	2.LLL	2-7
Schedules - Monthly Maximum	7.A.1-6	7-1
Schedules - Monthly Bidding	8.A.1-2	8-1
Schedules - Training	19.A	19-1
Scheduling	8	8-1
Scheduling / Pairing Construction Committee	24.H	24-5
Scope	1.D	1-1
Section 8 Examples (8.F.2.a.)	Letter K	SL K-1
Secure Area – Access	26.J	26-4
Seniority	2.MMM 14	2-7 14-1
Seniority – Accrual	14.A.1-3	14-1
Seniority – Retention of Company	Letter B	SL B-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Seniority – General	14.E.	14-3
Seniority List	14.B	14-1
Seniority – Loss	14.C	14-2
Seniority – Protests	14.B.2-3	14-1
Seniority – Transfer to Non Flying/Supervisory Positions	14.D.1-3	14-2
Seniority Union Leave	24.K	24-5
Settlement Process	21.G.1-2	21-2
Sick Call Notification Requirement	11.E	11-2
Sick Leave	11	11-1
Sick Leave – Abuse	11.D	11-1
Sick Leave – Accrual	11.A	11-1
Sick Leave – Away From Domicile	11.1	11-3
Sick Leave Donation	11.J	11-3
Sick Leave – Make-up Credit	11.G.1-2	11-2
Sick Leave – Maximum Bank	11.A	11-1
Sick Leave – Notification	11.E	11-2
Sick Pay	11.B.1-3	11-1
Sick Pay – PVDs	11.H	11-3
Sick Pay – Reserve	11.B.2	11-1
Special Assignment	2.NNN	2-7
Special Assignment Pay	4.1	4-4
Special Assignment Per Diem	5.A.4	5-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Strikes	25	25-1
System Board of Adjustment	22	22-1
System Board of Adjustment - Board Members	22.B. & C.	22-1
System Board of Adjustment - Expenses	22.H	22-2
System Board of Adjustment - Grievance Mediation	22.L	22-3
System Board of Adjustment - Jurisdiction	22.E	22-1
System Board of Adjustment - Neutral Member	22.D	22-1
System Board of Adjustment - Representatives	22.J.1-2	22-2
System Board of Adjustment - Transcripts	22.H	22-2
Ţ		
Taxi Reimbursement	34.B.2	34-2
TDY Bidding and Awarding Timeline	Letter BB	SL BB-1
Temporary Assignment - Days Off	7.D.4	7-4
Temporary Duty Assignment ("TDY")	2.PPP 15.B	2-7 15-3
Temporary Vacancies	15.B	15-3
Time Away from Base TAFB	2.000 4.L.4.c 7.C.4	2-7 4-5 7-3
Time Off Without Pay / TOWOP	16	16-1
Transition - Consecutive CDOs	7.F.4-6	7-8
Training	19	19-1
Training – Bidding & Awarding	19.A&B	19-1

Topic Index	Section	Page
Training – Black Out Dates	19.P	19-4
Training – Distance Learning	19.N	19-3
Training – Failures	19.Q	19-4
Training – Familiarization/Differences	19.R	19-5
Training - Hotel Rooms	19.H.1,3	19-2
Training – In Domicile	19.H.3	19-2
Training – New Equipment	1.E 19.O	1-2 19-4
Training - Out of Domicile	19.G	19-2
Training – Pay	19.C & E	19-1
Training - Per Diem	19.H	19-2
Training - Reduce Guarantee Line	19.F	19-2
Training - Rest	19.J	19-3
Training – Required Breaks	19.L	19-3
Training - Schedules	19.A.1-4	19-1
Training – Study Day	19.D	19-2
Training – Travel To / From	19.G	19-2
Training - Union Committee	19.K	19-3
Training – Union Input	8.U.4 26.A.4 32.B.2	8-44 26-1 32-1
Training While on a Leave of Absence	19.1	19-2
Training While on Vacation	19.I	19-2

Topic Index	Section	Page
Transfer to Non Flying/Supervisory Position - Seniority	14.D.1-3	14-2
Transition Bid Period Assignments	8.B.1.a.i 8.Q.	8-1 8-40
Transition Period	2.QQQ 8.Q	2-7 8-40
Transitional Duty	35.D	35-2
Transportation Emergency	2.RRR 10.O.2.i 31.B.2	2-7 10-13 31-2
Travel on a PE	10.0.8	10-13
Travel on a PO	10.N.9	10-12
Trip / Pairing Conflicts - Training	19.B.	19-1
Trip / Pairing Splits Out of Domicile	7.C.4	7-3
Trip / Pairing Trading with Open Time (TTOT)	2.E 8.K Letter L	2-1 8-28 SL L-1
Trip / Pairing Trading	8.J. 8.K	8-26 8-28
Trip Drop / Pairing Drop – Under-time Bidline	8.L.6	8-30
Trip Drops / Pairing	8.L	8-29
U		
Unavailable for Flight Duty	2.SSS	2-7
Unavailable for Flight Duty - Days Off	7.D.3	7-3
Uniform Changes	12.G	12-2
Uniform Committee	12.M	12-3

Topic Index	Section	Page
Uniform - Defective Items	12.D	12-1
Uniform Guidelines	12.K	12-3
Uniform – Maternity	12.P	12-3
Uniform – Nametags / Wing	12.Q	12-4
Uniform Replacement - Point System	12.C.1-5 20.C.2	12-1 20-2
Uniform - Stolen Items	12.N	12-3
Uniform Wings	12.F	12-2
Uniforms	12	12-1
Union	2.TTT	2-8
Union Bulletin Boards	24.A	24-1
Union Business Compensation	24.D.3-4	24-3
Union Committees	24.H	24-5
Union Flight Releases	24.D	24-1
Union Leave	24.D 24.L	24-1 24-5
Union New Hire Presentations	24.J	24-5
Union Pin	12.0	12-3
Union Representatives	24.C	24-1
Union Representation Rights	24.G	24-5
Union Security	23	23-1
Union Committees	24.H	24-5
Union Employee Assistance Program (EAP) Committee	32.1.3	32-6

Topic Index	Section	Page
Union Hotel Committee	34.C.1	34-2
Union Safety Committee	26.B	26-1
Union Training Committee	19.K	19-3
Union Uniform Committee	12.M	12-3
Unpaid Union Drop	24.D.3	24-3
Unused Sick Leave Credit	11.C	11-1
V		
Vacancies	15	15-1
Vacancies – Permanent	15.A	15-1
Vacancies - Temporary	15.B.1-8	15-3
Vacation	10	10-1
Vacation Accrual	10.A.1 20.C.2	10-1 20-3
Vacation Accrual for Company Transfers	Letter J	SL J-1
Vacation Awards	10.E.4-5	10-6
Vacation Bidding	10.E.1-4	10-6
Vacation Blocks	10.A.2 10.B.1.f	10-1 10-2
Vacation Blocks Unpaid	10.B.1.b	10-1
Vacation Cancellation	10.1	10-9
Vacation Conflicts	10.H	10-8
Vacation Expansion	8.B.3 8.C.3.c.xv .#32 Letter N.12.b.iv	8-3 8-11 SL N-6

Topic Index	Section	Page
Vacation Moves	10.F.2	10-7
Vacation Pay	10.D	10-5
Vacation – Period Changes	10.F	10-6
Vacation Slides	10.G	10-7
Vacation – TDY	15.B.3.a	15-3
Vacation Trades	10.F.1	10-6
Vacation – While on Leave of Absence	10.J	10-9
Value of the Day	2.UUU	2-8
Visas	27.J.2	27-4
Voluntary Waiver of Contractually Required Rest Following an Extension	8.O.1.g	8-34

Waiver - Move days	15.A.5.c	15-2
Waiver - Reserves Days Off	8.E.2	8-15
Waiver - Rest after an Extension	8.O.1.g	8-34
Waiver - Return to Domicile Extension	8.O.2.g	8-36
Weekends Off Reserve Lines	Letter G	SL G-1
Wings	12.F	12-2
Wings - Replacement	12.F	12-2



Topic: Reserve Preferencing

- Q: I submitted four different preferences for next day trips and I'm the most senior flight attendant on Reserve in my base. Why didn't I get my first choice preference?
- A: Seniority only plays a role in the assignment of trips on the first day of each bid period. For the remaining days in each bid period, Reserve Flight Attendants in each domicile will be placed on one list in the inverse order of accumulated credited hour for the month, i.e., least time flown is first on the list. (reference Section 9.C.1. & 2.) This is known as time balancing.
- Q: I proffered for several different trips and didn't receive any of them. Why not?
- **A:** The first thing to remember is that we do not have a **proffer** system of assigning trips. Instead, we operate under a system in which Reserve Flight Attendants may submit a list of trips from open time that they would prefer. Crew Scheduling will process reserve assignments in least time accrued order assigning trips based on Flight Attendant preferences while also taking your days of availability into account.

Example: If you have preferenced for all three-day trips and you only have two days of availability left, your preference will be passed over.

While the contract does not require the Company to absolutely grant each Flight Attendant's preference it does require them to use their **best efforts**.

Example: If you are the Flight Attendant with the least time accrued, thereby placing you first on the time balancing list, and you preference for three different trips all of which you are legal and available for, and do not receive any of them, you may be able to show that crew scheduling did not use their best efforts to honor your preference. You should also note that if you are the only Flight Attendant with 4 days of Reserve availability and there is a 4-day trip open, you may be assigned to that trip, even if you did not preference for it.

Q: I don't think that crew scheduling used their best efforts to honor my preference. How can I prove this?

A: Start by printing a copy of the HI33 for the day in question. This will show each Flight Attendant's credited hours. Next print a copy of the open time that has been processed for that day. The DECS entry is; *N3D/base//date*. This list will show who was actually awarded the trip(s) you preferenced. If the trip(s) were given to someone with more hours, and you were legal, available and had at least the same amount of days of availability for the trip(s), you should have the proof you need to show that crew scheduling did not use their best efforts to honor your requested preference.

Q. During the preference window today, I submitted my preference for RAP 2 for tomorrow. Since the day after that is my day off, Scheduling said I wasn't legal for that shift because it ends at 0100. They assigned me RAP 1 instead, is this correct?

A. It is correct, if you are legal for RAP 1. However, there are times when you may not be legal for either RAP 1 (generally due to rest requirements) or RAP 2. In these cases, Crew Scheduling will create and award a modified custom RAP 3. This RAP may still be 15 hours in duration but the start/end times of this customized RAP shift will differ from the start/end times of the published RAP 1 & RAP 2 shifts. For example, you could be assigned a RAP 3 shift beginning at 0900 and ending at 2400. This is still 15 hours in duration but the end time does not bleed over into your day off.



Topic: Reserve, Open Time and Flying on Days off

Q: Can I pick up OT on my day(s) off or on a Golden Day(s)?

A: Yes you can. However, once you pick up Open Time, whether on a day off or on a Golden Day, you have now placed yourself into an "available" status. While Crew Scheduling may not give you any additional Reserve flying on those days, you will be subject to possible extension, assigned new flying or junior manning in accordance with the provisions of Section 8 of the contract.

Q: I picked up OT on my day off and crew scheduling extended me. Can they do this?

A: Yes. It is not uncommon for Flight Attendants to believe that when they pick up OT, they are somehow immune to or shielded from extensions, assigned new flying or Junior Manning. This is simply not true. Once you pick up time you are available. However the company must follow the Extension/Junior Manning parameters of Section 8.O. Reserve Flight Attendants who are extended (only on OT) or junior manned on a day off, will receive pay and credit above guarantee, at 150% of her/his applicable hourly rate of pay for all hours.

Q: I picked up OT on my day off and part of it cancelled. Will I receive pay and credit for the time that cancelled?

A: Yes. Reserve Flight Attendants who pick up Open Time on their day(s) off will be treated in the same manner as lineholders and will be credited above guarantee for all hours awarded as open time.

Q: I'm on Reserve and would like to sign up on the voluntary Junior Manning list for some extra pay. Can I do this?

A: Yes you may be added to the voluntary Junior Manning List, but only if you are on a scheduled day off. You will only be awarded an assignment if it does not conflict with other days of availability in your line.

Q: Can I trade my Golden Days?

A: Yes. You may trade your Golden Days with another Flight Attendant. You may also trade them with yourself for other days of availability in the current month, however staffing must permit. Blocks of Golden Days may be separated however once the trade/swap is approved, any individual Golden day will lose their "Golden" status. So long as any two or more Golden Days remain scheduled consecutively they will retain their "Golden" status.

Q: I am a Reserve Flight Attendant and I went to training on my off days. This caused me to go below the contractual requirement to receive 11 days off. What do I do?

A: You are entitled to have any days returned that took you below the contractually required minimum of 11 days off. The entry in DECS is *RF 200 RTD*. You will have the option of three different sets of dates to place into the mask indicating when you'd like the days returned.



Topic: Reserve Availability and Airport Standby

Q: I'm assigned a trip for tomorrow at 7:00 PM, do I have to remain available before that time?

A: You are only available to the company during your RAP (reserve availability period). It is possible for the company to assign you a RAP that begins at 10:00 AM. In this case you will be required to remain available to the company from 10:00 AM through 7:00 PM. Please reference Section 9, paragraph G. If no RAP is assigned or if the Company has assigned you a RAP which is one hour prior to the start of the trip (in this example 6:00 PM) then you do not need to remain available to them.

Q: I was assigned a trip sequence but when I got to the airport, it was cancelled entirely. Crew scheduling then assigned me to airport standby. Can they do this?

A: Yes, you remain available to the company during your reserve availability period (RAP).

- Q: I was assigned a two-day trip sequence. Once I completed that sequence and called Scheduling to be released, they told me I had to sit standby. Is this legal?
- **A:** No. Crew Scheduling may not involuntarily assign you to perform Airport Standby upon return to domicile at the conclusion of a trip sequence. You can however, be given an additional flight assignment or released back into Reserve for the remainder of your RAP. Please reference Section 9.C.7. & 9.G. of your contract.
- Q: Crew Scheduling assigned me to Airport Standby five days in a row. Can they do this?
- A. Yes. The previous contract contained a provision that prohibited Crew Scheduling from assigning Standby Reserve duty for a third time, until all other Reserves at the base who were legal and available for such assignment had been so assigned at least one time. This provision has been eliminated in the new agreement.

Topic: Personal Day–Section 10 Contractual Provisions

Awarding POs has nothing to do with staffing. If you request a PO 24 hours or more before your assignment and the PO's are available, they must be granted. If you are being denied a PO due to staffing, please inform the Union.

1. Section 10, paragraph N tells us at each domicile, the Company will process, on a daily basis, a number of POs equal to 1% of the FAs based at the domicile, but in no event fewer than 2 POs. The LEC President (or designee) will, upon written request, be provided with verification from the company that the appropriate number of POs have been processed at the domicile.

Example: If there are 440 Flight Attendants based at a domicile, the Company will process at least (4) POs per day at that domicile, provided that at least (4) have been submitted. $(440 \times .01 = 4.4 \ rounded \ to \ 4)$

Example: If there are 480 Flight Attendants based at a domicile, the Company will process at least (5) POs per day at that domicile, provided that at least (5) have been submitted. $(480 \times .01 = 4.8 \ rounded \ to \ 5)$

- **2.** Additional POs will be processed based on operational needs.
- **3.** For the purpose of processing POs as set forth in paragraphs 1 and 2, above, each day of a PO will be deemed a separate PO and count towards each days cap.
- **4.** A PO will not be processed unless it is submitted at least 24 hours in advance of the scheduled report time of a trip or scheduled start of a reserve availability period (RAP).
- **5.** Properly submitted POs will be processed on a first come, first serve basis.
- **6.** A Flight Attendant will not be eligible to take a PO until he/she completes probation.
- 7. A Flight Attendant may, at his/her option, elect to convert a PO to a Personal Vacation Day (PVD). Such conversion will count towards the annual maximum of 6 PVD's that the Flight Attendant may take. A conversion must be submitted prior to the **5th day** of the following calendar month.
- **8.** An unconverted PO will be unpaid and considered an attendance occurrence for disciplinary purposes.

Topic: Personal Day-Section 10 Q & A

Q: How do I submit a request for a PO?

A: There are two methods. You may submit a "**RF 200 POV6**" message or you can just call crew scheduling and request the PO for the day you need it. They keep track of how many POs are available to give out at each base. If its available, it will be awarded on a first come, first serve basis. Remember it is an attendance occurrence unless converted to a PVD.

Q: What if I want to convert the PO to a PVD, do I have to wait for approval?

A: No, there is a space on the "**RF 200 POV6**" form that allows you to let Crew Scheduling know of your intent to convert. Simply check the box provided on the form if you wish to immediately convert the PO to a PVD. Make sure to keep a copy of your request for your records. The request to convert can't be refused unless you have used your maximum yearly allotment of 6 VAC days. Remember it is your responsibility to keep track of how many VAC days you have used for the PO/PVD conversion. You will need to request conversion no later than the 5th day of the month following the month in which you took the PO. For example, if you took a PO on March 15th, the request to convert it to a PVD must be made no later than April 5th.

Q. Can I change my mind and give back the PO I requested once it has been approved?

A. No. Once a PO has been approved it cannot be rescinded. You may convert it to a PVD if you have a sufficient number of PVD days left with which to convert the PO dates.

Q: Can I non-rev travel on a PVD or a PO?

A: The Company's travel policy does not permit pass travel on unscheduled or unauthorized absences from work. The Company does permit travel on PVDs and POs converted to PVDs. In addition, by virtue of an arbitration ruling, POs are not considered unscheduled or unauthorized absences from work and as a result, not subject to restriction of pass travel.

Q: If I'm granted POs for a 3 day sequence, how many POs count toward my attendance?

A: It will be counted as 1 PO occurrence for purposes of the Company's attendance policy.

Q: What if I want to convert the PO to PVDs?

A: In the case of a three-day sequence, it will be considered as 1 PO attendance occurrence but if converted to PVDs, you will have to use 3 PVDs (days). A PO converted to a PVD will not count as an attendance occurrence for purposes of considering discipline.

Q. How will my PO trip removal be counted towards the domicile's 1% daily cap?

A. Each day of a trip removed, will be counted towards the domicile's 1% cap on a daily basis. It is also important to note, if you are removed from a portion of a trip, the connecting/incidental overnighting leg(s), also removed in order to accommodate a PO day(s), will be counted towards that date's daily 1% cap. For example, if you want to be removed from the first day only of your three-day trip, this requires both the leg into the overnight as well as the leg out of the overnight, the following day, to be removed. That leg out of the overnight on day two of the trip will count towards that day's daily 1% domicile PO cap. The request may also be denied if the cap has been reached on day one or on day two of the trip in this example.

Topic: Reserve Time Balancing and Credit Provisions

Q. What do I look at to determine where I'm at on the time balancing list?

A. You may view the time balancing list while in DECS mode by entering H133/D/(Date)/R into the computer. The H133 list is an ever-changing list. The list will regenerate itself after each Flight Attendant has completed a trip and the time is credited to her/him (this is in real time). The only hours that are added to Flight Attendants after midnight are sick hours. Crew Scheduling pulls a list at 9:00 PM each night and this is the list that will be used by Crew Scheduling for assignments made between 04:00 and 04:30 the next day. Then, when the new shift begins at 04:30 a new list will be pulled and used for all reserve assignments thereafter. However, the list will not re-order itself until after 12:00 midnight CST each day.

When issuing next day assignments, crew scheduling will pull the list at 2:00 PM CST. Whatever order the list is in at that time is what crew scheduling will rely upon when determining the next day assignments.

Q. What counts towards my credited time for purposes of time balancing?

A. Pursuant to Section 9.C.2. you will accumulate all known credit hours. The following list of removal codes will provide credit for time balancing in addition to actual flight hours flown:

BR – Bereavement Pay	SA – Special Assignment
CI – Critical Incident	SF – FMLA use Sick Pay
CD – Career Decision Day	SK – Paid Sick
DR – Restricted Duty	SR – Sick Reserve Paid
F6 – V6 due to FMLA (next year)	TD – Travel Day
ID – Injury on Duty	TR – Training
IS – Injury Sick	V6 – Paid Vacation Day
JD – Jury Duty	VC – Vacation
PM – Paid Move Day	VF – FMLA use Vacation Pay
PU – Paid Union	WP - Paid Witness
PW – Pay withheld	

The time will not be credited to you until after you have completed the flight assignment or taken the vacation, attended the training etc.

- Q: I was assigned a trip, went to the airport and signed in for the trip, but the entire trip canceled. I performed no flying. Will I receive any credit for this?
- A: Pursuant to Section 4 paragraph D.1., you will be credited with one hour (1:00) of applicable flight pay. You will need to send a "RF 200 NOGO" message to Pay Comp. to receive this pay credit. The time will not be credited towards your total accumulated credited hours for purposes of time balancing.
- Q. Do I receive any credited time for completing an Airport Standby Shift?
- A. There is no provision to provide any type of <u>pay</u> credit. However, you will receive the greater of any time flown or the VOD (3:45) for purposes of time balancing credit for each Airport Standby shift.
- Q: Will I receive 50% credit for time spent deadheading towards my time balancing credit accrual?
- A: Yes.
- Q: I am a Reserve Flight Attendant and the three-day trip I was assigned, canceled in domicile on the first overnight. Scheduling sent me home and told me to come back and pick the trip back up beginning with the first leg out the next day. I noticed that my three-day trip had been changed and separated into a one single-day trip and a two-day trip. My per diem did not continue uninterrupted for the duration of the originally scheduled three-day trip? Is this correct?
- A: No. Section 7.C.4., applies to Reserve Flight Attendants as well as Lineholders. In the event a Reserve F/A who has been assigned a sequence experiences a trip split in domicile, Crew Scheduling has three options available to them. They may assign new flying, assign a completely new trip sequence in accordance with the time balancing provisions found in Section 9 of the agreement or they may keep the Flight Attendant on the same sequence with the canceled overnight and continue her/his per diem.

Topic: Scheduling (Section 8),

Q: I'm flying a trip on a two Flight Attendant aircraft. Our next round trip has cancelled and crew scheduling notified me that they've assigned me new flying, but they did not assign anything to my flying partner. I'm the senior Flight Attendant, shouldn't I get a choice?

A: Yes, Section 8.F.5. provides us with guidance. Both Flight Attendants may be assigned new flying as a result of their cancellation. If only one assignment is available, the senior will be able to choose whether or not to work the new flight assignment. In instances where assignments are available for both Flight Attendants, choice of the available assignments will be provided in seniority order.

- Q: I was just extended and there was a Standby Reserve at the airport. Can Scheduling do this?
- A: You cannot be extended or junior manned when there are legal and available Airport Standby Reserves. The key words here are "legal and available." Just because you see a Flight Attendant at the airport on a Standby shift, does not mean they are legal and available. They may have been given an assignment and are just waiting for their first flight to depart or they may be illegal for the assignment for which you are being extended. Reference Section 8.O.
- Q: I am a Reserve Flight Attendant and at the conclusion of a three-day trip that was assigned to me while I was on days of availability. Crew Scheduling assigned me to another round trip. Isn't this an extension? Shouldn't I receive the premium pay for extension?
- A: No, this is not an extension. Per Section 9.C.7. and 9.G., you may be given an additional flight assignment. Since you are on a day of Reserve Availability, this is not considered to be an extension. It is simply an additional flight assignment. However, if you are concluding a trip you picked up OT on your day(s) off and Crew Scheduling attempts to assign you to an additional round trip, you should first notify them that you are not on Reserve Availability day and are therefore not subject to receive additional flight assignment pursuant to Section 9. Once you have cleared up the fact that you are not on Reserve that day, you may still be subject to an extension, provided the parameters of Section 8.N. & 8.O. have been appropriately followed. If you are extended under these circumstances, you will be paid the premium rate of pay above guarantee.



Topic: Scheduling (Section 8)

Q: I put in for a drop and it was denied. However, my friend had a PVD approved over the same days. Which one takes priority?

A: Since the implementation of automation (ASES), lineholders must submit requests for full sequence trip drops through the automated system. Partial Trip drops and Reserve Day drops will be submitted to the Swaps/Drops department for manual processing. Manual transactions, such as the PVD in this scenario, are to be processed by Swap/Drops as received on a first come first serve basis.

.

- Q: I elected to receive transition resolution by adjusting my current bid award instead of adjusting the new month's bid. Does this mean that Crew Scheduling can give me a whole new trip at the end of this month?
- **A:** No. Crew Scheduling may only make those changes necessary to resolve the transition conflict. Conflict can occur as a result of legalities, like seven-day problems, or they can result from conflicting flying (two trips plotted to fly over the same dates). However when making this election you agree to allow Crew Scheduling the option of where to resolve the transition conflict, thus potentially moving the time frame of the transition period to include the last three days of the current month. Please refer to Section 8.Q. of the contract.
- Q: I chose to receive transition resolution by adjusting my current bid award. Once I received my preliminary award for my next month's schedule, I noticed I had a seven-day problem. Crew Scheduling then removed the first day of my last trip at the end of my current month. Can they do this?
- A: Yes, in this instance you have elected to allow Crew Scheduling the option of resolving the conflict by adjusting your current month's schedule as opposed to having the flying automatically adjusted in the new bid period. This has an advantage because although dropped, the first day's flying would remain protected by the 96% guarantee. Dropping the last day of flying in the 7 day period (from the first trip in the new month) would not trigger the 96% pay guarantee because the drop is being effected from the preliminary award, not the final award.

Topic: Section 34 Hotel

Q: My flight got cancelled and now I have a 6-hour sit at the outstation. I called crew scheduling to ask for a hotel room and they told me I couldn't have it. The contract says I am entitled to a day room if my ground time is scheduled for or anticipated to be more than five hours. Why can't I have the room?

A: Section 34.A.2. does entitle you to a day room whenever your ground time out of domicile (can be an outstation or a domicile other than your own) is scheduled for or anticipated to be more than 5 hours. This includes the assignment to new flying period found in Section 8.F.2.g. A Flight Attendant may be required to remain at the airport for the 2-hour assignment to new flying period in Section 8.F.2.g; however, If there are no flights scheduled to arrive or depart from that airport during the two (2) hour period, or if she/he requests to be, and is, released by Crew Scheduling the Flight Attendant will not be required to remain at the airport for the two (2) hour period and will be provided the day room. The Company may require you to share a day room but only when both Flight Attendants are of the same sex.

- Q: My overnight trip canceled and split in my domicile. I am a commuter and do not live in my domicile. Will the Company provide me with a hotel room?
- A: You are entitled to a hotel room if the actual rest period has been rescheduled as a reduced rest, but you must ask Crew Scheduling for the room. If the overnight is more than a reduced rest, you can still ask for the room, but it will be given at the Company's discretion. However, if your pilots are given a room, you should also be provided one.

- Q. There was bad weather and our flight had to divert. We ended up spending the night in a different city than where we were originally scheduled to overnight. I tried to contact API for hotel accommodations but they said I had to call Crew Scheduling. Then Scheduling told me there was no supervisor on duty that could help me. What am I supposed to do?
- **A.** The appropriate party to contact is Crew Scheduling. Section 34.A.5., requires the company to provide hotel accommodations that meet all of the minimum standard requirements as set forth under the contract in the event of an unscheduled layover and/or when the need arises to secure an unscheduled hotel. Crew Scheduling or an appropriate Company representative will be authorized to secure the appropriate hotel accommodations.

Q. The bed in my hotel room had bed bugs. Don't we have any minimum standards for the hotels we use?

A. Under our new contract we do have hotel standards. Please refer to Section 34.D. of your contract for a complete list. Any hotel not meeting the appropriate standards should be reported to API. AFA is provided with copies of all reports you submit and has the ability to assist in the resolution of these types of issues.

Q. The hotel I'm scheduled to stay at tonight doesn't have any water. What happens now?

A. Please refer to Section 34.E. of the contract for a complete list of procedures. If the Company knows in advance that this condition exists they are responsible for finding an acceptable alternative hotel. If one cannot be found, then following your return leg to domicile the next day, you may opt to be removed with pay from the remainder of that day's flying including the incidental return leg to domicile following your next layover.



Topic: Trip Trades With Open Time Card I

Automated Transactions

Q: When does Trip Trade with Open Time start each month?

A: The very first opportunity you'll have as a lineholder, to trip trade with open time will be during the 24-hour window, which opens at 12:00 PM CT, no later than seven (7) days prior to the next contractual month. This will usually be on or about the 23rd of the month. No trip drops, open time pick-ups or manual trip trades with open time will be allowed during this window. Full automation functionality will be turned on after the bids are final. This will usually be on or about the 26th of the month. The Company sends e-mail reminders each month in which they provide notification of the exact opening dates for both of these operations.

Q: I just saw a trip for tomorrow that I would really like to have. Can I Trip Trade with Open Time for it?

A: Yes, however requests must be submitted no less than 12:00 Noon CT the day prior to the start of the original trip(s) or the new trip(s) whichever is earlier.

Q: I submitted a trip trade through ASES but it was denied because the lights were red. I was trading away a two-day trip and picking up a four-day trip. Wouldn't that help staffing?

A: It depends on the dates in question. Each request is unique. The plotter evaluates staffing for each date the trip operates. Some trip trades may be allowed if the dates you wish to acquire during the trade are "redder" than the dates you are attempting to give away. The "Red for Red Trading Rules" from the automation user guide are as follows:

- Same Date Trades
 - If same start date and same end date, then no restrictions.
 - If same start date but different end date, then allow trade if pickup trip is redder than drop trip.
- Overlapping Trades
 - ➤ If overlapping (where both trips operate on at least one common date), then allow trade if pickup trip is redder than dropped trip.
- Different Date Trades
 - For different dates (trips operate on mutually exclusive dates), allow trade if pickup trip is redder than dropped trip.

Q: Can I trade for a trip at another base?

A: Section 8.K.1.a. of the contract permits trip trades with open time for full trip sequences, however the new trip must originate and terminate in the same domicile. However, Section 8.M. <u>does</u> permit out of base trades and optional exchanges with Flight Attendants from another domicile. Out of base transactions must be submitted manually.

Q: I have Position 1 on my sequence. I see that Position 2 is open. Can I trade positions?

A: Yes, this can be accomplished through automation so long as you are trading full trip sequences.



Topic: Trip Trades With Open Time Card II

Automated Transactions

Q: Can I use the automated system to trade a 3 day trip that starts on 30 June for a 2 day trip that started on 28 June? Why?

A: Yes, the ASES system is programmed to allow full (not partial) trip trades between sequences that are scheduled to operate beginning in the current month and ending in the next month. Staffing levels must permit and all legalities must be met for the trade request to be approved.

Manual Transactions

Q: I wanted to trade 2 two-day trips for 2 four-day trips, why wasn't my trade approved?

A: You should have submitted two TTOT requests – the first one would be to trade 1 two-day trip for 1 four-day trip and a second request to trade the other two-day trip for the other four-day trip.

Q: I wanted to trade my two-day trip for another two-day trip in open time. I was told that such a transaction would conflict with an existing two-day trip, already scheduled in my line. I don't understand because I would have 2 hours between the end of one sequence and the start of the next. Why wasn't my trade approved?

A: This type of transaction cannot be done through automation. A manual request must be submitted. It will require Swaps/Drops to merge/combine the sequences into a four-day trip since a legal rest break is not present between the original sequence and the open time sequence. All other legalities must also be met in order for these sequences to be combined.

Q: I wanted to trade my four-day trip worth 15.06 hrs for 2 two-day trips worth 10.00 hours a piece. When I looked at the sequences I was awarded, one was worth 10.00 hours but the other was only worth 7.30 hrs. What happened?

A: TTOT requests are processed as received on a first come first serve basis. It is possible that another FA picked up part of the sequence, reducing the hours available.

Q: How can I prevent this from happening again?

A: Each base uses it's own RF mask. For example, if I am based in ORD the form I will use is "RF 200C TTOT". DFW will use "RF 200D TTOT". Beside each SEQ. of the TTOT form, you will see "FOR HH.MM". Providing the exact time, in hours and minutes, for the sequence you are trading for (example: 20.05), will ensure a sequence will not be awarded unless it meets the time you have specified.

Q: Can I trade four single day trips for a four-day trip?

A: Yes, multiple trips can be traded for a single trip (Example: four 1 day trips can be traded for one 4 day trip). Similarly, a single trip can be traded for multiple trips (Example one 4 day trip for four 1 day trips). Such trades must be done manually and will require you to send an RF or e-mail message to swaps and drops.

2-Hour Reserve Call Out-Section 9.E. Reserve Flight Attendants will be given a 2-hour call out period prior to the Check-in time of the flight they've been assigned. Additionally, once Crew Scheduling has paged or left a telephone message for a Reserve flight attendant on call, they will have fifteen (:15) minutes to respond. These fifteen minutes will be deducted from the 2-hour call out time.

Bid Period Transition Assignments – Section 8.M.2 If you have a transition conflict between the trip sequence you are scheduled to fly in the current month and the trip sequence you are scheduled to begin in the new month, you can elect two methods by which to resolve the conflict. First, if you wish to remain on the last trip sequence of the current month in its entirety, no action is required on your part. The default is to correct the conflict in the new month.

The second option available to you is to send a transition resolution message to Crew Scheduling either on your bid ballot or via an RF 200 TL message within 24 hours after the bids close. When selecting this alternative you agree to allow Crew Scheduling the option of where to resolve the transition conflict, thus potentially moving the time frame of the transition period to include the last three days of the current month. This can have an advantage because any time removed by Crew Scheduling to resolve the conflict in the current bid period will remain protected by the 96% guarantee. When the conflict is resolved by removing flying from the first trip in the new month this would not fall under the protection of the 96% pay guarantee because the time removed is being effected from the preliminary award, not the final award.

Open Time- Blocking-Section 8.G.6 ... The company will notify Flight Attendants of their intent to block OT as far in advance as possible, prior to the opening of Automation (ASES). The Company will notify Flight Attendants when OT is blocked and unblocked via company E-mail (HI6) and these HI6 messages will be time stamped. If a date that had been previously blocked, subsequently becomes unblocked, the Company will begin to process all manual transactions requests submitted and on file on a first come first serve bases in the order they were received.

Permanent Vacancies–Section 15.A.2.... In the event a permanent vacancy occurs, the Company will post the vacancy for a minimum for 14 calendar days on company E-mail (HI6) and AVARS. Permanent vacancy(s) bid will be reviewed and awarded in seniority order, by the 10th of the month two (2) months prior to the effective month of the bid. (e.g. by October 10th if December is the effective month of the bid)



Open Time - Section 8.H.1-2.... Known open trip sequences available and remaining after the preliminary bidline awards and monthly transitions have been completed, will be posted for twenty-four (24) hours. You will be notified on the cover page of the bid package and via e-mail of the opening and closing dates of the 24-hour window. During the 24-hour window, lineholders can execute trip trades with open time only. No drops or OT pick-ups will be permitted.

Automation with full functionality will open at 12:00 Noon CT. on the same date the final bid awards are published. All transactions that can be accomplished through automation should be done through ASES and should not be submitted for manual processing.

Manual transactions such as partial drops/ pick-ups and Reserve schedule changes, will also be accepted beginning at 12:00 Noon CT on the same date the final bid awards are published.

Manual transaction requests will be processed as received on a continual and first-come, first-served basis.

Both automated and manual next day transactions, must be submitted no later than 12:00 Noon CT, the day prior to the start of the original trip or the new trip, whichever is earlier.

Exception: You may submit a request for OT after 12:00 Noon CT today, for a trip that is scheduled to begin tomorrow but, it will be awarded at the Company's discretion only. You see, between 10:00 AM and 18:00 CT each day, Crew Scheduling is in the process of plotting and assigning the next day Reserve assignments. The time you are interested in picking up, may have already been assigned to a Reserve Flight Attendant.

Personal Emergency (PE) Leave-Section 10.0. ... Requests for PEs can only be approved by the Crew Scheduling supervisor on duty or an In-flight Manager. Such requests can only be made during a trip, reserve availability period (RAP), or airport reserve period or less than 24 hours prior to the next scheduled report time of your trip, airport reserve period or RAP. A PE is not an attendance occurrence nor is it a paid absence. You may convert a PE to a PVD no later than the 5th of the month following the month in which you took the PE. Please refer to Section 10.0.2 and 3 for a list of qualifying events for which a PE will be granted. PEs are processed on demand.

Personal Off (PO)-Section 10.N... You may not submit a request for a PO any sooner than 12:00 Noon CT on the day the next month's contractual PBS awards are final and published. The PO must fall within that month's contractual bid period. For example, let's say that the December PBS awards were final on November 24th and the contractual bid month is December 2-31. This means that your PO request cannot be made any sooner than 12:00 Noon CT on November 24th and the date(s) of the PO you are requesting must fall within the dates of December 2-31.

Additionally, requests for POs must be submitted at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the scheduled report time of your scheduled trip or RAP. POs are processed as received on a first come first served basis, daily during normal Swaps/Drops operating hours. PO approval is not dependent upon staffing, but a PO can be denied if more than 1% of the flight attendants at your domicile have already been given a PO. A PO is an attendance occurrence and it is an unpaid absence. You may convert a PO to a PVD no later than the 5th of the month following the month in which you took the PO.

Personal Vacation Day (PVD)-Section 10.M. ... Requests for PVDs may be submitted at any time via the company's computer system (RF 200 PVD) or by e-mail. Swaps/Drops operates from 06:00 to 16:00 CT, during this time PVDs will be processed as they come in. You will be notified if your PVD has been granted no later than 24:00 CT on the day it was submitted.

PVDs may be denied due to staffing. You are only entitled to six (6) PVDs per year to be deducted from next year's vacation accrual.

Reserve Assignments (Reserve Preferencing) Section 9.C.3-4...Each day, Reserve Flight Attendants may submit preferences for specific trips between the hours of 10:00 & 14:00 CT. Reserve assignments will be issued by Crew Scheduling at 18:00 CT. A Reserve Flight Attendant can check to see what they have been assigned via either AVRS or DECS between the hours of 18:00 & 22:00 CT. However, only AVRS will confirm receipt of the flying assignment.

Note: Sequences may change from the time you viewed them in OT and the time they are assigned because other Flight Attendants are still able to do next day TTOT and OT pick-ups until 12:00 CT.

Reserve Drops-Section 8.L.2 & 9.B.3.... A Reserve Flight Attendant may submit a request to drop a reserve duty day(s), however the request will be processed no more than 48 hours prior to the start of the reserve duty day for which the drop is requested. Reserve drop requests are done on a first come first serve basis based on staffing and are processed daily during Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT.

After the monthly bids are awarded and you wish to drop a reserve day(s) in the following bid month, you can submit a drop request beginning at 12:00 Noon CT on the date the final bid awards are published. Drop requests submitted prior to this time will be discarded. Additionally, Section 9.B.3. permits a Reserve Flight Attendant to request an early release from a reserve day of duty. When Crew Scheduling grants such a request, no time or pay will be deducted from the Flight Attendant.

Reserve Slide-Section 9.K... A Reserve Flight Attendant may request to "slide" the beginning or end of her/his block of reserve days and such requests will be granted to the extent that it does not compromise reserve coverage. Requests can be submitted beginning at 12:00 Noon CT the date the final bid awards are published and will be processed daily as received during Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT.

Reserve Trade With Themselves-Section 8.J.8....Reserve Flight Attendants may request that a day off be moved to another day within the same bid period and such request will be granted if the Company determines that staffing permits the movement of the day off. Requests can be submitted beginning at 12:00 Noon CT the date the final bid awards are published and will be processed daily as received during Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT.

Rest - Training - Section 19.J... The Company will provide at least ten hours (10:00) of rest after each day of training, which can be reduced to nine hours (9:00) rest after the last day of training only.



Rest In Domicile–Section 7.E.2.... Bidlines will be constructed with at least 10 hours rest between sequences in domicile, however schedules don't always turn out as planned. F/As are entitled to 10 hours rest in domicile prior to next duty assignment and in between CDOs. Reserve F/As are entitled to 10 hours of rest between sequences, airport reserve assignments and a trip sequence, a trip sequence and an airport reserve assignment or within a sequence prior to duty on the next calendar day. If you have not been given 10 hours of rest, you must notify Crew Scheduling of your desire to provide it within 1 hour of your release time. Note: 10-hour rest is not required between sequences on the same calendar day.

Return Days – **Section 7.D.5.a....** Flight Attendants will be guaranteed a minimum of eleven (11) days off at her/his domicile each month. No Flight Attendant will be required to work on more than two (2) of these guaranteed days off in any given bid period. When you are involuntarily required to fly on a scheduled minimum day(s) off in a bid period, you may reschedule the day(s) off during the current bid period, but no later than the following bid period. Requests for return days may be submitted anytime and such requests will be processed daily as received during Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT.

Swaps and Drops Desk Hours...The desk operates from 06:00 until 16:00 CT, seven (7) days a week. The phone lines are open from 06:00 until 16:00 CT. Flight Attendants can still submit requests via RF messages or personal e-mail message after these hours.

Temporary Vacancies/TDY Bidding -

Section 15.B.3-4....Bidding for TDY will commence no later than the 10th of the preceding month in which the TDY will be offered. Bidding will close at 10:00 CT on the 15th of the month preceding the month in which the vacancy/TDY will be offered and the TDY bids will be awarded at 12:00 Noon CT on the 15th as well. TDY will be awarded in seniority order from among the flight attendants who bid for the vacancy/TDY at the bases at which the vacancy/TDY was offered. If you are awarded TDY you will be provided a bid packet for the base where you will be temporarily transferred and you will bid for and be awarded a line based on your seniority in the same manner as any flight attendant based at that domicile.

Training Bidding - Section 19.A.... The Company will publish the recurrent training dates and list of flight attendants required to attend training on the Flight Service Web Site, two (2) months prior to the applicable training month (i.e. In March the Flight Service Web Site will include May training dates available for bid and names and priority (i.e. early or base month) of eligible Flight Attendants.) Training dates will be awarded in seniority order to Flight Attendants in the order of her/his training month priority: 1. Base Month; 2. Grace; 3. Early Month. If a Flight Attendant fails to submit a bid prior to the monthly training bid closing time or fails to indicate training preferences on the bid, she/he will be assigned training dates. Once training dates are awarded, F/As may submit a change of date(s) request. Such requests will be processed so long as they are received by the date the bids close in the month prior to the training month. If class space is available, the Company will grant such request.



Trip Drops – Section 8.L.....Both Full and Partial Trip Drops may be submitted at any time beginning at 12:00 Noon CT on the date the final bid awards are published. Full sequence trip drops must be submitted through Automation (ASES) and are processed on a continual basis and are evaluated for approval or denial based on the staffing available when processed.

Partial drop requests must be submitted manually either via RF message or e-mail and are processed as received on a first come first serve basis. Drops are processed during normal Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT daily.

Note: Same day trip drop requests must be done by telephone and followed up in writing.

If staffing does not permit the manual drop request to be approved at the time it is processed, you will be sent an e-mail notification of denial. You may re-submit the request at a later date since staffing levels change and are re-evaluated throughout the course of the day.

*Trip Drops Training – Section 19.D...*A Flight Attendant may drop all portions of a trip or reserve day that conflicts with the day immediately preceding the first day of recurrent training. You must submit a request to drop within 24 hours after the bids close using the RF 200 DTT form, or on the Bid Ballot – TRNG DROP DAY.

Trip Trades/Optional Exchanges Between Flight Attendants Full Sequences-Section 8.J.1-2..Flight Attendants have unlimited full trip trade(s) per month and unlimited full OE(s) per month as well, so long as the TT(s) and/or OE(s) are legal and do not create a schedule conflict. Requests will be submitted and processed through the automated system (ASES) and can be done at any time. Requests can be submitted on the day of operation by telephone with the Daily Desk, but must be followed up in writing.

Trip Trade/Optional Exchanges Between Flight Attendants Partial Sequences-Section 8.J.3.... Requests for partials may be submitted via e-mail or computer system (RF) but must be submitted by both the affected flight attendants. Requests can be submitted on the day of operation by telephone with the Daily Desk, but must be followed up in writing. Partial trades and optional exchanges are processed daily during normal Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT.

Trip Trades, Optional Exchanges Between Reserves Only - Section 8. J.6-8... Staffing is evaluated between 06:00 and 07:00 CT on a daily basis. After that, requests for Reserve OEs, Trades and Reserves trading with themselves are processed daily during normal Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT. Requests will be approved subject to staffing levels.

Trip Trades with Open Time (TTOT) – Section 8. K.... Full sequence trip trades with open time that can be accomplished through automation may not be submitted manually. For those transactions that require manual processing, requests may be submitted at any time via e-mail or computer system (RF). Next day transactions will close each day at 12:00 Noon CT.

The trips being traded must originate and terminate in the same domicile. Requests for TTOT may be denied due to staffing if the trip you are trading for operates on a date(s) other than your originally scheduled trip. However, the request should not be denied if the trip(s) operate over the same date(s). Automated requests will be processed on a continual basis. Manual requests will be processed daily during normal Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT.

Transactions Out of Base – Section 8.M....Flight Attendants may pick up OT or trip trade with another Flight Attendant out of base. These out of base transactions must be processed manually. Requests may be submitted either via e-mail or by RF message any time after the final bid awards are published. Next day transactions will close each day at 12:00 Noon CT. Out of base transactions will be processed during normal Swaps/Drops operating hours between 06:00 and 16:00 CT daily. Flight Attendants picking up OT shall be provided positive space travel options. However Flight Attendants engaging in exchanges with Flight Attendants in a different domicile will be responsible for their own transportation to and from the trip.

Vacation Bidding – Section 10.E... By October 1st every year the company will post at each domicile, the projected number of vacation days that each flight attendant at that domicile has accrued and available for bid for the following year. At the same time the company will post all the vacation blocks available for bid at each domicile. The bids will be accepted up to 12:00 Noon CT on the closing date of November 1st. The vacation awards will be awarded in seniority order at the domicile and will be posted by November 15th.

Vacation Trades-Section 10.F.1...Once vacation blocks have been awarded, you may trade a block of vacation with another flight attendant. Proposed trades must be submitted to the Company by 12:00 Noon CT on the seventh (7th) of the month preceding the first vacation period of the proposed trade.

*Vacation Fly Through10.D.3...*Lineholding Flight Attendants may elect to fly some or all of their awarded sequence(s) during vacation. Vacation fly through requests may be indicated in the remarks section of the monthly bid or sent via RF message within 48-hours after the preliminary bid awards have been published.

Vacation Moves-Section 10.F.2...You may request to move an entire block of vacation to another posted and open block of vacation in your domicile, within any calendar year. Requests for vacation moves must be submitted to the Company by 12:00 Noon CT on the seventh (7th) day of the month in which the move is desired. Vacation moves will be granted in seniority order.

*Vacation Trades-Section 10.F.1...*Once vacation blocks have been awarded, you may trade a block of vacation with another flight attendant. Proposed trades must be submitted to the Company by 12:00 Noon CT on the seventh (7th) of the month preceding the first vacation period of the proposed trade.

Topic: Compensation

- Q: I picked-up OT which I designated as sick time fly back, to be credited towards my sick bank. Due to weather conditions the whole sequence was canceled. Will my sick bank still be credited with 100% of the flight hrs., even though I was not able to fly the sequence?
- **A:** Yes. Regardless of whether the OT you picked-up was intended for pay, make-up flying or to credit toward your sick bank, the time will be credited for 100% of the hours that were awarded to you.
- Q: In August I was awarded a part-time line worth 42 hours of flying on the last half of the month. I picked-up 33 hours of OT on the first half of the month. When I received my check on August 15th I noticed that I had only been paid for 18.75 hrs. Since the total of the hours in my line plus the OT I picked-up is equal to 75 hours shouldn't I be paid as if I had been awarded a 75 hour line?
- **A:** No, for pay purposes you are considered a part-time Flight Attendant for that month. Regardless of whether you are a full time or part time line holder, OT will always be credited to your check at the end of the following month. On the 30th of the next month (September) you will be paid for the OT that you picked-up at the beginning of August. We are paid current and any OT, overage, or under-time will be credited or deducted from your check at the end of the following month. In the example listed above your end of the month September check would reflect the 33 hours of OT and any regular hours flown above the ½ minimum monthly guarantee for part-time lines (37.50 hrs).
- Q: On Thanksgiving I did an OE with another Flight Attendant who had been scheduled for a daily trip worth 5 hrs. and wanted to be off on Thanksgiving. When I received my check on December 30th I realized that I had not been paid the holiday premium rate of 150%.
- I e-mailed pay comp and their response was that because I had done an OE to get the trip that I was not eligible for the holiday premium. I worked on Thanksgiving and shouldn't I be paid extra?
- A: Yes. Section 4.N. of the CBA states "A Flight Attendant who was on duty on Christmas Day and/or Thanksgiving will receive one and one-half times her/his hourly pay rate as described above for all credit hours worked on such days." So, no matter how you ended up with flying on Christmas Day or Thanksgiving Day you are always entitled to the holiday premium pay rate.
- NOTE: Reserve Flight Attendants on an at-home RAP do not receive the premium rate unless they are assigned flying.

- Q: I have just completed 13 years with the company and I looked at the pay scale in Section 4 of the CBA and noticed that there is no column for 13-14 yrs. of service. Will I receive a pay increase?
 - **A:** Yes refer to Section 4.A.2.a. & b.- this outlines the amount you will receive for thirteen (13) or more years of service.

EXAMPLE:

DOR/DOS = January 01, 2013 Anniversary Date = March 6

- A 12 year Flight Attendant will receive on January 01, 2014 = \$32.25.
- March 6, 2014 this F/A will receive an anniversary raise to \$32.75.
- January 01, 2015 the F/A will then receive a DOS+2 yr.-1.5% raise to \$33.23.
- March 6, 2015, they will then get an anniversary raise to \$33.73
- January 01, 2016 the F/A will then get a DOS+3 yrs-1.5% raise to \$34.22.
- March 6, 2016 they will then receive an anniversary raise to \$34.72.
- January 01, 2017 the F/A will then receive DOS+4 yrs -1.5% raise to \$35.97.
- March 6, 2017, they will receive an anniversary raise to \$36.72.
- Q: My supervisor informed me that there was a suspicion that I had been drinking alcohol on duty. I was then sent to be tested for alcohol use. The test results came up negative. When I received my paycheck the following month I saw that I had not received the \$10.00 compensation for drug and alcohol testing which is provided for in Section 4.J. of our CBA. Why didn't I receive my \$10.00?
- **A:** Since the test was administered because alcohol use while on duty was suspected and therefore the test not random, you are not entitled to the drug and alcohol test pay. Only drug and alcohol tests which are administered **randomly** will qualify for the \$10.00 additional compensation.
- Q: I was overpaid in the amount of \$500.00 and the Company deducted the total amount from my next paycheck. Can payroll do this?
- A: Not necessarily, but first we must understand the reason for the overpayment. When a Flight Attendant voluntary makes changes to her/his schedule, such as trip drops and trip trades, in which time is deducted from the guarantee, such instances do not qualify as an "overpayment" for purposes of Section 4.M.. When instances of bona fide overpayment occur, such as Company errors, the Company and Flight Attendant must mutually agree to a repayment plan that is reasonable for both parties. There are some guidelines for the repayment amount; it may not total less than \$25.00 per pay period and may not exceed more than 2 years in duration. The amount you have been overpaid is directly related to the repayment amount each pay period. For example, the higher the overpayment amount, the higher your re-payment amount. Meet with your Flight Service Manager to negotiate your repayment plan as soon as you have been notified of an overpayment.
- Q: I had four overnights in Mexico last month. When I received my check on the 30th I noticed that I hadn't been paid the \$5.00 international per diem for those overnights as stated in Section 30.B of the contract. Did pay comp make a mistake?
- **A:** No they did not make a mistake. Please refer to Section 30.A. of our CBA. This section advises us which locations are defined as "International." International flying is all flying to or from an international city excluding cities in Mexico, Canada, the Bahamas and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The definition of an international overnight can also be found in Section 2.LL. of our CBA.

Topic: Section 8 Scheduling-Extensions (EX)

- Q: I was extended into an overnight out of my base. Crew Scheduling gave me an A-3 pass to deadhead me back to my base 17 hours after my originally scheduled trip sequence would have ended. The flight was full and since an A-3 pass does not bump revenue passengers I will not make it on my deadhead flight. If I take the next scheduled flight back to my base I will be arriving 20 hours after my originally scheduled trip sequence would have ended. What should happen now? Is this legal?
- **A:** No, it is not legal as per 8.0.1.d.. of our Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA). Crew schedulers are required to provide an A-1 pass when necessary to bring the Flight Attendant back to domicile within the 18 hr. limitation (may not always be necessary as an A-3 may suffice). Scheduling supervisors have the authority to issue an A-1 pass and there is always an acting scheduling supervisor on call. If this is not possible, you will be returned to domicile on the earliest company or network carrier flight. This 18 hour provision applies to "Back to Domicile Extensions" as well. Please reference Section 8.0.2.b.
- Q: I was the most junior available F/A and was just extended to do a trip with one leg out but it would require two legs to get me back to base due to the sequence pairing. (Sequence 05007: SJU-XXX-YYY-SJU). My contract states in Section 8.O.1.c. that "such extension shall be limited to one turn" (i.e. one leg out and one leg back to domicile). When I questioned Crew Scheduling they said that my extension is legal and that I need to fly the sequence as it is. Who is right?
- **A:** In this scenario you, the F/A are correct. Over the course of several CIC (Contract Interpretation Committee) meetings the Association and the Company have reached an agreement that section 8.0.1.c. language will be interpreted as to mean "one leg out and one leg back to domicile". For example: SJU-YYY-SJU. Keep in mind that one leg out may be an overnight assignment.
- Q: Today I was scheduled to fly a one-day trip. During the course of the day, Crew Scheduling notified me that I was going to be extended into an overnight. Following that assignment to extended flying, the originally scheduled last turn of my trip was delayed. No new departure time was posted. Instead, the flight was put into "decision time" status. When Crew Scheduling realized that I would not connect in time to work the extension assignment, due to this delay, they removed me from the last turn of my originally scheduled trip in order to keep me available to work the extension. Can they do this?

- **A:** No they cannot. A Flight Attendant must complete her/his originally scheduled sequence. An extension can only be added to the end of the sequence and within two hours of the Flight Attendant's last arrival into domicile. A sequence may not be adjusted to accommodate an extension. Please refer to section 8.O.1.c. of the CBA.
- Q: My bid line consists of back-to-back sets of 2 day trips. On day 2 of my first two-day trip I was extended into an overnight. The contract says that when I return to domicile the company must release me into rest (Section 8.O.1.f.) I asked crew scheduling to provide me with legal rest in domicile per Section 7.E.2.a. & 7.E.2.d. What will happen to the legs scheduled on my next scheduled two-day trip sequence? I would no longer be able to fly them if I've been put into a rest period? How will I be paid?

What if I were a commuter – since I have nowhere to stay during rest and I am legal for my originally scheduled sequence can I request to fly my original trip(s) instead of going into rest or if I have already misconnected for my original trip(s) can I request additional extensions?

A: Let's deal with the first set of questions: What will happen to the legs on my original sequence that I will not be able to fly due to the rest period? How will I be paid?

Since you have been put into a legal rest period upon arrival back to domicile, the flights which fall within the rest period, will be removed and as per Section 8.O.6.b. of our CBA and you will be pay protected for those missed flights.

Now, let's answer the commuter question. Can I request to fly my original trip(s) instead of going into rest **or** if I have already misconnected for my original trip(s) can I request additional extensions?

Yes, you may request one or the other solution as long as there is a mutual agreement to do so, between you and the Crew Scheduler. As stated in Section 8.O.1.g.: "with the mutual concurrence of Crew Scheduling, a Flight Attendant may elect to waive the required rest." Once both Crew Scheduling and a Flight Attendant have agreed to waive the rest period, the Flight Attendant will then be able to fly her/his original trip sequence at the extension rate of pay per Section 8.O.6.b. Additionally, per Section 8.O.1.f. & 8.O.2.e., Flight Attendants can request additional extensions at the end of an extension. This flying would also be paid at the extension rate of pay.

- Q: I put myself on the volunteer list for JM/EX and I was extended for a turn worth 4hrs.of flying. When I received my paycheck the following month, I had been paid for only 4 hrs. at my regular pay rate. Did pay comp make a mistake?
- A: Yes, they did! As per Section 8.O.6. of our CBA, all Flight Attendants junior manned/extended, whether on the volunteer list or involuntarily will receive pay and credit for such JM/EX assignment, at 150% of their pay rate above the guarantee or a minimum of four (4) hours pay, whichever is greater.



Topic: Section 10-Vacation

- Q: My sister and I are both Flight Attendants. Her anniversary date with Eagle is December 31st 2007, mine is January 1st 2008. We are now approaching our 15th year anniversary and when the vacation accrual list for next year was posted I noticed that I had only been allotted 21 days (three weeks) of vacation, while my sister had been allotted 28 days (four weeks). We are only one day's difference in our anniversary date, why didn't I accrue as many vacation days as my sister?
- **A:** Please refer to Section 10.A.1. of our CBA. Your sister will have completed her 15th year of service by the end of this calendar year (2007). Technically, you will have your 15th anniversary with the company the next calendar year (2008). Vacation accrual will always be credited for the next year after your anniversary date. Therefore when the vacation bid for 2009 opens you will have accrued the 28 days (four weeks) of vacation for that calendar year.
- Q: The vacation bids for next year have closed and been awarded. After that, I took a PVD. I want to choose which day will be removed from one of my next year's vacation blocks. How do I let the Company know which day I want to be removed?
- A: It is your responsibility to contact a Vacation Coordinator via e-mail, fax or telephone. Your message should include; the day(s) you are requesting to be removed and the date you took the PVD(s). You may also send an RF 200 VC1 message in Sabre to communicate the information. Day(s) can only be deducted from the beginning or end of the vacation block. You should notify the Vacation Coordinator by the end of December, in the current year, where you'd like the PVD(s) to be deducted from next year's paid vacation block(s). Beginning in January of each year, the Company conducts a PVD audit. At that time an e-mail message is sent to the general Flight Attendant population reminding you to contact the Vacation Coordinator about PVD(s) taken after the completion of the current year's vacation awards. If you fail to notify the Company which day(s) you want to designate as removed by 05 January, then the Company will automatically remove them starting with the last day of the last paid vacation block contained within the current vacation year.
- Q: I was awarded an undertimed line scheduled for thirty block hours of flying on the same month that I have vacation. My vacation block is scheduled from the first of the month through the seventh of the month. I was scheduled to work a 2-day trip beginning on the fourth day of the month. The 2-day trip is worth two hours of flying. My contract states that I will get paid trips missed or 18.75 hours, whichever is greater, per seven-day block of vacation. I understand that since my vacation block will cover only six hours of scheduled flying, I will be credited for 18.75 hours. However, will this time be credited in addition to my guarantee?

- **A:** Unfortunately you will not receive additional credited pay hours above guarantee. This is because your line is worth only thirty hours and you will be paid seventy-five hours or ninety-six percent (whichever is greater). The additional 12.75 hours (18.75 6 = 12.75) will be added to your bid line's original thirty block hours of flying, bringing your line up to 42.75 (42hrs.45min.) block hours. The seventy-five hour guarantee is still greater. This applies to any bid line which is originally projected below the seventy-five hour guarantee.
- Q: My awarded bid line for the month is 80 hours. The time covered by my vacation block is only 10 hours. Since 18.75 is greater, I will be credited with that amount. How does the 96% pay guarantee work in conjunction with vacation? Will I receive 96% of 88.75 hours or will it be 96% of the original 80 hours (76.8) plus the additional 8.75 hours of vacation in addition to that? $(80 \times 96\% = 76.8)$ (76.8 + 8.75 = 85.55)

A: Per Section 4.C.2. of our contract Flight Attendants are paid the greater of:

- a. The minimum monthly guarantee, or
- b. The adjusted guarantee
- c. The flight hours flown during the month.

Here is how it would work in this example:

Guarantee = 75 hours **or**

 $96\% = 76.8 \text{ hours } (80 \times 96\%) \text{ or }$

Actual Flying = 88.75 hours (80 hours + 8.75 hours of VC)

You will be paid actual flying hours of 88.75, as it is the greatest. Had the 96% figure been the greatest of the three figures, then the you would be paid 76.8 hours +8.75 VC time which equals 85.55.

- Q: I had been with the company for 20 years prior to becoming a Flight Attendant. Our contract states that I am entitled to bid up to five weeks of vacation based on my years of service. The most senior Flight Attendant in the base has been with the Company for only 19 years (accrued 4 vacation blocks). Why didn't I receive my first choices for vacation blocks and she did? I've been with the Company longer.
- **A:** Although you have higher Company seniority than the most senior Flight Attendant and have accrued more vacation blocks, this form of seniority is not used for bidding purposes. You accrue vacation time through your Company seniority but you Occupational seniority is used for bidding purposes. Since her Occupational seniority as a Flight Attendant is higher than yours, her vacation choices will be awarded ahead of yours. You will still receive your five weeks of accrued vacation but your choices will be awarded according to your number on the Flight Attendant seniority list. Please reference Section 10.E.1 of the CBA.

For more information on Vacation Slide & DTS, visit the AFA website at www.afaeagle.com and go to the MEC Grievance page.

Topic: Section 9 Reserve

- Q: I was on day two of a three-day trip and scheduled to have a three hour break between flights that day. During the break I went to take a nap and turned my cell phone off. When I woke-up two hours later to continue my original sequence I noticed that I had several missed calls from Crew Scheduling and a message on my voicemail that I had been assigned new flying in between flights. I called Crew Scheduling and checked my Company e-mail to find that I had been sent notification of additional flying while I was on the break between flights. I called Crew Scheduling and they asked me where I had been. They gave me a missed assignment, is this legal?
- A: No, it is not. Crew Scheduling must confirm the assignment to new flights through positive contact with you. Positive contact is achieved through actual telephone contact between the Flight Attendant and Crew Scheduling or when the Flight Attendant reads her/his Company e-mail (HI6). A change in an HI3 or a message left in voicemail, does not constitute positive contact. This application of positive contact applies whether you are a line-holding Flight Attendant or a reserve Flight Attendant on a confirmed sequence. Be sure to have a copy of your HI3 with you in order to confirm that you were in fact, in between flights on your sequence.
- Q: I am a Reserve Flight Attendant and decided to call Crew Scheduling to confirm my next day assignment instead of confirming through AVRS. The Crew Scheduler informed me that I had been assigned a sequence with a check-in time of 15:00. They also told me that they may need me to be available to receive additional flying prior to my 15:00 check-in time, so they assigned me to a RAP starting at 10:00. Can they do this?
- **A:** Yes, you remain available to the company during your reserve availability period (RAP).

- **A:** Since positive contact was made, in this case they can. The AVRS system is only capable of confirming one assignment at a time; either a sequence or RAP, but not both. In order for you to be assigned to an availability period prior to your check-in time, Crew Scheduling must make positive contact with you.
- Q: I am on Airport Ready Reserve today. My shift is scheduled to end at 2:00 PM. I was assigned to a flight that is in "decision" status because of a mechanical problem. At the time I was assigned the flight, the ETD (estimated time of departure) was 2:30 PM. It ended up taking longer to fix then was originally predicted and is now estimated to depart at 3:00 PM. Since assignments to Ready Reserve Flight Attendants must depart within 45 minutes of the end of the shift is this a legal assignment?
- **A:** Yes, the assignment is legal. Posted decision or ETD times may change, but so long as the posted departure/ETD time is within :45 minutes of the end of the shift, at the time it is assigned, it is legal. It is understood that the posted departure time is just an estimate and may be subject to change based upon the circumstances at hand in any given situation.
- Q: Last month I was a line holder but this coming month I am back on Reserve. I am on my last trip sequence of the month, but I have been removed from the trip to be placed on reserve immediately on the first day of the new month. Can they legally remove me from my trip?
- A. No. The Flight Attendant must be allowed to complete her/his current month's trip sequence. In addition, she/he should be treated as a line holder until they complete that trip, even if something happens in actual operation. Should they lose a portion of the trip for example, due to a weather cancellation, the schedule change parameters found in Section 8.D. should be applied. The Flight Attendant should not be expected to assume reserve responsibilities until the trip is completed. Time flown on that trip in the new month should be credited toward the Flight Attendant's time balancing accrual for the new month

Topic:

2 Hour Obligation Under Section 8.F.2.g.

Section 8.F.2.g. advises us that when a Flight Attendant loses all or a portion of trip sequence, she/he will be required to remain available at the airport for no more than two hours (2:00) for additional flight assignment. This language assumes you are already at the airport when you have lost the flying.

However, the CIC has determined that there are instances in which you may not necessarily be at the airport awaiting an assignment to new flying. For example, if the first round trip of your sequence has canceled, there is a possibility that at the time of cancellation, you had not yet arrived at the airport to begin that sequence. While you may not physically need to be present at the airport, you do need to be available to work an assignment to new flying without causing a delay to the flight.

This leaves us with the question of when does this 2-hour obligation clock begin ticking? The CIC has determined that the two hours begins at the scheduled departure time of the lost flight. This applies when the flying was lost less than 24 hours prior to the start of the trip sequence. If the flying is lost more than 24 hours prior to the start of the trip sequence, Sideletter HH will apply.

The assigned new flying need not be scheduled to depart within the 2-hour window, but the assignment must be given by Crew Scheduling within 2 hours of the scheduled departure time of the lost flight.

Example 1:

Flight #4257 (CLE/ORD) canceled. In this example, F/A Smith would need to be available to receive assigned new flying for two hours beginning at 10:45 and ending at 12:45. Crew Scheduling would have needed to assign the deadhead leg, flight #4236 to her, sometime between 10:45 and 12:45.

```
HSS/01/9130/21MAR«
     9130
                 BASE ORD
                            SEL
                                 113 ORG SCH DOM EMJ R/A
SEQ
FA1
     SMITH
                             EMP NBR 123456
    DT EQ
            FLT STA DEP
                            STA ARR
                                      AC FLY
                                                 GTR
                                                      GRD
SKD 21 E5
          4221 ORD 0645
                            CLE 0900
                                         1.15
                                                      0.00
                            CLE 0927
                                         1.33
                                                 1.33 0.00
ACT
    21 E5
          4221
               ORD 0654
                                         1.35
    21 E5
          4257
                    0925
                            ORD 1000
                                                      0.00
SKD
                CLE
          4257
ACT
    21 E5
               CLE
                    1045
                            ORD 1120
                                         1.35
                                                CXLD
SKD
    21 E7
          4236 CLE
                    1450
                            ORD 1520 RA 0.45MQ
                            ORD 1745 RA 0.00MQ
    21 XX 4236 CLE 1545
ACT
D/P GTR
         1.33
                            0.45D TL
                                       2.18
                     2
HALF DAY COUNT CLE
                          2.45
                 SKD TL
                                ACT TL
                                         1.33
             9.50 ODL
SKD ONDUTY
                         0.00
ACT ONDUTY 12.15 ODL
                         0.00
SKD 22 E5 4312
               TOL 0620
                                         1.05
                                                      0.00
                            ORD 0625
       E5 4312
               TOL
                                         0.00
                                                CXLD
ACT
                            ORD
                      P/C
                                  TL
D/P GTR
         0.00
                            0.00
                                       0.00
                 SKD TL
                         0.00
                                ACT TL
                                         0.00
SKD ONDUTY 10.35
                                  TAXABLE EXP
                                                   12.15
EST ONDUTY 12.15
SEQ GTR
         1.33
                      P/C
                            0.45
                                  TL
                                       2.18 TAFB
                                                   12.15
```

Example 2:

The next scenario is one in which the Flight Attendant is scheduled for multiple flights, but they cancel at separate times, independently of each other.

Flight #s 4029 & 4076 (ORD/CVG/ORD) cancel, so Flight Attendant Smith needs to be available to receive assigned new flying for 2 hours beginning at 07:40 and ending at 09:40. She waits the two hours, but Crew Scheduling does not assign her to any new flying.

She then proceeds to the gate to begin her safety checks for flight #4011 (ORD/FWA). Her Captain informs her that the flight has been canceled as well as the return flight #4294 (FWA/ORD). Does Flight Attendant Smith now have to wait another two hours? The answer is no. The CIC has agreed that there will be only a single, two-hour wait period per duty day. Therefore, in this example Flight Attendant Smith has already completed a two-hour wait period within that duty day beginning at 07:40 and ending at 09:40. She need not wait another two hours to be assigned to new flying. If, no new flying is assigned within the debrief period (15 mins. Domestic & 30 mins. International), then she has fulfilled her obligation.

```
HSS/01/9245/21MAR«
     9245
                                  161 ORG SCH DOM EMJ
SEQ
                 BASE ORD
                            SEL
FA1
     SMITH
                            EMP NBR 123456
    DT EQ
            FLT
               STA DEP
                            STA ARR
                                      AC
                                         FLY
                                                 GTR
                                                       GRD
                                                               ACT
SKD 21 E5
          4029 ORD
                    0740
                            CVG 0950
                                          1.10
                                                       0.00
          4029
       E5
                                          0.00
                                                 CXLD
ACT
                ORD
                            CVG
SKD 21 E5
          4076
                            ORD 1030
                                                       0.00
                    1015
                                          1.15
                CVG
       E5
          4076
                                         0.00
                                                 CXLD
               CVG
ACT
                            ORD
SKD 21 E5
          4011
                            FWA 1305
                                          0.50
                                                       0.00
                ORD
                    1115
                                         0.00
       E5
          4011
                                                 CXLD
ACT
                ORD
                            FWA
SKD 21 E5 4294 FWA 1330
                            ORD 1330
                                          1.00
                                                       0.00
ACT
       E5 4294 FWA
                            ORD
                                         0.00
                                                 CXLD
              0.00
                    ACT TL
                             0.00
     SKD TL
```

Example 3:

The next scenario is one in which an overnight cancels. Flight #4495 (ORD/YYZ) on March 20th cancels as does flight #4496 (YYZ/ORD) on March 21st. Flight Attendant Smith will need to be available to receive assigned new flying for 2 hours beginning at 17:40 and ending at 19:40 on March 20th. If the leg out of the overnight (flight #4496) is not re-assigned during that time, then Flight Attendant Smith will also need to be available to receive assigned new flying for a 2-hour period on March 21st beginning at 06:30 and ending at 08:30. March 20th and the 21st are two separate duty periods and as such, Flight Attendant Smith will be subject to two separate, 2-hour wait obligations.

However, in the example below you will also notice that flight #s 4211 & 4031 (ORD/IND/ORD) on March 21st, have also canceled. If Flight Attendant Smith fulfilled her obligation and awaited assignment to new flying, from 06:30 until 08:30 on March 21st because of the cancelation of flight #4496 (YYZ/ORD), then she need not wait another two hours subsequent to the cancelation of flight #s 4211 & 4031 (ORD/IND/ORD). If, no new flying is assigned within the debrief period (15 mins. Domestic & 30 mins. International), then she has fulfilled her obligation.

```
HSS/01/9167/20MAR«
SEQ
     9167
                 BASE ORD
                            SEL
                                  137 ORG SCH DOM EMJ
FA1
     SMITH S
                           EMP NBR 123456
    DT EQ
            FLT STA DEP
                            STA ARR
                                      AC FLY
                                                 GTR
                                                      GRD
                                                               ACT
          3923 ORD 0925
                                         2.15
SKD 20 E5
                            SHV 1140
                                                       0.30
                                                 2.15 0.31
ACT 20 E5
          3923 ORD 0930
                            SHV 1134
                                         2.04
SKD 20 E5 4513 SHV 1210
                            ORD 1415
                                         2.05
                                                       3.25
                                                 2.09 3.41
ACT 20 E5 4513 SHV 1205
                            ORD 1414
                                         2.09
SKD 20 E5 4495 ORD 1740
                            YYZ 2015
                                         1.35
                                                       0.00
ACT
       E5 4495 ORD
                            YYZ
                                         0.00
                                                 CXLD
                            0.00
                                       4.24
D/P GTR 6.28
                                 TL
HALF DAY COUNT YYZ
                      3
                          5.55
                 SKD TL
                                ACT TL
                                         6.17
SKD ONDUTY 11.20 ODL
                         9.25
ACT ONDUTY 12.04 ODL
                         10.15
SKD 21 E5 4496 YYZ 0630
                            ORD 0730
                                         2.00
                                                       0.00
       E5 4496 YYZ
                            ORD
                                         0.00
                                                 CXLD
ACT
SKD 21 E5
          4211 ORD 0810
                            IND 1010
                                         1.00
                                                       0.00
       E5 4211 ORD
                                         0.00
ACT
                            IND
                                                 CXLD
          4031 IND 1035
                            ORD 1045
                                                       0.00
SKD 21 E5
                                         1.10
       E5 4031 IND
                            ORD
                                         0.00
                                                 CXLD
ACT
                 P/C 0.00 TL 3
SKD TL 2.00 ACT TL
                                       2.14
         2.14
                                         2.14
             2.35
SKD ONDUTY
                                                   23.42
                                           EXP
```

Topic:

Return to Domicile Extensions Sideletter II

How does a "Return to Domicile Extension" as found in Section 8.O.2. differ from the "Extensions" found in Section 8.O.1. of our collective bargaining agreement?

An extension, under Section 8.O.1., is one that occurs when you have completed your scheduled trip sequence and Crew Scheduling assigns additional flying (no more than one leg out of and one leg back to domicile) at the end of that trip sequence.

A return to domicile extension, under 8.O.2., occurs when the returning flight leg to your domicile has canceled, is worked by another Flight Attendant or by no Flight Attendant (e.g. a maintenance ferry flight) and as such, you cannot be returned to your domicile within 2 hours (2:00) of the check out time of your originally scheduled trip sequence. Please note that this is different from a situation in which you actually work your originally scheduled flight back to domicile, but it has been delayed and arrives later than 2 hours (2:00) past the originally scheduled check out time.

Example 1:

In this example, the Flight Attendant had one more leg left to work on his trip sequence: flight #3618 ORF/DFW. This flight canceled at the ORF outstation. Section 8.F.2.a. allows Crew Scheduling to assign him to new flying, however the substitute flying or deadheading, has to be scheduled for a check out time later than 2 hours (2:00) after that of his originally scheduled check out time. In this case, any assigned new flying would need to be scheduled for a check out time no later than 18:20 (includes :15 minute debrief). Crew Scheduling assigned new flying in the form of a DH leg on flight #1003 ORF/DFW, but this flight was not scheduled to check out until 21:15. This check out time is 4:55 later than the originally scheduled check out time therefore, it would be a considered a "back to domicile extension" and the flight should be coded with an "EX."

```
SEQ 21541
                          SEL
                               207
                BASE DFW
                                           DOM CRJ
                            EMP NBR 572***
FA1
    BARROW R
   DT EQ
                          STA ARR AC FLY
          FLT STA DEP
                                                  GRD
                                                          ACT
                                             GTR
SKD 21 E7 3617 DFW 0915
                          ORF 1300
                                      2.45
                                                  0.30
                          ORF 1300
                                             2.45
ACT 21 E7 3617 DFW 0915
                                      2.45
SKD 21 E7 3618 ORF 1330
                          DFW 1605
                                      3.35
ACT
       E7 3618 ORF
                                      0.00
                                             CXLD
       22 1003 ORF 1825
                          DFW 2100 EX 1.48AA
SKD
D/P SKD 2.45
                     P/C 1.48 TL
                                    4.33
SKD ONDUTY 8.05
                     P/C
                                                13.00
SEQ SKD 2.45
                         1.48
                               TL 4.33 TAFB
```

Example 2:

In the example below, the Flight Attendant was originally scheduled for two, two-day trips, back to back. On day two of the first trip, the leg back to domicile, flight #3756 cancels and the Flight Attendant is forced to overnight in XNA. As a result, these two-day, back to back trips may turn into one four-day trip. Flight #3468 on the 3rd, should be coded with an "EX" and the Flight Attendant should be placed into rest upon return to DFW following that flight, removing flights 3587 and 3554.

Following rest, the Flight Attendant may be required to complete their second two-day trip. As an alternative to the in-domicile rest, the Flight Attendant can elect to fly an Extension. In this example flights 3587 and 3554 would be paid at the premium EX rate if not removed for rest.

*Note - Section 8.O.1.f. requires Crew Scheduling to release you into rest and pay protect you for any flights missed over the duration of the rest period, upon arrival at your domicile. As an option, you may elect to continue your trip as an Extension and will receive Extension premium pay of 150% of your applicable hourly rate. Make sure these flights have the "EX" code.

Crew Scheduling will contact you the night prior in accordance with the rest provisions in Section 7 and give you the option to fly or be put into rest upon arrival at domicile. However, if positive contact is not made by Crew Scheduling, the default will be to place you into rest upon returning to domicile the next morning and remove any affected flying. Once the trip(s) are removed and awarded to another Flight Attendant, whether lineholder or reserve, the removed flying will be considered unavailable to be placed back into the original sequence. If you want to waive the rest under the provisions of Section 8.O.1.g., to fly the time as "EX" and have not been contacted by Crew Scheduling, you should call to notify them of your intent to keep the flying, before the flight(s) is awarded to another Flight Attendant.

SEQ 23227 BASE DFW SEL 202 ORG SCH DOM CRJ R/A 31	
FA2 BARROW RW EMP NBR 572*** DT EQ FLT STA DEP STA ARR AC FLY GTR GRD	
DT EQ FLT STA DEP STA ARR AC FLY GTR GRD	ACT
SKD 01 E7 3649 DFW 0850 PIT 1225 2.35 0.30	
ACT 01 E7 3649 DFW 0847 PIT 1212 2.25 2.35 0.38 SKD 01 E7 3648 PIT 1255 DFW 1500 3.05 1.45	
SKD 01 E7 3648 PIT 1255 DFW 1500 3.05 1.45 ACT 01 E7 3648 PIT 1250 DFW 1504 3.14 3.14 2.19	
ACT 01 E7 3648 PIT 1250 DFW 1504 3.14 3.14 2.19 SKD 01 E7 3759 DFW 1645 LIT 1755 1.10	
ACT 01 E7 3759 DFW 1723 LIT 1832 1.09 1.10	
D/P GTR 6.59 P/C 0.00 TL 6.59	
HALF DAY COUNT LIT 3	
SKD TL 6.50 ACT TL 6.48	
SKD ONDUTY 10.20 ODL 10.45	
ACT ONDUTY 10.57 ODL 10.08	
SKD 02 E7 3746 LIT 0540 DFW 0650 1.10 0.50	
ACT 02 F7 3746 LTT 0535 DFW 0644 1.09 1.10 0.51	
SKD 02 E7 3703 DFW 0740 XNA 0845 1.05 ACT 02 E7 3703 DFW 0735 XNA 0831 0.56 1.05	
ACT 02 E7 3703 DFW 0735 XNA 0831 0.56 1.05	
SKD 02 E7 3756 XNA 0920 DFW 1035 1.15 0.00 ACT 02 E7 3756 XNA 1430 DFW 1542 1.12 CXLD	
ACT 02 E7 3756 XNA 1430 DFW 1542 1.12 CXLD D/P GTR 2.15 P/C 0.00 TL 2.15	
SKD ONDUTY 4.05 ODL 20.10	
ACT ONDUTY 3.51 ODL 20.24	
SKD 03 E7 3468 XNA 0540 DFW 0645 EX 0.33MQ 0.40 ACT 03 XX 3468 XNA 0624 DFW 0736 EX 0.00MQ 3.14	
THE STATE OF THE S	
SKD 03 E7 3587 DFW 0725 OKC 0815 25 0.50 0.35	
SKD 03 E7 3554 OKC 0850 DFW 0945 25 0.55 0.00	

*This OKC turn should be removed for Legal Break with "LB" Code. This will only appear on the HII.

LBB 1756 25 0.33MQ

```
ACT 03 XX 1259 DFW 1651 D/P GTR 2.10 P/C
                                LBB 1756 25 0.00MQ
                          P/C
                                1.06D TL 3.16
HALF DAY COUNT XNA
                    SKD TL 0.00
                                    ACT TL 0.00
SKD ONDUTY 12.25 ODL
                           10.44
ACT ONDUTY 12.25 ODL 10.44
SKD 04 E7 3468 LBB 0540 D
ACT 04 E7 3468 LBB 0540 D
                                DFW 0645 25 1.05
DFW 0645 25 1.05
                                                       1.05
                         P/C 0.00 TL 1.05
D/P GTR 1.05
                   SKD TL 1.05 ACT TL
                                               1.05
               2.05
                                                          53.58
SKD ONDUTY
                                                 EXP
ACT ONDUTY 2.05
SEQ GTR 12.29
                         P/C 1.06 TL 13.35 TAFB
                                                          71.10
```

SKD 03 XX 1259 DFW 1651



Topic: Rest and Duty Free Periods

- Q: Section 7.C.2. tells me I can elect to receive a 24-hour break from duty rather than a calendar day free from duty in any seven day period, to accommodate trip trades, optional exchanges and/or a pick-up of open time. How do I notify Swaps/Drops that I want to waive my right to a calendar day off?
- A: The mere act of submitting a request is your indication to Swaps/Drops that you intend to receive a 24-hour break in lieu of a calendar day off in seven. It is assumed that you have done your homework and are very much aware of what action you are asking Swaps/Drops to take on your behalf, whether it be to trade or pick up.
- Q. Before my next month's bidline was awarded, I picked up an OT trip at the end of the month. The trip I picked up crosses over into the next month. Once my bidline for the next month was awarded I realized I'd now been scheduled for eight (8) days in a row with only a 24-hour duty free period between the two four-day trips. Is this legal?
- A. No it is not legal if you picked up the time before the next month's bids were awarded. It is legal if you picked up the time after the next month's bids were awarded. Section 7.C.2. reads:
- "if a Flight Attendant adjusts her/his schedule (OT pick up, trip trade, etc) for the end of the current month before the final bid awards are made for the following month and such schedule adjustment puts her/him into a one in seven conflict after bids are awarded, the Flight Attendant shall not be considered to have waived the calendar day off. One day of flying shall be removed in order to accommodate the Flight Attendant's right to one day free from duty in any seven-day period."
- Q: Section 7.E.2.a. entitles me to ten hours of rest in domicile prior to duty on the next calendar day. Can I waive this if I want to pick up OT?
- **A:** Yes. As indicated in the previous question the mere act of submitting a request is your indication to Swaps/Drops that you intend to waive your right to ten hours rest in domicile.

- Q: Once my OT was awarded, I was scheduled for eleven hours of rest in domicile between trips however, there was weather the day the trip operated. As a result, my flights were delayed and I am now scheduled for eight hours of rest in domicile. Can I request my original eleven hours of rest back?
- **A:** No, but you can request at least ten hours of rest in domicile. Section 7.E.2.d. does require you to notify Crew Scheduling within one hour (1:00) of being released that your schedule does not provide at least ten hours of rest.
- Q: I am a Reserve, am I entitled to receive this ten hours of rest in domicile?
- **A:** Yes, but only in certain circumstances. Please reference Section 7.E.2. You are entitled to receive it between Airport Reserve & a trip sequence; between 2 trip sequences and between a trip sequence & an Airport Reserve shift (not operating in the same calendar day). You are not entitled to receive the ten hours between a RAP and a trip sequence, an Airport Reserve shift or another RAP shift.
- Q. I am on Reserve and finished a trip sequence today. I preferenced for and was awarded a next day assignment which was another trip sequence. However, there was only nine hours of in domicile rest between these sequences. Is this legal?
- A. It is assumed that you were well aware that there was less than the contractually provided ten hours of rest (Section 7.E.2.c.) when you submitted your preference. Therefore, you will be considered to have waived your right to this contract provision, when you submit a preference for an assignment which provides less than ten hours rest. However, if the assignment originally provided ten or more hours of rest, but due to delays ends up with less, you may contact Crew Scheduling and receive the contractually provided ten hours rest.
- Q. I am a Reserve Flight Attendant and I've been assigned to RAP 2 today which begins at 10:00. Crew Scheduling called me during rest at 09:00 to give me an assignment. Is this legal? Aren't they interrupting my rest?
- **A.** Yes. Interruption during a NAP (Non Availability Period) is not permitted except to provide notification of an assignment. However, such notification may only be made two (2) hours prior to the start of the RAP (Reserve Availability Period). In this case since the call was made one hour prior to the start of the RAP 2 shift, it is legal.

In the event, Crew Scheduling should call you more than two (2) hours prior to the start of your RAP shift and you answer your phone, positive contact has now been made. As such, you'll be obligated to receive an assignment provided it meets all the legality provisions of our contract.

*It is important to note that you are not obligated, in either of the scenarios listed above, to answer your phone prior to the start of your RAP shift. However, if you do, then positive contact will be considered to have been made and you will be obligated to accept all assignments you are legal and available to work.